
 
 

BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
CANYON THEATER, BOULDER PUBLIC LIBRARY, 1001 ARAPAHOE AVE 

Tuesday, January 21, 2013 
6 p.m. 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) Public may 

address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in the meeting (this 
includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public hearings have taken place, any 
remaining speakers will be allowed to address council.  All speakers are limited to three minutes. 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 

motion at this time. (roll call vote required) 
 
A. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 

an ordinance amending Title 2, “Government Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code of 
Conduct,” B.R. C. 1981 and setting forth related details 
 

B.  Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 
an ordinance designating the building and property at 1815 Mapleton Avenue, to be 
known as the Beck-Ray-Schell House, as an individual landmark under the city’s 
Historic Preservation Ordinance 
 
Owner/Applicant: Brad Schell 
  

C. Second reading and consideration of a motion adopt Ordinance No. 7956 modifying 
certain land use regulations of Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to approve the 
moving of two single-family dwelling unit structures from 1220 and 1243 Grandview 
Avenue to 905 Marine Street 
 
Applicant/Owner: Christian Griffith 

 
D. Proposed amendments to the Council’s Working Agreements 
 
E. Ratification of Council Committee Appointments 

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL- UP CHECK IN  

Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call- up of an item listed under agenda 
Item 8-A1.   

 
 
 

Packet Page     1



 
 

ORDER OF BUSINESS   
 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS   
 

A. Consideration of the following items related to the properties generally located at 5980, 
6160, 6180, and 6234 Arapahoe Road and 1492 Cherryvale Road commonly known 
as the Boulder Jewish Commons site: 
 
1. Second  reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7955:  

 
a. Annexing a 1.8 acre area of land generally located at 1492 Cherryvale Road 

with an initial zoning classification of Residential Rural -1 (RR-1); and 
 

b. Annexing a 16.36 acre area of land generally located at 6234 Arapahoe Road 
with an initial zoning classification of a Residential-Medium 1 (RM-1); and 

 
c. Annexing a 0.74 acre portion of Arapahoe Road from a point at the northwest 

property line of 6234 Arapahoe Road extending eastward to a point at the 
northeast property line of 6234 Arapahoe Road with an initial zoning 
classification of Residential-Medium 1 (RM-1); and 

 
d. Authorizing variations and modifications to the Boulder Revised Code that are 

in the annexation agreement associated with these annexations 
 

2.  Site and Use Review (case no. LUR2012-00005) approval  to permit the phased 
development of the properties located at 5890, 6160, 6180 and  6234 Arapahoe Rd., 
and 1492 Cherryvale Road as the Boulder Jewish Commons and to permit the 
following uses in the proposed Boulder Jewish Community Center: Adult Education 
Facility, Daycare Center, and Indoor Recreation and Athletic Facility. 

 
6.  MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER   

 
A. Direction on options to secure trash and curbside compost from Bears 

 
B. Discussion regarding upcoming supplemental appropriations for the new .15% tax 

and non-medical marijuana taxes 
 
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY    

 
None 

 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

 
A. Update on Regional Transportation Issues 

 

Packet Page     2



 
 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS (15 min.) Public comment on any motions made 
under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS Action on motions made under Matters. 
 

11. DEBRIEF (5 Min.) Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 

This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City Council.  
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-cablecast at 6 
p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council meeting.  
DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.  Anyone requiring special 
packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded versions may contact the City 
Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday through Friday.  48 hours notification 
prior to the meeting or preparation of special materials IS REQUIRED.  If you need Spanish 
interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, please call (303) 441-1905 at 
least three days prior to the meeting.  Si usted necesita interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con 
relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 
días antes de la junta. Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at 
the time of sign up and will NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  
Electronic media must come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical 
support is provided by staff. 

 

Packet Page     3

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     4



 
 

C I T Y  O F  B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: January 21, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only an ordinance amending Title 2, “Government Administration,” 
Chapter 7, “Code Of Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981 and setting forth related details. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
On October 9 and October 23, 2012 the council held study sessions on ethics and 
financial reporting.  Council scheduled these study sessions to provide a forum for 
discussion of potential changes to the city’s ethics rules and clarification of the financial 
reporting requirements.  The October 9 session was necessarily curtailed when the 
discussion of the Daily Camera building call-up extended beyond the time originally 
allotted.   
 
The council used the time on October 9 to identify additional issues council wished to 
address at the October 23 meeting.  On October 23, 2012, council addressed all of the 
issues identified with the Code of Conduct giving staff direction to bring back 
preliminary draft ordinances.  There was not sufficient time at the October 23, 2012 study 
session for council to consider changes to the financial reporting requirements.  These 
issues will be presented for council consideration and guidance at a special study session 
on February 20, 2014.  
 
Staff requests that the city council adopt the proposed revisions to the Code of Conduct.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only an ordinance 
amending Title 2, “Government Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code Of Conduct,” B.R.C. 
1981. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page     5



 
 

BACKGROUND: Additional background information can be found in the study session 
summary approved by council on November 15, 2012, which is Exhibit B to that 
memorandum, and attached as Attachment B to this Agenda Memo.   
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic:  

None identified. 

• Environmental: 
None identified 

• Social: 
Boulder’s community values support an honest, ethical and transparent local 
government.  The intent of the proposed ordinance is to revise the city’s ethics code 
to be more accessible through clarity.  The proposed ordinance would strengthen the 
sanctions for dishonest behavior, while at the same time clarifying what is acceptable 
and appropriate behavior for city elected officials, employees and appointed 
volunteers. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
• Fiscal: 

None identified. 

• Staff Time: 
None identified. 

 
Analysis: 
 
 A number of revisions are proposed to the purpose, legislative intent, and findings 
of the chapter.   Many are clarifications and simplifications to the existing purpose, 
intent, and findings.  One substantive change is that the city will apply its local code of 
conduct rules and not the state Standards of Conduct in chapter 24-18, C.R.S.  The city’s 
code of conduct covers many of the same provisions as the state code.   Making it clear 
that the city will apply only the local code of conduct to its public officials and public 
employees will make it easier for affected persons to have a single place to look for the 
applicable standards.    
 
 Sections 2-7-2, “Conflicts of Interest Prohibited ,” and 2-7-3, “Use of Public 
Office or Confidential Information for Financial Gain,” were combined into a section 
entitled “Prohibited Acts.” B.R.C. 1981.   Amendments are proposed that simplify the 
language and delete provisions that are repeated elsewhere in the code. 
 
 Paragraph 2-7-4(b)(2) of the proposed ordinance would make several changes to 
gifts.  It would increase the permitted gift amount from $50 to $53, which is the correct 
amount based on the inflation adjustment created in 2006.  The proposed change would 
align the inflation adjustment with Article XXIX, § 3(6) of the Colorado Constitution.1 

                                                           
1 The Constitutional provision uses slightly different language to describe the Denver/Boulder Consumer 
Price Index.  This is not intended to be a substantive change.   

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page     6



 
 

 
 Paragraph  2-7-4(b)(5) of the proposed ordinance also will allow for nonprofit 
organizations to pay for city travel.  Currently, only governments or government-related 
organizations can fund such travel.   The proposed changes also include additional 
restrictions on such paid travel.   
 
 Paragraph  2-7-4(b)(7) of the proposed ordinance is modified by removing the 
prohibition against taking a ticket for a sporting event.  It is replaced with an new 
Paragraph 2-7-4(b)(8) that allows council members to attend one sporting event, concert, 
or other event each year if the ticket is provided by another government or nonprofit 
organization and the purpose is to promote the relationship between the city and that 
government or nonprofit organization. 
 
 Section 2-7-7 of the proposed ordinance clarifies that a council member can only 
appear before a board or commission if the council member has been appointed to do so 
by a majority vote of the council. 
 
 Also, Section 2-7-7 of the proposed ordinance restricts the ability of an appointee 
to represent a person before any city body if the subject of the representation may come 
before the board or commission on which the person serves. 
 
 Section 2-7-8 of the proposed ordinance would replace the “appearance of 
impropriety” section with a new section establishing expectations for behavior.  The new 
section includes ten affirmative duties and 18 prohibitions.  The new section also 
encourages council members and board and commission appointees to disclose and 
discuss any potential need to recuse themselves under the new section.   
 
 Section 2-7-11 of the proposed ordinance would limit criminal sanctions to cases 
involving bribery, profiteering or other similar behavior.  Criminal sanctions under the 
ethics code are very rare.  The proposed ordinance would limit enforcement of the 
remaining sanctions to employee discipline.   
 
 Section 2-7-12 of the proposed ordinance, the specific defense for violations of 
the chapter for persons that received an opinion from the city attorney was removed.  
 
 Section 2-7-14 of the proposed ordinance sets forth 26 examples of behavior that 
would violate the new section on expectations.   
 
 Section 2-7-15 of the proposed ordinance eliminates the complicated definitions 
of conflict of interest, substantial interest and transaction.  The behavior addressed 
previously by these definitions is addressed in the new expectations section. 
 
Attachments 
 
Proposed Ordinance – Attachment A 
Study Session Summary approved Nov 15, 2012– Attachment B 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page     7



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page     8



 

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 2, “GOVERNMENT 
ADMINISTRATION,” CHAPTER 7, “CODE OF CONDUCT,” 
B.R.C. 1981, INCLUDING EXPANDING THE LEGISLATIVE 
PURPOSE, CLARIFYING THE PROHIBITIONS ON ACCEPTING 
GIFTS, AMENDING THE RESTRICTIONS ON APPEARING 
BEFORE CITY BODIES, SETTING FORTH PROHIBITED ACTS, 
ESTABLISHING EXPECTATIONS FOR PUBLIC OFFICIALS 
AND PUBLIC OFFICERS, SETTING FORTH EXAMPLES OF 
VIOLATIONS AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO: 
 
 Section 1.  Title 2, Chapter 7 of the Boulder Revised Code, 1981 is amended as follows: 

2-7-1 Purpose, Legislative Intent and Findings. 
 
(a)  Purpose: The purpose of this chapter is to protect the integrity of city government by: 
 

(1)  Defining and forbidding certain activities including bribery and profiteering from 
public officeconflicts of interest that if left unchecked tend to compromise the 
ability of elected and appointed public officials and public employees to perform 
their duties without improper financial influence. 

 
(2)  Establishing high standards of conduct for elected officials, appointed board and 

commission members and city employees by setting forth certain expectations of 
behavior that all such individuals shall maintain while elected, appointed or 
employed by the City of Boulder.  Defining and discouraging certain actions that 
may create an appearance of impropriety that undermines public trust in the 
accountability and loyalty of elected and appointed public officials and 
employees. 

 
(3)  Protecting the integrity of city government by providing standards of conduct and 

guidelines for elected and appointed public officials and public employees to 
follow when their private interests as residents conflict with their public duties. 

 
(34)  Fostering public trust by defining standards of honest government and 

prohibiting the use of public office for private gain. 
 
(b)  Legislative Intent: It is the intent of the city council to: 
 

(1)  Establish rules of conduct that meet or exceed the rules established by the 
Colorado State Constitution and the Colorado Revised Code.  Prohibit public 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page     9



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

officials and public employees from acting on any matter in which he or she may 
have a conflict of interest. 

 
(2)  Establish expectationsaspirational guidelines to encourage public officials and 

public employees to maintain the highest standard of conduct to justify the public 
trust that they enjoy.avoid any appearance of impropriety. 
 

(3)  Require adherence to any provision of state or federal law that imposes a higher 
standard of conduct than this chapter.  Exercise the City of Boulder’s right to 
develop laws related to ethics in local government and appropriate standards of 
local conduct as matters of local concern as established by the Colorado State 
Constitution  in Article XX recognized by Article XXIX, § 3(6).   

 
 
(c)  Findings: The city council finds and determines that this chapter is necessary to protect 

the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of Boulder and as a matter of local 
concern. 

 
2-7-2 Conflicts of Interest Prohibited Acts. 
 
(a)  Personal BenefitConflicts Prohibited: No public official or public employee shall solicit, 

receive or accept anything of value in exchange for performing or refraining from 
performing any act associated with the official or employee’s position with the city.   
make or participate in the making of any official action in which he or she knows or 
should have known that he or she would have a conflict of interest.  

 
(b)  Disclosure Required: Each public official or public employee shall disclose any conflict 

of interest and disqualify him or herself from participating in the relevant action as 
provided in section 2-7-10, "Disclosure and Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981. 

 
2-7-3 Use of Public Office or Confidential Information for Financial Gain. 
 
(ba)  Use of Position for Gain Prohibited: No public official or public employee city council 

member, employee, or appointee to a city board, commission, task force or similar body 
shall use his or her public office or position for financial gain. 

 
(cb)  Use of Confidential Information for Financial Gain Prohibited: No public official or 

public employee city council member, employee, or appointee to a city board, 
commission, task force or similar body shall use or disclose confidential information 
obtained as a result of holding his or her public office or position, to obtain financial gain, 
whether for personal gain; gain for his or her relative; gain of any property or entity in 
which the official or employee has a substantial interest; or gain for any person or for any 
entity with whom the official or employee is negotiating for or has any arrangement 
concerning prospective employment. 

 
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page     10



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

2-7-34 Duty to Maintain the Confidentiality of Privileged Information. 
 
(a)  Duty of a Public OfficialMember Of City Council, Board, Commission, Task Force Or 

Similar Body: No public official city council member or appointee to a city board, 
commission, task force or similar body shall disclose privileged or confidential 
information without a public majority vote granting the permission of the council or 
similar body that holds the privilege. The sanction for a member of the city council, 
board, commission, task force or similar body shall be censure of the body, reached by a 
majority vote of the body, not including the member charged with disclosing such 
confidential information. 

 
(b)  Duty of a PublicCity Employee: No citypublic employee shall disclose privileged or 

confidential information, obtained as a result of holding his or her public office or 
position, unless the employee has first received approval by the city manager acting upon 
the advice of the city attorney. 

 
2-7-45 Gifts to Public Officials and Public Employees. 
 
(a)  Gifts Prohibited: No city council member or appointee to a city board, commission, task 

force or similar body, or city employee,public official or public employee or relative of 
such employee or official shall accept anything of value including, without limitation, a 
gift, a favor, or a promise of future employment if: 

 
(1)  The official or employee is in a position to take official action with regard to the 

donor; or 
 

(2)  The city has or is known to be likely to have a transactional, business, or 
regulatory relationship with the donor. 

 
(b)  Exceptions and Items not Considered Gifts: The following shall not be considered gifts 

for purposes of this section, and it shall not be a violation of this chapter for a person to 
accept the same: 

 
(1)  Campaign contributions as permitted by law; 

 
(2)  An unsolicited, occasional non-pecuniary gift of a maximum amount of $530.00 

or less in value. The maximum amount will be equal to the amount established by 
the state of Colorado pursuant to Colorado Constitution Article XXIX, Section 6.  
adjusted on January 1, 2006, and annually thereafter to reflect changes in the 
United States Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index for the Denver-
Boulder Consolidated Metropolitan Statistical Area for all Urban Consumers, All 
Goods, or its successor index; 

 
(3)  A gift from a relative; 

 
(4)  An award, publicly presented, in recognition of public service; 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 7Packet Page     11



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
(5)  Reasonable expenses paid by a nonprofit organization ,other governments or 

governmentally- related organizations for attendance at a convention, fact-finding 
mission or trip, or other meeting if the person is scheduled to deliver a speech, 
make a presentation, participate in a panel, or represent the city provided that if 
travel expenses are paid: 

 
(A)  The travel is for a legitimate city purpose;  

 
(B)  The travel arrangements are appropriate to that purpose;  

 
(C)  The expenses paid are for a time period that is no longer than reasonably 

necessary to accomplish the business that is its purpose; 
 

(D)  The public official or public employee who will be traveling is not 
currently, was not in the recent past, and will not in the reasonably 
foreseeable future, be in a position to take direct official action with 
respect to the donor; and  

 
(E)  The public official reports compliance of the first four conditions to the 

city council  and the public employee reports compliance with the first 
four conditions to the city manager. 

 
(6)  Items which are similarly available to all employees of the city or to the general 

public on the same terms and conditions; and 
 

(7)  A single unsolicited ticket given to a city council member and valued at not in 
excess of $150.00 to attend events open to the public on behalf of the city, such as 
awards dinners, nonprofit organization banquets and seminars, provided that: 

 
(A)  The ticket is offered only to the council member and has no resale value; 

and 
 

(B)  The ticket is not offered by a commercial vendor who sells or wishes to 
sell services or products to the city; and 

 
(C)  The ticket is not for a sporting event 
 

(8) A single unsolicited ticket  given to a council member and valued at not in excess 
of $150.00 in each calendar year to attend a sporting event, concert or other event 
provided by a governmental entity or non profit organization, if the event is 
sponsored by the governmental entity or non profit organization, and the purpose 
of attending the event is to promote the relationship between the city and the other 
governmental entity or non profit organization. 

 
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 8Packet Page     12



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

2-7-65 Prior Employment, Outside Employment, and Subsequent Employment. 
 
(a)  Prior Employment: No person shall be disqualified from service with the city as an 

public official or public employee solely because of his or her prior employment. Public 
Oofficials and public employees shall not take official action with respect to their former 
employers for a period of six months from the date of termination of the prior 
employment. 

 
(b)  Disclosure of Employment and Other Business Activities: All public officials and public 

employees, other than city council memberselected officials, shall report existing or 
proposed outside employment or other outside business interests that may affect their 
responsibilities to the city in writing to their appointing authorities prior to being 
appointed or hired. After being appointed or hired, all such people shall report any 
changes of employment or changes to outside business interests that may affect the 
person's responsibilities to the city, within thirty days after accepting the same. An 
employee that has received permission from the city manager may engage in outside 
employment or outside business interests. 

 
(c)  Disclosure by City Council Members: Members of the city council shall report any 

change in their employment status that could give rise to a conflict of interest under this 
chapter. 

 
(d)  Activities That Occur After Termination of Employment or Office: No former public 

official or public employee shall seek or obtain employment concerning matters upon 
which he or she took official action during his or her service with the city for six months 
following termination of office or employment. This provision may be waived by the city 
council or the city manager. 

 
(e)  Participation of Former Officials or Employees: No former public official or public 

employee shall appear before, or participate in, a city board, commission, task force or 
similar body on which he or she was a member or served directly as an employee 
concerning any matter or on which he or she took official action during his or her service 
with the city for twelve months following termination of office or employment. This 
prohibition may be waived by the city council by appointment or vote. This prohibition 
shall not apply to persons who appear before the city in their capacity as an elected 
official following termination of their office or employment with the city. 

 
(f)  Participation in Litigation After Termination: No former public official shall engage in 

any action or litigation in which the city is involved on behalf of any other person or 
entity, if the action or litigation involves a matter upon which the person took official 
action during his or her service with the city for twelve months following termination of 
service with the city. 

 
 
 
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 9Packet Page     13



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

2-7-76 Employment of Relatives. 
 
(a)  No public official or public employee shall appoint, hire, or advocate the appointment or 

hiring by the city any person who is his or her relative. In the event that an employee is 
concerned that the employee's decision to appoint, hire or advocate the appointment or 
hiring by the city a person who is the employee's relative may cause an appearance of 
violating this section, the employee may request that the city manager make such 
decision on the employee's behalf. Council-appointed officers may request the city 
council to make such an appointment or hiring decision on their behalf. 

 
(b)  The city may enter into transactions with companies, corporations or other business 

organizations that employ a relative of a city public official or public employee, provided 
that: 

 
(1) The public official or public employee does not participate in the decision making 

that leads to hiring the company, corporation, or other business organization that 
employs his or her relative; or 

 
(2) The business organization is a publicly-traded corporation that provides its 

services or products to the city on nondiscriminatory terms justified by the market 
facts and circumstances of each transaction; or 

 
(3)  The company, corporation, or business organization has been doing business with 

the city for at least one year prior to the date the city official's or employee's 
relative became employed by the company, corporation or other business 
organization, and the city official's or employee's relative is not directly employed 
upon matters involving the city and does not have his or her compensation tied in 
any manner to the success of the company, corporation, or other business 
organization, or its ability to obtain business or earn compensation from the city. 

 
2-7-87 Representing Others Before the City Prohibited. 
 
(a)  City Council Members Barred From Representing Others: No city council member shall 

appear on behalf of himself or herself, or another person, before the city council or any 
city board, commission, task force or similar body. A city council member may be 
affiliated with a firm appearing on behalf of or employed by another person concerning 
any transaction with the city before such a body if the council member discloses the 
situation and recuses himself or herself pursuant to section 2-7-10, "Disclosure and 
Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981.  This prohibition shall not apply when a city council 
member is appointed by a majority vote of the council to represent the council before a 
board or commission. 

 
(b)  Board, Commission or Task Force Members Barred From Representing Others: An 

appointee to a city board, commission, task force or similar body may appear or be 
affiliated with a firm appearing concerning any transaction with the city under the 
following circumstances: 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 10Packet Page     14



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
(1)  An appointee may appear on his or her own behalf before the body of which he or 

she is a member to represent his or her personal interests, if the appointee 
discloses the situation and recuses himself or herself pursuant to section 2-7-10, 
"Disclosure and Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981, or before the city council; 

 
(2)  An appointee may appear on behalf of another person before any city body except 

the city council or the body of which the appointee is a member, except with 
respect to a matter that has or may come before the board or commission on 
which he or she serves; 

 
(3)  A firm with which an appointee is affiliated may not appear on behalf of or be 

employed by another person concerning any transaction before the body of which 
the appointee is a member unless the appointee discloses the situation and recuses 
himself or herself pursuant to Section 2-7-10, "Disclosure and Recusal 
Procedure," B.R.C. 1981. 

 
(c)  City Public Employees Barred From Representing Others: No publiccity employee shall 

appear on behalf of or be employed by another person concerning any transaction with 
the city or before the city council or any city board, commission, task force or similar 
body. An public employee may appear before such a body on his or her own behalf or on 
behalf of such employee's spouse, parent, or child. Nothing in this chapter shall be 
deemed to prohibit the city manager from establishing additional policies and regulations 
to prevent conflicts of interest between city public employees and the city. 

 
(d)  City Council Members and Municipal Court: No city council member who is an attorney 

shall appear on behalf of or be employed by another person or be affiliated with a firm 
appearing on behalf of or employed by another person concerning any matter before the 
municipal court. 

 
(e)  CityPublic Employees and Municipal Court: No citypublic employee who is an attorney 

shall appear on behalf of or be employed by another person or be affiliated with a firm 
that appears on behalf of or is employed by another person concerning any matter before 
the municipal court. A non-attorney employee may appear before the municipal court on 
his or her own behalf, and an employee other than a municipal court judge may appear on 
behalf of such employee's spouse, parent, or child to the extent otherwise allowed by law. 
This authority is intended to allow employees to assist family members in matters before 
the municipal court to the extent permitted by law but not to promote the unauthorized 
practice of law. 

 
(f)  Board, Commission, or Task Force Member and Municipal Court: An appointee to a city 

board, commission, task force or similar body may appear before the municipal court and 
may be affiliated with a firm appearing before the municipal court. 

 
(g)  Consent to Sue: No public officialcity council member or appointee to any city board, 

commission, task force or similar body shall be a party or by himself or herself or as an 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 11Packet Page     15



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

affiliate of a firm appear on behalf of a party in a civil law suit in which the city is an 
adverse party, unless the public officialmember or appointee first obtains the consent of 
the city council. 

 
2-7-98 Appearances of Impropriety DiscouragedExpectations. 
 
(a)  These expectationsguidelines are intended to establish ethical standardsgoals and 

principles to guidehelp public officials and public employeescity council members, 
employees, and appointees to a city board, commission, task force or similar body in the 
execution of their offices in a manner that will reflect well on the city and promote to 
determine if their actions may cause an appearance of impropriety that will undermine 
the public's trust in local government. 

 
(b)  Violations of this section shall not constitute a violation of this chapter. Compliance with 

this section will not constitute a defense for violation of another subsection or section of 
this chapter.  Violation of this section may be considered as the basis for censure, or in 
the most serious cases, removal of a public official.  Violation of this section may be the 
basis of disciplinary action, or in the most serious cases, termination of a public 
employee.   

 
(c) A public officialcity council member, employee, or appointee to a city board, 

commission, task force or similar body who determines that his or her actions may be 
considered to be in violation of this sectioncause an appearance of impropriety should 
consider disclosure and discussion of the potential violation in a public meeting before 
the council, board, commission, task force or similar body on which the person serves. 

 
(d)   A public official whose participation in a matter would violate this section shall , but is 

not required to, disclose and recuse herself or himself as prescribed by section 2-7-910, 
"Disclosure and Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981., in the following circumstances: 

 
(1)  If the person is an employee of a state or federal government entity with a 

substantial interest in any transaction with the city; 
 

(2)  If the person has a close friend with a substantial interest in any transaction with 
the city, and the council member, appointee, or employee believes that the 
friendship would prevent such person from acting impartially with regard to the 
particular transaction; 

 
(3)  If the person has an interest in any transaction with the city that is personal or 

private in nature that would cause a reasonable person in the community to 
question the objectivity of the city council member, employee, or appointee to a 
city board, or commission; 

 
(4)  If the person is called upon to act in a quasi-judicial capacity in a decision 

regarding any of the situations described in paragraphs (c)(1), (c)(2), and (c)(3) of 
this section; or 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 12Packet Page     16



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
(5)  If the person owns or leases real property within six hundred feet from a parcel of 

property that is the subject of a transaction with the City upon which he or she 
must make a decision, and is not required to receive official notice of a quasi-
judicial action of the City. 

 
(e)   A public official or public employee shall: 
 

(1)  Strive at all times to serve the best interests of the city regardless of his or her 
personal interest. 

 
(2)   Perform duties with honesty, care, diligence, professionalism, impartiality and 

integrity. 
 

(3)  Strive for the highest ethical standards to sustain the trust and confidence of the 
public they serve, not just the minimum required to meet legal or procedural 
requirements. 

 
(4)  Use sound judgment to make the best possible decisions for the city, taking into 

consideration all available information, circumstances and resources. 
 

(5)  Act within the boundaries of his or her authority as defined by the city charter and 
code. 

 
(6) Treat colleagues and members of the public professionally and with courtesy. 

 
(7) Disclose personal or professional relationships with any company or individual 

who has or is seeking to have a business relationship with the city. 
 

(8) Disclose any direct or indirect financial or material benefit to himself or herself, a 
relative, or any private organization in which he or she is deemed to have an 
interest in any matter requiring the exercise of discretion by the officer or 
employee. 

 
(9)   Use city resources, facilities and equipment only for city purposes, except for 

reasonable incidental personal use that does not interfere with city business. 
 

(10)  Disclose waste, fraud, abuse and corruption to appropriate authorities. 
 
(f)  A public official or public employee shall not: 
 

(1)  Advocate or support any action or activity that violates a law or regulatory 
requirement. 

 
(2)  Use his or her position or decision-making authority for personal gain or to seek 

personal advantage. 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 13Packet Page     17



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
(3)  Expend city funds for his or her personal use or benefit. 

 
(4) Misrepresent known facts in any issue involving city business. 

 
(5)  Exercise authority or discretion in any matter in which he or she will benefit 

directly as a result of that exercise of authority or discretion. 
 

(6)  Use city resources, facilities or equipment for personal profit, for outside business 
interests or to access any inappropriate material, except if viewing such material 
is a necessary and proper part of their duties.   

 
(7)  Participate in any decision to appoint, hire, promote, discipline or discharge a 

relative for any position with the city. 
 

(8)  Supervise a relative in the performance of the relative’s official powers or duties. 
 

(9)  Compel or induce a subordinate municipal officer or employee to make, or 
promise to make, any political contribution, whether by gift of money, service or 
other thing of value. 

 
(10)   Act or decline to act in relation to appointing, hiring or promoting, discharging, 

disciplining, or in any manner changing the official rank, status or compensation 
of any employee, or an applicant for a position, including appointment to a board 
or commission, on the basis of the giving or withholding or neglecting to make 
any contribution of money or service or any other valuable thing for any political 
purpose. 

 
(11)  Solicit or accept anything of value from anyone doing business with the city. 

 
(12)  Solicit or accept employment from anyone doing business with the city, unless the 

official or employee completely withdraws from city activity regarding the party 
offering employment, and the withdrawal is approved by the city council for 
members of the council, boards or commissions and by the city manager for 
employees. 

 
(13)  Use his or her public position to obtain benefits for the official or employee, a 

family member, or anyone with whom the official or employee has a business or 
employment relationship. 

 
(14)  Vote, authorize, recommend, or in any other way use his or her position to secure 

approval of a contract (including employment or personal services) in which the 
official or employee, a family member, or anyone with whom the official or 
employee has a business or employment relationship, has an interest. 

 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 14Packet Page     18



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(15)  Use, or authorize the use of, his or her title, the name “City of Boulder,” or the 
city’s logo in a manner that suggests impropriety, favoritism, or bias by the city or 
the official or employee. 

 
(16)  Use, or authorize the use of, his or her title, the name “City of Boulder,” or the 

city’s logo in a manner that suggests or implies that the city supports or opposes a 
candidate or ballot measure, except that council members may identify 
themselves and their position as individual council members supporting or 
opposing candidates or ballot measures.   This section does not apply to ballot 
measures that the city council has voted to support. 

 
(17)  Use, or authorize the use of, his or her title, the name “City of Boulder,” or the 

city’s logo in for personal profit or advantage. 
 

(18)  Use city resources, facilities or equipment to support or oppose any political 
candidate or ballot measure.   

 
2-7-910 Disclosure and Recusal Procedure. 
 
(a)  Disclosure and Recusal: No person with an conflict of interest prohibited pursuant to 

subsection 2-7-2(a), B.R.C. 1981, and no person described in subsection 2-7-78(a) or (b), 
B.R.C. 1981, shall fail to give written notice of the interest described in such section or 
subsection to the city council or the city board, commission, task force or similar body of 
which the person is a member and the city manager as soon as reasonably possible after 
the interest has arisen. However, no written notice is required if such person discloses the 
conflict of interest on the record of a public meeting of the city council or the city board, 
commission, task force or similar body of which the person is a member. The interested 
council member, employee, or appointee shall thereafter: 

… 
 
2-7-101 Enforcement. 
 
… 
 
2-7-112 Sanctions and Remedies for Violation. 
 
… 
 
(c)  Sanction Recommendations: If the party conducting an investigation pursuant to section 

2-7-11, "Enforcement," B.R.C. 1981, finds that a city council member or an appointee to 
a city board, commission, task force or similar body, or employee has violated any 
provision of this chapter, the investigator shall provide its findings and recommendations 
to the city manager or city council, as appropriate, who or which in turn may take any of 
the following actions: 

 
(1)  In the case of a city council member, a motion of censure; 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 15Packet Page     19



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
(2)  In the case of a city public employee, a motion for censure or a recommendation 

that the employee's appointing authority consider disciplining or discharging the 
employee; 

 
(3)  Removal as provided in subsection (b) of this section; or 

 
(4)  As an alternative or in addition to the sanctions imposed herein, the city council may 

resolve that any person or entity causing, inducing, or soliciting a public official or public 
employee to violate this chapter may not be involved in any transaction with the City, 
including but not limited to the award of any city contract, grant, loan or any other thing 
of value for a period of twelve months or that any such contract, grant, loan or thing of 
value be terminated, repaid or forfeited. 

 
(d)  Civil Remedies: Any person affected by a city transaction may commence a civil action 

in the District Court in and for the County of Boulder for equitable relief to enforce the 
provisions of this chapter upon a showing of willful violation of any provision of this 
chapter. Before filing such an action, the person shall present the claim to the city 
attorney to investigate in accordance with subsection 2-7-11(c), B.R.C. 1981. The city 
attorney or appointed special council shall have sixty days to act thereon. No civil action 
in district court pursuant to this subsection may be commenced later than twelve months 
after a violation of this chapter is alleged to have occurred. 

 
(e)  Criminal Sanctions: The city attorney, or special counsel authorized to act on behalf of 

the city attorney, acting on behalf of the people of the City, may prosecute any violation 
of section 2-7-3 “Prohibited Acts,” B.R.C. 1981 this chapter in municipal court in the 
same manner that other municipal offenses are prosecuted. 

 
(f)  Defense: It shall be a defense to any charge of a violation of this chapter if the city 

council member, employee, or appointee to a city board, commission, task force or 
similar body obtained an advisory opinion pursuant to section 2-7-13, "Advisory 
Opinions and Outside Counsel Appointment," B.R.C. 1981, and was acting in accordance 
with the advice provided thereby. 

 
2-7-132 Advisory Opinions and Outside Counsel AppointmentRole of the City Attorney. 
 
(a)  City Attorney to Provide Advisory Opinions: Any city council member, employee, or 

appointee to a city board, commission, task force or similar body may request an advisory 
opinion of the city attorney whenever a question arises as to the applicability of this 
chapter to a particular situation. 

 
The city attorney's advisory opinion may provide a specific defense from prosecution as 
set forth in section 2-7-12, "Sanctions And Remedies For Violation," B.R.C. 1981. 

 
(b)  Appointment of Outside Counsel: If a significant controversy arises under this chapter, 

the city attorney may appoint a neutral outside counsel to assist in resolving the issue. 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 16Packet Page     20



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
2-7-143 Exemptions From Chapter. 
 
… 
 
2-7-154 Definitions. Examples of Violations 
 
The examples in this paragraph are intended to provide guidance for the implementation of these 
rules.  These are examples only;  behavior not listed here also can violate these rules.   
 
The following acts would constitute a violation of this chapter: 
 
(a)   A person lies to a constituent in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(4), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(b)   A person favors a personal friend when awarding a city contract in violation of paragraph 

2-7-8(f)(13), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(c)   A person is rude to a constituent in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(d)   A person fails to disclose a professional relationship with a firm seeking to do business 

with the city in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(7), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(e)   A person fails to disclose owning stock in a company involved in a matter that requires 

the exercise of discretion by the person in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(8), B.R.C. 
1981. 

 
(f)   A person uses a city computer to operate a personal business in violation of paragraph 2-

7-8(e)(11), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(g)   A person uses a city phone for a political campaign in violation of paragraph 2-7-

8(f)(18), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(h)   A person fails to disclose fraud by a public employee in violation of paragraph 2-7-

8(e)(10), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(i)  A person arranges a repaving project that benefits his or her neighborhood in violation of 

paragraph 2-7-8(f)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(j)   A council member participates in a decision that affects the value of his or her real 

property in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(k)   A person travelling on business uses city funds to purchase an expensive dinner in 

violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(3), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(l)   A person makes verbal attacks against someone who contacted the city for information in 

violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 17Packet Page     21



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
(m)    A person recommends that his or her department hire his or her niece in violation of 

paragraph 2-7-8(f)(7), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(n)    A person supervises his or her spouse in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(8), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(o)    A council member seeks a campaign contribution from a public employee in violation of 

paragraph 2-7-8(f)(9), B.R.C. 1981 . 
 
(p)   A supervisor encourages employees to attend a campaign fundraiser for a council 

member in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(9), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(q)   A supervisor implicitly requires an employee to make a campaign contribution as a 

condition of receiving a positive evaluation in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(9), B.R.C. 
1981. 

 
(r)   A person accepts a lunch from a person seeking to do business with the city in violation 

of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(11), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(s)   A person seeks employment with a contractor whom the person previously hired to work 

for the city in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(12), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(t)   A person obtains an internship for his or her son with a company doing business with the 

city in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(13), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(u)   A board member who is an architect participates in a decision in which his or her firm 

represents the applicant in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(5), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(v)   A board member who is an attorney participates in a decision in which his or her firm 

represents a party to the transaction being considered in violation of paragraph 2-7-
8(f)(5), B.R.C. 1981. 

 
(w)   A person endorses a business using his or her city title in violation of paragraph 2-7-

8(f)(15), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(x)   A board member allows his or her name and title to be used in campaign literature 

supporting a candidate in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(16), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(y)   A person solicits work for his or her off-duty business, by advertising his or her work as a 

city of Boulder employee in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(20), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(z)   A council member solicits business by relying upon his or her position as a city council 

member in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(20), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
 
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 18Packet Page     22



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

2-7-15 Definitions. 
 
… 
 
"Conflict of interest" shall mean any situation in which a city council member, an appointee to a 
city board, commission, task force or similar body, or a city employee: 
 
(a) Has a substantial interest in any transaction with the City; 
 
(b) Has a relative with a substantial interest in any transaction with the City; 
 
(c) Has a substantial interest as an affiliate of a firm with a substantial interest in any transaction 
with the City; 
 
(d) Has a substantial interest as an affiliate of a firm appearing on behalf of or employed by a 
person with a substantial interest in any transaction with the City; 
 
(e) Is an officer of an organization that has taken an official position on any transaction with the 
City, unless service on the board of the organization is required by city code, rule or contract; 
 
(f) Is on the board of directors of an organization that is substantially affected by a transaction 
with the City, unless service on the board of the organization is required by city code, rule or 
contract; 
 
(g) Is affiliated with a law, accounting, planning, or other professional firm that has substantial 
interest in any transaction with the City; or 
 
(h) Is required to receive official notice of a quasi-judicial action from the City. 
 
… 
 
"Substantial interest" means a situation, including, without limitation, a financial stake in the 
outcome of a decision in which, considering all of the circumstances, would tend to influence the 
decision of a reasonable person faced with making the same decision. 
 
"Transaction" means a contract of any kind; any sale or lease of any interest in land, material, 
supplies, or services; or any granting of a development right, any planning, zoning or land use or 
review process that may precede granting of a development right, license, permit, or application. 
A transaction does not include any decision which is legislative in nature that affects the entire 
membership of a class or a significant segment of the community in the same manner as the 
affected official or employee. 
 
 Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 19Packet Page     23



  

K:\0 revisions to Code of Conduct-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 Section 3.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 21st day of January, 2014. 

 
 
       Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk  
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this ____ day of _______, 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3A     Page 20Packet Page     24



C I T Y O F  B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

STUDY SESSION SUMMARY FROM OCTOBER 9 AND 23, 2012 
 

MEETING DATE: November 15, 2012 
 

 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the October 9 and October 23, 
2012 Study Session Summary regarding possible revisions to the Code of Conduct and 
the Financial Disclosure Regulations. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The purpose of this agenda item is to seek council approval of the following summary of 
the October 9 and October 23, 2012 study sessions on ethics and financial reporting.  
Council scheduled these study sessions to provide a forum for discussion of potential 
changes to the city’s ethics rules and clarification of the financial reporting requirements.  
The October 9 session was necessarily curtailed when the discussion of the Daily Camera 
building call-up extended beyond the time originally allotted.  The council used the time 
on October 9 to identify additional issues council wished to address at the October 23 
meeting.  On October 23, 2102, council addressed all of the issues identified with the 
Code of Conduct giving staff direction to bring back preliminary draft ordinances. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends approval of the summary of the October 9 and 23 study sessions 
regarding the Code of Conduct and financial reporting regulations. 
 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to accept the study session summary of the October 9 and October 23, 2012 study 
sessions, included as Attachment A. 
 
 
 

Attachment B

Agenda Item 3A     Page 21Packet Page     25



BACKGROUND: The background information for this topic can be found in 2012 
Study Sessions for October 23, at Study Session Packet. 
 
NEXT STEPS: 
 
Based on input at the study sessions, staff will: 
 
1. Draft a proposed ordinance for council consideration amending the Code of 
Conduct to: 
 a.  Include as criminal violations the most serious ethical violations; 

b.  Establish a list of expectations which all council members, board and           
commission members and city employees should meet; and 

 c.  Include a list of behaviors that would not meet the expectations. 

 
2.  Draft a proposed ordinance for council consideration to change the financial 
reporting requirements to address issues such as the separation of incumbent reporting 
from candidate reporting, the reporting date and the reporting period.   
 
 
 
ATTACHMENT A –   October 9 and 23, 2012  Study Session Summary  

Attachment B

Agenda Item 3A     Page 22Packet Page     26

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=15785&Itemid=399


Atttachment A to Nov 15, 2012
study session memo 

October 9 & 23, 2012 
City Council Study Session Summary 

 
PRESENT: 
 
City Council: Suzy Ageton, Matt Appelbaum, K.C. Becker, Macon Cowles (October 9 
only), Suzanne Jones, George Karakehian, Lisa Morzel, Tim Plass and Ken Wilson. 
 
Staff: Jane Brautigam (City Manager), Tom Carr (City Attorney), David Gehr (Deputy 
City Attorney)  
 
PURPOSE: 
 
The purpose of the study session was for council to discuss potential changes to the city’s 
Code of Conduct and financial reporting regulations.   
 
SUMMARY: 
 
October 9, 2012 
 
Tom Carr presented to council a list of potential topics identified in the study session 
memorandum and sought council input regarding whether these were appropriate topics.  
Council input was as follows: 
 

• Individuals should be informed of ethical and reporting requirements before they 
get on the City Council or boards or commissions.   

• Council should discuss reporting of retirement funds.   

• Staff should look at how other cities regulate communications by members of 
boards and commissions. 

• Criminal offenses should be charged and the current immunity provision would 
not be appropriate for a serious offense. 

• There should be a regular council process to discuss a perceived conflict of 
interest in a non-political and non-confrontational way.   

• Council should consider whether there is need to report investments held in 
mutual funds when the council member has no control over which assets are held 
in the mutual fund.   

• Travel reimbursement rules should be addressed. 

• Council should consider regulation of lobbyists as part of another legislative 
process. 

• Reporting regulations should not be so cumbersome or intrusive that people 
would be discouraged from running for council. 

Attachment B

Agenda Item 3A     Page 23Packet Page     27



October 23, 2012 
 
On October 23, council had a wide-ranging and productive discussion.  While there were 
areas of disagreement, council appeared to be in agreement on a number of important 
areas.    The major themes were as follows: 
 

1. Criminal sanctions should be reserved for true criminal behavior, such as 
profiteering or bribery.  The ethics code would be more effective if it provided 
more detailed guidance under a clear conceptual framework. 

2. We should not refer to ethics rules as being aspirational.  The ethics code should 
provide a floor of acceptable behavior.  The people have a right to expect that 
officials and employees behave in a manner consistent with community 
expectations.  The ethics rules should incorporate these expectations. 

3. Council members should feel free to raise and discuss ethical issues in an open 
and non-confrontational manner.  The public is usually not aware of the reasons 
for a council member’s recusal.  Most people would likely be impressed with the 
care that council members take to avoid conflicts of interest.  There will be a 
challenge to avoid ethical concerns being raised for political reasons.  This can 
only be avoided if council develops a culture that accepts such a discussion as a 
normal part of the council’s business and not as something unusual or out of the 
ordinary. 

4. Members of boards and commissions should be able to express their personal 
opinions before the council and other boards and commissions.  There should be 
a different rule when members are participating in quasi-judicial matters. 

5. It would not be practicable to consider board appointments to be “transactions” 
for the purpose of evaluating conflicts of interest.  Council members often have 
worked with or been associated with potential appointees.  Boards and 
commissions appointments are a form of public service with not much of a 
benefit being conferred.  Council members should only recuse themselves from 
the appointment process if their relationship to an applicant is so close that the 
council member cannot be fair in evaluating other candidates. 

6. There was no consensus on council regarding the ability to accept tickets to 
athletic events such as football games.  Accepting such tickets could be viewed in 
the community as a “perk” being afforded to council members.   There was also a 
concern that council members could be viewed as being too close to the 
administration at the University of Colorado.  On the other hand, accepting a 
ticket to a reception and the opportunity to watch a game from the university’s 
suite would give council members the opportunity to show their support for the 
city’s largest employer.  It would also give council members an opportunity to 
network with leaders at the university and in the community.   

7. The current gift rules only permit acceptance of travel reimbursement from 
governments or government-related organizations.  The city from time to time 
receives invitations from non-profit organizations that are not government-
related.  This travel is beneficial for the city.  The rules should be broadened to 

Attachment B

Agenda Item 3A     Page 24Packet Page     28



allow for this type of travel.  The limit should, however, be carefully drawn, to 
not allow travel funded by trade associations or for-profit companies.   

 
Next Steps 
 Council directed staff to draft proposed ordinances to amend the Code of Conduct 
and the rules for financial disclosure.  The ordinances will be presented as agenda items 
under Matters from the City Attorney.  Council will provide feedback.  The ordinances 
will be revised to be consistent with council feedback and presented to the Council 
Agenda Committee for scheduling in the legislative process.  Staff plans to have 
ordinances ready for council consideration by the end of the first quarter of 2013. 
 
  
   

Attachment B

Agenda Item 3A     Page 25Packet Page     29



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 26Packet Page     30



 

 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: January 21, 2013 

  

AGENDA TITLE: 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only an 
ordinance designating the building and property at 1815 Mapleton Ave., to be known as the 
Beck-Ray-Schell House, as an individual landmark under the city’s Historic Preservation 
Ordinance.   
   
Owner/Applicant: Brad Schell 

 

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Paul Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner  
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The purpose of this item is to allow the City Council to determine whether the proposed 
individual landmark designation of the building at 1815 Mapleton Ave. meets the purposes 
and standards of the Historic Preservation Ordinance (Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 
1981).  The property owner is in support of the designation.   
  
If approved, this ordinance (see Attachment A) would designate the building as an 
individual landmark.  The findings are included in the ordinance.  The landmark designation 
application was submitted by the property owner on October 7, 2011, and was heard by the 
Landmarks Board on December 4, 2013. The board voted 5-0 to recommend the designation 
to City Council. The second reading for this designation will be a quasi-judicial public 
hearing.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
On Oct. 7, 2011 the city received an application from Brad Schell to designate the property at 
1815 Mapleton Ave. an individual landmark. Prior to this, the Landmarks Board had 
reviewed a demolition permit application for and placed a stay of demolition on the property. 
Following discussions with staff and Landmarks Board members, the applicant withdrew the 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page     31



 

 

demolition request and submitted an application for individual landmark designation in order 
to explore alterations to the house including a rear addition and converting the upstairs of the 
historic house into living space. In March of 2012, a proposal to rehabilitate and add to the 
historic house and to construct a garage at the rear of the property was conditionally 
approved by the Landmarks Board. After two sessions with the Landmarks design review 
committee, the conditions were met and the applicant received a Landmark Alteration 
Certificate for the rehabilitation and construction of an addition and free-standing garage. 
Work on this project has commenced. 
 

 
Figure 1: Location Map, 1815 Mapleton Ave.  

Yellow shading indicates location within the potential Whittier Historic District. 
 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 
The property at 1815 Mapleton Ave. is located on the north side of Mapleton Ave., between 
18th and 19th Streets, and is located within the boundaries of the potential Whittier Historic 
District. An alley runs along the north edge of the property. 
 
The one-story brick house has a hipped-roof, with a small front gable dormer with shingles 
and a small window with an architrave surround. A front porch is supported by classical 
columns and features a wooden balustrade. The windows on the façade and rear elevation 
feature segmental arches and stone sills. A bay window is located on the east elevation and 
has staggered brick corners. A wood-frame porch at the northeast corner (later enclosed) 
appears in the 1918 Sanborn Map. Its removal was approved as part of the 2012 Landmark 
Alteration Certificate. The blond brick used for the construction of the house is unusual for 
its speckled appearance, a result of a darker “clinker” probably having been added to the clay 
matrix before firing. All doors and windows on the house appear to be original. 
 
An accessory building is located at the northeast corner of the property. The one-and-a-half 
story garage features a gable roof form with exposed rafter tails, board and batten siding, 
fixed wood casement windows and a rolling vehicle door. According to Boulder County Tax 
Assessor records, the garage was constructed in 1950; however, due to its method of 
construction, it is very likely it was built earlier. Building permit records indicate that only 
minor, interior modifications have been made to the property over the years. Demolition of 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page     32



 

 

the accessory building was approved as part of the 2012 review for the construction of a new, 
larger garage on the property. 
 

 
Figure 3: South Façade, 1815 Mapleton Ave., 2011 

 
Figure 2: Photograph of 1815 Mapleton Ave. c.1919-1943. 

Photograph courtesy the Carnegie Branch Library for Local History. 
 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page     33



 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
 
Motion to introduce and order published by title only an ordinance designating 
the building at 1815 Mapleton Ave., to be known as the Beck-Ray-Schell House, as an 
individual landmark under the City of Boulder’s Historic Preservation Ordinance.   

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 
Economic:  Owners of locally designated landmarked properties are eligible for state and 
local tax credits for approved rehabilitations and repairs, and studies have found that historic 
preservation adds to economic vitality and tourism.  Exterior changes to individually 
landmarked buildings require a Landmark Alteration Certificate, issued by the Community 
Planning and Sustainability Department at no charge.  The additional review process for 
landmarked buildings may, however, add time and design expense to a project.  

 
Environmental: Owners of individually landmarked buildings are encouraged to reuse and 
repair as much of the original building as possible when making exterior alterations, thereby 
reducing the amount of building material waste deposited in landfills.  City staff can assist 
architects, contractors and homeowners with design and material selections and sources that 
are environmentally friendly.  Also, the Historic Preservation website provides information 
on improving the energy efficiency of older buildings. 
 
Social:  The Historic Preservation Ordinance was adopted to “…enhance property values, 
stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and foster knowledge of the city’s 
living heritage.”  Section 9-11-1 (a), B.R.C., 1981.  The primary beneficiaries of historic 
designation are the property owners of a historic landmark and adjacent neighbors, who are 
ensured that the character of the immediate area will be protected through the design review 
process.  The greater community also benefits from the preservation of the community’s 
character and history.  
 
OTHER IMPACTS: 
Fiscal:  The designation of individual historic landmarks is an anticipated and ongoing 
function of the Historic Preservation Program.   
 
Staff Time: This designation application is within the staff work plan. 
 
LANDMARKS BOARD ACTION:  
On December 4, 2013 the Landmarks Board voted 5-0 to recommend to City Council that the 
building at 1815 Mapleton Ave. be designated as a local historic landmark, to be known as 
the Beck-Ray-Schell House, finding that it meets the standards for individual landmark 
designations in sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 1981, and is consistent with the criteria 
specified in section 9-11-5(c), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page     34



 

 

ANALYSIS: 
Criteria for Review 
Section 9-11-6(b), B.R.C. 1981, specifies that during the review for an application for local 
landmark designation, the council must consider “whether the designation meets the purposes 
and standards in subsection 9-11-1(a) and section 9-11-2, “City Council May Designate or 
Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts,” B.R.C. 1981, in balance with the goals and 
policies of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan” and provides that the City Council 
“shall approve by ordinance, modify and approve by ordinance, or disapprove the proposed 
designation.” 
 
 
Historic, Architectural, and Environmental Significance 
Staff and the Landmarks Board find that the proposed designation of the building at 1815 
Mapleton Ave. will protect, enhance, and perpetuate a building reminiscent of a past era 
important in local history and preserve an important example of Boulder’s historic 
architecture. Staff considers the application to meet the historic criteria for individual 
landmark designation as outlined below: 
 
 
HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary: The house at 1815 Mapleton Ave. has historic significance under criteria 1, 2, and 4.  
1. Date of Construction: c. 1916    

Elaboration: A building permit was issued to Elliot A. Van Dyke on April 1, 1916 to 
build a brick, 5-room, 1 bath, 1 water closet home at an estimated cost of $2,190.00.  The 
address first appears in city directories in 1918. 
 
 

 
2. Association with Persons or Events: John W. Beck, Brad Schell 

Elaboration: The property has only had a handful of owners in its nearly 100 year 
history.  
 
John and Carrie Beck owned and resided in the house from 1918 until Mr. Beck’s death 
in 1935. Beck, a Civil War Veteran, was a member of the Grand Army of the Republic 
and served as chaplain for the Nathaniel Lyon Post in Boulder. Mrs. Beck was active in 
the Daughters of Union Veterans Boulder Chapter and worked as a school teacher.  
 
From 1995 to the present, the property has been the home of noted software developer, 
Brad Schell. Schell started LastSoftware with Joe Esch which developed the immensely 
popular 3D architectural design SketchUp program.  

 
3. Development of the Community: None observed 

 
4. Recognition by Authorities: The 1987 Historic Building Inventory Form for this 

property identifies the house and barn as significant as representative of a “Boulder’s 
early, vernacular, middle-class housing,” and that it “adds to the architectural diversity of 
Mapleton Avenue and the Whittier neighborhood.” 

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 5Packet Page     35



 

 

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  The house at 1815 Mapleton Ave. has architectural significance under criteria 1 
and 3.  
 

1. Recognized Period or Style: Vernacular/Queen Anne 
Elaboration:  The house is representative of vernacular building evidenced by its 
simple plan and relative lack of ornamentation. Queen Anne variants of this form 
feature an asymmetrical massing and decorative shingled gables. The Colorado 
Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation considers the simple Queen Anne 
form as a common type of residential building in Colorado. 

 
2. Architect or Builder of Prominence: Elliott Van Dyke was involved in the real 

estate business in Boulder, however he is not considered to be a builder of 
prominence.  
 

3. Artistic Merit: None observed 
 

4. Example of the Uncommon: The blond brick used for the construction of the house 
is somewhat unusual for its speckled appearance, a result of a darker “clinker” 
probably having been added to the clay matrix before firing. 
 

5. Indigenous Qualities: None observed 
 
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  The house at 1815 Mapleton Ave. has environmental significance under criteria 5.   
 

1. Site Characteristics: None observed 
 

2. Compatibility with Site: None observed 
 

3. Geographic Importance: None observed 
 
4. Environmental Appropriateness: None observed 
 
5. Area Integrity: The property is located in the potential Whittier Historic District, 

which retains its residential historic character. 
 
 
Landmark Name: 
Remarkably, this house has only had three owners in its nearly 100 year history. Staff 
considers that the landmark should be named the Beck-Schell House, given its association 
with John W. Beck, a Civil War veteran and his wife Carrie, who were the first residents of 
the house. Software developer owner has been a careful and considerate owner of the 
property for nearly 17 years. Because of his careful stewardship of this property and given 
his significance as an internationally known software developer at the turn of the twentieth 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 6Packet Page     36



 

 

century, staff considers the property to bear his name also. This is consistent with the 
Landmark Board’s Guidelines for Names of Landmarked Structures and Sites (1988) and the 
National Register of Historic Places Guidelines for Designation. See Attachment E: 
Guidelines for Names of Landmarked Structures and Sites.  
 
Boundary Analysis: 
The house is located on a standard size residential lot measuring approximately 7,389 square 
feet in size. Staff recommends that the boundary be established to follow the property lines of 
the lot, which is consistent with current and past practices and the National Register 
Guidelines for establishing landmark boundaries.  
 

 
Figure 11: Proposed Landmark Boundary (dashed line) 

 
OPTIONS:  
 
City Council may approve, modify or not approve the first reading ordinance.   
 
Approved By: 
 
_____________________ 
Jane S. Brautigam, 
City Manager   
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A: Ordinance No._____  
B: Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, “Purposes and Intent,” B.R.C., 1981 
C: Significance Criteria for individual landmarks  
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 7Packet Page     37



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 8Packet Page     38



Attachment A 
Ordinance No. ____ 

 
1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 
ORDINANCE  NO. ____ 

 
AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING THE BUILDING AND THE 
PROPERTY AT 1815 MAPLETON AVENUE, CITY OF 
BOULDER, COLORADO, ALSO KNOWN AS THE 
MACKENZIE HOUSE, A LANDMARK UNDER CHAPTER 9-
11, “HISTORIC PRESERVATION” B.R.C. 1981, AND 
SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION THERETO. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

 Section l. The council enacts this ordinance pursuant to its authority under Chapter 9-11, 

“Historic Preservation,” B.R.C. 1981, to designate as a landmark a property having a special 

character or special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value. 

Section 2. The council finds that: 1) on or about October 7, 2011, property owner Brad 

Schell applied to the City of Boulder to designate the building and property at said property as a 

landmark; 2) the Landmarks Board held a public hearing on the proposed designation on 

December 4, 2013; and 3) on December 4, 2013, the board recommended that the council 

approve the proposed designation. 

 Section 3. The council also finds that upon public notice required by law, the council held 

a public hearing on the proposed designation on February 4, 2014 and upon the basis of the 

presentations at that hearing finds that the building and the property at 1815 Mapleton Avenue 

does possess a special character and special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value 

warranting its designation as a landmark. 

Section 4. The characteristics of the subject property that justify its designation as a landmark 

are: 1) its historic significance is relevant to its construction in 1916, its association with John 

Beck, Frank and Rubye Ray, and Brad Schell, and its recognition as a example of Boulder’s 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 9Packet Page     39



Attachment A 
Ordinance No. ____ 

 
1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

early, vernacular, middle-class housing 2) its architectural significance indicative of the 

Vernacular/Queen Anne Style, evidenced in its simple plan, overall lack of ornamentation, with 

asymmetrical massing and decorative shingles; and 3) its environmental significance for its 

geographic importance within the potential Whittier Historic District, which retains its residential 

historic character.      

 Section 5. The council further finds that the foregoing landmark designation is necessary 

to promote the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the city. 

 Section 6. There is hereby created as a landmark the building and property located at 

1815 Mapleton Avenue, also known as the Beck-Ray-Schell House, whose legal landmark 

boundary is identical to the boundary of the legal lots upon which it sits:  

LOT 7 BLK 23 BOULDER NORTH, BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO 

as depicted in the proposed landmark boundary map, attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
 
Section 7. The council directs that the department of Community Planning and 

Sustainability give prompt notice of this designation to the property owner and cause a copy of 

this ordinance to be recorded as described in Subsection 9-11-6(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 8. The council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title only 

and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for public 

inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE 
ONLY THIS 21ST DAY OF JANUARY 2014. 
 
 
 
 

       Mayor 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 10Packet Page     40



Attachment A 
Ordinance No. ____ 

 
1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk  
 

 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY THIS 7TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 4, 2014. 

 
     
    
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 11Packet Page     41



 
 

Exhibit A – Landmark Boundary Map for 1815 Mapleton Ave. 
 

LOT 7 BLK 23 BOULDER NORTH, BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO 
 

Attachment A 
Ordinance No. ____

Agenda Item 3B     Page 12Packet Page     42



Attachment B 
Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, “Purposes and Intent,” B.R.C., 1981 

 

 

9-11-1 & 9-11-2 Purposes and Intent 
Boulder Revised Code, 1981 

 
9-11-1: Purpose and Legislative Intent states: 

(a) The purpose of this chapter is to promote the public health, safety, and welfare by protecting, 
enhancing, and perpetuating buildings, sites, and areas of the city reminiscent of past eras, 
events, and persons important in local, state, or national history or providing significant 
examples of architectural styles of the past. It is also the purpose of this chapter to develop 
and maintain appropriate settings and environments for such buildings, sites, and areas to 
enhance property values, stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and 
foster knowledge of the city’s living heritage. 

(b) The City Council does not intend by this chapter to preserve every old building in the city but 
instead to draw a reasonable balance between private property rights and the public interest in 
preserving the city’s cultural, historic, and architectural heritage by ensuring that demolition 
of buildings and structures important to that heritage will be carefully weighed with other 
alternatives and that alterations to such buildings and structures and new construction will 
respect the character of each such setting, not by imitating surrounding structures, but by 
being compatible with them. 

(c) The City Council intends that in reviewing applications for alterations to and new 
construction on landmarks or structures in a historic district, the Landmarks Board shall 
follow relevant city policies, including, without limitation, energy-efficient design, access for 
the disabled and creative approaches to renovation.  

 

9-11-2:  City Council may Designate or Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts states: 

(a) Pursuant to the procedures in this chapter the City Council may by ordinance: 
(1) Designate as a landmark an individual building or other feature or an 

integrated group of structures or features on a single lot or site having a 
special character and historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value 
and designate a landmark site for each landmark; 

(2) Designate as a historic district a contiguous area containing a number of 
sites, buildings, structures or features having a special character and 
historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value and constituting a 
distinct section of the city;  

(3) Designate as a discontiguous historic district a collection of sites, buildings, 
structures, or features which are contained in two or more geographically 
separate areas,  having a special character and historical, architectural, or 
aesthetic interest or value that are united together by historical, architectural, 
or aesthetic characteristics; and 

(4) Amend designations to add features or property to or from the site or district. 

(b) Upon designation, the property included in any such designation is subject to all the 
requirements of this code and other ordinances of the city. 

  
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 13Packet Page     43



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 14Packet Page     44



Attachment C 
Significance Criteria for individual landmarks 

 
SIGNIFICANCE CRITERIA 

Individual Landmark 
September 1975 

 
On September 6, 1975, the City Council adopted Ordinance #4000 providing procedures 

for the designation of Landmarks and Historic Districts in the City of Boulder.   The purpose of 
the ordinance is the preservation of the City’s permitted cultural, historic, and architectural 
heritage.  The Landmarks Board is permitted by the ordinance to adopt rules and regulations as it 
deems necessary for its own organization and procedures.  The following Significance Criteria 
have been adopted by the board to help evaluate each potential designation in a consistent and 
equitable manner.   
 
Historic Significance 
 

The place (building, site, area) should show character, interest or value as part of the 
development, heritage, or cultural characteristics of the community, state or nation; be the 
site of a historic, or prehistoric event that had an effect upon society; or exemplify the 
cultural, political, economic, or social heritage of the community. 
 
Date of Construction: This area of consideration places particular importance on the age 
of the structure. 

Association with Historical Persons or Events: This association could be national, state, 
or local. 

Distinction in the Development of the Community of Boulder: This is most applicable to 
an institution (religious, educational, civic, etc) or business structure, though in some 
cases residences might qualify.  It stresses the importance of preserving those places 
which demonstrate the growth during different time spans in the history of Boulder, in 
order to maintain an awareness of our cultural, economic, social or political heritage. 

Recognition by Authorities: If it is recognized by Historic Boulder, Inc. the Boulder 
Historical Society, local historians (Barker, Crossen, Frink, Gladden, Paddock, 
Schooland, etc), State Historical Society, The Improvement of Boulder, Colorado by F.L. 
Olmsted, or others in published form as having historic interest and value.  

Other, if applicable.  

Architectural Significance 
 

The place should embody those distinguishing characteristics of an architectural type 
specimen, a good example of the common; be the work of an architect or master builder, 
known nationally, state-wide, or locally, and perhaps whose work has influenced later 
development; contain elements of architectural design, detail, materials or craftsmanship 
which represent a significant innovation; or be a fine example of the uncommon. 

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 15Packet Page     45



Attachment C 
Significance Criteria for individual landmarks 

Recognized Period/Style: It should exemplify specific elements of an architectural 
period/style, i.e.: Victorian, Revival styles, such as described by Historic American 
Building Survey Criteria, Gingerbread Age (Maass), 76 Boulder Homes (Barkar), The 
History of Architectural Style (Marcus/Wiffin), Architecture in San Francisco (Gebhard 
et al), History of Architecture (Fletcher), Architecture/Colorado, and any other published 
source of universal or local analysis of a style. 

Architect or Builder of Prominence: A good example of the work of an architect or 
builder who is recognized for expertise in his field nationally, state-wide, or locally. 

Artistic Merit: A skillful integration of design, material, and color which is of excellent 
visual quality and/or demonstrates superior craftsmanship. 

Example of the Uncommon: Elements of architectural design, details, or craftsmanship 
that are representative of a significant innovation. 

Indigenous Qualities: A style or material that is particularly associated with the Boulder 
area. 

Other, if applicable. 

Environmental Significance 
 

The place should enhance the variety, interest, and sense of identity of the community by 
the protection of the unique natural and man-made environment. 
 
Site Characteristics: It should be of high quality in terms of planned or natural vegetation. 

Compatibility with Site: Consideration will be given to scale, massing placement, or 
other qualities of design with respect to its site. 

Geographic Importance: Due to its unique location or singular physical characteristics, it 
represents an established and familiar visual feature of the community. 

Environmental Appropriateness: The surroundings are complementary and/or it is 
situated in a manner particularly suited to its function. 

Area Integrity: Places which provide historical, architectural, or environmental 
importance and continuity of an existing condition, although taken singularly or out of 
context might not qualify under other criteria. 

 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 16Packet Page     46



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: January 21, 2014 

 
AGENDA TITLE:  Second reading of and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 
No.7956 modifying certain land use regulations of Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to 
approve the moving of two single-family dwelling unit structures from 1220 and 1243 
Grandview Avenue to 905 Marine Street.  
 
Applicant/Owner:  Christian Griffith 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager for Community Planning and Sustainability 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner  
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  On Nov. 19, 2013, City Council approved Ordinance No. 7947 to 
allow for the relocation of two historic residential structures from 1220 and 1243 Grandview 
Ave. to 905 Marine St. (refer to Figure 1 below for an area context map). For detailed 
background information and project history, refer to staff’s memorandum of recommendation 
from the Nov. 19, 2013 City Council hearing (www.bouldercolorado.gov Government City 
Council MeetingsSearch Past Meeting Packets). 
 
Since that time, staff received more detailed survey information as well as detailed information 
on the roof geometries of the bungalows slated for relocation. The information presented 
suggests that a modification of additional land use standards will be required to relocate the 
proposed bungalows, particularly to Section 9-9-17, “Solar Access,” B.R.C. 1981.  Ordinance 
No. 7956 and Ordinance No. 7947, adopted on Nov. 19, 2013, can be found in Attachment A.  
 
The proposed ordinance would amend Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, and would 
authorize a modification to the solar access standards to allow for the relocation of the historic 
structures.  
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page     47



Overall, staff finds that the application as presented would result in a defined community benefit 
for the City of Boulder that justifies the variance requested by the Applicant. Staff finds: 

 
 The relocation and preservation of the bungalows is consistent with and furthers the 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) goals and policies relating to historic 
preservation and housing; 

 
 The applicant has agreed to submit an application for an individual landmark for each 

of the buildings proposed for relocation pursuant to the city’s landmarking process; 
 

 The relocation of the bungalows to 905 Marine St. is generally consistent with the 
identifiably residential character of the area; 

 
 The proposed modifications were found to promote a safer and better subdivision 

design as it allows for the residential structures to be located outside of the regulatory 
floodplain. 

 
On Dec.17, 2013, City Council approved first reading of the Ordinance No. 7956 
(www.bouldercolorado.gov Government City Council MeetingsSearch Past Meeting 
Packets). 
 
Based on these findings, staff finds that the benefits of the relocation and preservation of the 
bungalows supports the modifications to the Land Use Code requirements included in the 
ordinance.  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motions: 
 

Suggested Motion Language: 
Motion to  adopt and order published by title only Ordinance No. 7956 varying 
requirements of Title 9, “Land Use Regulations,” to allow for the relocation of two 
residential structures from 1220 and 1243 Grandview Avenue to 905 Marine Street. 
 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 
 Economic:  None identified. 
 
 Environmental:  None identified.  
 
 Social:  The Historic Preservation Ordinance was adopted to “…enhance property values, 

stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and foster knowledge of the city’s 
living heritage” (pursuant to section 10-13-1 (a), B.R.C., 1981). The preservation of the two 
bungalows is consistent with the intent of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.  

 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page     48



FISCAL IMPACT: 
City services are existing and available to this site. All development will be subject to city 
development fees, including payment of Storm Water and Flood Management and Utility Plant 
Investment Fees (PIFs). The requested deferment of city development fees, including building 
permit fees, only defers the payment of these fees; it does not eliminate the requirement of their 
payment. 
 
The city is contributing $100,000 to aid in the relocation and preservation efforts of the two 
bungalows. The funds were identified as being available as part of the general fund balance. 
 
Staff time:  The ordinance has been processed through the provisions of a standard application 
process and is within normal staff work plans.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
Written notification was sent to the impacted property owner to the north located at 1636 9th St. 
Staff has not received any feedback or input from the property owner.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
For detailed background information and project history, refer to staff’s memorandum of 
recommendation from the Nov. 19, 2013 City Council (www.bouldercolorado.gov 
Government City Council MeetingsSearch Past Meeting Packets). 
 
PROPOSAL: 
The proposal calls for the relocation of two historic buildings currently located at 1220 
and 1243 Grandview Ave., to 905 Marine St. Once relocated, the applicant is proposing 
to utilize the buildings as single-family residences and to subdivide the project site into 
three lots as shown in Figure 2 below. In addition to the land use code modifications 
granted in Ordinance No. 7947, approved by council on Nov. 19, 2013, a modification to 
the city’s solar access regulations will be required in order to relocate the structures and 
subdivide the property. 
 
ANALYSIS 
Land Use Code Section 9-9-17, B.R.C.1981, establishes solar access regulations designed 
to regulate structures and vegetation on property, to the extent necessary to ensure access 
to solar energy, by reasonably regulating the interests of neighboring property holders 
within the city.  The intent is to ensure that rooftop solar heating and cooling of buildings, 
solar heated hot water, and solar generated electricity can provide a significant 
contribution to the city's energy supply.  

 
The area is located within Solar Access Area II defined under the land use code subsection 9-9-
17(c)(2), B.R.C.,1981) as follows, 

 
“Solar Access Area II is designed to protect solar access principally for building rooftops in 
areas where, because of planned density, topography, or lot configuration or orientation, the 
preponderance of lots therein currently enjoy such access and where solar access of this 
nature would not unduly restrict permissible development”.  

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page     49



 
Under the land use code, per Section 9-9-17(d)(B), B.R.C.,1981, 
 
“No person shall erect an object or structure on any other lot that would shade a protected lot 
in Solar Access Area II to a greater degree than the lot would be shaded by the shadows cast 
by a hypothetical vertical solar fence twenty-five feet in height, between two hours before and 
two hours after local solar noon on a clear winter solstice day (Dec. 21, the shortest day of the 
year). The hypothetical solar fence establishes a reasonable envelope or area of protection 
within which actual building shadows should be contained. Per Section 9-9-17, B.R.C. 1981, 
solar analyses are required to illustrate the shadows cast on Dec. 21 at 10 a.m., 12 p.m., and 2 
p.m. to indicate the worst case scenario for solar gain.“ 

 
A context map and a proposed subdivision / site plan for the property are included below.  
 

FIGURE 1 - AREA CONTEXT MAP

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page     50



 
 
 

FIGURE 2 - PROPOSED SUBDIVISION/SITE PLAN – 905 MARINE ST. 

 
 

 
The constraints associated with the flood zones and topography that impact the site has dictated 
the location of the proposed buildings on the property. The solar shadow cast by each of the 
relocated structures will result in encroachments on areas of the respective properties that are 
protected by the hypothetical fence. 
 
More specifically, an insubstantial breach of the hypothetical solar fence will occur offsite onto 
the rooftop of the property located at 1636 9th St. and on the relocated bungalow on lot Lot 3. As 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page     51



indicated in Attachment B, 5.8 feet of the rooftop at 1636 9th and 4.8 feet of the rooftop on Lot 3 
will be in shadow on Dec. 21 (the shortest day of the year). The rooftops will maintain adequate 
useable south facing area for rooftop solar collectors since the shadow cast is minor, even on the 
shortest day of the year when shadows would be most impactful.  
 
Based on the flood and topographical constraints on the site, there are no other design or 
subdivision options for siting the historic structures and since the offsite impacts on 1636 9th St. 
are minimal, staff  supports the proposed modification to the city’s solar access standards. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Ordinance No. 7956 and Ordinance No. 7947 
B: Solar Access Drawings 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page     52



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 7956 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING AUTHORITY TO THE 
APPROVING AUTHORITIES UNDER TITLE 9, “LAND USE 
CODE,” B.R.C. 1981, TO APPROVE THE MOVING OF TWO 
SINGLE-FAMILY DWELLING UNIT STRUCTURES FROM 
1220 AND 1243 GRANDVIEW AVENUE TO 905 MARINE 
STREET, AND AS AN AMENDMENT TO TITLE 9, “LAND 
USE CODE,” B.R.C. 1981, TO WAIVE OR MODIFY CERTAIN 
LAND USE REGULATIONS AS THEY APPLY TO THESE 
STRUCTURES, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

WHEREAS the City Council finds that: 

A. The City of Boulder and the University of Colorado entered into a Memorandum 
of Agreement (the “MOU”) dated January 22, 2001. 

 
B. The purpose of the MOU was to protect some historic structures in the Grandview 

area from demolition through a covenant and to protect other historic structures from demolition 
through the requirement of notice of the intent to demolish and an opportunity to relocate such 
structures. 

 
C. While the MOU expired on July 1, 2011, consistent with the spirit of the MOU, 

the University of Colorado has provided the City of Boulder with written notice of its plans to 
remove two cottage structures, one located at 1220 Grandview Avenue and another located at 
1243 Grandview Avenue, (the “Cottages”) and its intent to make the Cottages available to the 
City and/or the public for off-site relocation. 

 
D. Christian Griffith (the “Applicant”) has proposed moving the Cottages to the 

location shown on the site plan attached to this ordinance as Exhibit A. 

E. The City Council is interested in preserving each of the Cottages that would 
otherwise be demolished in the location proposed by the Applicant. 

F. On November 19, 2013, City Council passed Ordinance No. 7947 authorizing the 
City Manager to modify or waive several land use and other regulations to permit the Cottages to 
be relocated to the parcel of land generally known as 905 Marine Street (the “Property”) and 
more particularly described in Exhibit B attached to this ordinance. 

G. Review of more detailed survey information as well as detailed information on 
roof geometry for relocation of the Cottages has revealed that to permit the relocation of the 
Cottages will require modification or waiver of additional land use standards, including, in 
particular, Section 9-9-17, “Solar Access,” B.R.C. 1981. 

 

Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7956

Agenda Item 3C     Page 7Packet Page     53



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

H. The purpose of this ordinance is to permit the Cottages that would otherwise be 
demolished to be relocated to the parcel of land generally known as 905 Marine Street (the 
“Property”) and more particularly described in Exhibit B attached to this ordinance. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  The City Council authorizes the city manager to grant the necessary approvals 

under Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to permit the moving of the Cottages from 1220 

and 1243 Grandview Avenue to 905 Marine Street in the location shown on the site plan attached 

to this ordinance as Exhibit A. 

Section 2.  In order to accomplish the objectives of this ordinance, the City Council 

authorizes the city manager to modify or waive standards established in Title 9 “Land Use 

Code,” B.R.C. 1981, including, in particular, the requirements under Section 9-9-17, “Solar 

Access,” B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 3.   All other City of Boulder regulations and ordinances that have not been 

mentioned herein continue to apply to the Property. 

Section  4.  This ordinance shall be considered an amendment to Title 9, “Land Use 

Code,” B.R.C. 1981.  To the extent that this ordinance conflicts with any other ordinance of the 

City, such ordinance shall be suspended for the limited purpose of implementing this ordinance.  

Nothing in this ordinance shall be construed as a waiver of the City’s police power. 

Section 5.  The City Council finds that this ordinance furthers important historic 

preservation goals for the City of Boulder.  Further the City Council finds that the benefits of the 

Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7956

Agenda Item 3C     Page 8Packet Page     54



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

City’s historic preservation goals made possible through this ordinance outweigh benefits that 

accrue to the city ordinances that are waived by this ordinance. 

Section  6.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the City, is consistent with the goals and policies of the Boulder Valley 

Comprehensive Plan, and covers matters of local concern.  

Section 7.  The City deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title only 

and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for public 

inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 17th day of December, 2013. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7956

Agenda Item 3C     Page 9Packet Page     55



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 21st day of January, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7956

Agenda Item 3C     Page 10Packet Page     56



t0

ll

l2

t3

t4

l5

t6

t7

r8

t9

21

24

25

ORDINANCE NO. 7947

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING AUTHORITY TO THE
APPROVING AUTHORITIES UNDER TITLE 9, "LAND USE
CODE.'' AND TITLE IO. "STRUCTURES," B.R.C. I981, TO
APPROVE THE MOVING OF TWO SINGLE-FAMILY
DWELLING UNIT STRUCTURES FROM 1220 AND 1243
GRANDVIEW AVENUE TO 905 MARINE STREET. AND AS
AN AMENDMENT TO CHAPTER 6.6, "PROTECTION OF
TREES AND PLANTS." TITLE 9. "LAND USE CODE,", AND
TITLE IO, "STRUCTURES,'' B.R.C. 1981. TO WAIVE OR
MODIFY CERTAIN TREE MITIGATION, LAND USE, AND
BUILDING CODE REGULATIONS AS THEY APPLY TO
THESE STRUCTURES, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED
DETAILS.

WHEREAS the Cit¡, Council finds that:

A. The City of Boulder and the University of Colorado entered into a Memorandum

of Agreement (the "MOU") dated .lanuary 22,2001.

B. The purpose of the MOU was to protect some historic structures in the Grandview
area from demolition through a covenant ancl to protect other historic structures from demolition
tlrrough the requirement of notice of the intent to demolish and an opportunitl, to relocate such

structures.

C. While the MOU expired orr July 1,2011, consistent u,ith the spirit of the MOU,
the Univelsity of Colorado has provided the Cit¡, of Boulder with written notice of its plarrs to

remove trvo Cottage structures, one located at 1220 Grandview Avenue and another located at

1243 Grandview Avenue, (the "Cottages") and its intent to make the Cottages available to the

City and/or the public for off-site relocation.

D. Christian Griffith (the "Applicant") has proposed moving the Cottages to the

location shor,vn on the site plan attached to this ordinance as Exhibit A.

E. The City Cou¡rcil is interested in preserving each of the Cottages in the location
proposed by the Applicant.

F. The purpose of this ordinance is to permit the Cottages that would otherwise be

demolished b), the University of Colorado to be relocated to the parcel of land generally known
as 905 Marine Street (the "Property") and more particularly described on Exhibit B attached to

this ordinance.

          Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7947

Agenda Item 3C     Page 11Packet Page     57



I

2

J

4

5

6

7

8

9

l0

ll
t2

13

T4

l5

t6

l7

l8

l9

20

2l

22

¿J

24

25

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER,

COLORADO:

Section l. The City Council authorizes the city manager to grant the necessary permits

under Title 10, "Structures," B.R.C. 1981, to permit the moving of the Cottages from 1220 ancl

1243 Grandview Avenue to 905 Marine Street in the location shown on the site plan attached to

this ordinance as Exhibit A.

Section 2. Moving permits required by this ordinance shall be reviewed under the

provisions of Title l0, "Structures," B.R.C. 1981, in effecton October 22,2013.In orderto

accomplish the objectives of this ordinance, the City Council authorizes the city mânager to vary

or waive tl,e following City regulations:

a. Notwithstanding that the site is neither in an historic district nor an individual

landmark, the residential Cottages to be moved to the site will be considered as

individual landmarks for the purposes of reviewing and approving building permits

under Chapter l0-5, "Building Code," B.R.C. 1981, Chapter l0-5.5, "Residential

Building Code," B.R.C. 1981, Chapter l0-7, "Energy Couservation Code," B.R.C.

I 981 , and Chapter l0-7 .5, " Green Building and Green Points Program," B.R.C.

I 98 1 , for the initial occupancy of the structures at the proposed new location. In

particular, the city manager is authorized to waive building and energy code

requirements related to insulating the structures and replacing windows on the

structures.

Section 3. The City Council authorizes the city manager to approve a subdivision,

generally as shown on the site plan attached to this ordinance as Exhibit A, creating three lots.

          Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7947

Agenda Item 3C     Page 12Packet Page     58



I

2

Ĵ

4

5

6

7

8

9

l0

ll
t2

l3

t4

l5

l6

t7

18

19

20

2l

22

23

24

25

The City Council

requirements for

process:

authorizes the city manger to approve the following modifìcations to zoning

lots and structures in the RMX-I zoning district in the subdivision review

a. A reduction in the rear yard set back for principal structures from twenty-five feet to

thirteen feet for proposed Lot l, to foufteen feet for proposed LotZ, and to twenty

feet for proposed Lot 3.

b. A rcduction in the combinecl side yard setback from fifteen feet to eleven feet for

proposed Lot 2 and to I I feet for proposed Lot 3.

c. A reduction in minimum lot area per dwelling unit from 6000 square feet to allow

three dwelling units on proposed Lot I with a total lot area of roughly 10,482 square

feet.

Section 4. In order to accomplish the objectives of this ordinance, the City Council

authorizes the city manager to vary the requirements of Section 6-6-T, "Mitigation of Trees or

Plants Removed or Destroyed," B.R.C. I 98 I , related to the removal of the existing tree in the 9th

Street right of way adjacent to 905 Marine Street and to find that the planting of new street trees

in accordance with Section 9-9-13,"Streetscape Design Standards," B.R.C. 1981, satisfres the

requirements of Section 6-6-T, "Mitigation of Trees or Plants Removed or Destroyed," B.R.C.

l98l .

Section 5. All other City of Boulder regulations that have not been specifically

mentioned herein continue to apply to the Property.

          Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7947

Agenda Item 3C     Page 13Packet Page     59



I

2

J

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

ll
t2

l3

14

t5

t6

t7

l8

t9

20

2t

22

23

24

25

Section 6. The City Council authorizes the city manager to waive the due dates of any

applicable fees and taxes associated with the moving, constructing, or otherwise making the

Cottages habitable structures under the Boulder Revised Code; hou,ever, the Applicant shall pay

any such waived fees or taxes by the later date of the date required under the Boulder Revised

Code and May I ,2014, but in no event later than receipt of a certifrcate of occupancy related to

any moving permit for the Cottages onto the Property.

Section 7. This ordinance shall be considered an amendment to Chapter 6-6, "Protection

of Trees and Plants," B.R.C. 1981, Title 9,"Land Use Code," B.R.C. 1981, and Title 10,

"Structures," B.R.C. 1981. To the extent that this ordinance conflicts with any other ordinance

of the City, such ordinance shall be suspended for the limited puryose of implementing this

ordinance. Nothing in this ordinance shall be construed as a waiver of the City's police power.

Sgct¡on S-The City Council finds that this ordinance fufthers important historic

preservation goals for the City of Boulder. Further the City Council finds that the benefits of the

City's historic preservation goals made possible through this ordinance outweigh benefits that

accrue to the city ordinances that are waived by this ordinance.

Section 9. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of

the residents of the City, is consistent with the goals and policies of the Boulder Valley

Comprehensive Plan, and covers matters of local concern.

Section 10. The City deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title only

and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for public

inspection and acquisition.

          Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7947

Agenda Item 3C     Page 14Packet Page     60



I

2

J

4

5

6

7

8

9

t0

1l

t2

l3

t4

l5

l6

t7

18

t9

20

2t

22

23

24

25

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY

TITLE ONLY this 22nd day of Ocrober,20l3.

Attest:

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 19th day ofNovember, 2013.

City Clerk

City Clerk

          Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7947

Agenda Item 3C     Page 15Packet Page     61



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 16Packet Page     62



Attachment B 
Solar Access Drawings

Agenda Item 3C     Page 17Packet Page     63



Attachment B 
Solar Access Drawings

Agenda Item 3C     Page 18Packet Page     64



 
 

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: January 21, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Proposed Amendments to the Council’s Working Agreements 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The purpose of this agenda item is to seek council approval of proposed amendments to 
the Council Working Agreements.  The proposed amendments were discussed by council 
at the annual council retreat on January 13, 2014.  The purpose of the amendments is to 
clarify council members’ agreements not to read or send electronic messages during 
council meetings that relate to matters on the agenda at that meeting.  The working 
agreements are intended to preclude both electronic mail and text messages either 
between council members or between council members and members of the public.  The 
purpose of the amendment is to preclude members of the public from influencing the 
decisions of council other than through the public process available at a meeting.  It is 
also intended to discourage council members from having non-public communications 
during the course of a meeting.   
 
Also included in the proposed amendments is a signature line for council members to 
sign to express a personal commitment to the working agreements.  Staff has also taken 
the opportunity to correct some minor typographical errors.1 
 
 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion:      Motion to adopt the amended Council Working Agreements as set forth in 
Attachment A. 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENT A –  Possible Amendments to Council Working Agreements 

                                                           
1 The attached version of the Working Agreements includes changes adopted in 2012 regarding the election 
of the mayor and mayor pro tem.  These changes were omitted from the version handed out at the retreat. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Packet Page     65



Council Working Agreements 
 
Council Process: 

• The council will work on general discipline in being prepared to ask questions and make 
comments. 

• The council asks the mayor to intervene if discussion on agenda items extends beyond a 
reasonable time frame.  

• The council will engage in the practice of colloquy to fully explore the different sides of a 
specific point. 

• The mayor will ask the city clerk to set the timer lights for council members if discussions 
begin to exceed efficient debate. Members should respect the lights as a time reminder, but 
will not be bound by them as absolute limits.  

• Rather than restating a point, council members should simply say “I agree.” 
• The council agenda committee may, with advance notice, adjust each public speaker's time to 

two, rather than three minutes during public hearings for items on which many speakers want 
to address the council. 

• Council members will grant each other permission to mentor and support each other on how 
each person contributes to the goal of being accountable for demonstrating community 
leadership. 

• In order to hear each other respectfully and honor the public, council will avoid body 
language that could convey disrespect, side conversations, talking to staff, whispering to 
neighboring council members, passing notes, and leaving the council chambers. 

• Regarding not revisiting past discussions, the council should check-in with fellow members 
periodically to ensure that this is not an issue. 

• Council members will not read or send electronic messages, including emails or texts during 
a council meeting relating to matters being considered by council at that meeting. 

 
Council Communication: 

• Council members agree to keep quasi-judicial roles scrupulously separateclean between 
members of boards and members of council; likeavoid expressing ideas to board members on 
things coming before the board, and carefully disclose or recuse themselves when there is 
involvement with board members on a topic. 

• Council agrees to e-mail the city manager about issues that they run into that staff or boards 
may be working on so that the manager can be actively involved in managing issues and 
keeping the full council informed well in advance of items coming before council for action. 

• Members will keep the full council informed on issues from committees, public groups or 
other agencies that they are following, throughe a hot line e-mails, brief verbal reports at the 
end of council meetings or other means. 

• The council will find ways to support majority council decisions and adequately inform the 
public, through responsivee letters that explain how divergent points of view were heard and 
honored in decisions, via standard e-mail responses for hot issues, by occasional council 
Letters to the Editor to clarify the facts, or by seeking out reporters after meetings to explain 
controversial decisions. 

 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Packet Page     66



 
Council Committees: 

• Council goal committee meetings will be scheduled to accommodate the council 
members on the committee. 

• Notice of the times and places for each goal committee meeting will be noticed once per 
month in the Daily Camera. 

• The council agenda will include time for reports from committees under Matters from 
Members of Council, noting that written communications from the committees are 
appropriate as well. 

 
Selection of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem: 

• Council members will make a good faith effort to select the mayor and mayor pro tem in 
an open and transparent process. 

• After the council election, members seeking election as mayor or mayor pro tem should: 
o make their interest in the positions known to their fellow members as soon as 

possible; 
o focus  their communication with other council members on the positive attributes 

the member brings to the position; and   
o refrain from any negative remarks about any person seeking election as mayor or 

mayor pro tem.   
• Nominated individuals’ presentations may include, but need not be limited to the 

following: 
o the skills and attributes the member would bring to the mayoral position; 
o the member’s ability to efficiently run council meetings, respect the views of the 

minority while allowing the majority to rule, and perform other mayoral duties; 
o how the member would represent the city and City Council and mayor position at 

gatherings outside of City Council meetings; 
o how the member would serve on and appoint other council members to regional 

and national boards and commissions; and 
o how the member would promote trust of the community and other council 

members. 
• Council members should work to avoid divisiveness by being inclusive during the 

mayoral selection process. 
 
Agreed: 
 
 
By: ____________________________ 
    Member of the Boulder City Council 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved by Council  ___________ 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Packet Page     67



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 4Packet Page     68



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: January 21, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  Council Committee Appointments ratification. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Alisa D. Lewis, Director of Support Services/City Clerk 
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Each year, the City Council reviews its appointments to various internal and regional 
committees as well as its Sister Cities liaisons. Attachment A  reflects the committees and 
appointees as determined by Council at its January 12 -13, 2104 council retreat. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the following motion: 
 
 
Motion to ratify the 2014 Council Committee appointments as presented. 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENT:  

A.  2014 Council Committee Appointments  

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page     69



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page     70



 
Council Appointments to Committees: 2014 ASSIGNMENTS       
        
INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS:        
Beyond the Fences Coalition Lisa Morzel and Tim Plass (alternate Carl Castillo)       
Boulder County Consortium of Cities: Mary Young,  Lisa Morzel       
Colorado Municipal League Policy Committee (CML): Matt Appelbaum,  Suzanne Jones (staff alternate Carl Castillo)       
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG): Suzanne Jones and Tim Plass       
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners): Andrew Shoemaker       
Metro Mayors Caucus: Matt Appelbaum       
National League of Cities: Matt Appelbaum and Macon Cowles       
Resource Conservation Advisory Board: Lisa Morzel (seat at large) and Tim Plass       
Rocky Flats Stewardship Council: Lisa Morzel and Tim Plass (alternate Carl Castillo)       
CU/City Oversight Group: Macon Cowles, Andrew Shoemaker and Sam Weaver       
US 36 Mayors and Commission Coalition: Matt Appelbaum       
US 36 Commuting Solutions George Karakehian and Lisa Morzel (alternate)       
        
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS:        
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA): Mary Young       
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau: Tim Plass and Macon Cowles (alternate)       
Dairy Center for the Arts: Suzanne Jones       
Downtown Business Improvement District Board: Andrew Shoemaker, Sam Weaver and Mary Young       
        
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES:        
Audit Committee: Macon Cowles,  Lisa Morzel and Andrew Shoemaker       
Boards and Commissions Committee: Tim Plass and Andrew Shoemaker       
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA)                                  

     Mayoral Appointment George Karakehian       
Charter Committee: George Karakehian, Lisa Morzel and Sam Weaver        
Council Retreat Committee:  Lisa Morzel and Suzanne Jones       
Evaluation Committee: Tim Plass and Lisa Morzel       
Legislative Committee: Matt Appelbaum, Crystal Gray. KC Becker, Susan Osborne       
School Issues Committee: Tim Plass, Lisa Morzel and Andrew Shoemaker       
        
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES:        
Jalapa, Nicaragua: Suzanne Jones 

Kisumu, Kenya Lisa Morzel 

Llasa, Tibet: Andrew Shoemaker  

Dushanbe, Tajikistan: Sam Weaver       
Yamagata, Japan: Tim Plass 

Mante, Mexico: Mary Young 

Yateras, Cuba: George Karakehian 

 
Sister City Sub-Committee: Lisa Morzel, Macon Cowles and George Karakehian       

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page     71



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page     72



 

 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: January 21, 2014 

 
AGENDA TITLE: 
Consideration of the following items related to the properties generally located at 5980, 6160, 
6180, and 6234 Arapahoe Rd. and 1492 Cherryvale Rd. commonly known as the Boulder 
Jewish Commons site: 
 
1. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7955: 

 
a. Annexing an approximately 1.8-acre area of land generally located 1492 Cherryvale Rd. 

with an initial zoning classification of Residential Rural - 1 (RR-1); 
 

b. Annexing an approximately 16.36-acre area of land generally located at 6234 Arapahoe Rd. 
with an initial zoning classification of Residential – Medium 1 (RM-1) and Public (P);   
 

c. Annexing an approximately 0.74-acre portion of Arapahoe Rd. from a point at the northwest 
property line of 6234 Arapahoe Rd. extending eastward to a point at the northeast property 
line of 6234 Arapahoe Rd. with an initial zoning classification of Residential - Medium  1 
(RM-1); 
 

d. Authorizing modifications to the Boulder Revised Code that are in the annexation 
agreement associated with these annexations; and   

 
2. Site and Use Review (case no. LUR2012-00005) approval to permit the phased 

development of the properties located at 5890, 6160, 6180 and 6234 Arapahoe Rd., and 
1492 Cherryvale Rd. as the Boulder Jewish Commons and to permit the following uses in 
the proposed Boulder Jewish Community Center: Adult Education Facility, Daycare Center, 
and Indoor Recreation and Athletic Facility. 

 

 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page     73



 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The actions proposed for council consideration are associated with the Boulder Jewish Commons 
located generally at the southeast corner of Arapahoe and Cherryvale roads in East Boulder, a 
vicinity map is provided as Attachment A.   A brief description of the specific project requests 
is provided below with a more detailed description under the heading of “Proposed Project.” 
 
The property owners for the subject property have filed the petition to annex the parcels, 
consistent with Colorado Revised Statutes, CRS 31-12-101.  On Dec. 17, 2013, council adopted 
an annexation resolution finding the annexation petition in compliance with state statutes and 
establishing Jan. 21, 2014, as the date for a public hearing and council action on the annexation 
ordinance which is provided in Attachment C. Council also considered the first reading of the 
ordinance to annex and initially zone the properties proposed to be on first reading on  
Dec. 17, 2013. A total of approximately 19 acres is proposed to be annexed through one 
ordinance annexing three areas each of which complies with the one-sixth contiguity requirement 
within the state statute. The ordinance to annex the properties is provided in Attachment C. 
 
In addition to the second reading of the annexation and initial zoning ordinance, council is asked 
to consider approval of the following requests: 
 
1. A Site Review to permit the phased redevelopment of an approximately 14-acre area of 

land located at the following addresses:  5890, 6160, 6180, and 6234 Arapahoe Rd. and 
1492 Cherryvale Rd. for the phased development of the Boulder Jewish Commons and 
specifically for the building and site improvements to house the Boulder Jewish 
Community Center;  
 

2. A Use Review to permit specific uses within the Jewish Community Center building 
including an“adult education facility greater than 20,000 square feet,” a “daycare center for 
up to 150 children,” and an “indoor recreation or athletic facility;” and 
 

On Oct. 24, 2013, Planning Board voted unanimously to recommend approval of the 
Annexation, Initial Zoning, and the Site and Use review applications. Ordinarily when Planning 
Board acts on a Site Review application, the decision is subject to City Council call-up, per 
section 9-4-2, “Development Review Procedures,” B.R.C. 1981. In this case, because some of 
the properties are not annexed to the city until council’s approval action on the annexation and 
the proposed project requires modifications to the land use code standards that can only be 
approved through an ordinance, staff is referring the Site and Use review applications to City 
Council for final decision along with the proposed annexation.   
 
The staff memorandum to the Planning Board and the audio of the proceedings related to the 
Planning Board’s review of the Annexation and Site and Use review are available on the city 
website at the following link: bouldercolorado.gov A to Z Planning Boardsearch for past 
meeting materials planning board201310.24.2013 PB Packet. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page     74



 

Key Issue Identification   
 
Staff has identified four key issues to guide council’s review and discussion: 
 
1. Annexation- Is the proposal consistent with Colorado state statutes on Annexation, as well as 

city Annexation and other Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) policies, including 
BVCP policy 1.24 for provision of community benefits as proposed in the following list?  
 
a. dedication in-fee of 8.9 acres of land encompassing a portion of Sombrero Marsh; 
b. provision of 40 percent of any future residential development as permanently affordable 

housing within the area proposed for the initial zoning of RM-1; 
c. provision of a new Jewish Community Center - through annexation will allow for a 

cultural and educational facility that can serve the entire community; 
d. construction of a traffic calming roundabout on Cherryvale Road; and 
e. extension of new roadways that ensure connectivity. 

 
2. Initial Zoning Consistency with the BVCP Land Use Designation - Pursuant to land use code 

subsection 9-5-2(c)(4)(B), B.R.C. 1981, are the initial zoning designations of Public, 
Residential Medium -1, and Residential Rural – 1,  appropriate for the subject properties? 
 

3. Site Review- Is the proposed phased redevelopment of the property, including the Jewish 
Community Center building, the planned circulation and landscaping, consistent with the Site 
Review criteria?  Does the project fit into the existing pattern of development and evolving 
character in the area?   
 

4. Use Review- do the proposed uses meet the Use Review criteria? 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following motion: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
1. Adopt Ordinance No. 7955 to annex the following areas with the following initial zoning 

classifications per land use code subsection 9-5-2(c)(4)(B), B.R.C. 1981: 
 

a. A 1.8-acre area of land generally located at 1492 Cherryvale Rd. with an initial 
zoning classification of Residential Rural - 1 (RR-1);  
 

b. A 16.36-acre area of land generally located at 6234 Arapahoe Rd. with an initial 
zoning classification of Residential – Medium 1 (RM-1) and Public (P);  
 

c.  A 0.74-acre portion of Arapahoe Rd. from a point at the northwest property line of 
6234 Arapahoe Rd. extending eastward to a point at the northeast property line of 
6234 Arapahoe Rd. with an initial zoning classification of Residential - Medium  1 
(RM-1);and 
 

d. To permit the phased development of the Jewish Community Center and the following 
uses on the site. 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page     75



 

2. Approve  the Site and Use Review applications under LUR2013-00005 for the phased 
development of the Jewish Community Center project including an Adult Education 
Facility use, a Daycare Center use, and an Indoor Recreational or Athletic Facility use, 
incorporating the staff memorandum and attached criteria checklists as findings of fact 
and subject to the conditions of approval for the site review and use reviews proposed in 
the staff memorandum.   
 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 
 Economic:  The development of the site with a portion planned for future medium density 

residential will contribute additional dwelling units into the city tax base.   
 

 Environmental:  There are environmental benefits of having properties connected to city 
water and sewer, specifically, the avoidance of the potential environmental and health impacts 
of independent septic system failure.  Further, an 8.9-acre area of land that includes a portion 
of the Sombrero Marsh, a significant ecological feature, is proposed to be dedicated in-fee to 
the city as a part of annexation, and preservation of this resource is in the public’s interest. 

 
 Social: The Jewish Community Center, to be built as a part of the overall Boulder Jewish 

Commons, established through the annexation will provide a new educational and cultural 
facility with high quality child care available to all community members.  

 
OTHER IMPACTS 
 
 Fiscal: City services are existing and available to serve this site. Property taxes will be paid 

on the annexed property and all development will be subject to city development fees 
including payment of Storm Water and Flood Management, Utility Plant Investment Fees 
(PIFs). A new roadway connection through the site will have a minor impact on road 
maintenance services. 

 
 Staff time: The annexation application has been processed through the provisions of a 

standard annexation process and is within normal staff work plans.  
 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
 
Boulder County: Annexations are subject to county referral and city Planning Board 
recommendation prior to City Council action. The county has reviewed the request and has not 
objected to the proposal. 
 
City of Boulder Planning Board: Annexations are subject to county referral and city Planning 
Board recommendation prior to City Council action. The Planning Board hearing was held on 
Oct. 24, 2013; there was public comment from six people including a spokesperson for the Oreg 
Foundation representing approximately 125 people in the audience who indicated support for the 
proposed project through a show of hands. Also providing public comment were three neighbors 
who also indicated support for the proposed project and a community member who indicated 
support.  Planning Board found the annexation consistent with state statutes and city policies. On 
a motion by S. Weaver, seconded by A. Brocket, the Planning Board voted to recommend 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page     76



 

approval of the proposed annexation of the subject properties subject to the annexation 
conditions recommended in the staff memorandum with initial zoning of RR-1, RM-1, and P 
respectively, incorporating the staff memorandum as findings of fact. The vote was unanimous 
(L. May and J. Putnam absent). 
 
Regarding the Site and Use Reviews, the Planning Board found the proposed Jewish Community 
Center project consistent with the Site and Use Review Criteria.  On a motion by S. Weaver, 
seconded by C. Gray the Planning Board voted to recommend approval of the Site Review and 
Use Review applications (case no. LUR2012-00005) for the project located at 5980, 6160, 6180 
and 6234 Arapahoe Ave. and 1492 Cherryvale Rd. incorporating the staff memorandum and the 
attached criteria checklists as findings of fact and subject to the conditions of approval for the 
site review and use reviews proposed in the staff memorandum with the following modifications 
to the conditions of approval for the site review: 

 
To add to condition 2.b: the final site plan shall be revised to create a more convenient 
pedestrian connection to the north entrance of the Boulder Jewish Commons building and 
further minimize potential conflicts between pedestrians and vehicles using the service entrance 
to the building. The final site plan shall be revised to show additional bike parking on the site.   
 
Further, on a motion by S. Weaver, seconded by A. Brockett, the Planning Board voted 5-0  
(L. May and J. Putnam absent) to have the applicant and staff work together to suggest to RTD 
to locate a bus stop at the north entrance of the facility on the south side of Arapahoe Road 
nearest the north entrance to the building.  Since the Planning Board hearing, the applicant has 
offered to dedicate the entire 8.59 acres of land associated with Sombrero Marsh in fee, to the 
city.  At the time of the Planning Board review, the applicant planned to dedicate only a part of 
the preservation area in fee and a portion as an easement. Because the applicant has offered the 
entire 8.59 acres in fee, a density transfer provision was added to the annexation agreement that 
would be approved as a modification to the land use code in the annexation ordinance.  
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
 
Required public notice was given in the form of written notification mailed to all property 
owners within 600 feet of the subject site and a sign posted on the property for at least 10 days. 
All notice requirements of section 9-4-3, B.R.C. 1981 have been met.  Two separate neighbor 
meetings were held. The first was held on Dec. 3, 2007 and a second on Oct. 4, 2011 with 
concerns articulated being primarily related to traffic calming and parking.   
 
Several comment letters were received after the originally scheduled Planning Board hearing on 
this application was postponed due to the major flooding events in mid-September.  One 
comment letter from the neighboring property owner, articulated concerns about the potential 
number of days a rental could occur in the community hall portion of the building, as well as 
concerns about the flooding from Sombrero Marsh.  Another property owner within the county 
subdivision, the Reserve at Cherryvale sent comments about the flooding.  A response to the 
comments and questions is provided at the end of Attachment B.  In addition, summary of the 
neighborhood meetings and other comment letters received are also provided in Attachment B. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page     77



 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The project includes the combined requests of annexation, initial zoning, site review, and use 
reviews.  As shown in Figure 1, the project site includes an approximately 14-acre area annexed 
into the city as part of a larger 52-acre annexation of multiple properties in the 1980s.  Two 
adjacent parcels and an area of Arapahoe Avenue right of way are currently proposed for 
annexation with initial zoning of Rural-Residential 1, Residential - Medium 1, and Public, 
respectively.   

 

The proposed Jewish Community Center, as a part of the Boulder Jewish Commons or BJC, 
along with two roadways are planned within the site, and an area that encompasses a portion of 
the Sombrero Marsh is proposed to be dedicated to the City of Boulder as open space through the 
annexation process.   
 
In 2000, a Concept Plan for the Boulder Jewish Commons was reviewed by the Planning Board. 
Under the Concept Plan, there was substantially more development than is currently proposed 
including four synagogues along with separate recreation and education buildings, and a building 
housing 49 congregate care units.  Figure 2 illustrates a “thumbnail” comparison to the plans 
from 2000 to the current proposal.  At the time of the 2000 Concept Plan review, the Planning 
Board expressed support for the vision of the project and provided several suggestions including 
reducing the level of development on the site given the zoning, shifting roads and parking from 

Sombrero Marsh 

Figure 1:  Existing Annexed Property and Proposed Annexation and Initial Zoning 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page     78



 

the south property line to internal to the site and placing the buildings near Arapahoe Avenue to 
protect the Sombrero Marsh.  
 
In the years since the 2000 Concept Plan review, the property owners completed a capital 
campaign to construct the Jewish Community Center.  While there are no plans to develop 
residential units at this time, the area on the northeast side of the site is proposed to be zoned 
Residential – Medium 1, consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.  Any 
development on that site would require a Site Review Amendment at the time of development 
and 40 percent of all residential units would have to be permanently affordable.  

Figure 2:  Thumbnail Comparison of Original Concept Plan (above) to the current Proposed Site Plan (below) 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page     79



 

Existing Site.  The approximately 32.3-acre project site is located north and east of the 
intersection of Arapahoe Avenue and Cherryvale Road.  The northwestern third of the site (at 
5980 Arapahoe Ave.) which was annexed into the city as part of a larger annexation in the 1980s 
is currently vacant with the exception of two vacant residential buildings along with small out-
buildings.  The 1.8-acre property at 1492 Cherryvale Rd. contains a vacant single family 
residence along with several outbuildings.  The existing residence must be removed prior to 
construction of the traffic round about proposed.  The largest area of the project site on the east, 
6234 Arapahoe, is also undeveloped and more than half of that eastern portion is not developable 
due to the significant habitat of Sombrero Marsh at the south end of the parcel.  A ditch crosses 
the middle of that portion of the property and also defines the approximate break in the 
watershed. The majority of the property is denuded grassland with some individual trees, most of 
which are in a deteriorated state and/or invasive Russian olive species planned for removal. 
Other healthier trees surrounding the property are on adjacent residential properties. 
 
Sombrero Marsh.   The southern part of the project site contains a portion of Sombrero Marsh.  
The marsh is regarded as an “exceptional ecological resource.”  An image of the marsh is shown 
in Figure 3 below.  In an excerpt from the Management Plan established for Sombrero Marsh in 
2001, prepared by the City of Boulder Open Space and Mountain Parks Division, the following 
describes why the Marsh has considerable ecological value:    
 

“Sombrero Marsh is the only naturally occurring perennial open water body of its size in the 
Boulder Valley, totaling over 20 acres (the majority of wetlands in the Boulder Valley are less 
than 10 acres). Sombrero Marsh formed in a closed depression approximately 0.5 mi. east of 
South Boulder Creek in Boulder County, Colorado. This naturally functioning wetland contains 
soils, hydrology and vegetation that combine to create important habitat for many birds, 
mammals, amphibians, and invertebrates. The Marsh’s brackish waters and seasonal salt flats 
support wetland plant communities that are uncommon. Sombrero Marsh’s physical environment 
and wildlife habitat are highly unique because its waters and soils are highly alkaline, which 
provide a highly specialized niche for plants and animals, and the Marsh provides a locally rare 
combination of open water and emergent vegetation. Besides important wildlife habitat, 
Sombrero Marsh also provides important wetland functions of: flood storage, nutrient retention 
and removal, food chain support, and passive recreation / heritage value.” 

 

 
Figure 3:  Sombrero Marsh 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page     80



 

Figure 4:   
Planned CDOT Improvements for Arapahoe Avenue Currently under Construction Adjacent to Site 

Figure 5:  Jurisdictional Boundaries on Streets Adjacent to Project Site 

Built Context and Existing Roadways in Site Surroundings.  Arapahoe Avenue adjacent to 
the site is a four- to six-lane arterial highway under the jurisdiction of the Colorado Department 
of Transportation (CDOT).  Where the roadway is located in the county, it is referred to as 
“Arapahoe Road” but once annexed into the City of Boulder the roadway is referred to as 
“Arapahoe Avenue.”  Recent improvements to Arapahoe Avenue include widening the roadway 
to provide dedicated bus/turn lanes and bike lanes as well as multi-use paths adjacent to the site.  
The improvements are currently being constructed consistent with the cross-section shown in 
Figure 4 from CDOT. 

As shown below in Figure 5, Cherryvale Road adjacent to the site is predominately within the 
city’s jurisdiction while the remainder of Cherryvale Road to the south is within county 
jurisdiction.  The two lane roadway accommodates bicyclists and pedestrians with a widened 
shoulder. The context south of the project site is rural and, under the county’s Transportation 
Master Plan, the rural character of Cherryvale Road is planned to be preserved.   Views of the 
rural quality of the site from the surrounding streets are shown in Figure 6, following page; the 
images help to illustrate the roadway typology and character of the area.  
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9Packet Page     81



 

There are a variety of land uses in the area surrounding the project site, as shown in Figures 7  
and 8 on the following page. On the south side, a portion of Sombrero Marsh exists within the 
property boundary and extends further to the south and east.  Also south of the site are rural 
residential properties within Boulder County jurisdiction ranging in size from one to 1.5 acres. 
Further to the south is the low density county subdivision of The Reserve at Cherryvale with one 
quarter to one half acre lots.   
 
Directly across Cherryvale Road to the west are two rural residential properties recently annexed 
into the city along with the Congregation Bonai Shalom synagogue property, annexed into the 
city in 1987. Directly north across Arapahoe Avenue from the project site are a variety of 
industrial service uses including auto dealerships, auto repair, roofing companies, loom 
manufacturers, and the annex for Naropa University.  To the east of the site is a moving and 
storage company, along with a storage facility.  Further to the east, at the corner of 63rd Street 
and Arapahoe Road are a county mobile home park, a storage facility, and a light industrial/ 
service industrial facility.  To the northeast of this intersection is Xcel’s Valmont Electrical 
Generation facility with the large smoke and steam stacks visible from the subject property. 

Arapahoe Looking West 

Project 
Site 

Cherryvale - northbound 

Project 
Site 

Cherryvale - southbound 

Project 
Site 

Figure 6: Views of Site from Adjacent Streets  
Agenda Item 5A     Page 10Packet Page     82



 

Figure 7   
Photos of Surroundings to the subject property 

located along Arapahoe Avenue. 

 
 
 

 
(a) Auto Dealerships across 
 Arapahoe Avenue to the north 
of the site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(b) Manufacturing Warehouse 
across Arapahoe Avenue to the 
north of the site 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(c) Warehouse currently used as 
a dance venue across Arapahoe 
Avenue to the north of the site 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(d) Service Industrial Uses  
along Arapahoe Avenue  
adjacent and east of the site 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11Packet Page     83



 

Figure 8   
Photos of Surroundings to the subject property 

located along Arapahoe Avenue. 

 
 
 

(a) Aerial image of county 
residential subdivision,  
The Reserve, south of the site 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
(b) Sombrero Marsh south and 
east of site 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
(c) Rural Character along 
Cherryvale Road west of the site 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
(d) Rural Residential south of 
site near Cherryvale Road 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12Packet Page     84



 

 
Figure 9: Boulder Valley Comprehensive Land Use Designations 

Land Use Designations per Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP).  The mixed 
character of the built environment is reflective of the BVCP land use designations shown in 
Figure 9.  Within the project site, there are four different future land use designations for the 
property, including:  Very Low Density Residential, Low Density Residential, Medium Density 
Residential and Open Space.  Under the BVCP, residential densities are defined as follows: Very 
Low Density, two units or less per acre; Low Density, two to six units per acre; and Medium 
Density, six to 14 units per acre.  Open Space – Other is defined as  
 

“other public and private land designated prior to 1981 that the city and county would 
like to preserve through various preservation methods including but not limited to 
intergovernmental agreements, dedications or acquisitions.” 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 13Packet Page     85



 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  
 

The applicant’s written description of the project and full set of project plans can be found within 
Attachment G and H. The project includes: 

 
 Proposed annexation of approximately 19 acres total into the City of Boulder with 

initial zoning of Rural Residential - 1 (RR-1) for the 1.94 acre property located at 
1492 Cherryvale Rd. and a split zoning of Residential Medium – 1 (RM-1) for the 
northern 2/3 and of Public (P) for the southern 1/3 of the approximately 16-acre 
property located at 6234 Arapahoe.   
 

 Land to be conveyed to City of Boulder Department of Open Space Mountain Parks 
(OSMP) that currently contains a portion of the Sombrero Marsh. 

 
 While no residential units are currently proposed as part of the project, the RM-1 zoning will 

allow for future clustered residential units of which 40 percent would have to be permanently 
affordable residential units as a condition of annexation.   

 
 Construction of a new roundabout on Cherryvale Road, along with a new east-west 

roadway from Cherryvale east into the property, referred to as Oreg Drive, to be 
dedicated as public right-of-way. 

 
 Site Review for the approximately 63,750-square-foot Jewish Community Center 

with a focus on all-age education and culture (plan view illustrated in Figure 10 and 
west elevation illustrated in Figure 11) that includes: 

 
o Classroom and assembly space for adult education and youth camps;  
o Day care center for up to 150 children; 
o Library space 
o Fitness room and basketball court 
o Outdoor playfields 
o Support offices 

 
Two modifications are requested to the land use code standards as part of the site 
review: building height up to 39.5 feet where 35 feet is standard and a parking 
deferral of 10 percent. 
 

 Use Reviews to permit the following uses: 
o Daycare Center with ≥ 50 children  
o Adult Education Facility ≥ 20,000 square feet 
o Indoor Recreational or Athletic Facility 

 
Figure 10 illustrates the zoning and land dedication area. Figures 11 and 12 illustrate the 
proposed Jewish Community Center.

Agenda Item 5A     Page 14Packet Page     86



 

Area to be Dedicated 

Figure 10:  Zoning and Land Dedication Area 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 15Packet Page     87



 

 Adult Education, Recreation, Meeting Space  Day Care Area 

Figure 11: JCC building with the rough proportion of use on each side of the building 

Figure 12: West Elevation of Proposed Building 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 16Packet Page     88



 

 
ANALYSIS 

 
KEY ISSUE 1: Are the proposed annexations consistent with State statutes and Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) growth and annexation policies? 

 
Annexations must comply with Colorado Revised Statutes (C.R.S.) 31-12-101 et seq.  Staff has 
reviewed the annexation petition for compliance with C.R.S. 31-12-104 and C.R.S. 31-12-105, 
and finds that the application is consistent with those sections, including the criteria below: 
 

 Landowners of more than 50 percent of each annexation area and more than 50 percent of 
the owners of each area have petitioned to annex; 

 The petition was filed with the City Clerk; 
 There is a community interest between the properties proposed for annexation and the 

City of Boulder, the properties are urban or will be urbanized in the near future, and the 
properties are capable of being integrated into the City of Boulder; 

 The subject properties are not included in another annexation proceeding involving a city 
other than the City of Boulder; 

 The annexation would not remove the properties from one school district and add it to 
another;  

 The annexations will not have the effect of extending the City of Boulder’s boundaries 
any further than three miles from any point of the existing city boundaries; 

 The properties do not include any area which is the same or substantially the same area in 
which an election for annexation to the City of Boulder was held within the twelve 
months preceding the filing of the petition; and 

 Each annexation area has at least one-sixth contiguity with the perimeter of the city of 
Boulder. 
 

Policy 1.16 Adapting to Limits on Physical Expansion:  This policy contains the following 
statement: 
 

“as the community expands to its planned physical boundaries, the city and county will 
increasingly emphasize preservation and enhancement of the physical, social and 
economic assets of the community.”    

 
In this regard, the dedication of the Sombrero Marsh portion of the property to the city will help 
to ensure the preservation and enhancement through Open Space and Mountain Parks 
management of this valuable resource.   
 
Policy 1.18: Growth Requirements:  The emphasis on this policy is to ensure growth contributes to 
improving the quality of life: 
 

The overall effect of urban growth must add significant value to the community, improving 
quality of life. The city will require development and redevelopment as a whole to provide 
significant community benefits, achieve sustainability goals for urban form, and to maintain or 
improve environmental quality as a precondition for further housing and community growth. 

 
The annexation of the property is intended to establish an area to be known as the Boulder 
Jewish Commons, with a key component of the site being the Jewish Community Center (JCC).  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 17Packet Page     89



 

The JCC would contribute to improving quality of life specifically through the provision of the 
education and cultural offerings of the facility, consistent with this policy.  The dedication of 8.9 
acres of land that encompass a portion of Sombrero Marsh will help to preserve the marsh, a 
significant ecological resource, for future generations and contributes to improving 
environmental quality, consistent with this policy. 
 
Policy 1.24: Specific to Annexation, BVCP Policy 1.24, is a seven part policy (‘a’ through ‘g’) 
and staff finds the proposed annexation consistent with Policy 1.24 based on the following 
analysis.   
 

a) Annexation will be required before adequate facilities and services are furnished. 
 
City services will be available to the subject property upon annexation. 
 
b) The city will actively pursue annexation of county enclaves, Area II properties 
along the western boundary, and other fully developed Area II properties. County 
enclave means an unincorporated area of land entirely contained within the outer 
boundary of the city. Terms of annexation will be based on the amount of 
development potential as described in (c), (d), and (e) of this policy. Applications 
made to the county for development of enclaves and Area II lands in lieu of 
annexation will be referred to the city for review and comment. The county will 
attach great weight to the city’s response and may require that the landowner 
conform to one or more of the city’s development standards so that any future 
annexation into the city will be consistent and compatible with the city’s 
requirements. 
 

 Not applicable. 
 
c) Annexation of existing substantially developed areas will be offered in a manner 
and on terms and conditions that respect existing lifestyles and densities. The city 
will expect these areas to be brought to city standards only where necessary to 
protect the health and safety of the residents of the subject area or of the city. The 
city, in developing annexation plans of reasonable cost, may phase new facilities and 
services. The county, which now has jurisdiction over these areas, will be a 
supportive partner with the city in annexation efforts to the extent the county 
supports the terms and conditions being proposed. 
 
Not applicable 
 
d) In order to reduce the negative impacts of new development in the Boulder Valley, the 
city will annex Area II land with significant development or redevelopment potential only if 
the annexation provides a special opportunity or benefit to the city. For annexation 
considerations, emphasis will be given to the benefits achieved from the creation of 
permanently affordable housing. Provision of the following may also be considered a special 
opportunity or benefit: receiving sites for transferable development rights (TDRs), 
reduction of future employment projections, land and/or facilities for public purposes over 
and above that required by the city’s land use regulations, environmental preservation, or 
other amenities determined by the city to be a special opportunity or benefit. Parcels that 
are proposed for annexation that are already developed and which are seeking no greater 
density or building size would not be required to assume and provide that same level of 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 18Packet Page     90



 

community benefit as vacant parcels unless and until such time as an application for greater 
development is submitted. 

 
The proposed annexation of the Area II property at 6234 Arapahoe (specifically, the 
northeastern portion of the project site with an initial zoning of RM-1) will create 
additional development potential.  To offset negative impacts, the applicant has offered 
several special opportunities and community benefits as described in the following: 

 
 Dedication in-fee of an 8.9-acre area encompassing a portion of Sombrero Marsh and 

additional buffer area to the City of Boulder.  As noted, the marsh is considered a 
significant ecological resource and the dedication to the city will allow for 
preservation and comprehensive management of the resource.   
 

 Construction of a roundabout to calm traffic speeds on Cherryvale Road. 
 

 Construction of a new east/west roadway into the property, and reservation and 
potential future dedication of additional right of way to the east to create connectivity 
and a finer grain grid of streets for this area of the city. 
 

 Provision of a new educational and cultural facility with additional provision of high 
quality child care available to all community members. 
 

 Creation of 40 percent of any future housing as permanently affordable housing. 
 

Staff concludes that the applicant has met the criteria for community benefit and special 
opportunity. 
 
e) Annexation of substantially developed properties that allows for some additional 
residential units or commercial square footage will be required to demonstrate community 
benefit commensurate with their impacts. Further, annexations that resolve an issue of 
public health without creating additional development impacts should be encouraged. 
 

  Not applicable 
 
KEY ISSUE 2: 
Is the proposed project consistent with the BVCP Land Use Designations and the initial 
zoning of Public, Residential Medium – 1, and Rural Residential–1? 
 
Consistency of Zoning and BVCP Land Use Designations.  The area planned for Public 
zoning is consistent with the Land Use designation of “Open Space, Other” and “Ecosystem 
Overlay” in that the city would like to preserve the property and because the property is 
considered a significant ecological resource.  Under the Public zoning, the site will be managed 
by the city’s Open Space and Mountain Parks.  
 
The area planned to be zoned RM-1, is consistent with the BVCP land use designation of 
“Medium Density Residential” and the small area containing a single family residence and 
outbuilding with the designation of Very Low Density Residential will be have an initial zoning 
of Rural Residential – 1 consistent with that designation, refer back to Figures 9 and 10. 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 19Packet Page     91



 

KEY ISSUE 3: 
Is the proposed project consistent with the Site Review Criteria, including consistency with 
BVCP policies, per land use code sub-section 9-2-14(h), B.R.C. 1981? 
 
The consistency analysis of the proposed project with the Site Criteria is found in  
Attachment F.  
 
Staff finds that the proposed project is a well-designed educational and cultural facility that 
upholds and implements a number of BVCP policies including the following: 
 

 
Through comprehensive planning of the site, in conjunction with open space land dedications, 
the proposed building and any future development will be clustered away from the Sombrero 
Marsh.  Because of this, the city’s goals for environmental sustainability through preserving an 
important ecological resource can be realized. Similarly, with the building proposed along 
Arapahoe Avenue the project can provide educational and cultural opportunities in the East 
Arapahoe Avenue corridor and the city’s goals and policies related to social sustainability can be 
met.   
 
There are specific criteria that staff notes are particularly relevant to the proposed project’s 
success, including planned roadway improvements and how they address site review criteria 
related to traffic and circulation. 
 
As described in the background section, Cherryvale Road is a two lane collector that is 
predominately located within the county’s jurisdiction, except adjacent to the project site where 
it is within the city’s jurisdiction.  The roadway has no dedicated bike lanes or walkways but has 
a shoulder used by pedestrians and bicyclists.  During both the Concept Plan review and as a part 
of discussion with residents on Cherryvale Road, the issue of traffic speeds on the roadway was 
identified.   
 
To provide access from Cherryvale Road into the site, several at-grade intersection alternatives 
were explored including a three-way stop sign and a traffic signal.  Through discussions between 
the applicant, the county transportation staff and the city’s transportation staff, along with area 
residents, the applicant proposed a roundabout solution to access the site.  The roundabout is 
intended to efficiently facilitate the flow of traffic into the site off Cherryvale Road while also 
slowing or “calming” the thru-traffic traveling along Cherryvale Road.  Roundabouts have been 
demonstrated to be safer than other forms of at-grade intersections due to slower speeds and the 
elimination of left-turns.   
 

1.04 Principles of Social Sustainability  
2.05 Design of Community Edges and Entryways  
2.07 Design of Major Entryways  
2.17 Variety of Activity Centers  
2.19 Compatibility of Adjacent Land Uses  
2.31 Design of Newly-Developing Areas  
2.32 Physical Design for People  
2.33 Environmentally Sensitive Urban Design  
2.37 Enhanced Design for Private Sector Projects 
3.01 Incorporating Ecological Systems into Planning 

3.04 Ecosystem Connections and Buffers  
4.05 Energy-Efficient Building Design  
5.09 Role of Arts and Cultural Programs  
6.10 Managing Parking Supply  
6.12 Neighborhood Streets Connectivity 
8.05 Diversity 
8.07 Physical Health 
8.10 Support for Community Facilities  
8.16 Education Resource  
8.18 The Arts   

Agenda Item 5A     Page 20Packet Page     92



 

Figure 13:    
Focused view of the planned multi modal roundabout. 

           Bike/ped 
 Auto 

As illustrated in Figure 13, within the proposed 
roundabout, crosswalks will be provided to 
facilitate the movement of pedestrians through 
the roundabout.  Bicyclists will have the option 
of either traveling through the roundabout or 
using bicycle ramps to access the sidewalks and 
crosswalks.  Staff worked with the applicant and 
County Transportation Staff who also worked 
with area residents to identify the best placement 
and alignment of the roundabout to reduce traffic 
speeds along Cherryvale Road.  
 
The traffic calming element of the roundabout 
along with the enhanced landscape aesthetics are 
considered to be of benefit to the community and 
responds to Site Review criteria related to traffic 
and circulation safety including discouraging 
high speeds; minimizing vehicle conflicts; and 
provision of safe and convenient connections. 
 
Site Design. The site plan is consistent with Site Review criteria for open space and the 
preservation of wetlands, riparian areas and protection of sensitive environmental features as 
indicated in Attachment F. Similarly, the site plan is consistent with BVCP policies that seek to 
ensure urban environmental quality by dedicating open space, establishing additional 
conservation easement and by locating the proposed building and the future development well 
away from the sensitive Sombrero Marsh portion of the property.  This site design approach is 
consistent with environmental quality policy 3.09, which indicates the city’s intent to promote 
wildlife and land use management practices to minimize conflicts with urban land uses and 
preserve habitat. With placement of the building away from the Sombrero Marsh habitat area, the 
building is also placed toward Arapahoe Avenue, with fenestration provided along the north 
elevation. On-street parking is not planned by CDOT given the highway status of the four- to 
six-lane roadway and the 45-mile per hour speed limits adjacent to the site.   
 
Given the practicality and the need 
for safety and separation of 
pedestrians from the high traffic 
volumes of Arapahoe Avenue, 
particularly for young children and 
parents accessing the day care, the 
primary access into the building is 
proposed from the south, nearest 
the parking area on the interior of 
the site.  Figure 14, illustrates the 
well designed entry courtyard.  
 
The building-forward configuration 
related to Arapahoe Avenue does 
provide a “well designed face to the 
public realm” as recommended in 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 21Packet Page     93



 

Figure 15:   
Perspective Sketch of the North Side of the Proposed Building as Viewed from  

Arapahoe Avenue. 

BVCP policy 2.37(b) and the building is easily accessed by a north entrance by pedestrians or 
bicyclists from Arapahoe Avenue via the multi-use path and nearby bus stop as shown in  
Figure 15 that illustrates the Arapahoe Avenue elevation.   
 

The Planning Board, in their recommendation for approval, added a condition that would require 
refinements to the north entrance to the Boulder Jewish Commons building to further minimize 
the potential for conflicts between pedestrians and vehicles using the service entrance to the 
building, and requested additional bike parking near the north entrance. The board also requested 
that the applicant and staff work with RTD to establish a closer bus stop to the entrance.  The 
applicant provided a supplement to their written statement to respond to, and address, these 
conditions. This supplement is provided at the end of Attachment G. 
 
Building Design. The site review criteria for building design emphasizes compatibility of the 
proposed building to the existing character and context, the provision of pedestrian interest, and 
the use of authentic materials. Attachment F presents a discussion of all of the site review 
criteria related to building design. The existing character of the area is varied and the primary 
characteristics of nearby buildings are the relatively large floor plates of the industrial and auto 
dealership buildings along Arapahoe Avenue.  Like the nearby buildings, the proposed Jewish 
Community Center building has a large building footprint. However, in keeping with Site 
Review criteria for building design, the proposed project will enhance the existing setting 
utilizing high quality, authentic, durable materials that include stone, brick, wood beams forming 
a barrel roof, and metal panels as shown in Figure 16.  
 
 
The building when viewed from Cherryvale Road, provided in Figure 16, also has appropriately 
detailed fenestration and varied building forms that will provide interest along both Cherryvale 
Road and Arapahoe Avenue.  The building design is also supplemented with an attractive 
landscape plan, with playfields on the west side of the building planned as a part of the 
programming for the Jewish Community Center, along with rows of ornamental trees to establish 
a strong pedestrian orientation to the north entrance.  In all, the proposed site design and 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 22Packet Page     94



 

architecture are consistent with the Site Review criteria for quality and compatibility with the 
surrounding context and will help to lead a new aesthetic for the East Arapahoe context. 
 

 

 

 
  
 
 

 
KEY ISSUE 4: Is the proposed project consistent with the Use Review Criteria per land 
use code sub-section 9-2-15, B.R.C. 1981? 
 
As found within the Use Review criteria analysis in Attachment F the proposed project primary 
uses (including adult education, day care, and indoor recreation meet the Use Review Criteria).  
A portion of the facility includes fitness classes and indoor recreation.  As a master planned site, 
the facility is primarily located within the already annexed Estate Residential area where 
educational uses require a consistency analysis under the Use Review criteria.  
 
Specifically, under the Land Use Code, Table 9-6-1, B.R.C. 1981, “Schedule of Permitted Uses,” 
the two main uses determined from the management plan provided by the applicant and through 
the architectural plans are: daycare centers for 50 or more children and adult education facilities 
greater than 20,000 square feet.  
 
The daycare facility itself will primarily be oriented to pre-kindergarten. However, the applicant 
has indicated that other uses such as day camps or youth camps would also occur in summer 
months. Per section 9-16, B.R.C. 1981 the definition of “daycare center” is as follows: 

"Daycare center" means a facility: 

(1) Licensed by the state, if applicable; 

(2) Providing care for children or adults who do not reside in the facility, are 
present primarily during daytime hours, and do not regularly stay overnight; and 

(3) Which may include some instruction. 

 

Figure 16: 
Proposed use of authentic, attractive, and durable finish materials 

on building:   
Materials keyed to the building elevation 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 23Packet Page     95



 

(4) Which is not located within a dwelling unit.” 

The definition of Adult Education Facility is as follows: 
"Adult education facility" means an academic educational use serving a clientele at least 
fifty percent of which are individuals who are eighteen years of age or older. 

Under the Residential Estate zoning, these uses require a consistency analysis with the Use 
Review criteria of section 9-2-15, B.R.C. 1981.   
 
A portion of the northwest corner of the building is proposed to be a relatively small fitness area.  
Staff reviewed this component of the building initially as an accessory use, based on the Land 
Use Code definitions of section 9-16, B.R.C. 1981 

"Accessory use" means a use located on the same lot as the principal building, structure, 
or use to which it is related and that: 

(1) Is subordinate to and customarily found with the principal use of the land; and 

(2) Is operated and maintained for the benefit or convenience of the occupants, 
employees, and customers of or visitors to the premises with the principal use. 

Because fitness is customarily found with the educational principal use of the site, and the fitness 
component would be operated and maintained for the benefit or convenience of the customers or 
visitors to the premises with the principal use it could qualify as an accessory use. However, in 
further understanding the fitness use of the proposed project through conversations with the 
applicant, staff understands that it is intended by the applicant that a visitor could use the fitness 
facility independent of the adult education aspects.  Because of this distinction, and because a 
fitness center as a “stand alone” primary use is not permitted under the Residential Estate zoning, 
staff determined that if the analysis of the fitness use under Use Review criteria concluded with 
findings of approval, the legal mechanism to permit the fitness use as a third primary use on the 
site would be through ordinance.  Given that the annexation ordinance is intended to establish the 
site as the Boulder Jewish Commons, the terms of the fitness aspect had been established through 
the annexation ordinance.  
 
The applicant also intends to utilize the community hall space for special events such as Bar and 
Bat Mitzvah parties, weddings or other gatherings. According to the applicant, they anticipate 
two to three of these types of events per month and that the rentals would comprise less than five 
percent of their overall operating budget and operating time of the JCC.   

 
The applicant has indicated from early in the planning process that the main emphasis on the 
JCC is as a place of education and that the rental events would on a limited basis.  The parking 
and trip generation for any rental use of the community hall was already accounted for in the 
analysis. Similarly, the hours of operation for the entire building establish a closing for  
11 p.m. Therefore, finds that such events would be considered accessory to the main use of the 
building for day care and adult education.   
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 24Packet Page     96



 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 
Annexation Conditions:  refer to Attachment D, for the Annexation Agreement which contains 
the conditions for annexation. 
 
Recommended Conditions of Approval for the Site Review:  the following conditions 
would apply to 1492 Cherryvale Rd., 5980, 6160, 6180 and 6234 Arapahoe Rd., the 
properties part of the site review: 

 
1.   The Applicant shall be responsible for ensuring that the development shall be in 

compliance with all approved plans dated July 1, 2013, on file in the City of 
Boulder Planning Department, except to the extent that the development may be 
modified by the conditions of approval. 

 
2. Prior to a building permit application, the Applicant shall submit a Technical 

Document Review application for the following items, subject to approval of the 
City Manager: 

 
a. Final architectural plans, including materials and colors, to insure 

compliance with the intent of this approval and the architectural intent shown 
on the elevation plans dated July 1, 2013. 

 
b. A final site plan showing the corrections and additions requested by this 

approval, including building setbacks on fully dimensioned plans, additional 
bike racks, and refinements to the walkway on the north side of the building. 
A signed survey drawing should also be submitted.   

 
c. A final utility plan meeting the City of Boulder Design and Construction 

Standards.  
 
d. A final storm water report and plan meeting the City of Boulder Design 

and Construction Standards, which shall include information regarding the 
groundwater conditions (geotechnical report, soil borings, etc.) on the 
Property and all discharge points for perimeter drainage systems.  

 
e. Final transportation plans meeting the City of Boulder Design and 

Construction Standards and CDOT Access Code Standards, for all 
transportation improvements.  These plans must include, but are not limited 
to:  street plan and profile drawings, street cross-sectional drawings, signage 
and striping plans in conformance with Manual on Uniform Traffic Control 
Devices (MUTCD) standards, transportation details drawings, geotechnical 
soils report, and pavement analysis. 

 
f. A detailed landscape plan, including size, quantity, and type of plants existing and 

proposed; type and quality of non-living landscaping materials; any site grading 
proposed; and any irrigation system proposed, to insure compliance with this 
approval and the city's landscaping requirements.  Removal of trees must receive 
prior approval of the Planning Department. Removal of any tree in city right-of-way 
must also receive prior approval of the City Forester.  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 25Packet Page     97



 

 
g. A detailed lighting plan showing location, size, and intensity of illumination units. 
 
h. CDOT access permits meeting the CDOT Access Code Standards for all 

transportation improvements within the CDOT right-of-way, including, but not 
limited to the following: two new right-in / right-out curb cuts on Arapahoe Road 
(State Route 7) as shown on the approved plans. 

 
3. Prior to a building permit application, the Applicant shall submit a subdivision 

application, including a revised Preliminary Plat and Final Plat, subject to the review 
and approval of the City Manager, and execute a subdivision agreement meeting the 
requirements of Chapter 9-12, “Subdivision,” B.R.C. 1981, which provide, without 
limitation and at no cost to the City, for the following: 

 
a. The dedication, to the City, of all right-of-way and easements necessary to serve 

the development, including, but not limited to, those shown on the approved plans 
dated July 1, 2013, on file in the City of Boulder Planning Department, in a final 
configuration and location acceptable to the City Manager, and generally 
described as follows: 
  

i. Right-of-way shown as “Oreg Drive”;   
ii. A portion of Cherryvale Road right-of-way; 

iii. Public Access easement for private road north of Oreg Drive between Lot 
1 and 2; 

iv. Utility easements; 
v. Drainage and Detention Pond easements; and 

vi. Ditch easement. 
 

b. The construction of all public improvements necessary to serve the development, 
including, but not limited to, the following: 

 
i. Cherryvale Road roundabout, curb-and-gutter, and sidewalk; 

ii. A second northbound left-turn lane on northbound Cherryvale Road; 
iii. Reconstruction of the raised medians at the Arapahoe Avenue and 

Cherryvale Road/Private Drive intersection; 
iv. Transit stop improvements on eastbound Arapahoe Avenue; 
v. Construction of Oreg Drive; 

vi. Installation of street lighting at the roundabout crosswalks; 
vii. All water, wastewater, and storm sewer facilities. 

 
c. A financial guarantee, in a form acceptable to the Director of Public Works, in an 

amount equal to the cost of constructing all public improvements necessary to 
serve the development. 
 

d. The removal of the existing structures on 6160 and 6180 Arapahoe Rd. as well as 
the removal of the existing principal residential building at 1492 Cherryvale Rd.  

 
4. Prior to building permit application, the Applicant shall submit a financial 

guarantee, in a form acceptable to the Director of Public Works, in an amount 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 26Packet Page     98



 

equal to the cost of providing eco-passes to the employees of the development for 
three years after the issuance of a certificate of occupancy as proposed in the 
Applicant’s Transportation Demand Management (TDM) plan.  

 
5. Any building permit application that is filed prior to the effective date of Ordinance No. 

7925 shall show that any buildings subject to such permit application meet the energy 
efficiency requirements under Ordinance No. 7925. 

 
6.   The Applicant shall complete the approved site review in compliance with the phasing 

plan shown on the approved plans dated July 1, 2013, on file in the City of Boulder 
Planning Department.  The Applicant shall begin and substantially complete each 
development stage within five, ten, and fifteen years, as applicable pursuant to the 
approved plans, from the time of City Council’s approval and in compliance with the 
annexation agreement for the site.   

 
Recommended Use Review Conditions:  The following conditions apply to the Use Reviews for 
5980 Arapahoe Rd. for approval of a Daycare Center with ≥ 50 children, an Adult Education 
Facility ≥ 20,000 square feet, and an Indoor Recreational or Athletic Facility.  
 
1. The Applicant shall ensure that the development shall be in compliance with all 

approved plans dated July 1, 2013, on file in the City of Boulder Planning Department, 
except to the extent that the development may be modified by the conditions of this 
approval.  Further, the Applicant shall ensure that the approved use is operated in 
compliance with the following restrictions: 

 
a. The Applicant shall operate the business in accordance with the written statement 

dated July 1, 2013, and management plan dated September 3, 2012, on file with 
the City of Boulder Planning Department.   

 
b. The approved uses shall be closed from 11:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. seven days per 

week. 
 
2. The Applicant shall not expand or modify the approved uses, except pursuant to 

Subsection 9-2-15(h), B.R.C. 1981. 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Location Map 
B. Correspondence Received  
C. Ordinance with Exhibits 
D. Annexation Agreement 
E. Guidelines for Annexations  
F. Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria 
G. Applicant Written Statement 
H. Project Plans 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 27Packet Page     99

meltm1
Typewritten Text



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 28Packet Page     100



 

Attachment A- Location Map 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 29Packet Page     101



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 30Packet Page     102



  
  

Attachment B  
Correspondence Received 

 
 Summary of Neighborhood Meetings and Comments 

 
Boulder Jewish Commons Neighborhood Meetings 
 
On Monday, December 3, 2007 a neighborhood meeting was held at Naropa 
Neighbors in attendance:  Judy Renfroe, Carol Riordan, Ernie Oram, Barry Schacht, Warren and Diana 
Smadbach, Bev Nelson, Sidway McKay, Dan Goldberg, Bethann and Jim Myers 
 
The site plan was presented to the neighbors present by site plan architect, David Barrett.  Attention was drawn 
to the changes to the site plan that were based upon feedback received at a neighborhood meeting in 2005.  The 
site design now has the JCC further removed from the neighbors, up against Arapahoe.  Questions and points 
raised by the public at the meeting focused primarily on traffic.  Will there be a speed limit on the property?   
Will there be traffic calming devices on the internal road?  What are the hours of operation for the different uses 
on the site?  What about security on the site? You can feel the warmth and spirit of the project through the 
presentation. 
 
On October 4, 2011 a meeting was held at Bonai Shalom, 1527 Cherryvale. 
Neighbors in attendance:  Anne Larson, Judy Renfroe, Warren Smadbeck, Morris and Barbara Miller 
 
Butch Weaver offered opening comments about the status of the project.  The current site plan was presented by 
Angie Milewski from BHA design, landscape architect/site plan designer. Architectural renderings of the JCC 
building were shown by Rebbeca Spears, lead architect.  The neighbors comments included:  The building design 
is quite attractive.  The amount of land that has to be used for parking seems large. 
 
From: Judrenfroe@aol.com [mailto:Judrenfroe@aol.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, March 13, 2012 1:58 PM 
To: Guiler, Karl 
Subject: Re: BJC Status? 
 
Karl, 
Thanks.  
There was an error in downloading some of it and I got a message that it could not be decompressed, 
although I could open two of the files, site plan and preliminary plat. 
  
I did not see anything in the attachment part that I could open re the staff's response.  Could you send 
that portion of it again.  Thanks in advance. 
  
I'm studying the site plan and preliminary plat you sent.  Are there changes from the original that are 
not obvious? 
  
I do have more questions. 
  
1)  First, re my question about the open space/environmental preserve area:  As I recall, on the BVCP, 
the line between that and the Medium density was the existing large irrigation ditch.  That is roughly 70 
feet north of the  NE corner of our property.  Everything south of that ditch is part of the drainage area 
into the marsh and is a part of water runoff to the marsh.  The site plan proposes that the outlot for 
preservation of the marsh be moved about 170 to 200 feet south of that.  Not good.   
  
Also, the aquatic vegetation line and the usual water level line is considerably larger than what is 
shown.  What is shown is pretty much the low water mark. 
  
And, doesn't moving that line to the south involve a change in the BVCP? 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 31Packet Page     103



  
  

  
2)  I was unable to figure out how deep the utility trenches would be.  If they are into our groundwater, 
and are not properly plugged, that will be a huge problem. 
  
3)  Why does the City want a public street?   How would that affect its design?    
  
If it is not to be used as a cut through, but only to serve this development, why would it need to be 
public?  Why would the City want to pay for the maintenance? 
  
I can also understand the need for it to be closed if there are security threats.  That can't happen if it is 
public.  Not only does their security affect us as well, making it public will make it more difficult to deal 
with trespassers into the undeveloped parts, the marsh, and the neighborhood properties (namely, us).  
  
4)  Re the raised cross walk, one of our neighborhood was told that the County had  planned one, and 
even begun the installation of the approaches which you can see along Cherryvale, but the City didn't 
want it.  If that is true,  I'd like to ask the City to reconsider. 
  
5)  A connection to 63rd?  What would the alignment for that be?  Would it add more cut through 
traffic? 
  
It appears to me (from daily trips per sq ft of building used by the developers traffic analysis) that traffic 
at build out, not counting the undeveloped lots, and not considering cut through traffic, would 
approximate half of existing Cherryvale traffic.  That is unconscionable, if it is correct.   
  
6)  At the neighborhood meeting, we were told that the initial traffic count (2013 initial phase) would be 
about 1100 plus trips per day.  The traffic study it seems to say that it would be about 1500 plus at the 
2013 stage.  Of the 1100 plus, about 650 were predicted to go past our house on the north side.  I 
assume that would not be about 900 initially along the north side of our house with the new numbers.   
  
I'm not asking that you respond to these traffic issues in detail.  I'm just raising the issues. 
  
There are times I wonder if a combination low/medium density residential development would be less 
damaging than the way this appears to be heading. 
  
Thanks again. 
  
Judy Renfroe 
  
------------- 
In a message dated 3/13/2012 9:29:26 A.M. Mountain Daylight Time, GuilerK@bouldercolorado.gov 
writes: 

Judy, 

I've provided answers to your questions below. I have also attached the applicant's plans and city's review 
comments for your review.  Please let me know if you have any additional questions. 

Karl 

Karl Guiler, AICP  
Planner II 
City of Boulder Department of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Planning & Development Services Center 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791Phone: 303.441.4236 Fax: 303.441.3241 
Email: guilerk@bouldercolorado.gov 

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 32Packet Page     104



  
  

From: Judrenfroe@aol.com [mailto:Judrenfroe@aol.com]  
Sent: Monday, March 12, 2012 6:12 PM 
To: Guiler, Karl 
Subject: BJC Status? 

Karl,   
Can you tell me the current status of the BJC application? Also a couple of other questions: 

1.  Has there been any discussion of changing the "beltway" road design? 

Yes. The city is looking to have the roadway be a public right‐of‐way which would change the design. In our discussion with 
the applicant yesterday, they were looking to move the street northward. 

2.  Are there any more detailed plans from which we could determine the elevation of the road, and what the 
purpose of the retaining wall is?  Is the road elevated?  Is there ANY berm between the road and the property to 
the south? 

I don’t believe there is a berm proposed nor is the roadway elevated. Please see the attached plans. 

3.  Also is there any discussion re the boundary for land set aside for the marsh being so much farther south than 
it is on the BVCP? 

The applicant is proposing to preserve the marsh in an outlot. The city is requested that it be deeded to the city fee simple. 
Please clarify your question regarding the boundary.  

4.  What happened to the possibility that the main entrance might be on Arapahoe Road, not Cherryvale?   

The applicant is having difficulties with CDOT along Arapahoe with restricted turn movements. They are looking to make the 
Cherryvale entry the main entry. The city is also looking into the possibility of providing a connection from 63rd into the site 
as an alternative access point. 

5.  Is there any possibility of a raised crosswalk across Cherryvale? It would serve two purposes.  I would connect 
the Synagogue for safer access, and it would be a safer connection for people using the new walking path to get 
to the bus stop on Arapahoe. 

I don't believe the applicant is looking to do a raised crosswalk nor do I believe the county would approve a raised crosswalk 
along Cherryvale. I will have to check with our transportation division on this. 

6.  In terms of the two lots and an outlot, is there any issue re parts of the undeveloped lots having different 
zonings? 

It is possible that different zoning districts would be applied based on the fact that different BVCP land uses apply to the site 
(i.e., Low Density and Medium Density Residential). The eastern parts of the site could be zoned Medium Density 
Residential to be consistent with the BVCP. 

7.  It appears that the zoning requested in the public notice has changed.  Has it? 

Upon initial submittal, the applicant was unclear about the requested zoning. See the city reviewer comments. 

8.  I would like to request that 1492 be annexed under RR-1 Zoning to be consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan, and the rest of Cherryvale other than the already annexed corner property.  I am very concerned that it is 
the intent to annex the rest of Cherryvale under RE zoning.   

Staff agrees that RR zoning should be applied to 1492 Cherryvale and this is reflected in the reviewer comments. I don't 
believe the applicant is opposed to this. If they were to propose RE zoning, it would require a change to the BVCP land use 
map which is a more involved process. 

Please advise whether or not that is the intent. 

Judy Renfroe 

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 33Packet Page     105



  
  

From: Judrenfroe@aol.com [mailto:Judrenfroe@aol.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, February 22, 2012 4:15 PM 
To: Guiler, Karl 
Cc: sps851@comcast.net 
Subject: Re: Comments on BJC proposal 
 
I forgot to mention that my last email addressed our concerns, and does not reflect the many things we 
like about this plan and the effort of the BJC to put the buildings and intensive uses on Arapahoe.  
That is very much appreciated, and I apologize if my prior email did not adequately reflect that.   I was 
in a hurry to get it written and sent. 
  
Please be sure to forward this follow up to the BJC as well as my concerns. 
  
Judy Renfroe 
  
  
 
Comment Letters Received in Sept. and Oct. 2013: 
 
From: Judrenfroe@aol.com [mailto:Judrenfroe@aol.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2013 5:52 PM 
To: boulderplanningboard 
Cc: sps851@comcast.net; McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: BJC proposal 
 
TO:  Boulder Planning Board Members: 
  
I plan to attend the hearing, but here are my comments for your consideration. 
  
We are the residential property on the south (1460 Wonderview Court) that is most severely affected 
by this development.  We have lived here for 41 years and our family plans to keep the property as a 
single residence after we are gone.   
  
We support the concept and want to see it go forward at this time.  I won't tell you that the difference it 
is going to make to us is not going to be a shock when it actually happens.  However, Butch Weaver 
and the BJC have done as much as they can to minimize the shock.  I appreciate their efforts, both  in 
terms of design and expense and the efforts of City staff to work with them and to recognize the 
concerns we have addressed in the past. 
  
Uses: 
  
It is more intense than the zoning would lead one to expect.  We know that.  However, the buildings 
have been placed close to Arapahoe, and their bulk may even help block the noise from Arapahoe, 
which is significant even without the current construction.  We don't believe there are any other likely 
uses which would have lesser impact.  The synagogue on Cherryvale has been a good neighbor, and 
we believe that the BJC will continue in that tradition.  My husband and I support the combination of 
uses planned as set forth in this Concept Plan.  We believe it is a benefit to the neighborhood and to 
the Boulder community in general. 
  
I do have some questions and concerns about rental of the community hall and the hours of operation, 
particularly for the rental uses, but assume those can be addressed at a later date.  (On a quiet day or 
evening we have heard the Avalon Dance Ballroom on the north side Arapahoe and, driving by at 
night, see people in the parking lot after operating hours.) 
  

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 34Packet Page     106



  
  

Likewise, it is going to be a delicate balance between adequate lighting for security, including along 
the public street, and light pollution, but that can be addressed at a later date.   
  
I'm concerned about the noise from what will probably be rooftop heating and cooling equipment.  The 
hum from those even north of Arapahoe contributes to the ambient sound we hear late at night when 
Arapahoe traffic is at a minimum.  Something else to address later.  There are designs available to 
block such sound. 
  
The traffic projections for both the internal street and ingress and egress to Cherryvale and to 
Arapahoe based on the most recent study seem to be less than the prior study.  I hope this one is 
correct. 
  
Of course storm drainage and utility trenches must be correctly designed so as not to drain or 
otherwise impact our ground water. 
  
We hope the existing irrigation laterals will not be put into concrete or culverts as was indicated on a 
prior plan, but not mentioned either way on the present concept plan.  This lateral has traditionally 
recharged groundwater.  Culverts are dangerous for pets, kids, and wildlife, and hard to keep free of 
debris and flowing freely. 
  
We appreciate the trees along the south property line that are proposed to provide a buffer and help 
with privacy for our house, back yard, and horse barn. 
  
Cherryvale Entrance and Roundabout: 
  
I think that most of us in the neighborhood would have preferred to see the main entrance on 
Arapahoe, but I guess the State DOT rules prohibit that.  Just as I am very concerned about traffic on 
Oreg Drive, residents on Cherryvale are concerned about the additional traffic that any new 
development will add to existing traffic woes.  While there are some differences within the 
neighborhood regarding the best way to address this, I think it is fair to say that most people support 
the roundabout.  We hope it will function not only to add a safe ingress/egress to the BJC, but also to 
discourage unnecessary cut through traffic from the south which should be using either 75th, 55th, or 
Foothills Parkway to begin with.   
  
Public Street (Oreg Drive) and Traffic: 
  
One of the worst impacts is due to the City's insistence that the street be a public street and that it 
eventually be punched through to 63rd street, and eventually to the school district property.  This has 
left the BJC, my family, and our neighborhood between a rock and a hard place. The BJC has placed 
the street  farther north away from our property, as far as they can to accommodate the required 
parking without the necessity for their visitors to cross a public street to access their facility. IF it were 
a private street, or simply just to serve this development, it could be designed similar to the hospital 
parking at Foothills Hospital with far less detriment to us or eventually to Sombrero Marsh. 
  
I was expecting to see some speed mitigation device on the street so that it would be less likely 
to become a cut-through from Cherryvale to Arapahoe.  Such a device would also have the effect of 
discouraging cut through traffic in the first place.  It is unrealistic to believe it will not happen if it is put 
through to 63rd. Cutting through will avoid the traffic and backups on Arapahoe, and the light at 
Arapahoe and Cherryvale.  A recent prior proposal would have put a curve in it.  Either that could be 
restored, or a speed table could be added, without the necessity of another concept plan.   Please do 
one or the other.   
  
Although it can wait for another day, another concern about the City's insistence that it be punched 
through to 63rd street and beyond in the future is the impact on Sombrero Marsh.  The whole issue of 
the unintended impact that the Reserve has already had on the water quality is another topic.  I do not 
believe the Marsh can survive additional impact.  Much of the water fowl and other aquatic life that was 

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 35Packet Page     107



  
  

once there is gone, thanks to the changes.  I need to have some discussions with the City about 
management and the intrusions which are already happening and having detrimental impacts.   
  
We are concerned about whether this public street is going to increase the problems related 
to homeless persons in the area.  Will I find them in my horse barn?  Camping across the fence?  How 
will enforcement work?   (While maybe not obvious to the casual observer, there is already a 
noticeable and apparently growing homeless population in the general area.)   
  
Comments on staff memo: 
  
p. 2 -- Comprehensive Plan designations also include Very Low Density for 1492 Cherryvale, Not just 
Low Density, Medium density and Public. 
  
p. 11 -- Is this map still accurate in terms of the line separating the conservation easement from the 
RM-1 parcel? I understood the proposal is to relocate the irrigation lateral which has been the 
boundary between the two, but that is not shown in any of the materials.   
  
p. 15 -- There is a dedicated gravel walkway on the west side of Cherryvale from Reserve Drive to the 
Bonai Shalom synagogue, created when Cherryvale was repaved.  It is part of the reason the "vistas" 
along that part of Cherryvale were "opened up" so much that speeds of cut through traffic have 
increased so much in that area.   
  
P. 15 -- It's not quite accurate to say that County Staff worked with area residents to determine the 
best place for the roundabout.  Until a couple of weeks ago we all thought it was going to be further 
north, and that the County would, as promised, install an additional island in that area as part of its 
traffic calming plan, in addition to the roundabout.  We don't want to take the risk that the roundabout 
will be delayed or not built and we will have neither!  Not sure how you should address this since it is 
partly a County issue, but want to make you aware of the issue.  We want both if possible.  
  
p.18 -- Fitness as a 3rd primary use via contract is OK.  If it is affordable, maybe neighborhood 
residents will join.  
  
p.18 -- Hours of operation?  I looked every where and finally found the info at the end of the traffic 
study in the section on parking.  As I said, the change is going to be a shock.   I just hope that rental 
events lasting until 10 PM will not be a regular occurrence. 
  
p. 21 -- What is the zoning to be on the Conservation easement portion?  If there is some creative way 
to give a density credit and still zone it for open space, that would be preferable.  
  
p. 25 -- Removal of existing structures on 1492 Cherryvale?  I'm still hoping there will be a way not to 
demolish the house and out buildings so that the goats and chickens can remain, as well as the 
community gardens which have been established there.  It is a delight to see and hear the children in 
the gardens.  It seems to me the experience is just as valuable as those intended by the rest of the 
project. 
  
Thank you for reading and for your consideration. 
  
Sincerely, 
  
Judy Renfroe 
1460 Wonderview Court 
(P. O. Box 17100, 80308) 
303-443-8969 
  
 

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 36Packet Page     108



  
  

From: Judrenfroe@aol.com [mailto:Judrenfroe@aol.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2013 4:42 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine; Kuhna, Scott; Damico, John 
Cc: butch@irupe.com; sps851@comcast.net 
Subject: Fwd: Sombrero Marsh overflow 
 
Elaine, Scott, and John, 
  
This is a forward of an email I sent to George Gerstle with the County.  We have a major problem due 
to overflow from Sombrero Marsh.   
  
While this is in no way the fault of the JBC, their property is the only remaining way for this water to 
exit.  I do not believe that the current site plan drainage plan takes this into consideration.  This was 
not a one time occurrence.  It happened in 1995, although not as bad.  We thought the enlarged lateral 
down the south side of our property would handle it, but we were very wrong. 
  
It was 6 to 8 inches deep in our barn, and still coming when we initially dug second the trench through 
our yard on Friday, and it filled up again Friday night and Saturday.  It didn't start going down until 
Monday.  (We would have dug the trench Thursday, but no one was available to do it.) 
  
Butch and the JBC gave us permission to divert it over their property, but the additional trench we dug, 
was still not adequate.  It overflowed when the rain started again Friday night. 
  
We are begging you to do something to handle the overflow from the marsh.  This is not a one time 
incident.  It was serious, with water in our house and barn in 1995, but nothing like this.   Please 
require a storm drainage path from the marsh.  However, it does not seem fair that it be at the total 
expense of the BJC.    
  
It is also not fair that it be through our property, house and barn, and that of the Smadbecks. 
  
It seems to me that an open, perhaps concrete lined, channel from the Marsh to either Arapahoe or 
Cherryvale would be one solution.   We will be happy to meet with you and discuss this as soon as you 
have time after things settle down. 
  
  
Judy Renfroe 
1460 Wonderview Court 
303-443-8969 home 
720-841-3540 cell 
  
  
  

 
From: Judrenfroe@aol.com 
To: ggerstle@bouldercounty.org 
CC: warren@cherryvalerealty.com, dsrose9@gmail.com 
Sent: 9/17/2013 2:45:50 P.M. Mountain Daylight Time 
Subj: Sombrero Marsh overflow 
  
George, 
  
Please put this on your list of things to fix.  Neal and I will be happy to meet with you and discuss this 
after things settle down a little.  However, we are very worried the weather could defy the odds and 
this could happen again at any time. 
  

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 37Packet Page     109



  
  

This is the second time (first time 1995) since the Reserve was built that Sombrero Marsh has 
overflowed -- into our house and barn, ruining thousands of dollars worth of property and repair 
expenses, and thousands in hiring private contractors to try, with limited success this time, to divert the 
water around our house because it has no where to go to get out of here.  The damage was less in 
1995, but it is extensive this time. 
  
Nearly all of the Reserve drains into the Sombrero Marsh.  I don't think it as much of it did before the 
Reserve was built.   
  
We have a trench where before 1995 there was an irrigation lateral down the south property line, and 
now we have another trench across our lot BETWEEN our house and barn.  The two combined were 
not enough to take care of the flow when the marsh began to overflow this time.   
  
What is supposed to be a detention pond west of the marsh has been converted into backyard, 
sprinkler system and all, complete with mowing, etc., and the person who is using it as backyard has 
removed the barrier that was intended to enable it to detain water.    I don't know whether the County 
has approved that, or whether the HOA has approved it, but it is not acceptable.   
  
I am going to contact the City also as soon as I find the appropriate email addresses.   
  
The only way out for this water is through the JCC property on the corner of Arapahoe and Cherryvale, 
so they and the City are going to have to participate in any solution.  Surely we should not have to 
maintain trenches through the middle of our residential lot.   
  
I know we are not as badly damaged as people who have lost their homes, but we are also not in a 
flood plain, and the worst of this was avoidable.  Because the Marsh has continued to drain, it is still 
flowing through our yard, delaying recovery that the rest of the neighborhood is now able to do. 
  
The Smadbeck family is only in slightly better shape. 
  
To emphasize, the worst part is that the worst of this was preventable, and is definitely preventable for 
the future. 
  
Judy Renfroe 
1460 Wonderview Court 
303-443-8969 
720-841-3540 
From: Judrenfroe@aol.com [mailto:Judrenfroe@aol.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, October 09, 2013 11:27 PM 
To: Schum, Heidi; dsrose9@gmail.com 
Cc: Kuhna, Scott; Ferro, Charles; McLaughlin, Elaine; Pannewig, Hella 
Subject: Re: Sombrero Marsh flooding --- UPDATE 
 
Heidi, 
  
Are you telling me that we have to continue to let the marsh continue to overflow through our house 
and barn every time we have an unusual rain??  Are you aware this happened in 1995.  It also 
happened to a lesser degree other times.  And by the way, the entire Reserve has not always drained 
into the Marsh. 
  
Judy Renfroe 
  
In a message dated 10/9/2013 4:01:03 P.M. Mountain Daylight Time, SchumH@bouldercolorado.gov 
writes: 

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 38Packet Page     110



  
  

The rain events that occurred September 12, 13, and 14 brought unprecedented rainfall to Boulder 
and as a result, Sombrero Marsh filled and overtopped into adjacent land as dictated by its historic 
natural state.  It is unfortunate that properties in the marsh’s historic drainage pathway were 
affected however; there are no preventative drainage mitigation solutions or improvements that 
could be implemented without altering historic drainage patters and negatively impacting other 
properties.   
 
From: 5dumas@comcast.net [mailto:5dumas@comcast.net]  
Sent: Wednesday, October 02, 2013 4:33 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Cc: Jeffrey Dumas 
Subject: 5980 Arapahoe Ave. needs to be zoned as flood plane and not developed 
  
Dear Ms. McLaughlin, 
 
In view of the fact that nearly 3 weeks after the big rains, there is STILL standing water on that huge lot 
east of Cherryvale Rd. and south of Arapahoe, (5980 Arapahoe Ave.),   I would like to propose that 
the city of Boulder move quickly, before a planned development happens there, to re-zone that lot as 
flood plane and not suitable for development.    The owners themselves might be thrilled to sell that 
parcel to Open Space now that they have seen what a bog it has become.   
 
In my opinion, it needs to remain undeveloped and act as  a sponge to accept water overflows thus 
protecting existing homes and businesses in the area.  I reside at 1297 Blackbird Ct. in Boulder, an 
area just East  of Cherryvale Road.  As you well know, our neighborhood was hit hard by the flood.  
Imagine how much worse local properties would have been affected had that huge parcel at 5980 
Arapahoe been developed with more buildings, roads and concrete.   
 
I spoke to Boulder County Open Space, and though it is not in the city limits, they say the City Open 
Space is making decisions about that parcel of land.  But it makes sense that you would also have 
tremendous influence.   
 
Please let me know what you think of this idea and any other governing body I should speak to. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Penny Dumas 
303-545-9290 
 
From: "Heidi Schum" <SchumH@bouldercolorado.gov> 
To: "5dumas@comcast.net" <5dumas@comcast.net> 
Cc: "Charles Ferro" <FerroC@bouldercolorado.gov>, "Scott Kuhna" <KuhnaS@bouldercolorado.gov>, 
"Elaine McLaughlin" <McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov>, "Hella Pannewig" 
<Pannewigh@bouldercolorado.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, October 9, 2013 4:01:01 PM 
Subject: RE: 5980 Arapahoe Ave. needs to be zoned as flood plain and not developed 
 
Thank you for your email regarding Sombrero Marsh and the Boulder Jewish Commons property As 
you know, the property is currently in the city development review process.  The city’s development 
code requires that the applicant design stormwater, detention and water quality infrastructure to 
convey stormwater runoff in a manner that does not negatively affect adjacent properties and follows 
historic drainage patterns.  Groundwater and the adjacent marsh will be considered by the applicant’s 
engineer in the design of the proposed development.  
  

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 39Packet Page     111



  
  

As you likely know from being a resident in the area for many years, Sombrero Marsh is an 
exceptional ecological resource in the Boulder Valley. Sombrero Marsh is the only naturally occurring 
perennial open water body of its size in the Boulder Valley. Sombrero Marsh is not always wet and 
changes with the seasons and weather conditions. This fluctuation of water occurs in most natural 
wetland ecosystems. It can be dry for up to eight months of the year, while in wetter years, the Marsh 
may never dry out completely.  The water level in the Marsh is governed by rainfall, runoff from its 
tributary basin and by fluctuation of the groundwater table (which is interconnected with South Boulder 
Creek). 
  
Stormwater runoff into Sombrero Marsh historically flows from east to west and eventually works its 
way to South Boulder Creek.  The attached power point illustrates this historic drainage pattern.  The 
marsh is located at the topographic low point on the area and is essentially a bowl because it has no 
outfall point and no ditch or stream providing a constant flow of water in and out.  The marsh is not a 
floodplain, since the marsh is not a watercourse, and there are no flood channels that contribute to the 
marsh.  When the bowl fills up the historic overflow path for the marsh is through the properties at 
1432, 1444, and 1460 Wonderview Ct.  There have been no changes made to the marsh or this 
overflow path and it continues to function in its natural state.  Please see the attached historic maps 
with 1958 topographic information.    
  
The rain events that occurred September 12, 13, and 14 brought unprecedented rainfall to Boulder 
and as a result, Sombrero Marsh filled and overtopped into adjacent land as dictated by its historic 
natural state.  It is unfortunate that properties in the marsh’s historic drainage pathway were affected 
however; there are no preventative drainage mitigation solutions or improvements that could be 
implemented without altering historic drainage patters and negatively impacting other properties.   
  
Please note that the Planning Board Annexation / Site Review public hearing for this property is 
scheduled for October 24th at 6:00 p.m. in the City Council Chambers located at 1777 Broadway.  
  
Please let me know if you have any additional questions. 
  
Heidi Schum 
  
Heidi Schum, P.E. 
City of Boulder 
Public Works 
Development Review Manager 
303-441-4276 
schumh@bouldercolorado.gov 
 
From: 5dumas@comcast.net [mailto:5dumas@comcast.net]  
Sent: Wednesday, October 09, 2013 4:26 PM 
To: Schum, Heidi 
Cc: Ferro, Charles; Kuhna, Scott; McLaughlin, Elaine; Pannewig, Hella; Jeff.Dumas 
Subject: Re: 5980 Arapahoe Ave. needs to be zoned as flood plain and not developed 
 
Dear Ms. Schum, 

Thank you for your thoughtful and detailed reply about the 5980 Arapahoe Ave. lot.   

Are you aware that there is still standing water on this property one month after our floods?  Yes this was an 

unprecedented storm, but this is not the only storm when I have seen that corner of Arapahoe and Cherryvale backed up 

in water.  Exactly where could any engineer design it to be better drained than at that corner which backs up several 

times per year even prior to development?   It doesn't need to be a 100 year flood in order for there to be a major 

problem at that corner, especially  if you take away the absorption properties of that corner lot.  Your own chart shows 

that Sombrero Marsh historically drains right through that lot when it overflows.  

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 40Packet Page     112



  
  

 

Will the engineer who thinks it is possible to divert that future drainage, even less of which would be absorbed there due 

to buildings and roads on that lot,  be liable if their plan fails and the neighboring properties sustain damage?  Or will 

they say, that their new development had nothing to do with increased waters flooding our neighbors? 

 

Sadly, I will be unable to attend the meeting on October 24th as I will be out of town.  But I hope someone there 

represents my thoughts.  Could I please count on you to be that person? 

 

Thank you. 

Penny Dumas 

303-545-9290 

  
 
Staff Response to Letters received after August 27, 2013 (publication date of previously 
released memo):  
  

Uses : The neighbor indicated questions and concerns about the rental of the community hall and the 
hours of operation.  As noted in Key Issue #6, and as confirmed by the applicant in the following 
Addendum Letter, the use of the community hall for rental receptions or banquets such as bar and bat 
mitzvah parties, weddings, or other activities is not anticipated to rise to the level of a primary use.  
According to the applicant’s clarifying addendum: 

“perhaps well see two to three of these events per month. This refers to large rental events with 
smaller rentals with fewer people occurring from time to time.  These events are likely to include 
weddings, Bar and Bat Mitzvah parties, and other gatherings of significance to our community.  
We anticipate rentals will comprise less than 5% of our overall operating budget and will occupy 
less than 4% of the operating time of the JCC.   
The Boulder JCC is designed in response to identified community need and demand.  The Community Hall is 
conceived as a flexible space capable of offering auditorium style seating for up to 330 people or for up to 250 
people seated at tables. We anticipate rentals will comprise less than 5% of our overall operating budget and will 
occupy less than 4% of the operating time of the JCC.   

Please note that these types of events were contemplated in our Parking Management Plan, 
and should pose no issue in terms of parking capacity.” 

 
Because the applicant has indicated from early in the planning process that the main emphasis on the Jewish Community 
Center is as a place of education, staff views these activities and the percentage of time that this type of use would occur on 
the site to be accessory to the main use of the building for day care and adult education and to be consistent with the city’s 
definition for “Accessory Use” found in Section 9-16, B.R.C. 1981. 
The parking and trip generation for any rental use of the community hall was already accounted for in the analysis. The hours 
of operation for the entire building remain the same with closing at 11:00 p.m. Similarly, it is likely that any type of rental 
event would occur at different times than the day use of the day care and adult education, thereby providing ample parking.  
 
Light and Noise: The proposed Jewish Community Center is located approximately 450 feet north of the neighboring 
property line.  While the distance is fairly significant (as a point of reference, that distance is approximately the length of one 
and half football fields), lighting and noise on the property will both be subject to city lighting and noise ordinances.  For 
example, lighting must be full cut-off fixtures that cast light downward per the Land Use Code section 9-9-16, B.R.C. 1981. 
The applicant has also proposed a double row of 48 evergreen trees adjacent to the neighbor’s property line to mitigate 
headlight encroachment onto her property.   

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 41Packet Page     113



  
  

 
The applicant must comply with the Use Review conditions that don’t permit use of the site past 11:00 p.m., and the noise 
ordinance (per chapter 5-9, B.R.C. 1981) requires that maximum decibels be permitted up to 55 dBA between the hours of 
7:00 a.m. until 11:00 p.m.  The neighbor indicated noise from the Avalon Ballroom can be heard after closing.  It is important 
to note that the ballroom is located in the county and subject to county regulations for noise.  
 
Internal Access Street from Cherryvale: The applicant is proposing the construction of a new access roadway from the 
planned Cherryvale Road roundabout into the mid portion of the site.  That road would connect to the access road planned 
into the site from Arapahoe Avenue. As a condition of Annexation, the city has required that the applicant reserve an area 
that would extend this roadway to the east to ultimately connect to 63rd Street.  This is intended to occur at the time of 
redevelopment of the adjacent parcels to the east of the site that contain an industrial service building and a mobile home 
park, both located within the county.  The intent would be to break up the superblocks of roadways that exist today and 
establish greater connectivity. Concerns from the neighbor and others include potential impacts to the marsh from this future 
extension to a concern vehicles in the future would cut through the site to get to 63rd or Arapahoe Avenue to avoid the traffic 
signal at Cherryvale Road and Arapahoe Avenue.   It is important to note in this regard that the potential roadway connection 
is approximately 350 feet from the Marsh, well beyond the area that will be deeded to the city, and beyond the Conservation 
Easement that serves as a buffer.  And, while it is possible that some cut through traffic could occur in the future much of the 
traffic calming proposed from the traffic circle to the double left turn lanes for westbound traffic will likely keep traffic moving 
and not necessitate cut through traffic. 
 
Roundabout: Detailed traffic studies and close coordination between city and county transportation staff established the 
optimal location of the roundabout primarily with regard to the distance from the intersection at Cherryvale and Arapahoe and 
the double turn lanes that are also proposed for traffic calming.   
 
Irrigation Laterals: The applicant is proposing to relocate the existing irrigation lateral that currently established the divide 
between the BVCP land uses of Open Space to Medium Density Residential.  However, the conservation easement will 
maintain the configuration established by the existing irrigation lateral because staff determined that configuration was the 
most optimal for the protection of the marsh.  
 
Conservation Easement: The conservation easement along with the land to be dedicated to the City with management by 
Open Space and Mountain Parks are both planned with an initial zoning of Public (P).  The conservation easement 
agreement is currently in a draft form anticipated to be signed prior to second reading of the annexation ordinance.  However, 
preliminarily, the applicant and the city have agreed to restrict access into the easement with trails or other elements.  The 
access to the dedication-in-fee portion of the Publically zoned land will also be restricted to protect the marsh. 
 
Sombrero Marsh and Flooding Issues: The city’s development code requires that the applicant design stormwater, 
detention and water quality infrastructure to convey stormwater runoff in a manner that does not negatively affect adjacent 
properties and follows historic drainage patterns.  Groundwater and the adjacent marsh will be considered by the applicant’s 
engineer in the design of the proposed development.  
  
Sombrero Marsh is an exceptional ecological resource in the Boulder Valley. Sombrero Marsh is the only naturally occurring 
perennial open water body of its size in the Boulder Valley. Sombrero Marsh is not always wet and changes with the seasons 
and weather conditions. This fluctuation of water occurs in most natural wetland ecosystems. It can be dry for up to eight 
months of the year, while in wetter years, the Marsh may never dry out completely.  The water level in the Marsh is governed 
by rainfall, runoff from its tributary basin and by fluctuation of the groundwater table (which is interconnected with South 
Boulder Creek). 
  
Stormwater runoff into Sombrero Marsh historically flows from east to west and eventually works its way to South Boulder 
Creek.  The attached power point illustrates this historic drainage pattern.  The marsh is located at the topographic low point 
on the area and is essentially a bowl because it has no outfall point and no ditch or stream providing a constant flow of water 
in and out.  The marsh is not a floodplain, since the marsh is not a watercourse, and there are no flood channels that 
contribute to the marsh.  When the bowl fills up the historic overflow path for the marsh is through the properties at 1432, 
1444, and 1460 Wonderview Ct.  There have been no changes made to the marsh or this overflow path and it continues to 
function in its natural state.  Currently, there are no preventative drainage mitigation solutions or improvements that could be 
implemented without altering historic drainage patters and negatively impacting other properties. 
 

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 42Packet Page     114



  
  

 
 
‐‐‐‐‐Original Message‐‐‐‐‐ 
From: Beverly Nelson [mailto:bevnelsonadr@comcast.net]  
Sent: Tuesday, September 10, 2013 7:30 AM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: BJC development Cherryvale and Arapahoe 
 
Elaine ‐  
 
Please feel free to forward this email to the Planning Board for the Sept 12th 
hearing. 
 
We appreciate that the BJC has been sensitive to the neighborhood and made 
various adjustments to their proposals to help mitigate the adverse effects of 
their project, especially including the roundabout on Cherryvale near 
Arapahoe. 
 
While we would prefer that the pasture remain open (as everyone does with 
nearly every project), we support BJC's proposal as long as it remains 
substantially similar to its current form, especially the efforts to reduce 
the traffic and speeds along Cherryvale. We expect that efforts will continue 
to maintain the integrity of the marsh on and adjacent to the property.   The 
Cherryvale synagogue have generally been very good neighbors and we hope that 
they can follow through with their efforts on this project. 
 
Bev Nelson 
Sidway McKay 
1425 Cherryvale Rd. 
Boulder, CO 80303 

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 43Packet Page     115



1040 Foundation
18 Pomegranates, Inc.
Enid & Mark Ablowitz
Julie Abrams & William Mertens
Lori & Ron Abramson
Marilyn & Rick Ackerman
Ackerman Family Fund
Adventure Rabbi Program
Ahava Trust
Pam Albert
Allied Jewish Federation
Jill & Mark Aloia
Celine & David Alper
Eric Altman
ANB Bank
Amanda & Ashkan Angha
Jody & Larry Ansell
Francisca & Bryan Antman 
Joanna Arch & David Andorsky
Barb & Marc Arnold
Susan & Mike Aronson
Wendy Aronson
Dellene & Michael Arthur
Hannah Kapnik & Jonathan Ashar
Amy & Todd Atkins
Samuel Avital
Donna Axel & David Rosen
Susan & Barry Baer
Stacey & Ira Bahr
Kimberly Baker
Marcia & Robert Bankirer
Andrea & Michael Banks
Debra & Lawrence Barfield
Erica & Joshua Baruch
Jodi & Donny Basch
Aviva Bass-Huh & Steven Huh
Amy & Dimiter Batmazian
Molly Bayer
Tricia & Charlie Bebber
Ingrid & Harold Becher
Phyllis Becker
Ruth & David Becker
Lindsay & Max Behnfield
Barbara & Peter Behrendt
Elaine Belansky & Greg Frost
Amy & Richard Benedikt
Nicole & Alan Benjamin
Liraz Bergman-Turner & Raviv 

Turner
Elise Berlin
Ellen Berman
Holli Berman & Marcia Cotlar
Jon Berman

Mandell L. & Madeleine H. Berman
   Foundation
Kathryn Bernheimer & Stan Kreis
Erik Bernstein
Sara Bernstein
Sophie Bernstein
Beth Ami - Colorado Congregation 

for
   Humanistic Judaism
Elizabeth Bienstock
Wendy Bigelson & Robert 

Dickerson
Carolyn & Mark Birnbach
Shari Blake Schnee & Jonathan 

Schnee
Carolyn & Kevin Bleicher
Carol & Martin Bloch
Sylvie & Eli Bloch
Susanna Block
Cece & Tom Bloomfield
Francine Blum 
Joscelyn Blumenthal
Karen & Bruce Blumenthal
Pat Blumenthal & Ron Lafollette
Harriet & Leonard Boonin
Leah & David Boonin
Gale & Tim Boonstra
Meryl & David Bornstein
Debra Jan Borstein & Rishi Kant
Jon & Dixie Borus
Judith Borus
Beth Botansky & Mitch Friedman
Boulder Jewish Community 

Foundation
Andi & Rich Bovarnick
Carol Boyd
Leah Bradley & CJ Roffis
Jon Brandon
Ron Braun
Karen Braverman
Rabbi Emily Brenner & Rabbi 

Robert Saunders
Caroline & Robert Brickman
David & Avril Bright
Susan & Maury Brochstein
Su Brodsky & John Fox 
Arlene & Ron Brown
Genny & Brady Brown
Karen Bruckner
Holly Buchanan
Leah & Avi Buchbinder
Carol & Ken Buckspan
Stephanie Buller

Brenda Burnell & Andrew 
Halperin

Calcon Constructors
Gary Calderon
Capstone, Inc.
Carolyn Carlat
Marilyn Carol & Bob Weaver
Kristen Carpenter & Thatcher 

Wine
Nancy & Bruce Casey
Debra & Art Castelbaum
Sandy & Marty Castelbaum
Carla & Robert Chamblee
Phy & Michael Chauveau  
Carol Chazdon & Bob Amend
Tracey & Peter Chiang
Madelyn & David Clair
Jen & James Clark
Jessica Clarke & Bill Sacks
Nancy Clarke & John Accardi
Sally & Richard Close
Barbralu Cohen & Don Koplen
Evie Cohen
Fran & Marc Cohen
Julie & Dan Cohen
Lisa Cohen
Mark Cohen Photography
Nikki & Amir Cohen
Rebecca & Nissan Cohen
Sara-Jane & Bill Cohen
Yael Cohen
Barbra Cohn
Catherine Cohn & Gilad Gordon
Sandy & Larry Cohn
Sanford Coleman
Mark Collen
Tina Collen
Roxanne & Marc Conrad
Diane & Michael Cooper
Emily & Jonathan Cooper
Roberta & Nate Cooper
Susan & Fred Cooper
Leah & Peter Csapo
Stephanie & Marc Daniels
Alice & Mike Davidoff
Terry & Dennis Dee
Dana Derichsweiler
Marlene & Barry Deutsch
Karen & Louis Diamond
Sydelle & Andrew Dienstfrey
Sharon & Stephen Dillon
Karen & Scott Dimetrosky
Kate & Josh Dinar

Phyllis & Joel Dinhoffer
Amy Divine & Douglas Triggs
Jeanette Domber 
Heidi & Jonathan Dormody
Amy Drew
Diane Dvorin and W.H. Butler
David Dworkin
Lorin Dytell & Bill Hayes
Marcia & Adam Edelman
David Edelstein
Jacqueline Edelstein
Shari Edelstein & Jonathan Gold
Devorah Einbinder & Ed Kelly
Sharon & Steve Eisler
Sharon & Gadi Eisner
Janet Elam
Karen & Brad Ellison
Donna Ellman & Harris Faberman
Abby & Joshua Emdur
Barbara & Larry Emdur
Ann & James Estin
Stacey Farb & Mitchell Rosenbaum
Judy & David Feiman
Nili & Graham Feingold and Family
Naomi Feinman & Dan Sarko
Melody Feldman & Josh Gould
Cheryl & David Fellows
Amy & Adam Fenster
Anna & Philip Fernbach
Alyssa & Richard Finer
Susan Finesilver
Reb Tirzah Firestone & David 

Friedman
Barbara Fischer & Mitchell Smith
Harmes Fishback Foundation
Suzanne & Donald Fishbein
Sara Fleegler & Francene Mason
Miranda & Victor Fleischer
Howard Flug
Stacey Forsyth & Brandon Protas
Celia Fountain
Elizabeth & Sidney Fox
Khaki & Rich Fox
Lauren & Jon Fox
Zara & Evan Frankel
Audrey & Andy Franklin
Heulwen & Ron Franklin
Linda Fredericks & Mike Krietzman
Allison Freedman & Harry Horowitz
Elizabeth & Michael Freedman
Marjorie Freedman & Larry 

Colbenson
Stephen & Sharon Freedman

Thanks to the over 725 individuals, families, and foundations for 
helping us reach our $18 million pre-construction goal! 

We could not have done it without each and every one of you!

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 44Packet Page     116



Freeman Myre
Elaine Freund
Pat & Arnold Fridland
Ilona Fried
Julie Frieder & Charles Stanzione
Sandy & Stephen Friedman
Nancy & Frank Friedwald
Brooke & Steve Fritz
Sharon & Rich Galdieri
Marilyn & Melvin Gallant
Alison & Neil Gallensky
Kathy & Joseph Gallion
Gordon Gamm
Shirley & Marvin Gang
Debbie & Robert Garelick
Barbara Garrop
Eve Gasarch
Carmi Gazit
Rabbi Ruth Gelfarb & Dr. Thomas 

Hopson
Mary & Lloyd Gelman
Anita Gershten
Amy Gesmer & Daniel Packman
Susan Gesundheit
Carol & Herb Gibson
Pamm Gibson
Mr. & Mrs. Allan Gilbert
Meredith & Jack Gindi
Susan & Paul Glairon
Karen Golan
Fay Gold
Lolly Gold
Marjie Gold-Vukson
Sara & Sandy Goldberg
Marcy Goldhammer
Richard Goldhammer
Lucille & Leon Goldin
Barbara Goldman & Paul Friedman
Helen Goldman
Jennifer & Andrew Goldman
Jennifer & Samuel Goldman
Melanie & Mitchell Goldman
Michelle Goldman
Molly & Jeremy Goldsmith
Arti & Joshua Goldstein
Robert Goldstein
Amy Good
Harriet & Bill Goodman
Rita Goor
Anita Gordon
Vicki & Jon Gordon
Stacy & Eben Goresko
David Gorodetsky
Maxine Gower
Joan Graff
Elise & Patrick Graninger
AJ Grant
Carolyn Grant & Robert Krenz
Emily & Eugene Grant
Katelyn Grant
Terry Grant
Diane Green & David Joseph
Sydell Green
Freda Greenbaum
Amanda & Ari Greenberg
Cecil & Michael Greenberg
Melanie & Todd Greenberg
Stephanie & Alan Greenberg
Evelyn & Joel Greene
Asher Greenfield
Barbara & Jonathan Greenwald

Deborah Grojean
Amy & Andrew Grolnick
Cynthia Grossman
Jodi Grossman
Andrea & Ben Guderian
Jennifer Gustafson
Lisa & Jeff Hainline
Debbie & Talor Halevi
Lisa Halperin & Peter Shapiro
Cindy & Larry Halpern
Rachel & Jesse Halpern
Paige Hammer & Shelly Cadora
Dorothy & Howard Handler
Holly & David Hansburg
Rabbi Ori Har
Norman Harris
Tina & Mark Harrop
Helene Hart
Harriet & Carl Hartman
Lee & Herb Hatch
Pamela & Sylvain Hayoun
Josie & Rollie Heath
Harvey Heller
Judith & Carl Herbet
Jessica Hersh & Jim McPhee
Myra & Stuart Herz
Raquel Herz
Barbara & Ian Hill
Susan & Richard Hiller
Marti & Michael Hirsch
Tina & Larry Hirshland
Allen Hittelman
Bessie Hittelman
Mara Hochberg
Quayle Hodek
Gloria Horowitz
Laurel & Leonard Hortick
Nancy Hudson-Helmuth & Bob 

Helmuth
Cindy & Paul Hunnicutt
Debbie & Michael Huttner
Diane Huttner
HW Home
Ardee Imerman
Intermountain Jewish News
Renee & Rob Israel
Debbie & David Jackson
Josephine Jackson
Tova Jacober & Ron Claman
Janet & Gary Jacobs
Muriel Jacobs
Cindy & Harvey Jacobson
Liz & Lawrence Janowski
Curtis Johns
Carolyn & Sam Johnson
Melissa & Mason Jones
Patty & Hugh Josephs
Joy Foundation
Nina Judd
Lois & Sheldon Kahn
Marcia & Colman Kahn
Douglas & Andria Kaplan
Michelle Kariv & Kevin Weiner
Shari and Neil Kark
Melinda Kassen & Bill Goelz
Pat & Rick Katz
Rachel Katz & John Warren
Gail & Peter Kaye
Michael Kaye
Nina & Michael Keilson
Greg Kellner

Mary & Robert Kelman
Vicky Kelman & Daniel Wishman
Debra Kennedy & Harry 

Hershcopf
Lillian Kennedy & Robert 

Feuerstein
Eileen & Derek Kiernan-Johnson
Daniel Kinderlehrer
Paula King
Vickianne & Jeff King
Lenore & Ronald Kingston
Jan & Tracy Kirschner
Steven Kirschner
Ashley Kissinger & Michael Behar
Dodi & Bob Klutznick
Liz Knapp & Craig Fournier
Sharon & Wayne Kocina
Susan & Jeff Kodish
Rick Koopman
Jennifer & Ayal Korczak
Sally Kornblith
Rabbi Jamie Korngold & Jeff 

Finkelstein
Pam & Alan Kosansky
Nicole & Abe Koukou
Jennifer Kraemer & William Culkin
Eleanor Kramer
Jane & Howard Kramer
Lois Kramer
Debra Kreindler & Dick Prugh
Beverly Krieger – Platts & Bill 

Platts
Elan Krueger
Judy & Joseph Kurtz
Arthur & Paulet Kwiat
Susan & Mark Labovitz
Carla & Ramin Lalezari
Ilene & Martin Lasher
Marian Lauterbach
Florence Lavin
Francine Lavin Weaver
Cindy & Peter Lazaroff
Heidi & Mark Leachman
Mary. E Lee & Jerome 

Schusterman
Debbie & Howard Leibowitz
Mark Leifeste
Judith Lemberger
Summer & Max Lenderman
Deborah Lerch & Kevin Cushman
Karen Lerch
Alaine & Joey Lerner
Connie & David Leserman
Jan & Allen Lev
Lyndsay & Jonathan Lev
Shirley Levey
Charlotte & Henry Levi
Roberta & David Levin
Levin Family Foundation
Susan Levin
Zori Levine & Josh Goldstein
David Levitt
Marcy & Brad Levy
George Lichter
Lois & Jeff Linsky
Michael Lirtzman
Susan Litt & Bruce Kahn
Katharine & Corey Litwin
Marti & Eric Litwin
Sandra & Michael Litwin
Tracey & Kevin Litwin

Beth & Steven Litz
Caroline & Matthew Loewengart
Linda & Mark Loewenstein
Jessica & Jason Lowrey
Joyce Lowrey
Judy & Robert Lowrey
Lori Lucas-Schuyler & Robert 

Schuyler
Maggie Lunt & Peter Alper
Gail Lurie
Ruth Lurie
Lois Mabari
Estate of Ruth Lederer MacGuire
Diane & Gerald Madigan
Fox & Mitch Magdovitz
Melissa Mahoney & Richard Feit
Irene & Arnoldo Majerfeld
Ruth Malman & Michael Opatowski
Rima Manas
Sheri & Steven Margolin
Barbara & Don Margolis
Beth & Michael Margolis
Heather & Simeon Margolis
Letty Margolis
Eytan & Oz Markman-Raffeld
Veronique & Gideon Markman
Phillis Marko
Nancy Maron & Larry Soll
Tina Marquis & Jason Meshnick
Avi Master & Clark Edwards
Rachel & Roger Maves
Lisa May
Sandra McCann
Emily & Mike McCort
Margaret McCort
Paul & Judi McCort
Judy & Alan Megibow
Jason & Carolyn Meglich
Boaz Meir
Beth Merfish
Sherry & Gerald Merfish
Kara & Steve Mertz
Sandra & Jay Mesinger
Alice Messinger
Marty Messinger
Irene & Pierre Metellus
Julie Meyers
Allegra Michael
Andrew Michael
Lena & Dave Michels
Angela & Andy Milewski
Arlene & Jon Miller
Cheryl Mills
Debra & Daniel Minahan
Linda & Richard Mintzer
Mara Mintzer & Harry Surden
Terry & Mark Mitzman
Mizel Family Foundation 
Jenna Monaster & Scott Morlando
Elisa Moran & Gary Kleiman
Judi Morosohk
Melissa & Brad Morrow
Mike Moses
Joan & Chris Muffly
Nicole Murad-Rothstein & Micah
   Rothstein
Roberta Mylan
Joan & William Nagel
Robyn & Robert Naiman
Kathy & Ed Naimon
Jeanne & Uri Nauenberg

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 45Packet Page     117



Beverly & Scott Needham
Judy & Paul Neiman
Rivvy Neshama
Barbara & Irwin Neulight
Linda Nevelow
Dianne & Herbert Newman
Leslie & Ari Newman
Aaron Ney
Patricia Nielsen & Merle Northrop
Rich Norloff
Becky & Chris O’Brien
Laura Olsen & David Osterman
Paul Orbuch
Oreg Foundation
Roberta & Alan Orman
Beth & Peter Ornstein
Tammy & Jason Ornstein
Rachael Osofsky & Ben Gaibel
Michelle & Michael Osterman
M & M Osterman Foundation
Lauren & John Park
Cynthia Parker
Jeff Peppet
Russell Peppet
Jennifer & David Perlick
Jay and Rose Phillips Family
   Foundation of Colorado
Gail & Mark Pierce
Mary Pierce & Ira Leibtag
Tracy & Josh Pierce
Dan Pierson
Yale & Beverly Pincus
Marilyn & Jerry Pinsker
Walter Plywaski
Jared Polis & Marlon Reis
Jared Polis Foundation
Harry Polisky
Susan Polis-Schutz & Stephen 

Schutz
Polis-Schutz Family Foundation
Richard Polk
Paula & Amit Pollachek
Anita & Arthur Polner
Miles Posen
Khandan Poureftekhar
Marla Press
Jane & Joe Printz
Merry & Andrew Pudalov
Joy & Gary Pulitzer
Julie & Anthony Purther
Meg & Daniel Quiat
Randi & David Racenstein
Sara Rachlin & Ben Brumbaugh
Beth & Gary Rattner
Gail & Phillip Raznick
Roberta Reinfeld & Roger Vossler
Elisabeth Relin
Julie & Matthew Rich
Rebecca & Thomas Rich
Karen Richards
Brianna Richardson
Ann & Doug Roberts
Wendy Rochman
Helen Roe
Susan & Jeff Rona
Channah & Rabbi Josh Rose
Rose Community Foundation
Debbie & Stephen Rosen
Barbara & Ben Rosenberg
Florence Rosenberg
Jane & David Rosenberg
Bev Rosenschein

Jake Rosenzweig
Michael Rosenzweig
Dorita Rostkier-Edelstein & 

Sergio Edelstein
Jessie Rothman & Martyn 

Church
Asher Rubin
Daphna Rubin & Steven Hoggard
Jenine & Kenneth Rubin
Phil Rubinstein
Emily & Jack Rudd
Barbara & William Rudner
Stephanie & Alan Rudy
Kelly & Evan Russack
Joan Russell
Kate Ruth & Ed Zucker
Shauna & Philip Sadow
Suzanne & Fredrick Sadow
Marian & Bill Safran
Mark & Amy Salapski
Cindy & Howard Sales
Caroline Saliman & Lisa 

Hausman
Wendy & Bernard Samuels
Mindy & Jeff Sanders
Barry Satlow
Sharon Savran
Robert Scaer
Karyn Jo & Richard Schad
Kelli & Devon Schad
Shalini & Mark Schane
Cynthia & David Schechter
Carrie & Kevin Schiff
Paula & Peter Schild
Abby Schneider
Beverly Schnure
Joel Schnure
Charles & Lynn Schusterman
Katie & Micah Schwalb
Allison & Andrew Schwartz
Heather & Warren Schwartz
Rochelle Schwartz & Dan 

McGrady
Leanore Scott
Ruth Seagull
Carol & Joe Secor
Carole & Ivan Segal
Jo An Segal
Michelle Segal & Todd Saliman
Rena & Hillel Segal
Marcia & Justin Segall
Marcia & Brian Seigal
Jackie & Wayne Seltzer
Mia & Raj Seymour
Julie & Bruce Shaffer
Sally & Paul Shankman
Ilyse Shechtel
Rosalie & Jesse Sheffield
Joyce & Charles Shenk
Claude Sherman
Dr. & Mrs. Jules Sherwinter
Karli & Daniel Sherwinter
Ruth Shrairman & Alex Landau
Drew Simon
Josh Simpson
Singer Family Foundation
Louis P. Singer Fund
Valerie & Howard Singer
Celia Sinoway & Kevin Orin
Adam Sirkus
Adriane & Robert Sirkus
Selma Sirkus

Greg Sklar
Deborah & Jeff Skovron
Jennifer & David Slade
Gail & Jerry Sloat
Alissa Smidt
Jennifer Smith
Rebecca Sobelman-Stern & 

Ronald Stern
Judy & Allen Soden
Rabbi Marc Soloway
Jessica & Jay Sonnenberg
Amy & Andrew Spasoff
Sara Sporer & Frederic 

Marienthal
Elisa Spungen-Bildner & Rob 

Bildner
Aza & Ron Squarer
Ben Squarer
Roslyn Squires
Amy Stein
Jane & Michael Stein
Lynn & Jay Stein
Jonathan Steinberg
Michael Steinberg
Gila Steinbock
Ellen & Garrett Steiner
Beth Steinhorn & Dean 

Berenbaum
Barbara Steinmetz
R.J. & F.M. Stern
Ruth Stern
Sharon & Daniel Stern
Edith Stevenson & Robert 

Schnabel
Stacy & Mark Stoutenberg
Deborah & Curtis Stovall
Lee Strongwater
Sturm Family Foundation
Sara & Rob Sturtz
Cathy Summer & Steve Ellis
Karen Susskind & Jill Oliver
Arleen Tarutz & Stephanie 

Michael
Ellen & Josh Taxman
Di Thurston & Chuck Edelstein
Paul & Kelly Tieger
Jerome Tilzer
Rina & Todd Tilzer
Jan & Keith Timm
Fred Toback
Barbara & Tom Trager
Diane Troderman
Carol & Loren Trout
Debra & Ken Tuchman
Linda & Rodney Tuenge
Harry Turner
Marcia Ungar
Susie & Dave Valdez
Susahnn Valente
Lisa & Jeff Van Damme
Laurie & Mark Van Grack
Julie & Ed Victor
Paula Volkin-Kehoe & Steve 

Volkin
Jessica Waldman & Gerald 

Hertz
Samantha & Russell Walsh
Emily & Theodore Warm
Reid Wasserstrom
Becca Weaver & Jeff Levy
Butch Weaver
Lisa & Matt Webber

Scott Webber
Susan Webber
Susan Weinberger
Cynthia Weinger
Marianne Weingroff
Debra Weinstein
Iram & Lynnie Weinstein
Joy Weinstein
Laura Weinstein & Loren Knaster
Will Weinstein
Kimberly & Richard Weintraub
Sarah & Stuart Weisman
Huong Do & Jeffrey Weiss
Jennifer & Eric Weissmann
Shula & Gideon Weisz
Gena & Marc Welk
Ron Welk
Donna Werner & Randy Bailey
Ron Werner & Jim Herring
Kristin & James White
Jacqueline & Habib Wicks
Rhonda & Bruce Wildman
Mary Ann Wilner & Jim Lovett
Tara & Robert Winer
Ru Linville & Bob Wing
Joel Wishkovsky
Howard Wishner
Sue & Jack Witkin
Katherine & Daniel Wittenberg
Mary & Timothy Wolf
Elizabeth Wolfson
Erin Wolk & Colin Prendergast
Anne & Jay Wolkowisky
Nicky Wolman & David Fulker
Jackie & Mark Wong
Alan Woronoff
Nina & Arthur Wouk
Allison & Steven Yacht
Ruth & Earl Yaffe
Stanley Yokell
Robin Youngelman & David Spiro 
Barbara & Jack Zable
Nancy Zacky
Marni & Josh Zapin
Zell Family Foundation
Helen & Sam Zell
Joanne Zell
Kellie Zell & Scott Peppet
Leah Joy Zell
Matthew Zell
Sharon Zell & Ferrell Reed
Jaye & Bill Zessar
Arlene Zicklin
Jodi & Andrew Zicklin
Phyllis Zis
Stacey & Rick Zis
Osi & Itzik Ziv
Sabina & Alexander Zolot
Kristin Zompa
Joe Zuchter

*List Updated on April 22nd, 2013

                    Attachment B 
Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 46Packet Page     118



�

� � �

��

��

��

��

��

��

	�


�

��

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

�	�

�
�

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

������������7955�

������������������������������������������������� �
�������� ������!������ ��� ���� � ���  �"�� #���� ����
���#���� �������� "����� ���  �������� � � � �� ������� ���
�������� �$�%� &!������ "���  � ��!%&� ������� ��
�'� �����
������(���� ���'� �� ��������� $� ������ �� )��$�*%� ����
��������� ������ �� ����� �������� �(����� ���� ���
��+������ ������ �� �������� �(����� ������ �� #��'�
�� ���������$�!����!���)�!$�*%��������� ����������������
����� �������� �(����'� ������� )�*,� �!������� ���� "�����
�� ������!�����!������������� ��������������������������
�������� � ��� ���� ��(�$!�������� "����� �� ����� %� ����
 �������������������������� ��

�

�����������������������������������%����������� '�

��� �-.//0123.� �455467%� ����%� 2� �434/284� 6469/4:;<� =4/94/2<;46%� ;7� <-.� 4>6./�

)?>6./@*�4:�<-.�:4334>;6A�/.23�9/49./<0'���*�<-.�9/49./<0�A.6./2330�B64>6�27�������-.//0123.�

�428� 268� 54/.� 92/<;=C32/30� 8.7=/;D.8� 46��������� 	� 2<<2=-.8� -./.<4� 268� ;6=4/94/2<.8� -./.;6�

)?�2/=.3� �@*� 268� �*� <-.� 9/49./<0� A.6./2330� B64>6� 27� ����� �/292-4.� �1.6C.� 268� 54/.�

92/<;=C32/30� 8.7=/;D.8� 46� �������� 
� 2<<2=-.8� -./.<4� 268� ;6=4/94/2<.8� -./.;6� )?�2/=.3� ��@*���

�434/284��.92/<5.6<�4:��/26794/<2<;46�;7�<-.�4>6./�4:�2�94/<;46�4:��/292-4.��1.6C.�/;A-<$4:$

>20� 28E2=.6<� <4� �2/=.3���� 268�54/.� 92/<;=C32/30� 8.7=/;D.8� 46����������� 2<<2=-.8� -./.<4� 268�

;6=4/94/2<.8� -./.;6� )?�2/=.3� ��@*�� � �-.� 9/49./<;.7� 8.7=/;D.8� 46� �������� 	�� �������� 
� ���

�������� �� 7-233� =433.=<;1.30� D.� /.:.//.8� <4� -./.;62:<./� 27� <-.� &�/49./<;.7�&� �-.� �/49./<;.7�

=459/;7.�<-.�2/.2�<4�D.�266.F.8��

��� �2/=.3���� ;7�299/4F;52<.30�������2=/.7� ;6�7;G.�� ��-.�>6./� ;7�=461.0;6A� <4� <-.�

�;<0�27�92/<�4:�<-;7�266.F2<;46�<-.�74C<-./6�94/<;46�4:��2/=.3���%�299/4F;52<.30�
����2=/.7�;6�7;G.�

268� 54/.� 92/<;=C32/30� 8.7=/;D.8� 46� �������� �� 2<<2=-.8� -./.<4� 268� ;6=4/94/2<.8� -./.;6�

)? 4C<-./6��4/<;46�4:��2/=.3���@*�� � � ��-.�64/<-./6�94/<;46�4:��2/=.3���� ;7�299/4F;52<.30�	�	��

2=/.7� ;6� 7;G.� 27� A.6./2330� 7-4>6� 46� <-.� 529� 46��������� ��2<<2=-.8� -./.<4� 268� ;6=4/94/2<.8�

-./.;6�)?�4/<-./6��4/<;46�4:��2/=.3���@*����

��� �-.�4>6./7�4:����H�4:�<-.�2/.2�9/4947.8�:4/�266.F2<;46%�.F=3C8;6A�9CD3;=�7</..<7�

268� 233.07%� -21.� 9.<;<;46.8� :4/� 266.F2<;46� 4:� <-.� �/49./<;.7� >;<-� <-.� :4334>;6A� ;6;<;23� G46;6A�

Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

Agenda Item 5A     Page 47Packet Page     119



�

� � �

��

��

��

��

��

��

	�


�

��

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

�	�

�
�

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

=3277;:;=2<;467'� � �2/=.3� �� >;<-� �.7;8.6<;23� I� �C/23� �%� <-.� �4/<-./6� �4/<;46� 4:� �2/=.3� ��� 268�

�2/=.3� ��� >;<-� �.7;8.6<;23� $�!.8;C5� �%� 268� <-.�  4C<-./6� �4/<;46� 4:� �2/=.3� ��� >;<-� �CD3;=���

�2/=.37��%���%�268����2/.�64<�.5D/2=.8�>;<-;6�260�=;<0%�=;<0�268�=4C6<0%�4/�;6=4/94/2<.8�<4>6�

268�.2=-�2DC<7�268�;7�=46<;AC4C7�>;<-�<-.��;<0�4:��4C38./�D0�2<�3.27<�46.$7;F<-�4:�;<7�9./;5.<./���

��� �� =455C6;<0� 4:� ;6<./.7<� .F;7<7� D.<>..6� <-.� �/49./<;.7� 9/4947.8� :4/� 266.F2<;46�

268�<-.��;<0�4:��4C38./%�<-.��/49./<;.7�2/.�C/D26�4/�>;33�D.�C/D26;G.8�;6�<-.�6.2/�:C<C/.%�268�<-.�

�/49./<;.7�2/.�=292D3.�4:�D.;6A�;6<.A/2<.8�;6<4�<-.��;<0�4:��4C38./���

��� �-.��/49./<;.7�84�64<�;6=3C8.�260�2/.2�;6=3C8.8�;6�264<-./�266.F2<;46�9/4=..8;6A�

;61431;6A�2�=;<0�4<-./�<-26�<-.��;<0�4:��4C38./���

��� �-;7� 266.F2<;46� >;33� 64<� /.7C3<� ;6� <-.� 8.<2=-5.6<� 4:� <-.� 2/.2� :/45� 46.� 7=-443�

8;7</;=<�268�<-.�2<<2=-5.6<�4:�725.�<4�264<-./�7=-443�8;7</;=<���

��� �-;7� 266.F2<;46� >;33� 64<� -21.� <-.� .::.=<� 4:� .F<.68;6A� <-.� �;<0� 4:� �4C38./J7�

D4C682/;.7�260�:C/<-./�<-26�<-/..�5;3.7�:/45�260�94;6<�4:�<-.�.F;7<;6A�=;<0�D4C682/;.7���

��� �-.��/49./<;.7�84�64<�;6=3C8.�260�2/.2�>-;=-�;7�<-.�725.�4/�7CD7<26<;2330�<-.�725.�

2/.2� ;6� >-;=-� 26� .3.=<;46� :4/� <-.� 266.F2<;46� <4� <-.� �;<0� 4:� �4C38./� >27� -.38� >;<-;6� <>.31.�

546<-7�9/.=.8;6A�<-.�:;3;6A�4:�<-.�2D41.�9.<;<;46���

��� �-.��3266;6A��42/8�8C30�9/4947.8�<-2<� <-.��/49./<;.7�D.�266.F.8�<4�<-.��;<0�4:�

�4C38./�268�<-2<� <-.�G46;6A�8;7</;=<�529�2849<.8�D0�<-.��;<0��4C6=;3�D.�25.68.8�<4�G46.�268�

;6=3C8.��2/=.3���;6�<-.��.7;8.6<;23�I��C/23��%�<-.��4/<-./6��4/<;46�4:��2/=.3����268��2/=.3����;6�

<-.��.7;8.6<;23�I�!.8;C5��%�268�<-.� 4C<-./6��4/<;46�4:��2/=.3����;6�<-.��CD3;=�G46;6A�8;7</;=<7%�

27�9/41;8.8�;6��-29<./��$�%�&!48C32/�"46.� 07<.5%&����������
����

+�� ��9CD3;=�-.2/;6A�46�<-.�9/4947.8�266.F2<;46�268�;6;<;23�G46;6A�4:�<-.��/49./<;.7�

266.F.8�268�G46.8�-./.D0�>27�8C30�-.38�D.:4/.�<-.��;<0��4C6=;3�46�+26C2/0���%��������

K�� �-.�;6;<;23�G46;6A�8.7;A62<;467�4:��2/=.3���;6�<-.��.7;8.6<;23�I��C/23��%��4/<-./6�

�4/<;46�4:��2/=.3����268��2/=.3�����;6�<-.��.7;8.6<;23�I�!.8;C5��%�268�<-.� 4C<-./6��4/<;46�4:�

�2/=.3����;6� <-.��CD3;=�G46;6A�8;7</;=<7�2/.�=467;7<.6<�>;<-� <-.��4C38./�(233.0��459/.-.67;1.�

�326�268�D.2/�2�7CD7<26<;23�/.32<;46�<4�268�>;33�.6-26=.�<-.�A.6./23�>.3:2/.�4:�<-.��/49./<;.7�268�

4:�<-.�/.7;8.6<7�4:�<-.��;<0�4:��4C38./��

��� �-.��;<0��4C6=;3�-27� EC/;78;=<;46�268� <-.� 3.A23�2C<-4/;<0� <4� 266.F�268�G46.� <-.�

�/49./<;.7��

Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

Agenda Item 5A     Page 48Packet Page     120



�

� � �

��

��

��

��

��

��

	�


�

��

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

�	�

�
�

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

!�� �-.�>6./�2374�4>67�<-.�:4334>;6A�/.23�9/49./<0'��<-.�9/49./<0�A.6./2330�B64>6�

27� ��
���/292-4.��1.6C.� 268�54/.� 92/<;=C32/30� 8.7=/;D.8� 46��������� �� 2<<2=-.8� -./.<4� 268�

;6=4/94/2<.8�-./.;6�)?�2/=.3���@*%�<-.�9/49./<0�A.6./2330�B64>6�27�������/292-4.��1.6C.�268�

54/.�92/<;=C32/30�8.7=/;D.8�46�����������2<<2=-.8�-./.<4�268�;6=4/94/2<.8�-./.;6�)?�2/=.3���@*,�

268�<-.�9/49./<0�A.6./2330�B64>6�27���
���/292-4.��1.6C.�268�54/.�92/<;=C32/30�8.7=/;D.8�46�

���������� 2<<2=-.8�-./.<4� 268� ;6=4/94/2<.8� -./.;6� )?�2/=.3���@*�� � �2/=.37���%���� 268���� 2/.�

23/.280� 266.F.8� <4� <-.� �;<0� 4:� �4C38./�� � �46=C//.6<30� >;<-� <-;7� 266.F2<;46� 2993;=2<;46%� <-.�

�993;=26<� -27� 7CD5;<<.8� 2� 7;<.� /.1;.>� 2993;=2<;46� 9./<2;6;6A� <4� <-.� =467</C=<;46� 4:� 2� �4C38./�

+.>;7-��455C6;<0��.6<./�46�<-.7.�23/.280�266.F.8�92/=.37�27�>.33�27�<-.��/49./<;.7%�268�2�C7.�

/.1;.>�2993;=2<;46�9./<2;6;6A�<4��2/=.3�����

�

��� ��� �������� ��� ���� ����� ������� �� ���� ����� �� ������%�

�����'�

�

 .=<;46� ��� � �-.� <.//;<4/0� 54/.� 92/<;=C32/30� 8.7=/;D.8� ;6� �������� 	�� �������� 
�� 268�

���������� 2/.� -./.D0� 266.F.8� <4� 268� ;6=3C8.8�>;<-;6� <-.� =4/94/2<.�D4C682/;.7� 4:� <-.��;<0� 4:�

�4C38./��

 .=<;46���� ��-29<./��$�%� &!48C32/�"46.� 07<.5%&����������
�%� 268� <-.� G46;6A�8;7</;=<�

529� :4/5;6A� 2� 92/<� <-./.4:%� D.%� 268� <-.� 725.� -./.D0� 2/.%� 25.68.8� <4� ;6=3C8.� <-.� �/49./<;.7�

>;<-;6�<-.�:4334>;6A�G46;6A�8;7</;=<7'���2/=.3���>;<-;6��.7;8.6<;23�I��C/23��%��2/=.3����268�<-.�

�4/<-./6��4/<;46�4:��2/=.3����>;<-;6��.7;8.6<;23�$�!.8;C5��%�268�<-.� 4C<-./6��4/<;46�4:��2/=.3�

���>;<-;6��CD3;=����

 .=<;46������-.��;<0��4C6=;3�2849<7�<-.�/.=;<237�;6�<-;7�4/8;626=.�268�;6=4/94/2<.7�<-.5�

-./.;6�D0�<-;7�/.:./.6=.��

 .=<;46� ��� � �-.��;<0� �4C6=;3� 299/41.7� 260� 12/;2<;467� 4/�548;:;=2<;467� <4� <-.� �4C38./�

�.1;7.8��48.�4/�4<-./��;<0�4/8;626=.7�<-2<�2/.�;6�<-.�2A/..5.6<�2774=;2<.8�>;<-�<-;7�266.F2<;46��

 .=<;46������-.��;<0��4C6=;3�2C<-4/;G.7�<-.�=;<0�5262A./�<4�;593.5.6<�<-.�<./57�4:�<-.�

2A/..5.6<7�2774=;2<.8�>;<-�<-;7�266.F2<;46��

 .=<;46������-.�266.F2<;46�268�G46;6A�4:�<-.��/49./<;.7�;7�6.=.772/0�:4/�<-.�9/4<.=<;46�4:�

<-.�9CD3;=�-.23<-%�72:.<0%�268�>.3:2/.��

Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

Agenda Item 5A     Page 49Packet Page     121



�

� � �

��

��

��

��

��

��

	�


�

��

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

�	�

�
�

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

 .=<;46�	����-.��;<0��4C6=;3�8..57�;<�299/49/;2<.�<-2<�<-;7�4/8;626=.�D.�9CD3;7-.8�D0�<;<3.�

4630�268�4/8./7�<-2<�=49;.7�4:�<-;7�4/8;626=.�D.�528.�212;32D3.�;6�<-.�4::;=.�4:�<-.�=;<0�=3./B�:4/�

9CD3;=�;679.=<;46�268�2=LC;7;<;46��

���������%� ����� �� ��� �� �������%� ���� ������� ����� ���� ���

����������<-;7��	<-�820�4:��.=.5D./%�������

�
MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM�
!204/�

�<<.7<'�

�

MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM�
�;<0��3./B�

�

�

����� ��  ����� �������%� ������� ���� ������� ����� ���� ���

����������<-;7���7<�820�4:�+26C2/0%�������

�

MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM�
� � � � � � � !204/��

�<<.7<'�

�

MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM�
�;<0��3./B�

Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

Agenda Item 5A     Page 50Packet Page     122



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 51Packet Page     123



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE (Page 2 of 2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 52Packet Page     124



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

EXHIBIT B TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 53Packet Page     125



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

EXHIBIT B TO ORDINANCE (Page 2 of 2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 54Packet Page     126



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

EXHIBIT C TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 55Packet Page     127



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

EXHIBIT C TO ORDINANCE (Page 2 of 2) 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 56Packet Page     128



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

EXHIBIT D TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 57Packet Page     129



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

EXHIBIT D TO ORDINANCE (Page 2 of 2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 58Packet Page     130



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

EXHIBIT E TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 1)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 59Packet Page     131



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

EXHIBIT F TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 60Packet Page     132



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955EXHIBIT F TO ORDINANCE (Page 2 of 2) 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 61Packet Page     133



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

EXHIBIT G TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 62Packet Page     134



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955EXHIBIT G TO ORDINANCE (Page 2 of 2) 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 63Packet Page     135



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955

EXHIBIT H TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 64Packet Page     136



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7955EXHIBIT H TO ORDINANCE (Page 2 of 2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 65Packet Page     137



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 66Packet Page     138



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 67Packet Page     139



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 68Packet Page     140



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 69Packet Page     141



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 70Packet Page     142



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 71Packet Page     143



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 72Packet Page     144



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 73Packet Page     145



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 74Packet Page     146



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 75Packet Page     147



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 76Packet Page     148



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 77Packet Page     149



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 78Packet Page     150

meltm1
Text Box

meltm1
Typewritten Text
,

meltm1
Typewritten Text

meltm1
Typewritten Text

meltm1
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT A TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2)



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 79Packet Page     151



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 80Packet Page     152



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 81Packet Page     153



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 82Packet Page     154

meltm1
Text Box

meltm1
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2)



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 83Packet Page     155



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 84Packet Page     156



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 85Packet Page     157



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 86Packet Page     158

meltm1
Text Box

meltm1
Typewritten Text

meltm1
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT E TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2)



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 87Packet Page     159



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 88Packet Page     160

meltm1
Text Box

meltm1
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT F TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2)



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 89Packet Page     161



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 90Packet Page     162

meltm1
Text Box

meltm1
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT G TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2)



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 91Packet Page     163



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 92Packet Page     164



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 93Packet Page     165



Attachment D 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 94Packet Page     166



  
  

Attachment E 
Guidelines for Annexations 

City of Boulder 
Guidelines for Annexation Agreements 

Individual Annexations of Mostly Developed Residential Properties  
in Area II- 

I. Background: 
 

The purpose of these guidelines is to provide general direction for negotiating 
annexation agreements with individual landowners of mostly developed residential 
properties in Area II. They are intended to clarify city expectations in individual 
annexations. These guidelines have been endorsed by Planning Board and City 
Council and are a reference for city staff, landowners, Planning Board and City 
Council in future individual annexation negotiations.  

 

The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan provides a framework for annexation and urban 
service provision. 
With the 2001 update to the BVCP, Annexation Policy 1.25 was amended to provide more 
clarity about annexations. The amendments to the policy included the following: 

 
 Direction for the city to actively pursue annexation of county enclaves, Area II 

properties along the western boundary, and other mostly developed Area II 
properties; 

 Direction to the county to attach great weight to the city’s input on 
development in enclaves and developed Area II lands and to place emphasis on 
conforming to the city’s standards in these areas; and 

 A policy that developed parcels proposed for annexation that are seeking no 
greater density or building size should not be required to provide the same 
level of community benefit as vacant parcels until more development of the 
parcel is applied for.  

 
In order to reduce the negative impacts of new development in the Boulder Valley, the 
BVCP states that the city shall annex Area II land with significant development or 
redevelopment potential only on a very limited basis.  Such annexations will be supported 
only if the annexation provides a special opportunity to the city or community benefit. 

These guidelines apply primarily to mostly developed residential properties in Area II.  In 
most of these cases, the city would not request a community benefit with the annexation.  
However, a few of the properties that are currently developed in the county may have 
further development potential once annexed into the city.  These guidelines further refine 
the BVCP Policy 1.25 by specifically outlining which properties will be asked to provide 
community benefit upon annexation and what form of community benefit may be 
requested by the city. 

 
II. General Principles of Individual Annexations of Mostly Developed Residential 

Properties: 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 95Packet Page     167



  
  

A. In terms of the city’s interests, the benefits of annexing mostly developed 
residential properties in Area II outweigh the costs. 

B. The city has a strong desire to annex many of the residential properties in Area 
II because of the potential environmental and health issues associated with well 
and septic systems.  

C. The basic fees associated with annexation (plant investment and impact fees) 
should not be reduced for individual property owners seeking annexation 
(although financing and payback may be negotiated).  

D. The city has a legal obligation under state law to annex enclaves at the request 
of the property owner without terms and conditions beyond those required 
through existing ordinances. 

E. The city may apply additional terms and conditions to enclaves only through 
negotiation with the property owner. (Use caution when applying community 
benefit). 

 
III. Principles of Applying City Community Benefit Policy: 
  

A. Community benefit should only be applied to properties with additional 
development potential. 

B. For the purposes of these guidelines, additional development potential includes 
the ability to subdivide the property and/or build at least one additional unit on 
the property. Additional development potential does not include the ability to 
add on to an existing house or to replace an old house with a new one (scrape-
offs). 

C. Although emphasis is placed on affordable housing, community benefit is not 
restricted to housing. An affordable housing benefit should be balanced with 
other benefits such as land or property dedications (landmarking, flood and 
open space easements) or other restrictions that help meet BVCP goals. 

D. The city should strive for consistency in applying the affordable housing 
requirement to properties with additional development potential.  In areas 
where new affordable units are appropriate (Crestview East), restrictions 
should be placed on the affordability of the new units.  In areas where new 
affordable units are not appropriate or feasible, (Gould Subdivision, 55th St. 
enclaves), the applicant should be requested to pay two times the cash 
contribution in-lieu of providing on-site affordable housing. 

 
IV. Framework for Basic Annexation Conditions for All Properties: 
 

A. Inclusion in the Boulder Municipal Subdistrict and the Northern Colorado 
Water Conservancy District. 

B. Assessment for waterline and sanitary sewer along street frontage (either 
existing or to be constructed). 

C. Development Excise Tax (DET). 
D. Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment fees. 
E. Water and Wastewater Utility Plant Investment Fee. 

                     Attachment E 
Guidelines for Annexations

Agenda Item 5A     Page 96Packet Page     168



  
  

F. Dedication to the city of right-of-way for streets, alleys, water mains, and/or 
fire hydrants. 

G. Agreement to participate in their pro rata share of any future right-of-way 
improvements (paving, roadbase, curb, gutter, landscaping, sidewalks, bicycle 
and pedestrian path connections). 

H. Properties with Silver Lake Ditch rights:  The city would ask the property 
owner to sell all interests in the ditch company to the city. 

I. Properties with other ditch rights:  The city would ask for the first Right of 
Refusal for any ditch rights associated with the property. 

 
V. Application of Community Benefit  
 

A. Guidelines for properties within the flood conveyance zone or with an 
open space or natural ecosystem land use designations. 

 
1. The city would request dedication of an open space conservation 

easement for any portion of the site with a BVCP Open Space or 
Natural Ecosystem land use designation. 

2. The city would request dedication to the city of a stormwater and 
floodplain easement for any portion of the site located within the flood 
conveyance zone.   

 
B. Guidelines for properties with additional development potential. 

 
The guidelines below are based on the definition of development potential as 
the potential for a property to be subdivided or for additional units to be built 
on the property.  Although the terms of the community benefit requirement 
may be negotiated on a case-by-case basis, the following are the general 
guidelines for requesting community benefit: 

 

1. A community benefit requirement in the form of two times the cash in-
lieu contribution as set forth in the city’s inclusionary zoning ordinance 
to the Housing Trust Fund would be negotiated with property owners in 
ER and RR zones.  

2. For properties in LR and MR zones, a condition would be negotiated 
that a certain percentage of any new dwelling units be made 
permanently affordable to various income groups (see specific 
guidelines for each property group below). 

3. For enclaves, the affordable housing request should be consistent with 
similar annexations in the area (see specific guidelines for each 
property group below). 

4. For edge properties, the cash-in-lieu requested would be two times that 
required under the inclusionary zoning ordinance. 

                     Attachment E 
Guidelines for Annexations

Agenda Item 5A     Page 97Packet Page     169



  
  

C. Guidelines for specific property areas. 
 

1. Enclave – Crestview East 
 
a. All properties: 

 Request that the applicant demonstrate compliance with the 
North Boulder Subcommunity Plan Design Guidelines upon 
redevelopment or other applicable developed zoning district 
standards. 

 
b. Properties along Fourmile Canyon Creek: 

 Attempt to secure through negotiation, dedication of 
conservation, trail, and floodplain and drainage utility 
easements to the city to meet the objectives of the 
Greenways Master Plan and the Stormwater and Flood 
Management Utility. 

 
c. Properties with subdivision potential – split MR/LR zoning: 

 50% of any newly constructed units should be permanently 
affordable to low and middle income households. 

 
d. Properties with subdivision potential – split LR/ER zones: 

 25% of any newly constructed units should be permanently 
affordable to middle income households; and 

 Market rate units permitted on site should pay twice the 
applicable cash-in-lieu amount required by inclusionary 
zoning provisions. 

 
e. Properties with subdivision potential – ER zones: 

 Payment of two times the cash contribution in-lieu of 
providing on-site affordable housing set forth in the city’s 
inclusionary zoning ordinance for each new dwelling unit 
(prior to building permit). 

 
2. Enclave – Githens Acres and other miscellaneous North Boulder 

enclave properties. 
 

a. All properties: 
 Request that the applicant demonstrates compliance with the 

North Boulder Subcommunity Plan Design Guidelines upon 
redevelopment or other applicable developed zoning district 
standards. 

 
b. Properties along Fourmile Canyon Creek: 

 Attempt to secure through negotiation, dedication of 
conservation, trail, and floodplain and drainage utility 

                     Attachment E 
Guidelines for Annexations

Agenda Item 5A     Page 98Packet Page     170



  
  

easements to the city to meet the objectives of the 
Greenways Master Plan. 

 
3. Enclave – Pennsylvania Ave. 

 
a. Three properties along the Wellman Canal (5255, 5303, and 

5101): 
 Attempt to secure through negotiation, dedication of a trail 

easement to the city to meet the objectives of the city’s 
Transportation Master Plan. 

 
  b. For all properties: 

 Request payment for share of sidewalk improvements along 
Pennsylvania Ave.  

 
4. Enclave – 55th St. 

 
a. Property with an MR land use designation (1415 55th St.): 

If zoned LR-D, 
 Payment of two times the cash contribution in-lieu of 

providing on-site affordable housing set forth in the city’s 
inclusionary zoning ordinance for each new dwelling unit. 
(at the time of building permit) or; 

 Any newly constructed units must be permanently 
affordable to middle income households. 

 
If zoned MR-D, 
 50% of any newly constructed units must be permanently 

affordable to low and middle income households. 
 

b. Properties with an LR land use designation and further 
development potential (994, 836, 830 55th St. and 5495 Baseline 
Rd.): 
 Payment of two times the cash contribution in-lieu of 

providing on-site affordable housing set forth in the city’s 
inclusionary zoning ordinance for each new dwelling unit 
(at the time of building permit). 

 
 

5. Gould Subdivision 
 
a. Three properties with additional development potential (2840 

Jay Rd., 2818 Jay Rd., 4040 28th St.): 
 Payment of two times the cash contribution in-lieu of 

providing on-site affordable housing set forth in the city’s 
inclusionary zoning ordinance for each new dwelling unit. 

                     Attachment E 
Guidelines for Annexations

Agenda Item 5A     Page 99Packet Page     171



  
  

 
6. Western Edge 
 

a. Two properties with a VLR land use designation and 
development potential (0 Linden Dr., and 3650 4th St.): 
 Payment of two times the cash contribution in-lieu of 

providing on-site affordable housing set forth in the city’s 
inclusionary zoning ordinance for each new dwelling unit. 
(at the time of subdivision). 

 
b. Properties at 3365 4th St., 3047 3rd St., 2975 3rd St., and 2835 3rd 

St.: 
 An open space conservation easement, for the portion of the 

property that is west of the Blue Line,” should be dedicated 
to the city. 

 
7. Old Tale Rd./Cherryvale Rd. 

 
a. Properties along South Boulder Creek: 

 Attempt to secure through negotiation, dedication of 
conservation, trail, and floodplain and drainage utility 
easements to the city to meet the objectives of the 
Greenways Master Plan and the Stormwater and Flood 
Management Utility. 

                     Attachment E 
Guidelines for Annexations

Agenda Item 5A     Page 100Packet Page     172



  
  

Attachment F  
Consistency Analysis of Proposed Project with BVCP Policies and Review Criteria 

 
 
BOULDER VALLEY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN POLICY. 
The proposed project was found to be consistent with the following BVCP policies: 
 
1.04 Principles of Social Sustainability 
 
1.16 Adapting to Limits on Physical Expansion 
 
1.18 Growth Requirements 
 
1.24 Annexation 
 
2.03 Compact Development Pattern 
 
2.04 Open Space Preservation 
 
2.10 Preservation and Support for Residential Neighborhoods 
 
2.13 Protection of Residential Neighborhoods Adjacent to Non-residential Zones 
 
2.14 Mix of Complementary Land Uses 
 
2.15 Compatibility of Adjacent Land Uses 
 
2.21 Commitment to a Walkable and Accessible City 
 
2.22 Improve Mobility Grid 
 
2.23 Trail Corridors/Linkages 
 
2.30 Sensitive Infill and Redevelopment 
 
2.32 Physical Design for People 
 
2.33 Environmentally Sensitive Urban Design 
 
2.37 Enhanced Design for Private Sector Projects 
 

a) The context.  
b) Relationship to the public realm.  
c) Transportation connections 
d) Human scale. Projects should provide pedestrian interest along streets, paths and public 
spaces. 
e) Permeability.  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 101Packet Page     173



  
  

f) On-site open spaces.  
g) Buildings.  

 
3.03 Natural Ecosystems 
 
3.04 Ecosystem Connections and Buffers 
 
3.06 Wetland and Riparian Protection 
 
3.10 Urban Environmental Quality 
 
6.08 Transportation Impact 
 
6.12 Neighborhood Streets Connectivity 
 
8.05 Diversity 
 
 

Specific to Annexation policy 1.24 is the following consistency analysis. 

a) Annexation will be required before adequate facilities and services are furnished.  
 
The site is currently undeveloped and has no connections to city systems. 
 
b) The city will actively pursue annexation of county enclaves, Area II properties along 
the western boundary, and other fully developed Area II properties. County enclave 
means an unincorporated area of land entirely contained within the outer boundary of the 
city. Terms of annexation will be based on the amount of development potential as 
described in (c), (d), and (e) of this policy. Applications made to the county for 
development of enclaves and Area II lands in lieu of annexation will be referred to the city 
for review and comment. The county will attach great weight to the city’s response and 
may require that the landowner conform to one or more of the city’s development 
standards so that any future annexation into the city will be consistent and compatible 
with the city’s requirements.  

 
Not applicable, while the site is located within Area II of the Boulder Valley Planning Area. 
However, the site is not considered an enclave. 
 
c) Annexation of existing substantially developed areas will be offered in a manner and 
on terms and conditions that respect existing lifestyles and densities. The city will expect 
these areas to be brought to city standards only where necessary to protect the health 
and safety of the residents of the subject area or of the city. The city, in developing 
annexation plans of reasonable cost, may phase new facilities and services. The county, 
which now has jurisdiction over these areas, will be a supportive partner with the city in 
annexation efforts to the extent the county supports the terms and conditions being 
proposed.  

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 102Packet Page     174



  
  

 
Not applicable; the property is vacant and not substantially developed. 
 
d) In order to reduce the negative impacts of new development in the Boulder Valley, the 
city will annex Area II land with significant development or redevelopment potential only 
if the annexation provides a special opportunity or benefit to the city. For annexation 
considerations, emphasis will be given to the benefits achieved from the creation of 
permanently affordable housing. Provision of the following may also be considered a 
special opportunity or benefit: receiving sites for transferable development rights 
(TDRs), reduction of future employment projections, land and/or facilities for public 
purposes over and above that required by the city’s land use regulations, environmental 
preservation, or other amenities determined by the city to be a special opportunity or 
benefit. Parcels that are proposed for annexation that are already developed and which 
are seeking no greater density or building size would not be required to assume and 
provide that same level of community benefit as vacant parcels unless and until such 
time as an application for greater development is submitted.  
 
The annexation is proposed to provide several special opportunities and benefits, consistent 
with this policy, and including the following: 

a. dedication in-fee of 8.9 acres of land encompassing a portion of Sombrero Marsh; 
b. provision of 40 percent of any future residential development as permanently affordable 

housing within the planned RM-1 zoned area; 
c. provision of a new Jewish Community Center - through annexation will allow for a 

cultural and educational facility that can serve the entire community; 
d. construction of a traffic calming roundabout on Cherryvale Road; and 
e. extension of new roadways that to ensure connectivity. 

 
e) Annexation of substantially developed properties that allows for some additional 
residential units or commercial square footage will be required to demonstrate 
community benefit commensurate with their impacts. Further, annexations that resolve 
an issue of public health without creating additional development impacts should be 
encouraged.  
 
Not applicable; the property is vacant and not substantially developed. 
 
f) There will be no annexation of areas outside the boundaries of the Boulder Valley 
Planning Area, with the possible exception of annexation of acquired open space.  
 
The property is within Area II of the Boulder Valley Planning Area. 
 
g) Publicly owned property located in Area III and intended to remain in Area III may be 
annexed to the city if the property requires less than a full range of urban services or 
requires inclusion under city jurisdiction for health, welfare and safety reasons.  
 
The property is within Area II of the Boulder Valley Planning Area. 

 

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 103Packet Page     175



  
  

h) The Gunbarrel Subcommunity is unique because the majority of residents live in the 
unincorporated area and because of the shared jurisdiction for planning and service 
provision among the county, the city, the Gunbarrel Public Improvement District and 
other special districts. Although interest in voluntary annexation has been limited, the 
city and county continue to support the eventual annexation of Gunbarrel. If resident 
interest in annexation does occur in the future, the city and county will negotiate new 
terms of annexation with the residents. 
 
Not applicable; the property is not within the Gunbarrel Subcommunity. 

 
CRITERIA FOR SITE REVIEW  
The Site Review application was found to be consistent with the following Site Review criteria: 
 
(1) Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan:  
 
  √  (A) The proposed site plan is consistent with the purposes and policies of the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan.  
 
There are a number of policies that are supported by the proposed project, particularly those related to 
social sustainability and education, including those cited above. 
 
 n/a (B) The proposed development shall not exceed the maximum density associated if the density 
of existing residential development within a three hundred-foot area surrounding the site is at or 
exceeds the density permitted in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, then the maximum 
density permitted on the site shall not exceed the lesser of:  
 

  n/a (i) The density permitted in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, or,  
 
  n/a (ii) The maximum number of units that could be placed on the site without waiving or 
varying any of the requirements of Chapter 9-8, "Intensity Standards," B.R.C. 1981.  
 
Not applicable; no residential units are proposed. 

 
  √  (C) The proposed development’s success in meeting the broad range of BVCP policies 
considers the economic feasibility of implementation techniques required to meet other site review 
criteria.  
 
There are no specific Site Review criteria that, when implemented through the project, would render the 
project economically unfeasible.   
 
(2) Site Design: Projects should preserve and enhance the community's unique sense of place 
through creative design that respects historic character, relationship to the natural environment, 
and its physical setting. Projects should utilize site design techniques which enhance the quality of 
the project. In determining whether this Subsection is met, the approving agency will consider the 
following factors: 

 

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 104Packet Page     176



  
  

  √  (A) Open Space: Open space, including, without limitation, parks, recreation areas, and 
playgrounds:  

 
  √  (i) Useable open space is arranged to be accessible and functional;  
Open space is arranged to be accessible and function for all residents and will serve both active 
and passive recreational activities through the provision of recreational activities with a combination 
of open play areas, formal and informal planting areas.  
 
  n/a  (ii) Private open space is provided for each detached residential unit;  
 
Not applicable, the proposed development will not incorporate detached residential units.  
 
  √  (iii) The project provides for the preservation of or mitigation of adverse impacts to 
natural features, including, without limitation, healthy long-lived trees, significant plant 
communities, ground and surface water, wetlands, riparian areas, drainage areas, and 
species on the federal Endangered Species List, "Species of Special Concern in Boulder 
County" designated by Boulder County, or prairie dogs (Cynomys ludiovicianus) which is a 
species of local concern, and their habitat;  
 
There are no environmentally sensitive species or habitats on the proposed Boulder Jewish 
Commons building site. Although some mature trees will be removed, the proposed landscaping 
will be a great improvement over what exists today and will provide for a significant increase in the 
amount of trees on-site. In addition, the development is intentionally clustered well away from the 
Sombrero Marsh, with the marsh being preserved in perpetuity.  
 
  √  (iv) The open space provides a relief to the density, both within the project and from 
surrounding development;  
 
The proposed project is clustered toward Arapahoe Avenue consistent with the development 
pattern of East Arapahoe.  The open space around the building site will provide a visual and 
physical relief to density; as will the perpetual preservation of the Sombrero Marsh.  
 
  √  (v) Open space designed for active recreational purposes is of a size that it will be 
functionally useable and located in a safe and convenient proximity to the uses to which it 
is meant to serve;  
 
There are “active” play fields proposed on the west side of the site. They will have ornamental steel 
picket fencing to keep the playfields safe and allow convenience to the building, while still being far 
removed from the sensitive Marsh area. 
 
  √  (vi) The open space provides a buffer to protect sensitive environmental features and 
natural areas; and  
 
The open space adjacent to the building will be far removed from the Sombrero Marsh, but the 
Marsh itself is planned to be protected by a conservation easement that will have restrictions on 
use near the marsh at a ridge line that moves natural drainage flows toward the marsh.  

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 105Packet Page     177



  
  

 
  n/a  (vii) If possible, open space is linked to an area-or city-wide system.  
 
Not applicable. There is no established area-wide or city-wide open space system in the area with 
the exception of the multi-use path constructed on Arapahoe Avenue that connect to other paths.  
 

  n/a (B) Open Space in Mixed Use Developments (Developments that contain a mix of residential 
and non-residential uses)  

 
  √   (C) Landscaping  

 
  √  (i) The project provides for aesthetic enhancement and a variety of plant and hard 
surface materials, and the selection of materials provides for a variety of colors and 
contrasts and the preservation or use of local native vegetation where appropriate;  
 
The proposed landscape and streetscape will enhance the existing degraded field by creating 
clusters and rows of shade trees along with a variety of plant materials.  There are also other 
landscape accents and surface materials proposed throughout the developed portion of the project 
to add variety and color. 
 
  √  (ii) Landscape design attempts to avoid, minimize, or mitigate impacts to important 
native species, plant communities of special concern, threatened and endangered species 
and habitat by integrating the existing natural environment into the project;  
 
The Sombrero Marsh will be protected through annexation, and thus the development considered 
for this Site Review application is clustered far away from the Marsh to preserve this important 
ecological resource. 
 
  √  (iii) The project provides significant amounts of plant material sized in excess of the 
landscaping requirements of Section 9-9-10, "Landscaping and Screening Standards" and 
Section 9-9-11, "Streetscape Design Standards," B.R.C. 1981; and  
 
The proposed landscape and streetscape plans will contain appropriately sized materials in excess 
of applicable landscape requirements and will be verified at the time of Technical Document 
Review.  
 
  √  (iv) The setbacks, yards, and useable open space along public rights-of-way are 
landscaped to provide attractive streetscapes, to enhance architectural features, and to 
contribute to the development of an attractive site plan.  
 
The proposed landscape and streetscape plans will be a significant improvement over what 
currently exists on-site and will provide for a variety of plant and hard surface materials to provide a 
pleasant pedestrian environment both along Arapahoe Avenue and Cherryvale Road; as well as 
the new roadway connection through the site. 

 
 _√   (D) Circulation: Circulation, including, without limitation, the transportation system that serves 
the property, whether public or private and whether constructed by the developer or not:  

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 106Packet Page     178



  
  

 
  √  (i) High speeds are discouraged or a physical separation between streets and the 
project is provided;  
 
Among the traffic calming proposals within the application is the plan for a traffic circle along 
Cherryvale Road.  The intent in this traffic circle is to discourage high speeds both existing and as 
part of the additional traffic that may occur with the proposed project.  In addition, once into the 
site, the applicant has proposed rows of street trees along the new roadway of Oreg Drive which 
will also help to calm traffic by creating a framed street with an alee of trees that is known to slow 
vehicular traffic.  
 
  √   (ii) Potential conflicts with pedestrians and vehicles are minimized;  
 
A detached sidewalk is planned along Cherryvale Road (where none exists today) and along the 
newly planned Oreg Drive which will inherently move the pedestrians away from moving vehicles.   
 
  √  (iii) Safe and convenient connections accessible to the public within the project and 
between the project and existing and proposed transportation systems are provided, 
including, without limitation, streets, bikeways, pedestrian ways and trails;  
 
Connections to transportation systems, streets, bikeways, pedestrian ways and trails are safe, 
convenient, and accessible through the site through a series of interconnected walkways out to 
Cherryvale Road and Arapahoe Avenue which both connect to the wider street network of East 
Boulder.  
 
  √  (iv) Alternatives to the automobile are promoted by incorporating site design 
techniques, land use patterns, and supporting infrastructure that supports and encourages 
walking, biking, and other alternatives to the single-occupant vehicle;  
 
A new transit stop is planned on the southeast corner of Arapahoe Avenue and Cherryvale Road 
that will provide a convenient stop for the Jump bus that travels along Arapahoe Avenue. In 
addition, the recently implemented improvements to Arapahoe Avenue by the Colorado 
Department of Transportation (CDOT) were planned to augment alternatives to SOVs as shown 
below as the Preferred Alternative from the CDOT. 

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 107Packet Page     179



  
  

  √  (v) Where practical and beneficial, a significant shift away from single-occupant vehicle 
use to alternate modes is promoted through the use of travel demand management 
techniques;  
 
The proposed TDM will provide a shift away from single-occupant vehicle use to alternate modes 
with the installation of bike racks and the provision of Eco Passes to encourage alternate modes of 
transit.  In addition, per Planning Board’s recommendation, staff is working with RTD to establish a 
new bus stop directly in front of the building along Arapahoe Avenue.  
 
  √  (vi) On-site facilities for external linkage are provided with other modes of 
transportation, where applicable;  
 
Visitor bike racks are planned on site to encourage external pedestrian and bicycle linkages.  
 
  √  (vii) The amount of land devoted to the street system is minimized; and  
 
There is no significant street system within the project, only the addition of a roadway that is 
intended to establish greater connectivity and break up super blocks in East Boulder.  
 
  √  (viii) The project is designed for the types of traffic expected, including, without 
limitation, automobiles, bicycles, and pedestrians, and provides safety, separation from 
living areas, and control of noise and exhaust.  
 
The site has been well-designed for the expected traffic needs.  The access into the site will also 
provide broader traffic calming for Cherryvale Road, slowing traffic while not requiring stop and go 
travel.  Bicyclists will be accommodated by a dedicated bike lane along Arapahoe and can enter 
the site from the less traveled north south street.  Bike racks are provided in excess of the 
requirement on site. The site itself has detached walkways along the interior site streets with street 
trees to augment the separation to pedestrians. 

.  
  √  (E) Parking  
 

  √  (i) The project incorporates into the design of parking areas measures to provide safety, 
convenience, and separation of pedestrian movements from vehicular movements;  
 
The parking layout includes walkways that are intended to direct pedestrian traffic through the 
parking lots. 
 
  √  (ii) The design of parking areas makes efficient use of the land and uses the minimum 
amount of land necessary to meet the parking needs of the project;  
 
The applicant provided a parking management plan that defined the types of uses anticipated and 
the parking needs to provide a realistic definition of the area needed for parking. In addition, there 
will be alternating times when the parking lot is utilized given the various uses that would occur 
during the hours of operation.    
 

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 108Packet Page     180



  
  

  √  (iii) Parking areas and lighting are designed to reduce the visual impact on the project, 
adjacent properties, and adjacent streets; and  
 
The parking is designed to be internal to the site, thus not visible from Arapahoe Avenue and 
minimally visible from Cherryvale Road.  Lighting will be evaluated through the Technical 
Document Review processes, a condition of approval for the Site Review.  
 
  √  (iv) Parking areas utilize landscaping materials to provide shade in excess of the 
requirements in Subsection 9-9-6(d), "Parking Area Design Standards," and Section 9-9-12, 
“Parking Lot Landscaping Standards,” B.R.C. 1981.  
 
Trees are placed with a 25 to 30 foot on-center spacing within the parking area that will create a 
solid canopy in several years; shrubs are also provided within parking lot islands, along with double 
plantings of trees on the islands to help reduce the heat island effect. 

  
  √  (F) Building Design, Livability, and Relationship to the Existing or Proposed Surrounding Area  

 
  √  (i) The building height, mass, scale, orientation, and configuration are compatible with 
the existing character of the area or the character established by an adopted plan for the 
area;  
 
As can be seen in the figure ground map comparison below of the existing versus proposed, the 
building would be located in an area along east Arapahoe Avenue where there are existing large 
floor plate buildings including several auto dealerships, along with light industrial manufacturing.   

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 109Packet Page     181



  
  

 

Comparison of Figure Ground Map: Existing (Above) to Proposed (Below): building scale in context 

Existing Figure Ground Map of Site in Context 

Figure Ground Map of Proposed Site in Context 

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 110Packet Page     182



  
  

√  (ii) The height of buildings is in general proportion to the height of existing buildings 
and the proposed or projected heights of approved buildings or approved plans for the 
immediate area;  

The proposed one- to two-story building is compatible in the context where one- and two-story 
buildings exist today.  The building relates more to Arapahoe Avenue rather than the residential 
located across the site to the south and west, and the building is more than a football field’s 
length from the nearest residential. Therefore, the building relates well to the existing buildings 
in the immediate context. 

 
√  (iii) The orientation of buildings minimizes shadows on and blocking of views from 
adjacent properties;  
 
The building is located close to Arapahoe Avenue with an appropriate setback that 
acknowledges the state highway street typology and allows for a multi-use path and an 
attractive streetscape and landscaping. Given this orientation, the nearest buildings that could 
be impacted by shadows are across Arapahoe Avenue are located approximately 200 feet away 
from the building, thus allowing ample solar access and views. 

 
√  (iv) If the character of the area is identifiable, the project is made compatible by the 
appropriate use of color, materials, landscaping, signs, and lighting;  
 
The character of the East Arapahoe Avenue area is eclectic. The primary characteristic that is 
consistent in the area is the relatively large floor plates of the nearby industrial buildings.  
However, the building’s exterior is proposed with high quality, durable materials that include 
stone, brick, wood beams on a barrel roof and metal panels.  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 √  (v) Buildings present an attractive streetscape, incorporate 
architectural and site design elements appropriate to a pedestrian 
scale, and provide for the safety and convenience of pedestrians;  
 
The proposed elevation facing Arapahoe Avenue has windows and a 
primary entryway facing the street.  Similarly, the building when viewed from 
Cherryvale (west elevation shown above) has ample fenestration.  Site 
design elements include walkways from the public realm into the building 
augmented with landscape shrub massings and rows of ornamental trees.   

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 111Packet Page     183



  
  

  √  (vi) To the extent practical, the project provides public amenities and planned public 
facilities;  
 
The applicant is constructing a traffic circle on Cherryvale Road for traffic calming to benefit the 
public.  In addition, the project is an educational and cultural facility open to member of the 
public. 
 
 
  n/a  (vii) For residential projects, the project assists the community in producing a 
variety of housing types, such as multi-family, townhouses, and detached single-family 
units as well as mixed lot sizes, number of bedrooms, and sizes of units;  
 
 
  n/a  (viii) For residential projects, noise is minimized between units, between buildings, 
and from either on-site or off-site external sources through spacing, landscaping, and 
building materials;  
 
 
  √   (ix) A lighting plan is provided which augments security, energy conservation, 
safety, and aesthetics;  
 
To be provided through the Technical Document Review application process as a condition of 
Site Review approval.  
 
  √   (x) The project incorporates the natural environment into the design and avoids, 
minimizes, or mitigates impacts to natural systems;  
 
The intent in clustering the development of the site toward Arapahoe Avenue and away from 
Sombrero Marsh, with a Conservation Easement proposed over the area of the property that 
contains the marsh is entirely to minimize and avoid impacts to the marsh.   
 
  √   (xi) Cut and fill are minimized on the site, the design of buildings conforms to the 
natural contours of the land, and the site design minimizes erosion, slope instability, 
landslide, mudflow or subsidence, and minimizes the potential threat to property caused 
by geological hazards.  
 
There is no significant grading cut or fill proposed on the site.  Similarly, there are no known 
geologic hazards on the site. 
 
  √   (xi) Buildings minimize or mitigate energy use; support on-site renewable energy 
generation and/or energy management systems; construction wastes are minimized; the 
project mitigates urban heat island effects; and the project reasonably mitigates or 
minimizes water use and impacts on water quality.  
 
As a condition of site review approval, the applicant is required to comply with IECC 
(International Energy Conservation Code) 2012 standards plus 20 percent. On Sept. 3, 2013, 

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 112Packet Page     184



  
  

the city adopted a local amendment to the 2012 IECC for commercial energy efficiency which 
would apply to the proposed building.  The requirement is as follows:  

Adoption of the 2012 IECC standard, as well as the 2010 American Society of Heating, 
Refrigeration, and Air Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) 90.1 standards, with local 
amendments requiring a 30 percent increase in performance requirements.  

The intent in this above-standard requirement is to help achieve a significant step toward 
improved energy efficiency in buildings in balance with the cost impact for new construction.  

 
  √   (xii) Exteriors of buildings present a sense of permanence through the use of 
authentic materials such as stone, brick, wood, metal or similar products and building 
material detailing;  
 
As noted in “(v)” above, the buildings utilize authentic materials including stone, brick wood and 
metal.  
 
  √   (xiii) Cut and fill are minimized on the site, the design of buildings conforms to the 
natural contours of the land, and the site design minimizes erosion, slope instability, 
landslide, mudflow or subsidence, and minimizes the potential threat to property caused 
by geological hazards;  
 
See criterion “(x)” above. It is also important to note that the site is essentially flat, with a very 
slight cross slope from northwest to southeast. However, within the southeast quadrant of the 
site, there is a slight ridgeline that creates a separation in drainage trends with drainage on the 
south side of the ridge (and far away from the developed portion of the site) moving toward the 
Marsh.  
 
  n/a  (xiv) In the urbanizing areas along the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
boundaries between Area II and Area III, the building and site design provide for a well-
defined urban edge; and  
 
Not applicable to this property, far removed from Area III, and with the majority of the 
development envelope within Area I as shown below.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 113Packet Page     185



  
  

  √  (xv) In the urbanizing areas located on the major streets shown on the map in 
Appendix A of this title near the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan boundaries between 
Area II and Area III, the buildings and site design establish a sense of entry and arrival to 
the City by creating a defined urban edge and a transition between rural and urban areas 
 
Not applicable to the site within Planning Area I and Planning Area II, not near Planning Area III.  

 
  √  (G) Solar Siting and Construction: For the purpose of ensuring the maximum potential for 
utilization of solar energy in the city, all applicants for residential site reviews shall place streets, 
lots, open spaces, and buildings so as to maximize the potential for the use of solar energy in 
accordance with the following solar siting criteria:  

 
  √  (i) Placement of Open Space and Streets: Open space areas are located wherever 
practical to protect buildings from shading by other buildings within the development or 
from buildings on adjacent properties.  
 
The lot in which the building is proposed is nearly 10 acres in size. Given the size of the site, 
and the distance from any potentially impacted buildings, this criteria is met.  
 
  √  (ii) Lot Layout and Building Siting: Lots are oriented and buildings are sited in a way 
which maximizes the solar potential of each principal building. Lots are designed to 
facilitate siting a structure which is unshaded by other nearby structures. Wherever 
practical, buildings are sited close to the north lot line to increase yard space to the 
south for better owner control of shading.  
 
The proposed building configuration places the longest part of the building walls facing south to 
maximize passive solar access.  
 
  √  (iii) Building Form: The shapes of buildings are designed to maximize utilization of 
solar energy. Buildings shall meet the solar access protection and solar siting 
requirements of Section 9-9-17, "Solar Access," B.R.C. 1981.  
 
The building roof top will provide ample opportunity for roof top solar collection. The roof 
structure will be designed to accommodate roof top equipment per the solar access ordinance.  
 
  √  (iv) Landscaping: The shading effects of proposed landscaping on adjacent buildings 
are minimized.  
 
Street and landscape trees along the planned walkway and within the open space are 
deciduous. Therefore, during the winter months when solar gain is desired they are denuded of 
leaves, while during the summer months, they have a leafy canopy that provides much needed 
shade, reducing the heat island effect.  

 
  n/a  (H) Additional Criteria for Poles Above the Permitted Height: No site review application for a 
pole above the permitted height will be approved unless the approving agency finds all of the 
following:  

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 114Packet Page     186



  
  

 
  n/a  (I) Land Use Intensity Modifications  
 
  n/a  (J) Additional Criteria for Floor Area Ratio Increase for Buildings in the BR-1 District  
 
CRITERIA FOR USE REVIEW:  Adult Education Facility ≥ 20,000 square feet 

 
USE REVIEW Criteria, Section 9-2-15(e).  No use review application will be approved unless the 
approving agency finds all of the following: 

    √         (1) Consistency with Zoning and Non-Conformity: The use is consistent with the 
purpose of the zoning district as set forth in Section 9-5-2(c), "Zoning Districts Purposes," B.R.C. 
1981, except in the case of a non-conforming use; 
 
The intent of the Residential Estate is for low density residential uses. Under section 9-6-1, B.R.C. 1981, 
“Schedule of Permitted Land Uses” an Adult educational facility with ≥ 20,000 square feet of floor area 
are allowed through Use Review. 
 
    √         (2) Rationale: The use either: 

    √          (A) Provides direct service or convenience to or reduces adverse impacts to the 
surrounding uses or neighborhood; 
 
Because the facility is open to the general public, access to the educational and cultural 
activities are available both to the residents living within the county and within the city’s limits. 

    n/a        (B) Provides a compatible transition between higher intensity and lower 
intensity uses; 

    n/a        (C) Is necessary to foster a specific city policy, as expressed in the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan, including, without limitation, historic preservation, moderate 
income housing, residential and non-residential mixed uses in appropriate locations, and 
group living arrangements for special populations; or 

    n/a         (D) Is an existing legal non-conforming use or a change thereto that is 
permitted under subsection (e) of this section; 

    √          3) Compatibility: The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the 
proposed development or change to an existing development are such that the use will be 
reasonably compatible with and have minimal negative impact on the use of nearby properties or 
for residential uses in industrial zoning districts, the proposed development reasonably 
mitigates the potential negative impacts from nearby properties; 

The location of the building is approximately 350 feet (or 100 yards) from the nearest residential 
building.  As such any impacts from the size or operating characteristics from the proposed development 
will have minimal negative impact on the use of the nearby properties.  The proposed traffic circle 
reasonably mitigates the potential negative impacts that could be associated with the development’s 
traffic, and the distance away from the residential mitigates any potential for noise.  

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 115Packet Page     187



  
  

    √         (4) Infrastructure: As compared to development permitted under Section 9-6-1, 
"Schedule of Permitted Uses of Land," B.R.C. 1981, in the zone, or as compared to the existing 
level of impact of a non-conforming use, the proposed development will not significantly 
adversely affect the infrastructure of the surrounding area, including, without limitation, water, 
wastewater, and storm drainage utilities and streets; 

The proposed project will be adequately served by utilities through the annexation of the adjacent 
parcels. 

    √         (5) Character of Area: The use will not change the predominant character of the 
surrounding area;  

The predominant character of the surrounding area is eclectic. The location of the building oriented 
toward Arapahoe Avenue relates to surrounding development directly across Arapahoe where large 
floor plate auto dealerships and other light industrial buildings are located and surrounded by large 
parking areas.  The addition of the attractively designed building will enhance the existing character of 
the area. 

    n/a       (6) Conversion of Dwelling Units to Non-Residential Uses: There shall be a presumption 
against approving the conversion of dwelling units in the residential zoning districts set forth in 
Subsection 9-5-2(c)(1)(a), B.R.C. 1981, to non-residential uses that are allowed pursuant to a use 
review, or through the change of one non-conforming use to another non-conforming use. The 
presumption against such a conversion may be overcome by a finding that the use to be 
approved serves another compelling social, human services, governmental, or recreational need 
in the community including, without limitation, a use for a day care center, park, religious 
assembly, social service use, benevolent organization use, art or craft studio space, museum, or 
an educational use. 
 
There are no existing residential uses on the site that would be converted to non-residential uses. 

 
CRITERIA FOR USE REVIEW:  Daycare Center with ≥ 50 children 

 
USE REVIEW Criteria, Section 9-2-15(e).  No use review application will be approved unless the 
approving agency finds all of the following: 

    √         (1) Consistency with Zoning and Non-Conformity: The use is consistent with the 
purpose of the zoning district as set forth in Section 9-5-2(c), "Zoning Districts Purposes," B.R.C. 
1981, except in the case of a non-conforming use; 
 
The intent of the Residential Estate is for low density residential uses. Under section 9-6-1, B.R.C. 1981, 
“Schedule of Permitted Land Uses” a Daycare Center with ≥ 50 children is permitted through Use 
Review. 
 
    √         (2) Rationale: The use either: 

    √          (A) Provides direct service or convenience to or reduces adverse impacts to the 
surrounding uses or neighborhood; 
 

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 116Packet Page     188



  
  

Because the daycare center will be open to the general public, access to a high quality daycare 
facility will be enhanced for residents in both East Boulder as well as the county residents. 

    n/a        (B) Provides a compatible transition between higher intensity and lower 
intensity uses; 

    n/a        (C) Is necessary to foster a specific city policy, as expressed in the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan, including, without limitation, historic preservation, moderate 
income housing, residential and non-residential mixed uses in appropriate locations, and 
group living arrangements for special populations;  or 

    n/a         (D) Is an existing legal non-conforming use or a change thereto that is 
permitted under subsection (e) of this section; 

    √          3) Compatibility: The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the 
proposed development or change to an existing development are such that the use will be 
reasonably compatible with and have minimal negative impact on the use of nearby properties or 
for residential uses in industrial zoning districts, the proposed development reasonably 
mitigates the potential negative impacts from nearby properties; 

The location of the building is approximately 350 feet (or 100 yards) from the nearest residential 
building.  As such any impacts from the size or operating characteristics from the proposed development 
will have minimal negative impact on the use of the nearby properties.  The proposed traffic circle 
reasonably mitigates the potential negative impacts that could be associated with the development’s 
traffic, and the distance away from the residential mitigates any potential for noise.  

    √         (4) Infrastructure: As compared to development permitted under Section 9-6-1, 
"Schedule of Permitted Uses of Land," B.R.C. 1981, in the zone, or as compared to the existing 
level of impact of a non-conforming use, the proposed development will not significantly 
adversely affect the infrastructure of the surrounding area, including, without limitation, water, 
wastewater, and storm drainage utilities and streets; 

The proposed project will be adequately served by utilities through the annexation of the adjacent 
parcels. 

    √         (5) Character of Area: The use will not change the predominant character of the 
surrounding area;  

The predominant character of the surrounding area is eclectic. The location of the building oriented 
toward Arapahoe Avenue relates to surrounding development directly across Arapahoe where large 
floor plate auto dealerships and other light industrial buildings are located and surrounded by large 
parking areas.  The addition of the attractively designed building will enhance the existing character of 
the area. 

    n/a       (6) Conversion of Dwelling Units to Non-Residential Uses: There shall be a presumption 
against approving the conversion of dwelling units in the residential zoning districts set forth in 
Subsection 9-5-2(c)(1)(a), B.R.C. 1981, to non-residential uses that are allowed pursuant to a use 
review, or through the change of one non-conforming use to another non-conforming use. The 
presumption against such a conversion may be overcome by a finding that the use to be 

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 117Packet Page     189



  
  

approved serves another compelling social, human services, governmental, or recreational need 
in the community including, without limitation, a use for a day care center, park, religious 
assembly, social service use, benevolent organization use, art or craft studio space, museum, or 
an educational use. 
 
There are no existing residential uses on the site that would be converted to non-residential uses. It is 
important to note, however, that use for a day care center is among the “compelling social needs” that 
would permit conversion.  

 
CRITERIA FOR USE REVIEW:  Indoor Recreation or Athletic Facility 

 
USE REVIEW Criteria, Section 9-2-15(e).  No use review application will be approved unless the 
approving agency finds all of the following: 

    √         (1) Consistency with Zoning and Non-Conformity: The use is consistent with the 
purpose of the zoning district as set forth in Section 9-5-2(c), "Zoning Districts Purposes," B.R.C. 
1981, except in the case of a non-conforming use; 
 
Parcel E1 is annexed and zoned Residential--Estate (RE).  An indoor recreational or athletic facility use 
is not permitted within the RE zoning district under Table 6-1: Use Table, of Section 9-6-1, “Schedule of 
Permitted Uses,” B.R.C. 1981.  However, the City finds that allowing an indoor recreational or athletic 
facility use on Parcel E1 as a use is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land use 
map which allows in certain residential areas limited small neighborhood shopping facilities, offices or 
services through special review and finds that such use on Parcel E1 would provide a community 
benefit. The City, therefore, agrees, subject to City Council approval by ordinance, to allow indoor 
recreational or athletic facility uses on Parcel E-1 as an allowed use. 
 
    √         (2) Rationale: The use either: 

    √          (A) Provides direct service or convenience to or reduces adverse impacts to the 
surrounding uses or neighborhood; 
 
Consistent with the BVCP land use map which allows in certain residential areas offices or 
services through special review, staff finds that such use on Parcel E1 would provide a 
community benefit. In addition, a fitness facility as is proposed is typically an accessory use to 
educational facilities.  In that regard, the facility provides a direct service or convenience to the 
surrounding JCC uses. 

    n/a        (B) Provides a compatible transition between higher intensity and lower 
intensity uses; 

    n/a        (C) Is necessary to foster a specific city policy, as expressed in the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan, including, without limitation, historic preservation, moderate 
income housing, residential and non-residential mixed uses in appropriate locations, and 
group living arrangements for special populations; or 

    n/a         (D) Is an existing legal non-conforming use or a change thereto that is 
permitted under subsection (e) of this section; 

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 118Packet Page     190



  
  

    √          3) Compatibility: The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the 
proposed development or change to an existing development are such that the use will be 
reasonably compatible with and have minimal negative impact on the use of nearby properties or 
for residential uses in industrial zoning districts, the proposed development reasonably 
mitigates the potential negative impacts from nearby properties; 

The location of the building is approximately 350 feet (or 100 yards) from the nearest residential 
building.  As such any impacts from the size or operating characteristics from the proposed development 
will have minimal negative impact on the use of the nearby properties.  The proposed traffic circle 
reasonably mitigates the potential negative impacts that could be associated with the development’s 
traffic, and the distance away from the residential mitigates any potential for noise.  

    √         (4) Infrastructure: As compared to development permitted under Section 9-6-1, 
"Schedule of Permitted Uses of Land," B.R.C. 1981, in the zone, or as compared to the existing 
level of impact of a non-conforming use, the proposed development will not significantly 
adversely affect the infrastructure of the surrounding area, including, without limitation, water, 
wastewater, and storm drainage utilities and streets; 

The proposed project will be adequately served by utilities through the annexation of the adjacent 
parcels. 

    √         (5) Character of Area: The use will not change the predominant character of the 
surrounding area;  

The predominant character of the surrounding area is eclectic. The location of the building oriented 
toward Arapahoe Avenue relates to surrounding development directly across Arapahoe where large 
floor plate auto dealerships and other light industrial buildings are located and surrounded by large 
parking areas.  The addition of the attractively designed building will enhance the existing character of 
the area. 

    n/a       (6) Conversion of Dwelling Units to Non-Residential Uses: There shall be a presumption 
against approving the conversion of dwelling units in the residential zoning districts set forth in 
Subsection 9-5-2(c)(1)(a), B.R.C. 1981, to non-residential uses that are allowed pursuant to a use 
review, or through the change of one non-conforming use to another non-conforming use. The 
presumption against such a conversion may be overcome by a finding that the use to be 
approved serves another compelling social, human services, governmental, or recreational need 
in the community including, without limitation, a use for a day care center, park, religious 
assembly, social service use, benevolent organization use, art or craft studio space, museum, or 
an educational use. 
 
There are no existing residential uses on the site that would be converted to non-residential uses. It is 
important to note, however, that use for a day care center is among the “compelling social needs” that 
would permit conversion.  

 
 

                                                   Attachment F 
Consistency with Site and Use Review Criteria

Agenda Item 5A     Page 119Packet Page     191



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 120Packet Page     192



07.01.13 

Item 06 
Written Statement describing how the application meets the applicable criteria 
 
(A) Statement of current ownership  Cherryvale Commons Ltd. 
(B) Objectives to be achieved by the project  With annexation, Boulder Jewish Commons is to 
be combined into one parcel which is subdivided into lots.  One lot for the Boulder JCC (Jewish 
Community Center), other lots for future development and open space.  The Boulder JCC Phase 
1 will be 52,444 SF with Future Additions of 11,304 SF planned to be added in the next 10 years. 
(C) Development schedule  Construction is planned to commence upon completion of 
entitlement process and receipt of construction permit.  At this time the only building is the 
Boulder JCC.  Some aspects of that project have been identified as Future to be built as funds 
become available.  There are currently no plans for other development other lots.  
(D) Special agreements, covenants that govern use, maintenance, goals and any parks, open 
space  Will be submitted with tech docs and will be privately maintained. 
 
 
 
 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 121Packet Page     193



RB+B Architects, Inc.
Boulder Jewish Community Center Project Schedule

Proposed Project Schedule
Design M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J
Schematic Design

8/3/11 SD Finished (8 wks)
Design Development

11/10/11 DD Finished (13 wks)
Construction Documents

6/6/12 50% CD Finished (10 wks)
11/12/13 90% CD Finished (7 wks)
1/28/14 100% CD Finished (10 wks)

City of Boulder Building Permit Review
8/11/11 Preliminary Review Mtg
1/31/14 Submit for Permit (8 wks)
3/28/14 Full Permit

City of Boulder Land Use Review
8/11/11 Preliminary Review Mtg
2/6/12 First Submittal for Annex, Site Rev, Prl Plat
8/6/12 Second Submittal

9/12/13 Planning Board Mtg
10/15/13 City Council Mtg 1st reading
11/19/13 City Council Mtg 2nd reading (public hearing)
12/19/13 30 days till takes effect + final plat

2014 2015

December January FebruaryNovember

07.01.13

2013

March April

2012

12/19/13 30 days till takes effect + final plat
1/31/14 Technical Document Review (60 days)
3/28/14 ROW, Utility, Grading Permits

Boulder Jewish Commons Site Construction
Site demo, overlot grading,
Utility installation, build road

Bidding (4 weeks)
1/31/14 Docs ready for pick-up
2/28/14 Bids finalized

Construction (12 months)
10/19/11 CMGC Selection
4/29/14 Begin Construction

CMGC Cost Estimate
Commissioning
Punch

6/2/15 Move-In

Owner / Contractor Design Review DD CD CD

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 122Packet Page     194



GENERAL CRITERIA FOR ALL SITE REVIEW APPLICATIONS 
BOULDER JEWISH COMMONS 

 
 

I. Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan: 
 

(A) How is the proposed site plan consistent with the purposes and policies of the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan? 

 
See Comprehensive Plan pages 1-6 at the end of this document. 

 
(B) The proposed development shall not exceed the maximum density associated with the Boulder Valley 

Comprehensive Plan residential land use designation.  Additionally, if the density of existing residential 
development within a 300 foot area surrounding the site is at or exceeds the density permitted in the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, then the maximum density permitted on the site shall not exceed the 
lesser of: 

 
(i) the density permitted in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, or,  

 
(ii) the maximum number of units that could be placed on the site without   waiving or varying any of the 

requirements of Chapter 9-7, "Bulk and Density Standards,"  B.R.C. 1981.  
 

How is the proposed site plan consistent with the above density criteria?  NA 
 
 

II. Site Design: 
 

Projects should preserve and enhance the community's unique sense of place through creative design that 
respects historic character, relationship to the natural environment, and its physical setting.  Projects should utilize 
site design techniques which enhance the quality of the project.  In determining whether this subsection is met, the 
approving agency will consider the following factors:  

 
A. Open space, including without limitation, parks, recreation areas, and playgrounds: 

 
1. How is useable open space arranged to be accessible and functional? 

 
The open space associated with Sombrero Marsh is on the south portion of the site.  A conservation 
easement is north of the marsh.  In addition, an open field/detention area has been planned for the west 
side of the building to keep the view towards the flatirons open from the large community rooms and plaza.  
Playgrounds surround the east half of the building for use by the early childhood center. 

 
2. How is private open space provided for each detached residential unit? 

 
N/A 

 
3. How does the project provide for the preservation of natural features, including, without limitation, healthy 

long-lived trees, terrain, significant plant communities, threatened and endangered species and habitat, 
ground and surface water, wetlands, riparian areas, and drainage areas? 

 
Boulder Jewish Commons provides for the preservation of natural features, including the Sombrero Marsh 
wetlands area, which is the most significant natural feature on the Boulder Jewish Commons property.     
Sombrero Marsh contains high-quality wetlands that support numerous native plant and wildlife species.  
The proposed Boulder JCC will not result in any direct or indirect impacts to Sombrero Marsh, the 
associated riparian areas, or the wetlands buffer zones. 
 
No significant plant communities are known to occur at the project site.  The only significant plant 
communities that may occur at the site would be in the wetlands associated with Sombrero Marsh, and all 
wetlands plant communities will be protected as all of the site development is proposed to the north of the 
wetland buffer zone.   

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 123Packet Page     195



 
No threatened and endangered species occur on the subject property, and there is no occupied habitat at 
the site for any of threatened and endangered species that could live in Boulder County, including the 
Preble’s Meadow Jumping Mouse (Zapus hudsonius preblei), Ute Ladies’ Tresses Orchid (Spiranthes 
diluvialis), and Colorado Butterfly Plant (Guara neomexicana var. coloradensis). 

 
The project site terrain is mostly level with gradual elevation changes.  Boulder Jewish Commons will only 
require minor changes to the topographical terrain.  There is a pre-existing  topographical drainage divide 
that runs east-west across the property, located to the south of the planned development zone;  water on 
the north side of this divide flows to the northwest.  This natural drainage pattern is preserved.  There will 
be no impacts to the surface water flowing into Sombrero Marsh as all of the site development and grading 
is proposed to the north of the drainage divide.  Surface water and drainage flows from the developed 
portions of the site will be directed to the northwest and away from Sombrero Marsh.   

 
Groundwater at the site will not be depleted by the project, as there will be no wells, and the Boulder JCC 
building will not have a basement or sump pump. Buried utilities will be constructed using cut-off walls 
where necessary to prevent drainage flow along buried utility lines.  

 
4. How does the open space provide a relief to the density, both within the project and from surrounding 

development? 
 

The landscaping in the open space provides a buffer between any site development and residential homes 
to the south. 

 
5. How does the open space provide a buffer to protect sensitive environmental features and natural areas? 

 
A conservation easement to the north will protect the marsh. 

 
6. If possible, how is open space linked to an area- or a city-wide system? 

 
The proposed project will provide pedestrian and bicycle routes along Arapahoe Avenue and Cherryvale 
Road that will connect to the South Boulder Creek multi-use path, which connects to additional non-
motorized transportation corridors throughout the City of Boulder and the surrounding region. 

 
B. Open Space in Mixed Use Developments: Developments that contain a mix of residential and non-residential 

uses: 
 

1. How does the open space provide for a balance of private and shared areas for the residential uses and 
common open space that is available for use by both the residential and non-residential uses that will 
meet the needs of the anticipated residents, occupants, tenants, and visitors of the property? 

 
N/A 

 
2. How does the open space provide active areas and passive areas that will meet the needs of the 

anticipated residents, occupants, tenants, and visitors of the property and how is the open space 
compatible with the surrounding area or an adopted plan for the area? 

 
N/A 

 
C. Landscaping: 

1. How does the project provide for aesthetic enhancement and a variety of plant and hard surface materials, 
and how does the selection of materials provide for a variety of colors and contrast and how does it 
incorporate the preservation or use of local native vegetation where appropriate? 

 
See “Representative Plant List” on the Drawings for a listing of the anticipated plant palette. 

 
Overall, landscaping shall strive to be site/climate appropriate, offering areas of low water vegetation, 
native trees and shrubs and limited higher water turf areas only as suitable for active play or high 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 124Packet Page     196



pedestrian circulation.  Irrigated turf grass within the tree lawn/planting strip and other areas not 
anticipated to receive considerable pedestrian foot traffic, will be planted in a hybrid bluegrass blend, to 
provide a more drought tolerant, deep rooting ground cover, such as thermal bluegrass blends or tall 
fescue cultivars. 

 
Plant Material:  A wide variety of both native and non-native trees, shrubs and groundcovers will be 
selected to provide an interesting mix of leaf, flower and fall colors, while providing interesting and 
contrasting planting schemes that provide an impactful impression on passers-by and facility users. 

 
Hard Surfaces:  The entry plazas on the south and north sides of the Boulder JCC building will be textured 
concrete, scored in a pattern of varying sizes.  Sandstone boulders shall be used intermittently within the 
south and north plazas to provide bench height seating for adults and play opportunities for children, and 
will provide a security barrier from vehicular movements at the pedestrian drop off on the south and the 
maintenance / service drive area on the north. 

 
Playground Area:  This area includes a wide range of surface materials such as textured, scored concrete, 
stepping stones, boulders for seating, colored poured-in-place safety surfacing, sodded-irrigated berms 
and play areas, and open soil areas for gardening. 

2. How does the landscape and design attempt to avoid, minimize, or mitigate impacts to important native 
species, plant communities of special concern, threatened and endangered species and habitat by 
integrating the existing natural environment into the project? 

 
No significant plant communities or threatened and endangered species are known to occur on the project 
site. 

3. How does the project provide significant amounts of plant material sized in excess of the landscaping 
requirements of Sections 9-9-12 and 9-9-13, "Landscaping and Screening Requirements," and 
"Streetscape Design Standards," B.R.C. 1981. 

 
In general, the proposed plants will meet the minimums (2” cal. shade trees, 1.5” cal ornamental trees, 5’h. 
evergreens, 5 gal. deciduous and evergreen shrubs and 1 gal. ornamental grasses and perennials) as 
described by the requirements indicated above.  Larger caliper tree plantings in individual circumstances 
may be upsized to provide a more impactful planting statement and/or cast larger quantity of shade 
immediately following installation and during subsequent growing seasons. 

 
See the “landscape summary” chart and “representative plant list” on the Drawings for initial / anticipated 
plant material selection, quantities and sizing. 

4. How are the setbacks, yards, and useable open space along public rights-of-way landscaped to provide 
attractive streetscapes, to enhance architectural features, and to contribute to the development of an 
attractive site plan? 

 
The individual street frontages related to the project are described as follows: 

Arapahoe Avenue – The planned CDOT improvements associated with the Arapahoe Avenue expansion 
include a 24” wide concrete strip immediately back of curb and an attached 8’ wide sidewalk.  This ROW 
frontage will be planted with large deciduous shade trees, spaced at 40’ o.c. per the City’s standard 
requirements OR, given the existing overhead Xcel electrical lines paralleling the property along the entire 
Arapahoe Avenue frontage, small to medium deciduous shade trees and / or ornamental trees may need 
to be substituted for the large trees.  The Arapahoe Avenue setback will be planted (as possible given the 
utility corridor on the north side of the building) with a combination of evergreen trees, large shade trees 
and ornamental trees to provide an attractive sight and sound buffer between the building and roadway.  
Planting beds will be provided adjacent the JCC building, playground area, service drive and gymnasium, 
to further provide attractive views into the property from the north. 

Cherryvale Road – Improvements on the western edge of the property will expand on and blend with 
upgrades recently installed by the county which include an 8’ wide tree lawn (planting strip) and detached 
8’ wide sidewalk.  As required by City of Boulder Standards, large deciduous shade trees will be spaced at 
40’ o.c. along this entire frontage, with a drought tolerant irrigated bluegrass grass blend sod as the 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 125Packet Page     197



ground cover.  A 6’h. black ornamental, steel picket fence, screened by vegetation will be installed east of 
the back of sidewalk to help contain children and kicked balls within the JCC irrigated, bluegrass sodded 
athletic field.  Deciduous shrubs and ornamental grasses will be planted between the sidewalk and fence 
line, breaking up the long run of chain link fence.  A roundabout has been incorporated into the proposed 
ROW improvements and will be planted with low growing, drought resistant, native deciduous shrubs and 
ornamental grasses, interspersed between sandstone boulders, all covered with tan crusher fines over 
landscape fabric and shredded cedar mulches. 

Oreg Drive – This proposed entrance into the property off Cherryvale Road is fed off the eastern leg of the 
proposed Cherryvale Road roundabout.  The roadway is flanked by 8’ wide planting strips and 12’ and 5’ 
wide detached concrete sidewalks on north and south sides.  Tree spacing combines the City standard 40’ 
spacing interval for shade trees and 20’ spacing interval for ornamental trees.  Plant material shall be 
sized to reflect the City minimums.  Ground cover along this entire ROW frontage will use a drought 
tolerant irrigated bluegrass blend sod. 

 
D. Circulation, including, without limitation, the transportation system that serves the property, whether public or 

private and whether constructed by the developer or not:  

1. How are high speeds discouraged or a physical separation between streets and the project provided? 

The development will be served by a new east-west street eventually connecting to 63rd Street to the east, 
and to Cherryvale Road on the west.   Since this drive will be curvilinear and less than 2,000 feet in length, 
speeding should not be an issue.  A roundabout is proposed at the intersection with Cherryvale Road as 
part of an overall traffic calming project for that street. 

2. How are potential conflicts with vehicles minimized? 

The primary pedestrian/bike access will be from Arapahoe Avenue and Cherryvale Road so 
pedestrian/bicyclists will not have to cross the site's access drive to access the Boulder JCC building.   

 

3. How are safe and convenient connections accessible to the public within the project and between the 
project and existing and proposed transportation systems provided, including without limitation streets, 
bikeways, pedestrian ways and trails? 

An 8’ sidewalk has been constructed along the south side of Arapahoe Avenue along the entire length of 
the property with all-weather path connections to the bicycle parking areas and public access doors of the 
facility.  A 12’ sidewalk on the north of Oreg Drive will serve both bikes and pedestrians and a 5’ sidewalk 
on the south will serve pedestrians.  This network will provide access to the Boulder Creek Bikeway 
network of trails, which can be accessed at the underpass located just west of Cherryvale Road.  It also 
connects to Cherryvale Road which has on-street bikelanes and an 8’wide sidewalk.  The sidewalks will 
also connect to bus stops located on Arapahoe Avenue near Cherryvale Road.  RTD provides bus access 
to the site via the Jump Route, high frequency bus access to central Boulder and to residential areas in 
Lafayette and Louisville.   

4. How are alternatives to the automobile promoted by incorporating site design techniques, land use 
patterns, and supporting infrastructure that supports and encourages walking, biking, and other 
alternatives to the single occupant vehicle? 

See #3 above.  In addition, bike parking will be provided in accordance with City standards and lockers 
and shower facilities will be available within the Boulder JCC building.   

5. Where practical and beneficial, how is a significant shift away from single- occupant vehicle use to 
alternate modes promoted through the use of travel demand management techniques? 

The Boulder JCC is located in an area with excellent transit and bikeway access. The Boulder Creek 
Bikeway terminates at Arapahoe Avenue near Old Tale Road. This bikeway provides grade separated 
access to downtown Boulder, the University of Colorado, and many housing and recreational 
opportunities. As part of the site development, sidewalk/bikeways connect the JCC to sidewalk/bikeways 
on the new east-west street. The development will provide bike parking meeting City standards along with 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 126Packet Page     198



bike lockers and shower facilities to encourage bike commuting by the building’s employees. Bus and bike 
information will also be made available to employees and customers/members. Due to these travel 
demand management strategies (see the TDM plan), it is estimated that vehicular traffic will be reduced by 
ten percent compared to a traditional development. 

6. What on-site facilities for external linkage with other modes of transportation are provided, where 
applicable? 

See #3 above. 

7. How is the amount of land devoted to the street system minimized? 

A single street is provided for connectivity between Cherryvale Road and Arapahoe Avenue.  The width of 
this street is minimized by prohibiting on-street parking and combining bikeways with detached sidewalks.   

 

8. How is the project designed for the types of traffic expected, including, without limitation, automobiles, 
bicycles, and pedestrians, and how does it provide safety, separation from living areas, and control of 
noise and exhaust? 

Vehicular access to the development will be from Arapahoe Avenue and Cherryvale Road.  A sidewalk 
connection to the Boulder Creek Bikeway will be constructed along the south side of Arapahoe Avenue. 
Bike parking meeting City standards along with bike lockers and shower facilities will be provided to 
encourage bike commuting by the building’s employees and users. 

9. How will city construction standards be met, and how will emergency vehicle use be facilitated? 

Emergency vehicles will have access to the Boulder JCC building either from the north at the service drive 
directly off Arapahoe Avenue or from the south via the new east-west street.  Parking lots and drives have 
been designed to accommodate turning radius of emergency vehicles. 

 
E. Parking: 

1. How does the project incorporate into the design of the parking areas, measures to provide safety, 
convenience, and separation of pedestrian movements from vehicular movements? 

A network of internal sidewalks extending thru the parking lot islands, provides a pedestrian link from the 
sidewalks adjacent the building out to the outer most drive aisle/stalls.  Crossing of the drive aisles by 
pedestrian crosswalks will be delineated. 

2. How does the design of parking areas make efficient use of the land and use the minimum amount of land 
necessary to meet the parking needs of the project? 

The City of Boulder minimum aisle width and stall width/length dimensions/standards have been 
incorporated into the overall design of the parking lot layout.   

A parking study was conducted to determine number of spaces needed.  The parking study is provided 
with this submittal.  Proposed parking meets the needs of the facility for day-to-day uses in the early 
childhood center, classrooms and offices.  Large gatherings in the community hall may make use of 
overflow parking.   

52,444 SF Phase 1           148 parking spaces provided     Gravel lot available for overflow 

63,748 SF Total Future (includes 11,304 SF addition)  parking spaces required will be evaluated at the 
time of expansion       

3. How are parking areas and lighting designed to reduce the visual impact on the project, adjacent 
properties, and adjacent streets? 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 127Packet Page     199



Parking Lots:  Significant plant material will be provided to screen the parking lot from the proposed east-
west street and adjacent residential properties to the south. 

Lighting:  The site luminaires are at pole heights of 20 feet, meeting the City of Boulder design criteria, 
with full cutoff enclosures, and house-side shields (where necessary).  Illuminance levels required by the 
City of Boulder are met. 

4. How do parking areas utilize landscaping materials to provide shade in excess of the requirements in 
Section 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981. 

Street and parking lot trees were selected from the Approved Street Tree List.  As required by code, a 
minimum of one tree for every 200 sq.ft. of interior parking lot landscape area has been provided.  100% 
of the parking lot trees are medium to large deciduous as set forth in the C.O.B. Design and Construction 
Standards.  See ‘landscape summary chart’ on the Drawings for “Required” and “Provided” interior parking 
lot tree quantities. 

 
F. Building Design, Livability, and Relationship to the Existing or Proposed Surrounding Area:  

1. How are the building height, mass, scale, orientation, and configuration compatible with the existing 
character of the area or the character established by an adopted plan for the area?   

The existing architectural character of the neighborhood is undefined as it includes a mix of commercial 
uses such as auto sales and older storage facilities to the north as well as residential properties to the 
south.  The intent of Boulder Jewish Commons is that the Boulder JCC and any future buildings share a 
common architectural character and include use of natural materials including stone and masonry. 

The Boulder JCC uses natural materials in earth-tone colors such as buff sandstone and brown brick 
masonry with accents of dark brown metal panels.  The massing is mainly low-level with some 2nd story in 
the center of the structure.  The curved roof surface and brick columns on the gym break up the mass and 
bring interest to this form. The curved roofs are repeated on the two classroom wings. 

2. How is the height of buildings in general proportion to the height of existing buildings and the proposed or 
projected heights of approved buildings or approved plans for the immediate area? 

The height of the Boulder JCC is similar to existing buildings in the area.  The main mass of the building is 
one story in height.  The feature stone wall at the south building entrance is the highest portion of the 
building.  It is visible as a building identifier from the central portion of the Boulder Jewish Commons, 
without being obtrusive to surrounding development along Arapahoe Avenue. 

3. How does the orientation of buildings minimize shadows on and blocking of views from adjacent 
properties? 

With an East-West orientation, the majority of shadowing is to the north either on the Boulder JCC 
property or slightly onto Arapahoe Avenue at the December low sun angle.   

4. If the character of the area is identifiable, how is the project made compatible by the appropriate use of 
color, materials, landscaping, signs, and lighting? 

NA 

5. How do buildings present an attractive streetscape, incorporate architectural and site design elements 
appropriate to a pedestrian scale, and provide for the safety and convenience of pedestrians? 

While screening of the facility and providing privacy from the busy and noisy vehicular traffic along 
Arapahoe Avenue is a major design factor, pedestrian scale and safety are important.  An 8’ attached 
sidewalk is present along Arapahoe Avenue and detached sidewalks are planned on Oreg Drive.  Patrons 
of the facility will access it via foot, bike and bus in addition to driving cars.  The east-bound bus stop is 
conveniently located near the Cherryvale intersection.  An attractive glass entrance with small courtyard is 
provided on the north of the building.  It has been designed to access the lobby at the same point as the 
main entrance on the south.  Landscaping will be incorporated with fencing required for the ECC 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 128Packet Page     200



playgrounds on the east half of the building.  The mass of the gym is made pedestrian scale by use of 
pilasters and windows.  The building is parallel to Arapahoe Avenue and Oreg Drive.  

6. To the extent practical, how does the project provide public amenities and planned public facilities? 

The new Boulder JCC will be an educational facility open to everyone. The JCC will house a day care 
center for infants and toddlers, an early childhood center for children ages 2.5-5, a community hall, an art 
studio, classrooms to cover topics for a varied audience from babies to seniors, a Jewish library, 
administrative  office space, a teen lounge for after school programming, a full-court gymnasium, a group 
fitness studio and locker rooms. The community hall will be a welcome and affordable addition to the 
options currently available for events in the broader community. The Boulder JCC will feature a play field 
for the summer camp program and playground areas for the early childhood center.  In addition, the entry 
courtyard can be used for events or as a pleasant spot to meet a friend for coffee. 
 
As a community facility, the Boulder JCC provides programming and services available to the public.  A  
membership program is offered where members are entitled to discounts on programs and the opportunity 
to enroll in top-rated early childhood center and multiple camp programs.  

7. For residential projects, how does the project assist the community in producing a variety of housing 
types, such as multifamily, townhouses, and detached single family units as well as mixed lot sizes, 
number of bedrooms, and sizes of units?  N/A 

8. For residential projects, how is noise minimized between units, between buildings, and from either on-site 
or off-site external sources through spacing, landscaping, and building materials?  N/A 

9. If a lighting plan is provided, how does it augment security, energy conservation, safety, and aesthetics? 

Security and safety are important concerns for this facility.  Parking lot and walkway lighting are provided.  
A control scheme will be implemented to provide both security and energy efficiency.  The site lighting 
meets the requirements of the Boulder Code table 9-10.  The lighting plan will be submitted with Tech 
Docs.  Site planning includes potential for a future perimeter fence should safety and security become a 
greater issue. 

10. How does the project incorporate the natural environment into the design and avoid, minimize, or mitigate 
impacts to natural systems? 

See #4 Landscaping above. 

11. How are cut and fill minimized on the site, and how does the design of buildings conform to the natural 
contours of the land, and how does the site design minimize erosion, slope instability, landslide, mudflow 
or subsidence, and minimize the potential threat to property caused by geological hazards? 

To the extent possible, the street and Boulder JCC building are sited to conform to the shape of the 
existing contours.  In areas where fill or cut are required, a minimum slope of 4:1 is used to provide stable 
slopes.  Further, erosion control measures are provided to protect existing drainage ways and to stabilize 
the site. 

 
G. Solar Sighting and Construction: For the purpose of insuring the maximum potential for utilization of solar 

energy in the city, all applicants for residential site reviews shall place streets, lots, open spaces, and buildings 
so as to maximize the potential for the use of solar energy in accordance with the following solar siting criteria:  

1. Placement of Open Space and Streets. Open space areas are located wherever practical to protect 
buildings from shading by other buildings within the development or from buildings on adjacent properties.  
Topography and other natural features and constraints may justify deviations from this criterion. How is 
this criterion met? 

The proposed Boulder JCC building is surrounded by open yards, parking lot and streets.  The 
configuration of the building will not block solar access for any other structure.  

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 129Packet Page     201



2. Lot Layout and Building Siting. Lots are oriented and buildings are sited in a way which maximizes the 
solar potential of each principal building.  Lots are designed to facilitate siting a structure which is 
unshaded by other nearby structures. Wherever practical, buildings are sited close to the north lot line to 
increase yard space to the south for better owner control of shading. How is this criterion met? 

At this time the Boulder JCC is the only building planned.  It is located such that any shading to the north 
is on its own lot or on Arapahoe Avenue. 

3. Building Form. The shapes of buildings are designed to maximize utilization of solar energy.  Buildings 
shall meet the solar access protection and solar siting requirements of Chapter 9-917, "Solar Access," 
B.R.C. 1981. How is this criterion met? 

The Boulder JCC building is mainly 1 story with a portion 2 story.  The roof area of the 2 story portion has 
been designated as a potential solar collector area. 

4. Landscaping. The shading effects of proposed landscaping on adjacent buildings are minimized.  How is 
this criterion met?  

The proposed Boulder JCC building and its associated landscaping are the only improvement being 
planned at this time.  The building footprint and other site elements are set back significantly from the 
adjacent properties.  Significant shading on adjacent properties is not anticipated. 

 
H. Additional Criteria for Poles Above the Permitted Height. No site review application for a pole above the 

permitted height will be approved unless the approving agency finds all of the following:  

1. The light pole is required for nighttime recreation activities, which are compatible with the surrounding 
neighborhood, or the light or traffic signal pole is required for safety, or the electrical utility pole is required 
to serve the needs of the city? 

N/A 

2. The pole is at the minimum height appropriate to accomplish the purposes for which the pole was erected 
and is designed and constructed so as to minimize light and electromagnetic pollution. If applicable, how 
are these criteria met? 

N/A 
 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 130Packet Page     202



Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Policies 
Examples of how the proposed site plan is consistent with the purposes of the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive plan are listed below in red.  
 
1. Core Values, Sustainability Framework and General Policies 
 
Sustainability Framework 
1.02 Principles of Environmental Sustainability  
The city and county will strive to preserve and protect the natural resource base and environmental quality 
on which life depends by:  
a) Maintaining and enhancing the biodiversity and productivity of ecological systems;  
b) Ensuring the efficient use of natural resources in a manner that does not deplete them over time; and  
c) Reducing and minimizing the use of non-renewable resources. 
This project is planned to embrace the principles of environmental sustainability in the site planning, 
building design and construction.  Sustainable strategies include lowered energy use through increased 
wall and roof insulation, high-efficiency glazing, exterior solar shading, and light shelves that bounce 
sunlight to interior spaces.  Interior artificial light levels may be adjusted based on available daylight.  
Operable windows allow natural ventilation and cooling.  Low-flow plumbing fixtures, and drought 
tolerant native plants decrease the amount of water use.  Local and recycled materials will be used in the 
building construction.   
 
1.04 Principles of Social Sustainability  
The city and county will strive to promote a healthy community and address social and cultural inequities 
by:  
a) Respecting and valuing cultural and social diversity;  
b) Ensuring the basic health and safety needs of all residents are met; and  
c) Providing infrastructure and services that will encourage culturally and socially diverse communities to 
both prosper within and connect to the larger community.  
The Boulder JCC’s mission is to provide programs and services based in Jewish values and traditions in a 
place where people of all ages and backgrounds gather to connect, exchange ideas, learn and grow 
together. It is open and welcoming to everyone and provides a connection for residents to their 
community.  The Jewish values that the JCC programming is based on include reflection, belonging, 
potential, intentionality, gratitude, inquiry and responsibility in repairing the world.   
 
The JCC has been a convener in the community for issues such as mental health where multiple faiths 
have come together to talk about the issues.  
  
The JCC will house Jewish Family Service (JFS), a non-profit agency that serves Boulder’s elderly 
community. JFS assists older adults and people with disabilities in maintaining their independence while 
providing a support system for their special needs through care management and outreach. 
 
Framework for Annexation and Urban Service Provision 
1.22 Definition of New Urban Development  
It is intended that ‘new urban development,’ including development within the city, not occur until and 
unless adequate urban facilities and services are available to serve the development as set out in Section 
IV.D. Urban Service Criteria and Standards. ‘New urban development’ is defined to include:  
a) All new residential, commercial and industrial development and redevelopment within the city;  

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 131Packet Page     203



The property will be considered new urban development and in conformance with BVCP will be 
developed after annexation.  Adequate and available urban facilities to the site include public water, 
public sewer, fire protection and emergency medical care, urban police protection, and urban 
transportation.  Public stormwater and flood management is presently being upgraded through the CDOT 
project on Arapahoe. 
 
1.24 Annexation  
The policies in regard to annexation to be pursued by the city are:  
a) Annexation will be required before adequate facilities and services are furnished. 
An annexation process is part of this project for portions of the site which are currently outside the city 
limits. 
 
Utilities  
1.33 Consistency of Utility Extensions with Comprehensive Plan  
The installation and extension of all utilities will be consistent with the provisions of the comprehensive 
plan and with the responsibilities of the respective utility providers. 
Utilities are available along Arapahoe and will be extended through the site to the standard of the utility 
providers. 
 
2.  Built Environment 
 
Community Identity / Land Use Pattern 
2.03 Compact Development Pattern  
The city and county will, by implementing the comprehensive plan, ensure that development will take 
place in an orderly fashion, take advantage of existing urban services, and avoid, insofar as possible, 
patterns of leapfrog, noncontiguous, scattered development within the Boulder Valley. The city prefers 
redevelopment and infill as compared to development in an expanded Service Area in order to prevent 
urban sprawl and create a compact community. 
The proposal is in conformance with the BVCP as it is in area 2A and we are annexing as provided for in 
the comp plan. 
 
 
Neighborhoods 
2.15 Compatibility of Adjacent Land Uses  
To avoid or minimize noise and visual conflicts between adjacent land uses that vary widely in use, 
intensity or other characteristics, the city will use tools such as interface zones, transitional areas, site and 
building design and cascading gradients of density in the design of subareas and zoning districts. With 
redevelopment, the transitional area should be within the zone of more intense use. 
This development is between large commercial car dealerships and a busy highway to the north and 
residential area to the south and acts as a transition zone between the two. 
 
  

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 132Packet Page     204



 
Urban Design Linkages  
2.19 Urban Open Lands  
Open lands within the fabric of the city constitute Boulder’s public realm and provide recreational 
opportunities, transportation linkages, gathering places and density relief from the confines of the city, as 
well as protection of the environmental quality of the urban environment. The city will promote and 
maintain an urban open lands system to serve the following functions: active and passive recreation, 
environmental protection, flood management, multimodal transportation, enhancement of community 
character and aesthetics. 
The proposed project will  provide pedestrian and bicycle routes that will connect to additional non-
motorized transportation corridors throughout the City of Boulder and the surrounding region. 
 
2.21 Commitment to a Walkable and Accessible City  
The city and county will promote the development of a walkable and accessible city by designing 
neighborhoods and business areas to provide easy and safe access by foot to places such as neighborhood 
centers, community facilities, transit stops or centers, and shared public spaces and amenities. The city 
will consider additional neighborhood-serving commercial areas where appropriate and supported by the 
neighbors they would serve. 
Accessible sidewalk connections are provided to the building from the surrounding network of sidewalks, 
paths and transit stops linking this development to the city. 
 
2.23 Trail Corridors/Linkages  
In the process of considering development proposals, the city and county will encourage the development 
of paths and trails where appropriate for recreation and transportation, such as walking, hiking, bicycling 
or horseback riding.. Implementation will be achieved through the coordinated efforts of the private and 
public sectors. 
With CDOT improvements to SH7, an 8’ wide sidewalk has been constructed along the south side of 
Arapahoe Avenue along the entire length of the property and will provide access to the Boulder Creek 
Bikeway network of trails ,which can be accessed at the underpass located just west of Cherryvale Rd.  It 
also connects to Cherryvale Rd. which has on-street bikelanes and a detached bike path. 
 
Design Quality 
2.35 Outdoor Lighting/Light Pollution  
The city and county will encourage the efficient use of outdoor lighting to reduce light pollution and 
conserves energy while providing for public safety. The city will seek to provide a nighttime environment 
that includes the ability to view the stars against a dark sky so that people can see the Milky Way Galaxy 
from residential and other appropriate viewing areas. Measures such as using more energy-efficient lights, 
ensuring that the level of outdoor lighting is appropriate to the application, minimizing glare, and using 
shielding techniques to direct light downward will be required. 
Site lighting is designed to provide appropriate light levels for the security of the staff and visitors of the 
JCC.  The site lighting will be designed to limit light trespass and sky glow and meet the current City of 
Boulder requirements.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 133Packet Page     205



 
 
4.  Energy and Climate 
 
Energy Conservation and Renewable Energy 
4.03 Energy Conservation and Renewable Energy  
The city and county will implement innovative programs and opportunities for individuals, businesses 
and organizations to reduce energy consumption and develop local energy generation. The city will 
support private decisions to use renewable energy, develop local renewable energy resources and preserve 
options for developing renewable energy in the future. The city will review and consider revisions to 
regulations to support on-site energy generation, including solar and wind.  The city and county will 
pursue an energy path that not only reduces carbon emissions, but also promotes innovation, competition 
and economic vitality, and will set goals to ensure that the community has access to reliable, 
competitively priced and increasingly clean energy. 
The Boulder JCC is planning to implement solar photovoltaics to be mounted on the roof and/or site 
mounted in parking areas in the future.  See site plan and elevations for potential locations. 
 
Land Use and Building Design  
4.04 Energy-Efficient Land Use  
The city and county will encourage energy conservation through land use policies and regulations 
governing placement, orientation and clustering of development. 
Building placement, footprint  and massing is designed to minimize energy use.  The east-west orientation 
of the building is beneficial for taking advantage of natural daylighting in classrooms and offices by 
orienting the windows to the north and south.  An east-west orientation is also advantageous for solar 
panel placement on the building. 
 
4.05 Energy-Efficient Building Design  
The city and county will pursue efforts to improve the energy and resource efficiency of new and existing 
buildings. The city and county will improve regulations ensuring energy and resource efficiency in new 
construction, remodels and renovation projects and will establish energy efficiency requirements for 
existing buildings. Energy conservation programs will be sensitive to the unique situations that involve 
historic preservation and low-income homeowners and renters and will ensure that programs assisting 
these groups are continued. 
Per Annexation Agreement, the building will be designed to 20% better than ASHRAE 90.1-2012 
(Section 501.1).  The Boulder JCC is targeting LEED certification for the new building. 
 
6.  Transportation 
 
6.01 All-Mode Transportation System  
The Boulder Valley will be served by an integrated all-mode transportation system, developed 
cooperatively by the city and county. This transportation system will include completed networks for each 
mode, make safe and convenient connections between modes, and provide seamless connections between 
the city and county systems. Improvements to the travel corridors network will be made in a manner that 
preserves or improves the capacity or efficiency of all modes and recognizes pedestrian travel as a 
component of all trips. 
Bus stops are located along Arapahoe Avenue adjacent to the BJCC site.  Accessible connections between 
the bus stop and building entrances are planned.  See statements on transportation impact and systems 
connections in the General Criteria for all Site Review Applications and TDM plan. 
 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 134Packet Page     206



6.08 Transportation Impact  
Traffic impacts from a proposed development that cause unacceptable community or environmental 
impacts or unacceptable reduction in level of service will be mitigated. All development will be designed 
and built to be multimodal, pedestrian-oriented and include strategies to reduce the vehicle miles traveled 
(VMT) generated by the development. New development will provide continuous pedestrian, bike and 
transit systems through the development and connect these systems to those surrounding the 
development. The city and county will provide tools and resources to help businesses manage employee 
access and mobility and support public-private partnerships, such as transportation management 
organizations, to facilitate these efforts. 
See statements on transportation impact and systems connections in the General Criteria for all Site 
Review Applications and TDM plan. 
 
 
6.10 Managing Parking Supply  
Providing for vehicular parking will be considered as a component of a total access system of all modes 
of transportation - bicycle, pedestrian, transit and vehicular - and will be consistent with the desire to 
reduce single occupant vehicle travel, limit congestion, balance the use of public spaces and consider the 
needs of residential and commercial areas. Parking demand will be accommodated in the most efficient  
way possible with the minimal necessary number of new spaces. The city will promote parking 
reductions through parking maximums, shared parking, unbundled parking, parking districts and 
transportation demand management programs. 
Vehicular parking is planned to meet the requirements of the uses of the JCC including childcare drop-
off/pick-up, adult education classes, meetings and programs, as well as events in the Community Hall.  
Parking areas are designed to be shared with future development on the rest of the site as uses are likely to 
be at compatible hours.  Bicycle parking is provided near the building. 
 
8.  Community Well-Being 
 
Human Services  
8.01 Providing for a Broad Spectrum of Human Needs  
The city and county will develop and maintain human service programs that provide for the broad 
spectrum of human needs, from safety net services to early intervention and prevention programs which 
mitigate more costly, long-term interventions and forestall worsening social conditions. Services balance 
meeting immediate needs with long-term solutions to critical social issues. 
Please see section 1.04.   The JCC also offers scholarships for early childhood education and will 
continue to do so in its expanded preschool in the new building.  Additionally, it has participated in the 
Crayons to Calculators program, and been recognized with Honorable Mention in The Top Community 
Challenge in both 2010 and 2011. 
 
8.05 Diversity  
The community values diversity as a source of strength and opportunity. The city and county will support 
the integration of diverse cultures and socio-economic groups in the physical, social, cultural and 
economic environments; promote opportunities for community engagement of diverse community 
members; and promote formal and informal representation of diverse community members in civic 
affairs. 
The members and users of the services provided by the Boulder JCC are part of the diverse population of 
the City and County of Boulder.  The Boulder JCC’s board has adopted a policy of non-discrimination in 
relation to gender, race, religion, national origin, and sexual orientation. 
While all programming is based in Jewish values (see 1.04), we offer many programs which are secular in 
nature (parenting classes, school day out programs, winter and summer camps, etc.).  We also serve as an 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 135Packet Page     207



educator to the broader community about Jewish values and culture.  All programming at the Boulder 
JCC is open to the general public. 
 
8.10 Support for Community Facilities  
The city and county recognize the importance of educational, health and non-profit community agencies 
that provide vital services to the residents of the Boulder Valley and will work collaboratively with these 
agencies to reasonably accommodate their facility needs and consider location based on transportation 
accessibility. 
As a non-profit community agency, education is one of the JCC’s primary focuses. By moving to a larger 
facility with both better access and more functional space, the JCC will be able to expand the early 
childhood center as well as educational and cultural programs for all ages.   The JCC is currently one of 
only a few local organizations that offers summer camp programming for children as young as 2 ½.  
 
The Boulder JCC convenes area educators from the various synagogues, agencies and other Jewish non-
profits once a month. This group will continue to meet in the new location. And finally, as mentioned 
previously, JFS will operate out of the new facility to provide support to those community members in 
need. 
 
Culture 
8.15. Information Resource/Community Center  
The city will provide access to information through a variety of formats providing materials, technology 
and services to enhance the personal development of the community’s residents. In its role as the 
community’s public and civic information center, the library will provide venues for community group 
meetings and resources and services to meet the needs of the community’s multicultural and special 
populations. Other community gathering spaces and information sources include the city and county 
websites, municipal buildings, and recreation and senior centers. 
The JCC will serve as a gathering space and resource center for area residents.  It will house the only 
public Jewish library in Boulder with a collection of over 10,000 books, videos and DVD’s for people of 
all ages.  As a centrally located community center, the Boulder JCC will provide many opportunities for 
learning and exploration.  In addition, there are numerous spaces in the new facility that can be used by 
the general public for a variety of purposes and outreach programs.  The facility is being designed as a 
comfortable space for people to linger. 
 

9.  Agriculture and Food 
 
9.05 Urban Gardening & Food Production  
The city will encourage community and private gardens to be integrated in the city. This may include 
allowing flexibility and/or helping to remove restrictions for food production in shared open spaces and 
public areas, encouraging rooftop gardens and composting and planting edible fruit and vegetable plants 
where appropriate. 
In preparation for the move to the new facility, the JCC has already begun a robust gardening program in 
the Early Childhood Center.  In addition, popular  gardening camps were run this summer for children 
ages 2 ½ - 5.  The JCC plans to expand this program in the new facility and hopes to offer a community 
garden in the future.   

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 136Packet Page     208



 

November 25, 2013 
 
Amendment to Written Statement for Boulder Jewish Commons and Jewish Community Center 
 
In response to Planning Board comments, the applicant has made the following revisions to the site 
plan: 

1. The service drive / pedestrian entrance on the north side of the building was seen as a 
potential conflict and it was felt that pedestrians would use the service drive to access the 
building.  

a. A memo from JCC is attached explaining their use of the service drive. 
b. The sidewalk was extended and stairs added so the north entry plaza could be 

accessed from both sidewalks.  This keeps the formal aspect of the design intact 
while allowing ADA access on the east walk. 

2. Additional bike racks were placed at both the north and south entries.  
3. Conduit will be included to easily allow for future installation of photovoltaic panels as 

shown previously in the parking area as well as the roof of the building. 
4. We are working with the transportation department, GO‐Boulder and RTD to determine if a 

2nd bus stop should be added on Arapahoe near the north entrance of JCC.   
    
 
Sincerely, 

 
Rebecca E Spears, AIA, LEED AP, Principal 
RB+B Architects, Inc. 
970‐488‐3854               
rspears@rbbarchitects.com 
 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 137Packet Page     209



The service entrance on the North side of the building will not have daily use.  It will be the place for 

standard trash and on‐demand recycling and compost pick‐up, similar to our current facility. The service 

entrance will also be used for scheduled deliveries, such as larger items (e.g. furniture) or items for an 

event (e.g. catering) and these types of deliveries will be infrequent. Regular FedEx, UPS and US Mail will 

be delivered through the south entrance, which faces the parking lot. The service entrance does not 

have a loading dock, and the door from the service entrance will be locked during normal business 

hours.  

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 138Packet Page     210



Added 2 bike
parking spaces

Added 2 bike
parking spaces

Continued sidewalk
directly to north
entrance. Added
stairs

Deleted paving
here

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 139Packet Page     211

rspears
Polygon

rspears
Polygon

rspears
Callout
Added 2 bike parking spaces

rspears
Callout
Added 2 bike parking spaces

rspears
Callout
Continued sidewalk directly to north entrance.  Added stairs

rspears
Callout
Deleted paving here



! "!

BOULDER JCC  
USE AND PARKING MANAGEMENT PLAN 

September 3, 2012 
 
 

Overview 
 
The Boulder JCC has operated at our current location—3800 Kalmia Avenue in Boulder—for 11 years. The new 
Boulder JCC will be located at the southeast corner of Cherryvale Road and Arapahoe Avenue in Boulder, as detailed 
in our City submission. This new facility will allow the Boulder JCC to enlarge our Early Childhood Center, expand 
our educational programs, and provide community meeting and celebration space. These are fundamentally similar 
uses to those that we conduct presently in our current location, but will be enhanced by our larger and more up-to-date 
facility. This Use and Parking Management Plan (PMP) is therefore based on our experience at our current location, which 
informs the assumptions herein about events, use patterns, and parking needs. In short, we know a great deal about 
how we will use our new facility because of our history in our existing facility. 
 
Based on the analysis in this Use and Parking Management Plan, we conclude that the new Boulder JCC facility will need 
between 165 and 180 parking spaces. For a typical day we will need approximately 160 spaces, but under a 
maximum use scenario we may need as many as 180. 
 
 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 
 
We have organized this Parking Management Plan as follows: 
 

I. Background Information ………………………….……………………………….. 2 
 a. Description of Proposed Facility  ………………..…………………………… 2 
 b. Proposed Hours of Use …………………………..………………………….. 2 
 c. Number of Employees ……………………..………………………………… 2 
 
II. Explanation of Parking Needs ……………………………………………………… 3 
 a. Maximum Use Scenario – Requires Approx. 173 Spaces ……..……..……… 4 
 b. Typical Weekday/School Year Use Scenario – Requires Approx. 166 Spaces  6 
 c. Typical Weekday/Summer Use Scenario – Requires Approx. 161 Spaces  ….. 7 
 
APPENDIX A:  Detailed Explanation of Specific Parking Uses …………………….. 8 

a. Three Primary Uses: Early Childhood Center, 
Summer Camp, and Community Hall ………………………………………… 8 

 b. Other Uses …………………………………………………………………….. 8 
 c. Proposed Future Expansion ………………………………………………… 10 

 
APPENDIX B:  Supporting Data Tables …………….…………..…..………………… 11 

 
 
 
 
 
  

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 140Packet Page     212

rspears
Typewritten Text



! #!

I. Background Information 
 
a. Description of Proposed Facility 
 
The proposed Boulder JCC will be an approximately 50,000 square foot (gross) building developed on a 9 acre parcel 
at the southeast corner of Cherryvale Road and Arapahoe Avenue in Boulder. Our City submission also proposes up to 
20,000 square feet (gross) of additional future expansion in a later phase.   
 
The Boulder JCC is a multi-use facility catering to all ages—from six-week-old infants to seniors. The proposed 
building has a number of different programming spaces, including: 

• Early Childhood Center (ECC) 
• adult classrooms 
• gymnasium 
• group fitness and cardio rooms 
• Community Hall 
• baby classrooms 

• library 
• tumbling room 
• community office space 
• JCC office space 
• teen lounge

 
The new facility will also have outdoor facilities that include an athletic field and recreation areas. The proposed future 
expansion includes a larger fitness area, additional ECC classrooms, additional adult classroom space, and the future 
addition of an outdoor swimming pool. 
 
 
b. Proposed Hours of Use 
 
To understand the JCC’s hours of use it is helpful to break our uses into two categories: regular uses and special uses. 
 

Regular Uses: Our normal uses occur Monday through Thursday 8:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m., Fridays 8:00 a.m. to 
sundown, and Sundays 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. This includes all of our regular daily uses, such as our pre-
school, classroom and fitness, evening programming for seniors, etc. In general we have far less activity on 
weekends than during the week, and will be open on Sundays only if there is a special program (e.g., we are 
showing a film, etc.). 
 
Special Uses:  In addition to these regular uses, we will use our Community Hall for larger lectures or events 
on a weekday or weekend evening. We also anticipate renting our facility for bar/bat mitzvahs, wedding 
celebrations, and other special events, particularly on Saturdays and Sundays when we might otherwise be 
closed.  We cannot determine precisely the times such rentals might occur, but we anticipate that they would 
usually begin in the afternoon and run into the evening (e.g., 4:00 p.m. through 11:00 p.m., for example). 

 
 
c. Number of Employees 
 
Based on our pro forma and our current use patterns, we anticipate that we will operate in our new building with 
approximately 50 employees.  More than half of these employees will be part-time (around 24 hours).  The others will 
be full-time or ! time.  If we expand further in the future—as discussed above—the staff could grow to 58, again with 
half being part time.  
     
The Boulder JCC encourages health and wellness.  At our current Kalmia Avenue location, up to 10 staff members 
ride their bicycles to work and some carpool as well.  Our new location at the corner of Cherryvale and Arapahoe has 
better access to the bike trail system, so we see bicycle use continuing or increasing as we move to our new facility.  In 
addition, our new location is better served by public transportation, and we anticipate that several of our staff members 
will take the bus from Boulder or Louisville. We plan to continue to encourage our employees to make use of bicycle, 
carpooling, and public transportation.  
 
 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 141Packet Page     213



! $!

II. Explanation of Parking Needs 
 
As noted, we have operated the Boulder JCC at our current location for 11 years. Based on this experience, it is 
very important to understand that the JCC does not generate consistent heavy traffic or parking usage throughout a 
typical day. Instead, our parking needs vary greatly as different activities take place at our facility. 
 
To understand the JCC’s parking needs, the following basic overview may be helpful. (These are simply guidelines for 
reference—specific information is provided in the remainder of this PMP.) 
 

(1) During the regular school year, our primary parking needs are generated by our Early Childhood 
Center, which operates Monday through Friday only. Parents come in the morning to drop off their 
children and return in the afternoon to pick them up. For parking purposes, the Early Childhood Center 
is essentially a large pre-school facility. At maximum capacity it will hold 150 children. During the 
summer, our Early Childhood Center operates at a reduced capacity (50 percent or 75 children). 
 

(2) During the summer, our primary parking needs are generated by our summer camp for kids and teens. 
Again, most of our parking needs result from parents dropping off their children in the morning and 
picking them up in the afternoon. 

 
(3) Our third major use will be for events taking place in our Community Hall. This might include 

showing a film, hosting a speaker, or celebrating a bar/bat mitzvah or a wedding. Some of these will 
be JCC events and some will be rental events. The Community Hall seats 250 people in a dinner 
configuration at round tables, or 330 people auditorium-style in rows of seats. Most of our existing 
JCC events, however, attract between 50 and 120 people. In addition, larger Community Hall events 
will take place in the evenings, and therefore will not conflict with the parking needs of either the 
Early Childhood Center or the summer camp, because they will occur later in the day. 

 
(4) All of our other uses—our fitness studio, our gymnasium, our adult classroom spaces, etc.—have 

relatively low impact on parking demand. We do not fill these spaces full time, but instead conduct 
programming in such spaces on and off throughout the day. 

  
 
The JCC has a great deal of control over the scheduling of these uses. Our Facilities Director is careful to program 
our classes and events so that they do not conflict with our Early Childhood Center pick up or drop-off times, for 
example, and so that adult education classes do not overlap with Community Hall events.  
 
To explain our parking needs, we present three scenarios for your consideration that illustrate how these uses combine:   
 

(a) a “Maximum Use Scenario” that shows what our maximum parking needs will be when we have a large 
community hall event scheduled in the evening;  
 
(b) a “Typical Weekday/School Year Use Scenario” that shows the parking needs for a weekday during the 
school year when the Early Childhood Center is our primary use; and  
 
(c) a “Typical Weekday/Summer Use Scenario” that shows the parking needs for a weekday during the 
summer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 142Packet Page     214



! %!

 
a. Maximum Use Scenario – Requires Approx. 173 Spaces 
 

Figure 1: 
Parking Space Usage for a School-Year Weekday 

With 35 Employees Driving, 
an At-Capacity Early Childhood Center, 

Regular Programming in All Spaces, 
and a Very Large Evening Community Hall Event 

(See Appendix B p. 11 for Detailed Supporting Data) 
 

 
 
We begin with a maximum use scenario: a school-year weekday in which our Early Childhood Center is in session and 
operating at maximum capacity (150 students), there is programming in all other spaces (such as the adult classrooms, 
the gymnasium, etc.), and there is a large evening event scheduled in our Community Hall (330 attendees). 
 

$&!

'&!

(&!
%&!

$&!

"#! "#!

"#!

"#!

"&!

"&!

(&!

#(!

#(!

"&!

#&!

#&!
"&!

"&!

"&!

#&!

$&!

(&!

")(! ")(!

"&!

#!

#!

#!
#!

"&!

#&!

#&!

"&!
"&!

#!

#!

#!

#!
#!

#!

"&!

$(!

$(!

$(!

$(!
$(!

$(!

*! *!

&!

#&!

%&!

)&!

*&!

"&&!

"#&!

"%&!

")&!

"*&!

#&&!

!"
#$
%&'
&"
(&)

$*
+,
-.
&/
0$

12
3&4

25
6,
*2
7&

!,82&"(&9$:&

+,-./0112!

3/,,45670!89:1!;-<:1!

=>7!;74?6/!

@6A><>0!<5?!;74?0!B//,!

C115!@/45D1!

3/,,45670!E<..!

F0,5<264,!

F>/4-!G675122!<5?!3<>?6/!

$!3.<22>//,2!

C4,A.65D!B//,!

H<A0!3.<22>//,2!

I<0!3<,-2!

+33!

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 143Packet Page     215



! (!

Figure 1 shows this maximum use scenario. On the day shown in Figure 1, the morning parking usage is generated by 
parents dropping off their children at the Early Childhood Center, as well as employees arriving for work.  During the 
middle of the day, usage rises as some parents pick up their children mid-day. Figure 1 then shows a large Community 
Hall event in the evening. Additionally, smaller spaces such as the Art Studio, Library, Teen Lounge, Gymnasium, 
Fitness room, or Classrooms are in use throughout the day, although they generate far less parking demand. (Figure 1 
is based on the Maximum Use Scenario data chart on page 11 of Appendix B.) 
 
Figure 1 shows that in this maximum use scenario, our largest parking need is for 173 spaces. The vast majority of 
days at the JCC are far less busy than Figure 1 suggests, however. In fact, parking demand would be reduced by each 
of the following three factors:  
 

• Figure 1 assumes that 80 percent of children brought to or picked up from our Early Childhood Center are 
brought in a car alone with a parent—that only 20 percent are brought with a sibling or in a carpool. Based on 
our experience at the existing JCC, we predict that in fact a significantly higher percentage of our ECC 
children will share rides, which will lower parking demand during ECC drop off and pick up times. 
 

• Figure 1 assumes that 35 employees out of 50 will drive to work and require parking spaces. This is roughly 
equivalent to the percentage of employees that drive to our current facility. We expect a slightly greater 
percentage to use public transportation, bicycles, or carpooling in our new facility, however, and we will 
encourage employees to use such shared forms of transportation. 

 
• Figure 1 shows a 330 person auditorium-style seating event in the Community Hall during the evening. This 

would be an extremely large event for the JCC. Most auditorium-style events in the Community Hall would be 
far smaller—perhaps 50-125 people.  Dinner-style events in the Community Hall would hold up to 250 people.  

 
In addition, Figure 1 assumes that an event of this size would need 165 parking places (for a total during that 
time period, including employee parking spaces, of 173).  To reach this figure, we assume that 45% (75 cars) 
of the cars attending this event would bring only one person; approximately 25% (40 cars) would bring 2 
people; 15% (25 cars) would bring 3 people; and 15% (25 cars) would bring 4 people. This totals 165 cars and 
parking spaces.  
 
This mix of ride types (e.g., 1-person, 2-person, etc.) most likely overestimates the number of parking spaces 
needed. Boulder JCC events are almost always family-oriented, and therefore a majority of our patrons arrive 
in vehicles carrying 2-4 people. In addition, our senior patrons often carpool, again leading to a majority of 
vehicles with multiple occupants. The JCC encourages such carpooling, and if we ever hold an event as large 
as the one depicted in Figure 1, we would certainly encourage shared vehicle occupancy to reduce the parking 
demand.  We could also offer incentives at such an event—for example, a reduced ticket price—for patrons 
that carpool. All of this would most likely mean that we would need fewer than 165 parking spaces for such an 
event. 
 
(Note that even a very different mix of ride types would generate need for no more than 165 parking spaces. 
For example, if we assume that most attendees to such an event came in cars as couples, rather than as 
families, we might assume 18% (30 cars) of the cars attending would bring only one person; 67% (110 cars) 
would bring two; 9% (15 cars) would bring three; and 6% (10 cars) would bring four people. This again totals 
165 cars/parking spaces for a 330 person event.)  

 
In summary, Figure 1 shows a maximum use scenario under which both of our largest parking uses—the Early 
Childhood Center and the Community Hall—are at maximum capacity. This scenario would require a maximum of 
approximately 173 parking spaces.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 144Packet Page     216



! )!

b. Typical Weekday/School Year Use Scenario – Requires Approx. 166 Spaces 
 

Figure 2: 
Parking Space Usage for a School-Year Weekday 

With Normal Early Childhood Center Use, 
Normal Programming in All Spaces, 

and an Evening Community Hall Event 
(See Appendix B p. 12 for Detailed Supporting Data) 

 

 
 
Figure 2 shows a far more typical Boulder JCC weekday during the school year.  The parking needs for a typical day 
are lower than for the “Maximum Use” scenario. The day begins with Early Childhood Center drop-offs in the early 
morning and the arrival of our employees. Although programming in our various classroom, fitness, and gymnasium 
spaces adds some parking demand on-and-off throughout the day, the Early Childhood Center pickup/drop-off at mid-
day again accounts for the greatest parking need. Figure 2 assumes an evening event in the Community Hall that 
requires 50 parking spaces. In this typical school year weekday scenario, our maximum parking need would be 
approximately 166 spaces.  

$&!

'&!

(&!
%&!

$&!

"#! "#!

"#!

"#!

"&!

"&!

#(!

#(! #(!

#(!

"&!

#&!

#&!

"&! "&!

"&!

#&!

#&!

$&!

$&!

(&!

(&!

"&!

#!

#!

#!

#!

#!

#&!

#&!

"&!

"&!

#!

#!

#!

#!

#!

#!

"&!

$(!

$(!

$(!

$(!

$(!

#(!

(!

%!

&!

#&!

%&!

)&!

*&!

"&&!

"#&!

"%&!

")&!

"*&!

#&&!

!"
#$
%&'
&"
(&)

$*
+,
-.
&/
0$

12
3&4

25
6,
*2
7&

!,82&"(&9$:&

+,-./0112!

3/,,45670!89:1!;-<:1!

=>7!;74?6/!

@6A><>0!<5?!;74?0!B//,!

C115!@/45D1!

3/,,45670!E<..!

F0,5<264,!

F>/4-!G675122!<5?!3<>?6/!

$!3.<22>//,2!

C4,A.65D!B//,!

H<A0!3.<22>//,2!

I<0!3<,-2!

+33!

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 145Packet Page     217



! J!

c. Typical Weekday/Summer Use Scenario – Requires Approx. 161 Spaces 
 

Figure 3: 
Parking Space Usage for a Summer Weekday 

With Normal Early Childhood Center Summer Use, 
Normal Summer Camp Use, 

Normal Programming in all Spaces 
And an Evening Community Hall Event 

(See Appendix B p. 12 for Detailed Supporting Data) 
 

 
 
Figure 3 shows a typical summer day.  As noted, during the summer our Early Childhood Center is open at a reduced 
capacity—roughly 40-50 percent (or 75 students).  At the same time, we operate a summer camp for elementary-aged 
children and teens.  As a result, Figure 3 shows usage in the morning for ECC and summer camp drop-offs.  Figure 3 
also shows a Community Hall event requiring 50 parking spaces in the evening, just to illustrate that such events do 
not overlap with either the ECC or the summer camp. In this typical summer weekday scenario, our maximum parking 
need would be approximately 161 spaces. 
 

"(!

%&! %&!

"(!

(&!

(&!

%&!

)&!

"#!

"#!

"#!

"#!"&!

"&!

#(!

"&!

#&!

#&!

"&!

#&!

#&!

#&!

$&!

$&!

(&!

(&!

#!
#!

#!

#!

#!

#!

#&!

#!
#!

#!

#!

#!

#!

"&!

$&!
$&!

$&!

$&!

#(!

#&!
*!

%!

&!

#&!

%&!

)&!

*&!

"&&!

"#&!

"%&!

")&!

"*&!

#&&!

!"
#$
%&'
&"
(&)

$*
+,
-.
&/
0$

12
3&4

25
6,
*2
7&

!,82&"(&9$:&

+,-./0112!

3/,,45670!89:1!;-<:1!

=>7!;74?6/!

@6A><>0!<5?!;74?0!B//,!

C115!@/45D1!

3/,,45670!E<..!

F0,5<264,!

F>/4-!G675122!<5?!3<>?6/!

$!3.<22>//,2!

C4,A.65D!B//,!

H<A0!3.<22>//,2!

I<0!3<,-2!

+33!

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 146Packet Page     218



! *!

 
APPENDIX A: 
DETAILED EXPLANATION OF SPECIFIC PARKING USES 
 
 As explained above, our three primary uses that affect parking are our Early Childhood Center, our summer 
camp, and our Community Hall.  In this Appendix we describe those three uses in detail. In addition, we describe each 
of our other uses in detail. As noted, however, even in combination all of the other uses of the JCC’s facility are 
relatively small compared to these three primary uses. 
 
 
a. Three Primary Uses:  Early Childhood Center, Summer Camp, and Community Hall 
 
(1) Early Childhood Center:  The ECC will serve families with children from 6 weeks old to pre-kindergarten. The 
total capacity of the school at any given time will be 150 students. These students will be picked up and dropped off at 
different times depending on their choice of half-day, extended day, or full-day. Many of these students are siblings 
and many carpool as well. This function requires 30 spaces between 7:30-8:30am (for early drop-off), 90 spaces 
between 8:30-9:15am (for regular drop-off) and about 70 spaces between 12-2pm (for pick-up).  It also requires 30 
spaces between 2-4pm and 30 spaces between 4-6 pm (as some families choose extended day options). The spaces will 
be used for about 20 minutes to allow time for parents to walk their children into the building and leave. 
 
 During the summer our ECC operates at 40-50% capacity. We therefore estimate needing 15 spaces between 
7:30-8:30am and 40 spaces between 8:30-9:15am (for drop-off), 40 spaces between 12-2pm (for pickup), and 15 
spaces between 4-6pm (for late pickup).  
 
(2) Summer Camp:  The Boulder JCC operates a day camp during the summer for elementary and middle school 
children.  The camp utilizes much of the space in the building, meaning that we offer limited other (adult) 
programming. 
 
When we reach capacity, we anticipate that our elementary age camp will serve approximately 150 campers (many 
siblings of Early Childhood Center summer attendees and many siblings of other campers).  We will start our camp 
slightly later than our Summer ECC to ease parking demand and traffic flow. Depending on the number of children, 
we will stagger the starts of these programs to ensure safety in the parking lots.  
 
(3) Community Hall: The Community Hall’s primary use will be in the evening when larger events and rentals 
will use the space. The largest of the JCC programs currently attract about 120 people, but most events are closer to 50 
people. If a larger event is planned we will ensure that no other events that require parking will occur during the same 
time. During the summer, the Community Hall will be used for camp during the day, so no additional parking will be 
necessary.  The largest events will be rentals that will take place on Friday night and Saturday when the JCC does not 
have any other programming, so the entire parking lot will be allocated to the Community Hall, as indicated in the 
Maximum Use Scenario.  
 
 
 
b. Other Uses 
 
Adult Classroom Space: The two classrooms on the first floor and the adult gathering space on the second floor 
provide space to hold meetings, educational lectures, films, receptions, and other cultural events. Each of the three 
rooms can hold 25 people. Meetings are scattered throughout the day. At any given time, we anticipate that these 
rooms will require up to 50 spaces, but they will not be scheduled to start at the same time as the primary drop-off and 
pick-up times of the ECC. During the summer, we will not host many events in these rooms.  Instead, in the summer 
these rooms will be used for camp.  
 
Gymnasium:  During the day in the school-year from 9am-3pm the gymnasium will be used as activity space for the 
ECC, so no additional spaces will be necessary. From 3pm-6pm, the gym will be used for afterschool programming 
that will require approximately 20 parking spaces. From 6pm-8pm the gymnasium will be used for leagues. We 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 147Packet Page     219



! '!

anticipate that about 30 cars will be parked at this time. (If the gymnasium generates more than 30 parking spaces in 
the evening, we will ensure that such gymnasium use does not occur if a large Community Hall event is taking place, 
so that the two uses do not simultaneously generate parking demand.) During the summer, the gymnasium will be used 
for our day camps. 
 
Group Fitness and Small Cardio Rooms:  These two small fitness rooms hold 20 and 12 people, respectively. We plan 
to use the Group Fitness room for small classes throughout the day. Most of the attendees will be parents dropping off 
or picking up their children at our ECC or summer camp. During those drop-off and pickup times, therefore, we 
estimate needing 8-10 additional parking spaces for the group fitness room; during other times we estimate needing 
15-20 spaces. The Small Cardio Room will be used primarily by staff and for personal training sessions. The vast 
majority of personal training attendees will be parents dropping off or picking up their children from our ECC or 
summer camp. We therefore estimate needing only 1-2 additional spaces for this cardio room. 
 
Baby Classrooms:  There are classes that run throughout the day from 9:30-4pm.  Each of these classes has at most 12 
baby participants (parent and child). There are two classrooms where this programming will take place and they rarely 
occur at the same time.  We therefore anticipate that there will be at most 12 cars parked for these activities at any 
given time. During the summer the programming is limited as the day camps use these classrooms. There is little to no 
programming on the weekends in these rooms. 
 
Tumbling Room:  The tumbling room is shared between the ECC, Baby Classes, and Open (public) Tumbling Times. 
There will be up to 2 tumbling classes a day (but not every day and not on weekends). At most, at any given time, we 
anticipate 10 cars parked to use this space. 
 
Teen Lounge:  The teen lounge will mostly be used in afterschool programming and some evening activities. Many of 
these teens do not drive, so they will be dropped off.  We anticipate that this program will serve about 20 teens during 
the afterschool time with about 10 cars parking at any given time. 
 
Library and Study Room:  The heaviest use of the library is from our ECC. Other than these children, most of the use 
comes from people in the building for other reasons. We have about 300 check-outs a year. Therefore, we anticipate at 
any given time that there will be at most 2 additional people parked to check-out, meet, or study in the library. In 
addition, the Library has a small Study Room. We expect at most 10 cars once or twice a day if meetings are held in 
this room. 
 
Art Studio:  The small art studio will be used for art-related classes. In the mornings we will hold art classes for adults, 
which may require up to 20 parking spaces. In the afternoons this art studio will be used for kids art classes. The 
majority of students will be attendees at our ECC or summer camp that stay for additional class time. In addition, 
attendees to these afternoon or after school classes will often be siblings of ECC or summer camp children, and/or will 
carpool with other students. We therefore expect to need 10 parking spaces for the art studio classes in the afternoons.  
 
Community Office Space:  The new Boulder JCC will provide office space to several affiliated organizations. For 
example, the JCC is home to Jewish Family Service. JFS operates with 1.25 employees and anticipates the same as 
they move into the new building. Most of their services are provided out of the building in senior centers around 
Boulder County. The programs they operate are joint programming with the Boulder JCC and included in the estimates 
for parking in our adult classrooms. We have similarly accounted for the possibility of other future users of our 
community office space by accounting for them as employees in our parking estimates. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 148Packet Page     220



! "&!

c. Proposed Future Expansion 
 
In our City submission we have indicated the future expansions that we envision for the JCC. Here we provide 
descriptions of the parking needs of these possible future expansions. We anticipate that with these future expansions, 
the JCC would require a total of 200 parking spaces, 40 more than needed prior to expansion for typical use and 20 
more than needed prior to expansion for maximum use.   
 
Swimming Pool:  The Boulder JCC swimming pool will be an outdoor pool that will operate from Memorial Day to 
Labor Day.  During the limited part of the school year that the pool is open, the pool will be used by our Early 
Childhood Center.  During the summer, it will be used by our day camp, swim team, as well as JCC members. It will 
also be open to JCC members in the evening and on weekends.  Based on current projections we anticipate that in 
mornings we would allow swim team and camp to use the pool from 7:30-11:00am, and the pool being open to JCC 
members from 11:00am-6:00pm. The early morning swim team use will require 20 parking spaces between 7:30-8:30. 
The membership use from 11:00am-6:00pm will require between 15 and 30 parking spaces—many pool users are 
likely to also be ECC or summer camp parents. Finally, we will close the pool when a large event (e.g., a bar/bat 
mitzvah or wedding) is scheduled in the Community Hall.  
 
Fitness Area:  In the future we have set aside space to house a 2000 - 3000 SF fitness area.  Hours of operation are 
anticipated to be 9:00am-8:00pm. We see this area being used by many of our parents that drop off their children in 
our Early Childhood Center as well as other members of the community surrounding the JCC.  With this size facility 
we anticipate that at any given time there will be up to 20 additional cars on top of the cars that park for other reasons 
and utilize the facility. 
 
2 additional early childhood classes:  With the growth of our Early Childhood Center and the demand we see currently, 
we anticipate that we might need to build two additional classrooms.  These classrooms would provide space for an 
additional 24 children, again with many siblings, carpools, and alternative transportation methods.  
 
3 Additional Classrooms:  With the growth of our camps, we may need additional space to house them during the 
summer.  These additional classrooms would provide gathering spaces for the campers. These additional classrooms 
would not require additional parking spaces, because they would not increase the size of our camp—merely provide 
more spaces for our camp experience. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 149Packet Page     221



! ""!

APPENDIX B:  SUPPORTING DATA TABLES 
 
 
 
Figure 1:  Maximum Use Scenario  
 

Mon.-Fri. School-Year with Maximum Use Assumptions 
 

 # of Cars Parked During Time-Frame Listed 
Type 7:30-

8:30am 
8:30-
9:15am 

9:15-
10am 

10- 12pm 12-2pm 2-4pm 4-6pm 6-8pm 8-10pm 

Early Childhood Center 30 90   50 40 30   
Day Camps          
Baby Classrooms   12 12 12 12    
Tumbling Room  ECC* 10 ECC* ECC* 10    
3 Classrooms    50  25 25   
Group Fitness and Cardio  10 20 20 10 10 10   
Gymnasium  ECC* ECC* ECC*  20 30   
Community Hall     50   165 165 
Teen Lounge       10   
Library and Study Room   2 2 2 2 10   
Art Studio   20 20  10 10   
Community Office Space  2 2 2 2 2 2   
Employees 10 35 35 35 35 35 35 8 8 
TOTALS 40 137 101 141 161 166 162 173 173 
   

*ECC means that the early childhood center will be using it therefore there are no additional cars 
 
 
  

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 150Packet Page     222



! "#!

 
 
Figure 2:  Typical School Year Weekday 
 

Mon.-Fri. School-Year Weekday with Typical Use 
 

 # of Cars Parked During Time-Frame Listed 
Type 7:30-

8:30am 
8:30-
9:15am 

9:15-
10am 

10- 12pm 12-2pm 2-4pm 4-6pm 6-8pm 8-10pm 

Early Childhood Center 30 90   50 40 30   
Day Camps          
Baby Classrooms   12 12 12 12    
Tumbling Room  ECC* 10 ECC* ECC* 10    
3 Classrooms    25 25 25 25   
Group Fitness and Cardio  10 20 20 10 10 10 20  
Gymnasium  ECC* ECC* ECC*  20 30 30  
Community Hall        50 50 
Teen Lounge       10   
Library and Study Room   2 2 2 2 2   
Art Studio    20 20 10 10   
Community Office Space  2 2 2 2 2 2   
Employees 10 35 35 35 35 35 25 5 4 
TOTALS 40 137 81 116 156 166 144 105 54 
   

*ECC means that the early childhood center will be using it therefore there are no additional cars 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 3:  Typical Summer Weekday 
 

Mon.-Fri. Summer Weekday with Typical Use 
 

 # of Cars Parked During Time-Frame Listed 
Type 7:30-

8:30am 
8:30-
9:15am 

9:15-
10am 

10- 12pm 12-2pm 2-4pm 4-6pm 6-8pm 8-10pm 

Early Childhood Center 15 40   40  15   
Day Camps  50 50  40 60    
Baby Classrooms   12 12 12 12    
Tumbling Room  ECC* 10 ECC* ECC* 10    
3 Classrooms  CAMP** CAMP** CAMP** 25 CAMP**    
Group Fitness and Cardio  10 20 20 10 20 20 20  
Gymnasium  CAMP** CAMP** CAMP** CAMP ** CAMP** 30 30  
Community Hall  CAMP** CAMP** CAMP** CAMP** CAMP**  50 50 
Teen Lounge  CAMP** CAMP** CAMP** CAMP** CAMP**    
Library and Study Room  2 2 2 2 2 2   
Art Studio  CAMP** CAMP** CAMP** CAMP** CAMP** 20   
Community Office Space  2 2 2 2 2 2   
Employees 10 30 30 30 30 25 20 8 4 
TOTALS 25 134 126 66 161 131 109 108 54 
   

*ECC means that the early childhood center will be using it therefore there are no additional cars 
** Our day camps use most of the building during the summer, precluding other classes and uses 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 151Packet Page     223



OREG FOUNDATION          
       P.O. Box 20587 
       Boulder, Colorado  80308 
       720-565-4064 
 
 

Addendum re: programs and events at the Boulder JCC Community Hall 

 

 

Many donors to the JCC building have contributed because they have a special interest in event 

space for life cycle event celebrations like bar and bat mitzvahs and weddings.  In response to 

this interest, the JCC has incorporated larger event space into its design and has built the revenue 

to be generated from this space into its operations budget.  The JCC can only offer this program 

and event space to the community if it generates sufficient revenue to operate the facility. 

Event Rental is part of the Boulder JCC program and a source of auxiliary income.   We are 

hopeful that our new building in Boulder will provide the broader Boulder community with a 

beautiful space to celebrate life cycle events. Perhaps we will see two to three of these events per 

month. This refers to large rental events with smaller rentals with fewer people occurring from 

time to time.  These events are likely to include weddings, Bar and Bat Mitzvah parties, and 

other gatherings of significance to our community.  

The Boulder JCC is designed in response to identified community need and demand.  The 

Community Hall is conceived as a flexible space capable of offering auditorium style seating for 

up to 330 people or for up to 250 people seated at tables. We anticipate rentals will comprise less 

than 5% of our overall operating budget and will occupy less than 4% of the operating time of 

the JCC.   

Please note that these types of events were contemplated in our Parking Management Plan, and 

should pose no issue in terms of parking capacity. 

 

                       Attachment G 
Applicant Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 152Packet Page     224



Agenda Item 5A     Page 153Packet Page     225



Agenda Item 5A     Page 154Packet Page     226



Agenda Item 5A     Page 155Packet Page     227



Agenda Item 5A     Page 156Packet Page     228



Agenda Item 5A     Page 157Packet Page     229



Agenda Item 5A     Page 158Packet Page     230



Agenda Item 5A     Page 159Packet Page     231



Agenda Item 5A     Page 160Packet Page     232



Agenda Item 5A     Page 161Packet Page     233



Agenda Item 5A     Page 162Packet Page     234



Agenda Item 5A     Page 163Packet Page     235



Agenda Item 5A     Page 164Packet Page     236



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: Jan. 21, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE 
Direction on Options to Secure Trash and Curbside Compost from Bears 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Driskell, Department of Community Planning & Sustainability (CP&S), Executive 
Director 
Susan Richstone, CP&S, Deputy Director 
Lesli Ellis, CP&S, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
Val Matheson, CP&S, Urban Wildlife Conservation Coordinator 
Mark Beckner, Police Department (PD), Police Chief  
Tom Trujillo, PD, Police Commander 
Jennifer Riley, PD, Code Enforcement Supervisor 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this agenda item is to get direction from City Council on options to secure trash 
and curbside compost from bears.  The direction will help staff prepare an ordinance for council 
consideration in March in anticipation of the spring of the 2014 bear season. 
 
The goal of securing trash and compost is to protect bears, improve human/wildlife co-existence 
and increase sanitation and cleanliness of the city. Bears that spend time eating human-generated 
food sources, including trash, get used to being around people, lose their natural fear of people 
and spend more time in town.  These habituated bears have a higher mortality rate than bears that 
live in natural areas.  Boulder bears are killed by cars and by wildlife officers tasked with 
managing wildlife for public safety.  In 2013 alone, three bears were killed by cars, and four 
bears were killed by Colorado Parks and Wildlife officers due to public safety concerns. Though 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 1Packet Page     237



 

black bears tend to avoid humans, the potential for interaction with community members is a 
threat to human safety.   
 
The most effective way to prevent bears from learning to live off trash is to secure it.  By 
developing effective strategies to secure trash and improving community awareness on how to 
co-exist with bears, the city and the community will increase the safety of residents while 
protecting local wildlife.  Options are being explored so that the city can improve the way trash 
is secured prior to the height of the 2014 bear season. Bears are active in town from 
approximately March 15 through Nov. 15; however, urban activity seems to peak from late July 
through October. 

 
Staff developed options based on: public input, lessons learned through Boulder programs and 
programs that have been implemented in other areas, and an evaluation of the feasibility of 
implementing a strategy in Boulder.  The options, which should be considered as a “menu” and 
not mutually exclusive, are grouped into three categories:  (1) designated location, (2) trash and 
compost storage requirements, and (3) enforcement.  Public, stakeholder and board feedback on 
options contributed to the staff recommendation.  Please see the Analysis section of the memo 
for additional information on the options. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that City Council consider an ordinance that would accomplish the following: 

 Require bear-resistant containers in Zone One (south of Wonderland Lake, west of 
Broadway and north of Greenbriar; see map in Attachment A for zone areas) and a city 
manager rule to allow expansion into additional areas as necessary; 

 Phased implementation within Zone One beginning first with alleys west of Broadway in 
spring of 2014; 

 Expand the liability for trash violations to include property owners; and 
 Establish a minimum fine of $250 for a first offense. 

In addition to the proposed ordinance changes, staff is recommending: 
 Establishing a fund to provide financial assistance for low-income household that will be 

required to obtain carts; and  
 Enhancing Code Enforcement staffing by adding two additional full-time positions (one 

officer and one administrative support).   
 
Staff is making these recommendations for the following reasons: 

 This series of recommendations reflects a more pro-active approach to trash storage 
requirements in areas that are easily accessible by bears than current ordinances. The 
combined recommendation will support the health and survival of bears, which is 
consistent with Boulder community values and feedback received during public 
engagement.   

 The focus on Zone One is most likely to succeed at reducing bear conflicts.  Bears are 
smart and adaptable creatures that will tolerate humans for easily accessible food.  If the 
city defines too limited an area for requiring secured trash (e.g., just to the western urban 
interface that has experienced high bear activity in recent years), bears are likely to shift 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 2Packet Page     238



 

the area of the city they frequent and therefore displace the conflicts to other properties 
that have not experienced conflicts in the past.  Securing trash and compost in this zone 
was supported by 79 percent of respondents who completed the Bears and Trash online 
survey and by most people who attended the December meeting.  

 Phased implementation of bear-resistant container requirements initiating with alleys 
west of Broadway in spring of 2014 will allow waste container retrofit securing devices 
to be further explored prior to investing in manufactured bear-resistant containers for all 
of Zone One. 

 The community comments have supported increased law enforcement of trash 
regulations.  

 Though the preliminary options drafted by staff allowed for trash and curbside compost 
to be put out in regular (non-bear resistant) containers and unsecure after 5:00 a.m. the 
morning of trash collection, having unsecured trash on streets and right-of-ways the 
morning of trash collection is considered a substantial attractant that would continue to 
attract bears.   A 5:00 a.m. cutoff is also more challenging and takes more staff resources 
to enforce. 

 The city aims to define a solution that disperses costs and benefits and does not 
disproportionally affect one area of the city, stakeholder group or organization. 
 

Additional rationale is presented in the Analysis section. 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
    Motion to direct staff to prepare an ordinance that would: 
 

(1) Require trash to be secured at all times in containers that are approved as wildlife 
resistant in the area defined as Zone One and providing the city manager with the 
authority to expand as necessary. This would be implemented in alleys in spring 
of 2014. 

(2) Make property owners responsible for obtaining wildlife resistant containers and 
establish a minimum fine amount of $250 for failure to do so. 

 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic:  Proper storage of trash and preventing trash from being strewn by animals 
supports the aesthetic character and economic vitality of Boulder.  The staff-
recommended options for securing trash will have some economic impact on the city and 
the community in western Boulder including landowners, renters and business 
responsible for trash service (trash hauling companies) and the city.  New costs include 
trash containers and increased fees for trash service.   

 Environmental: Securing trash and food waste has broad benefits to native wildlife and 
the community beyond bear protection.  A trash container that is initially knocked over 
by a bear is often visited by other animals, including rodents such as mice and rats.  
Unsecure trash allows many urban wildlife species that contribute to human-animal 
conflicts such as racoons, skunks, and coyotes to flourish, and their populations to 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 3Packet Page     239



 

increase.  City ordinances and policy encourage non-lethal control of wildlife, however 
inflated populations of certain urban tolerant species, particularly skunks and racoons, 
results in increased conflicts with people and pets.  The primary non-lethal way to 
mitigate conflicts with these animals is to remove food and potential shelter from areas 
that experience conflicts.   Securing trash and limiting urban food sources is consistent 
with best practices to minimize conflicts with wildlife.     

 Social: Though there have been no attacks on humans by black bears in the City of 
Boulder, the presence of these large predators in the urban area poses a safety threat to 
the community. Bear activity has been reported near areas where children congregate and 
along streets and alleys where children walk to school. In addition, bears that access trash 
often drag and spread household waste on streets, lawns and alleys, compromising basic 
neighborhood sanitation and aesthetics.  Euthanizing bears compromises our community 
value of living in harmony with our natural surroundings. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

 Fiscal: Increasing Code Enforcement (CE) staffing with two full-time permanent 
positions (one administrative and one officer) would require approximately $96,829.00 in 
2014. 

 Staff time:  Impacts to existing staff time would be minimal with the addition of new 
staff.  CE staff will prioritize enforcement efforts on trash regulations that support bear 
protection by having officers check for violations at each address in Bear Zone Two 
(High Bear Activity Area) twice per week during four months of the bear season, which 
extends from March 15 through Nov. 1. The addition of administrative support and an 
officer would allow CE officers to remain in the field making this type of proactive 
inspection process before and during peak bear activity while maintaining the same level 
of service to the community for other quality of life issues.  
 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
 
Environmental Advisory Board (EAB) 
On Dec. 4, 2013, staff requested feedback from the EAB on options to secure trash from bears.  
Three board members supported enforcement option C (offering people an alternative to a 
summons fine by allowing them to obtaining a bear resistant container instead of paying the 
fine).  One board member expressed the desire to see the city take action immediately.  One 
board member suggested using Western Disposal to impose fees for strewn trash and expressed 
concern for the potential costs and affecting change in too small an area, since the bears might 
shift their focus to other areas of the city.  (See Attachment B for draft of board meeting 
minutes.) 
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
Public input on options was gathered through: 
 

1. a public meeting on Dec. 9, 2013,  
2. an online survey of options, and  
3. email and the city’s website.   

 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 4Packet Page     240



 

As a result of this process, an additional trash storage option was included in the Analysis 
section, and has been incorporated into the staff recommendation, specifically extending the time 
waste containers are required to be secured from 5:00 a.m. the morning of pick up, to when the 
trash hauler empties the carts (supported by Colorado Parks and Wildlife, Boulder County 
Nature Association and some public comment).  See Attachment C for the options presented to 
the public in the online survey and the complete set of feedback received.  See Attachment D for 
the letter of support for the staff recommendation from Colorado Parks and Wildlife. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Urban Wildlife Management Plan  
On Oct.18, 2011, the City Council adopted the Bear and Mountain Lion component of the city’s 
Urban Wildlife Management Plan (UWMP) (available at www.boulderwildlifeplan.net).  The 
Bear and Mountain Lion component includes strategies to minimize human/wildlife conflicts and 
increase public awareness on how to better coexist with these animals. The plan objectives are as 
follows: 
 

1. Develop strategies to reduce bear attractants in the urban area. 
2. Increase public awareness of how to minimize conflicts with black bear and mountain 

lion. 
3. Identify costs and prioritize actions for plan implementation. 
4. Identify and clarify the role of the city in black bear and mountain lion management. 

 
Black Bear and Mountain Lion Component 
The Black Bear and Mountain Lion Component of the UWMP identifies an adaptive 
management approach to reducing the accessibility of trash to bears in Boulder.  The approach 
includes a three-year monitoring and evaluation cycle and involves the following three steps: 
 

Step 1: Monitor the issue and build community education and awareness (2012 & 2013)  
  On May 21, 2013, council was presented with an Information Packet (IP)   
  with the results of 2012 UWMP adaptive management implementation   
  efforts and plan for 2013 (IP available at: https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/  
  weblink8/0/doc/123034/Electronic.aspx) 

Step 2: Evaluate results and success (2014) 
Visit www.boulderwildlifeplan.net for the Black Bear Education and Enforcement 
Pilot Report for results of 2012 & 2013 UWMP implementation efforts 

Step 3: Make changes to approach based on evaluation results (2014) 
 
Based on the adaptive management approach, staff was planning to return to council during the 
second quarter of 2014 for direction on strategies to secure trash and compost from bears. 
However, in 2013, four bears were killed by Colorado Parks and Wildlife officers to protect 
public safety, and council and the community expressed the need to expedite a solution prior to 
the 2014 bear season (see Oct. 15, 2013, City Council agenda item titled: Status Report on Urban 
Wildlife Issues: https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/123877/Electronic.aspx) 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 5Packet Page     241



 

 
ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  
Staff developed and evaluated the following options based on public and stakeholder input, 
lessons learned through Boulder programs, and programs that have been implemented in other 
areas.  The overall strategy has three elements, and public and board feedback was requested for 
the three specific (but not mutually exclusive) components:  designated location; trash and 
compost storage requirements; and enforcement.  

 
Public input on policy options was gathered in an online, non-statistical survey (302 
respondents), during a public meeting on Dec. 9, 2013 (29 attendees), and through the city’s 
website. (See Attachment C). 
 
I. Location Options: Where do we want to change how trash and compost are stored? 
Bears have been observed throughout the city; however, their activity is concentrated in the 
western urban interface (see Attachment E for map of bear sightings 2009-2013).  A new 
approach to how trash is stored could cover a broad area that includes the section of the city most 
visited by bears over 10 years, a more targeted area that focuses on the highest concentration of 
bear activity in the past five years, or an area of the city where the method of trash storage is 
disturbed by bears most frequently.  Three zones are described below followed by the pros and 
cons of imposing new trash and compost regulations in each area (see Attachment A for zone 
areas).  Note: the sum of community survey results referenced in this section do not equal 100 
percent as respondents could choose more than one answer. 
 
a) Zone One: Broad Bear Activity Area (staff recommendation) 

This area includes residential and business trash and compost storage west of Broadway to 
the city limits, south of Wonderland Lake and north of Greenbriar.  This zone covers the 
largest area, and includes the area of the city that has experienced the majority of bear 
activity over the past 10 years. This zone is comprised of 12,436 residences and 1,001 
businesses.  There are an estimated 7,546 trash carts; 7,183 compost carts; and 584 trash 
dumpsters being serviced in this area. 

 Pros  
Securing a larger area would minimize the likelihood of shifting bear-trash 
conflicts to another area because bears are smart adaptable creatures that tolerate 
humans for easily accessible calories.  If the area or properties of secured trash at 
the western urban interface is too limited, bear conflicts may be displaced to other 
areas (north or south) or properties that have not experienced conflicts in the past.  
Seventy-nine (79) percent of the Bears and Trash online survey respondents agree 
or somewhat agree with this approach, as well as most people who attended the 
December public meeting. 

 Cons  
The greatest obstacle in developing bear-resistant trash storage thus far has been 
cost; however, estimated costs for acquiring or leasing trash containers are now 
lower than in the initial analysis  The larger an area affected by regulation change, 
the greater the financial impact.  In addition, there is less community support 
expressed for regulation change by residents that live in urban interfaces areas 
who have not experienced bear activity in recent years (i.e., south Boulder).   

Agenda Item 6A     Page 6Packet Page     242



 

b) Zone Two: High Bear Activity Area 
This zone covers a more limited area that has experienced the majority of bear activity over 
the past five years.  This zone is comprised of 6,906 residences, and 433 businesses.  There 
are an estimated 3,688 trash carts; 3,450 compost carts; and 408 trash dumpsters being 
serviced in this area. 

 Pros 
Requiring trash and compost to be secure in this more limited area would improve 
trash storage where bears are getting into trash most often.  Eighty-two percent of 
survey respondents agree or somewhat agree with securing trash and compost in 
this zone, a slightly higher percentage than the support for Zone One.   

 Cons  
Prior to the city maintaining a database of bear activity and conflicts with trash in 
2009, there was significant bear activity in southwest Boulder.  Though this area 
has not experienced significant bear activity in the past five years, the proximity 
of residential areas to natural areas makes it easily accessible by bears.  If trash 
and compost are secured in this limited area, and other residential areas close to 
the western urban interface are excluded, bear-trash conflicts may shift back to 
other areas that have not experienced conflicts in recent years. 
 

c) Zone Three: Alleys West of Broadway 
This area focuses on the method of trash storage that experiences the most visible trash 
disturbances by bears.  Alleys are currently exempt from the requirement to put trash out 
only on the morning of collection and waste containers are stored in and along alleys 24 
hours a day seven days a week.  Because of this storage allowance, there are continuous 
opportunities for bears to easily access trash.  The area is comprised of 6,486 residences and 
594 businesses.  There are an estimated 3,114 trash carts; 2,856 compost carts; and 458 trash 
dumpsters being serviced in this area. 

 Pros  
Securing trash and compost in this zone was supported by 83percent of the survey 
respondents, a slightly higher percentage than the support for Zone One or Two. 

 Cons  
Trash disturbances by bears are by no means limited to alleys.  There are many 
residences surrounding alley areas that experience bear-trash conflicts.  Similar to 
cons described in Zone Two, if trash and compost are secured in this limited area, 
and other residential areas close to the western urban interface are excluded, bear-
trash conflicts may shift to other areas. 

 
II. Storage Options: How do we want to effect change in the way trash and curbside 

compost are stored? 
Communal trash enclosures are the most effective trash securing strategies implemented by other 
Colorado communities (e.g., Town of Snowmass Village), but they may not be feasible for 
existing Boulder neighborhoods due to space limitations.  Bear-resistant containers, reinforced 
with sturdy materials and special latches, can be more widely used as they are similar to most 
trash and compost carts used in Boulder today, although they are not as effective as communal 
enclosures (see Attachment F for an analysis of trash securing systems and Boulder’s current 
practices). 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 7Packet Page     243



 

 
Two options for the use of bear-resistant containers were described in the public process for 
feedback (i.e., Options One and Two below) and an additional option was evaluated as a result 
of public feedback and new information from trash haulers (Option Three below). 
 
a) Storage Option One: Trash and compost must be secured in enclosures or bear-

resistant containers until 5 a.m. on collection day  
This model of trash storage would require trash and curbside compost storage to be secured 
“indoors”1 or in an approved bear resistant container until 5:00 a.m. the morning of pick-up.  
This means that if trash and compost are stored in a garage, shed, or trash enclosure, they 
would be set out after 5:00 a.m. the morning of trash collection (unsecured from bears only at 
that time).  Trash and compost containers that are stored outside during any or all other times 
must be in an approved bear resistant container.2   

 Pros 
Allowing residents to continue or establish using “indoor” storage of waste 
containers without imposing bear-resistant container requirements honors the 
many residents that may have established their own system of securing trash from 
bears 

 Cons  
This system allows all trash containers to be unsecure when put out for trash 
collection until picked up.  Making trash available to bears the morning of trash 
collection may result in bears shifting their presence in town the morning of trash 
collection when food waste is most easily accessible. 

 
b) Storage Option Two: Trash and compost stored in or near alleys must be secured in 

bear-resistant containers 
Currently in Boulder, trash, curbside compost and recycling are required to be stored in a 
way that is secured from animals, wind, or other elements; and containers must remain closed 
and not overflow. In addition, waste containers cannot be set out for collection prior to 5:00 
a.m. the morning of pick-up.  Additionally, alleys are exempt from the requirement of only 
putting waste containers out after 5:00 a.m. the morning of pick-up, and containers can be 
stored in the alley 24 hours a day, seven days a week.  This alley-based option would remove 
the current alley exemption and allow for waste containers to be stored in or near the alley 
only if approved bear resistant containers were used for trash and compost.  It would also 
allow waste containers to be unlatched, or unsecure if put out on the alley after 5:00 a.m. the 
morning of trash pick-up. 
 

                                                           
1 Definitions of Indoors: within a building, house, garage, shed or approved wildlife resistant enclosure.  Includes an 
enclosed structure consisting of four (4) sides and a roof. The sides of the structure must extend to the ground and 
the door cannot have more than a two-inch gap along the bottom. The door must have a latching device of sufficient 
design and strength to prevent access by wildlife. Ventilation openings shall be kept to a minimum and must be 
covered with a heavy gauge steel mesh or other material of sufficient strength to prevent access. 
 
2 Definition of approved bear resistant container: must meet the standards of testing by the Living With Wildlife 
Foundation and a “passing” rating by the Interagency Grizzly Bear Committee (IGBC) as bear resistant for 60 
minutes. 
 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 8Packet Page     244



 

 Pros  
This option gives residents choices because it allows them to pull trash carts off 
the alley when being stored or obtain a bear resistant container for storage on the 
alley.  Thus it will reduce costs to property owners who opt to not obtain bear 
resistant containers.  

 Cons  
This storage option does not address the entire area where bear-trash conflicts are 
a problem.  This option also may not be effective in securing trash, since 
unsecured carts pulled off the alley to adjacent private may be as easily accessible 
to bears as carts on the alley. 

 
Note:  Costs and resources needed to implement Storage Options One and Two cannot be 
accurately estimated, because they do not require any change for residents who are currently 
storing their trash and compost containers “indoors” (e.g., in a garage).  The city does not have a 
count for how many residents currently store trash containers outdoors, or who would continue 
to store trash outdoors if these options were implemented.  

c) NEW Storage Option Three: Trash and compost secured in bear-resistant containers 
 until emptied by trash hauler (staff recommendation) 

Storage Options One and Two both allow for trash and curbside compost to be unsecure 
when put out the morning of trash collection.  Having food waste accessible to bears for 
several hours on trash collection day may not deter bears from coming into town.  Rather, the 
bears might shift their activity to early mornings when unsecured trash has been put out for 
collection.  This new option would require that all trash and compost containers in designated 
areas be in approved bear-resistant carts and secured until trash collection.  Implementation 
of this option could also be phased in, starting with alleys.  This storage option is currently 
being implemented in Aspen. 

 Pros 
This option offers the greatest deterrent to bears and is the only option of storage 
that would be considered “Good” according to the Bear Smart Society rating 
system for waste management (see Attachment H).  The option is also least 
resource intensive to enforce because officers can patrol and issue citations during 
daytime hours (i.e., after 5:00 a.m.). This option addresses concerns raised during 
public discussion at the meeting and through email and telephone comments 
about having unsecured trash. 

 Cons  
This option would require the most resources, as all residents would be required 
to obtain two bear-resistant carts for both trash and curbside compost.  Residents 
who are managing their trash and food waste to prevent conflicts with bears have 
expressed concerns with being mandated to obtain bear resistant containers so 
they can be secured at all hours. 

 
Note:  Costs associated with this option can be more accurately estimated because all compost 
and waste containers in the designated area would be required to be bear-resistant (see estimated 
number of trash and compost carts being serviced in Location Options section). 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 9Packet Page     245



 

 
 
Additional Information about Costs Associated with Storage Options and Bear-Resistant 
Containers  
 
The City of Boulder regulates trash service requirements, but private companies provide trash 
hauling services.  Currently, the city has cost information for two different bear-resistant trash 
service scenarios offered in Boulder.  The two scenarios include containers provided (rented or 
sold) by trash hauler to customer (Western Disposal Services) and containers provided by the 
customer (currently), and exploring ways to provide containers in the future (One-Way).  See 
Attachment G for description of trash hauler estimated costs and impacts. 
 
Container Provided by Trash Hauler (Western Disposal)  
Western Disposal is the largest trash hauler serving the most customers in the areas affected. 
 
Western Disposal would provide residential customers with bear resistant containers as part of 
their contracted trash service for an additional monthly rental fee, or customers will be able to 
purchase and assume maintenance and replacement of carts.   As with their current service, 
customers would have a choice of 32, 64, and 96 gallon bear-resistant containers for trash and 
compost.  Potential monthly rental costs range from $0.19 to $4.75 per cart, and purchase price 
ranges from $53 to $260 per cart.  These estimates are for alley pickup.  Curbside pickup where 
the hauler would have to unlatch carts would include an additional $2 per cart, monthly. 
 
Western Disposal also would provide commercial customers with bear resistant dumpsters as 
part of their contracted trash service.  Customers would have a choice of a 2 or 3 cubic yard 
dumpster.  The additional monthly cost for each dumpster is $27 (this includes new bear-
resistant dumpster and labor to unlatch each unit per pick up).  The total cost is based on the 
estimated cost of buying new bear-resistant dumpsters. If Western Disposal is able to find a 
lower-cost alternative by retrofitting existing commercial dumpsters, it may lower the monthly 
container price accordingly.  

 
Container Provided by Customer (One-Way, Inc.) 
In this scenario, residential customers would purchase and maintain their own bear-resistant 
containers.  Once purchased, One-Way, Inc. would not charge additional monthly collection 
fees for bear-resistant containers.  There are many models of bear resistant containers available.  
Example costs are provided below for two types of bear resistant containers (from 
BearSaver.com). 

 
Black Bear Container 
A tough container offering a medium level of protection, including a bear-resistant latch 
and steel-reinforced side rails, back corners and lid.  
 
Grizzly Container 
A fully secured cart offering the maximum level of protection, including a bear-resistant 
latch and steel-reinforced side rails, lid, back corners, back stiffener, and handle area. 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 10Packet Page     246



 

 
Size (gallons)  Price for Grizzly*    Price for Black Bear* 
32   $161   - 
65   $222   $196 
95  $231   $207 
*Prices do not include shipping. 

 
One-Way would provide commercial customers with bear resistant dumpsters as part of their 
contracted trash service.  The company is currently evaluating costs associated with providing 
bear resistant dumpsters to customers, and that information is not yet available. 
 
III. Enforcement Options: How should enforcement of trash and compost storage 

regulations be enhanced? 
The Bear Education and Enforcement Pilot Program (BEEP) conducted in Boulder in 2012 and 
2013 showed education coupled with enforcement is an effective strategy to improve behavior 
regarding how trash is stored.  In 2014, the city is planning to enhance education and 
enforcement efforts.  First, education will focus more on student and rental properties where 
resident turnover is expected to be higher.  Second, the enforcement strategy will include 
patrolling every alley and street in Bear Zone Two, two times per week for four months of the 
bear season (i.e., March 15- Nov 1).  Enforcement of the trash ordinance could also be enhanced 
by two code enforcement staff (see Attachment I for how additional staff would support 
enforcement of trash ordinance).  In addition to these changes, there are three options for how 
enforcement effectiveness could be increased. Enforcement of either location or storage option 
above could include one or more of the following approaches: 
a) Add administrative service of summonses (staff recommendation) 
 Current code requires a person to secure trash, as set forth in § 6-3-5, B.R.C. 1981.   Section 

6-3-5 does not impose responsibility on property owners. Therefore, enforcement of the 
trash ordinance currently requires an officer to serve a summons for the observed infraction 
directly to the resident or land owner.  The limitations of this “direct serve” requirement is 
contact may not be made if residents are not home during contact attempts or residents do 
not come to the door when contact is being attempted.  Adding the option of an 
administrative service of a summons would allow the violation to be directed to the land 
owner even if direct contact could not be made.  

b) Increased fine amount from $100 to $250 for first offense (Currently implemented in 
Aspen and staff recommendation) 
Current code sets a maximum fine of $500 for a first offense.  The municipal court schedule 
for mailing in trash tickets currently identifies a fine amount of $100 for a first offense and 
$250 for a second offense.   This option would increase the fine amount for a first offense to 
$250. 

c) Fine alternative 
 In lieu of paying a fine for an offense (first offense if fine raised to $250, second offense if 

not raised), defendant can obtain an approved bear resistant container prior to court date 
(currently in Durango). 

 Pros  
Greater enforcement is effective in changing people’s habits in securing trash and 
complying with city rules, and some of the existing provisions (such as direct 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 11Packet Page     247



 

serve requirement) are barriers in allowing for effective enforcement.  Public 
feedback has been supportive of increased levels of patrol, citations, and to some 
degree increasing fines.   

 Cons  
Greater level of enforcement incurs costs to the city for additional processing and 
staff patrol time.  Additionally, some members of the public have expressed 
concerns over paying increased fines for violations.   

  
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Based on the analysis and feedback, staff is providing the following recommendations related to 
applicable location or zones, trash containers, and enforcement. 
 
Locations or Zones 
First, staff recommends imposing a requirement for securing trash from bears in Bear Zone One 
(west of Broadway) with a phased approach to implementation, requiring compliance with new 
regulations in Bear Zone Three (alleys west of Broadway) in spring of 2014. The ordinance 
would allow the city manager to expand the area as necessary to address changes in bear 
behavior.   
 
Staff recommends this focus on Zone One because bears are very adaptive animals, particularly 
when it comes to the search for food.  In the best case, the requirement for bear-resistant 
containers will go a long way to reducing bear feeding in the area initially designated.  One 
likely result is that the bears will move into other areas where trash is less secure.  Additionally, 
city manager authority allows for efficiently and quickly addressing changing conditions.  Such 
authority would be exercised pursuant to the city manager’s rulemaking authority, which 
requires consideration of public input before the city manger adopts a final rule.   
 
Staff recommends phasing implementation to begin with alleys west of Broadway in the spring 
because it is an area heavily impacted by bear activity, and currently the most cost effective area 
for bear-resistant cart requirements (no additional unlatching fee imposed on Western Customers 
for alley pickup).  It will also allow additional time for testing potential retrofit securing systems 
for containers currently in use, prior to implementing the requirement to a larger area of the city.  
Testing of bear-resistant products can only occur April through November.   
 
Storage Options 
Staff is recommending trash and curbside compost be secured in approved bear resistance 
containers until emptied by the trash hauler (Option Three).  The proposed ordinance would 
require that all trash containers in the designated area be secured at all times (not just until 5:00 
a.m.).  Dumpsters would also be required to be secured until emptied by the trash hauler.   
 
Staff also recommends establishing a fund to assist low income residents with acquiring or 
leasing trash containers to offset their costs.   

 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 12Packet Page     248



 

 
Enforcement 
Staff recommends that the requirement to use bear-resistant containers be extended to property 
owners to allow the violation to be directed to an owner even if direct contact cannot be made by 
an officer. 

Staff also recommends that the ordinance include a provision establishing a minimum fine of 
$250 for failure to use a bear-resistant container.   
 
NEXT STEPS 
Following direction from council in January, staff expects to craft a draft ordinance for council 
first reading in February or March 2014 and second reading in March of 2014.   
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

A: Maps for Location Options: Zones One, Two, and Three 
 
B: Draft Environmental Advisory Board Feedback from Dec. 4, 2013 
 
C: Public Feedback and Survey Results on Options for Securing Trash and Curbside  

  Compost 
 
D: Colorado Parks and Wildlife Letter of Support 
 
E: Map of Reported Bear Sightings 2009-2013 
 
F: Trash Storage Systems to Deter Bears and Boulder’s Current Practices 
 
G: Trash Hauler Costs Associated with Bear-Resistant Containers: Western Disposal  

  Services and One-Way Inc. 
 
H: Proposed Options Compared to Other Communities and Bear Smart Society’s  

  Rating System 
 
I: Code Enforcement Staffing Recommendation 
 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 13Packet Page     249



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 14Packet Page     250



Viele
Lake

Hayden
Lake

KOA
Lake

Wonderland
Lake

Br
oa

dw
ay

Valmont Rd

Jay Rd

Baseline Rd

Arapahoe Av

Pearl Py

Colorado Av
Le

hi
gh

 S
t

Balsam Av

Iris Av

Walnut St
19

th
 S

t

Moorhead Av

G
illa

sp
ie 

Dr

Mapleton Av
Pine St

Canyon Bv

Linden Av

Linden 
D

r

Independence Rd

9t
h 

S
t

US Hwy 36

Diag
on

al 
Hy

S
unshine 

Canyon Dr

S ta te 

Hwy 

1 19 1
7t

h 
S

t

Fo
ls

om 
St

30
th

 S
t

Fla gs
taff 

Rd

55
th

 S
t

28
th

 S
t

Table Mesa Dr

26
th

 S
t

57
th

 S
t

47
th

 S
t

Fo
ot

hi
lls

 P
y

Zone 1- majority of bear activity over the past 10 years

Zone 1
City Limits

Creek

Creek, Intermittent

Ditch

Major Lakes

Highway

Major Road

Minor Road
0 0.50.25 Miles

Attachment A - Maps for Location Options

Agenda Item 6A     Page 15Packet Page     251



Moorhead Av

Br
oa

dw
ay

Valmont Rd

Arapahoe Av6th 
St

Pearl St

Colorado Av

19
th

 S
t

Baseline Rd

College Av

Balsam Av

Spruce St

Iris Av

20th St

Walnut St

Edgewoo d Dr

Mapleton Av Pine St

Linden Av

Canyon Bv

Linden Dr

27
th 

W
y US Hwy 36

Diagonal Hy

State 

Hwy 119

Sunshine Canyon 
Dr

17
th

 S
t

Fo
ls

om 
St

30
th

 S
t

Flags
taf

f Rd

28
th

 S
t

26
th

 S
t

9t
h 

S
t

Zone 2 - High bear activity area past 5 years

Zone 2
City Limits

Creek

Creek, Intermittent

Ditch

Major Lakes

Highway

Major Road

Minor Road
0 0.50.25 Miles

Attachment A - Maps for Location Options

Agenda Item 6A     Page 16Packet Page     252



Br
oa

dw
ay

Valmont Rd

Arapahoe Av

17th 
St

Pearl St

Moorhead Av

19
th

 S
t

Baseline Rd

College Av

Balsam Av

Spruce St

20th St

6th 
St

Walnut St

Edgewood Dr

US 

Hwy 36

Mapleton Av Pine St

Canyon Bv

27
th 

W
y

Fols om 
St

28
th

 S
t

F la
gs

ta
ff 

Rd
9t

h 
S

t

Zone 3 - Alley Trash Pick-up

Zone 3
City Limits

Creek

Creek, Intermittent

Ditch

Major Lakes

Highway

Major Road

Minor Road

Attachment A - Maps for Location Options

Agenda Item 6A     Page 17Packet Page     253



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 18Packet Page     254



 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING SUMMARY 

 
NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION: Environmental Advisory Board 

 
DATE OF MEETING:  December 4, 2013 

 
NAME/TELEPHONE OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY: Juliet Bonnell, 
303-441-1931 
 
NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT: 
Environmental Advisory Board Members Present: Mara Abbott, Tim Hillman, Larissa Read, 
Stephen Morgan, and Morgan Lommele. 
 
Staff Members Present: Jonathan Koehn, Val Matheson, Juliet Bonnell 
 
  
1. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
Brenda Lee spoke on behalf of Boulder Bear Coalition regarding the issue of securing trash 
from black bears. She felt that change to the city’s current approach is necessary for the safety of 
both bears and residents. She suggested that the city take more action and enforcement measures 
in order to address this issue.  

2. DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

 
A. Analysis and Options to secure trash and curbside compost from black bears: Urban 

Wildlife Coordinator Val Matheson 
 

V. Matheson presented background information to the board on the Black Bear and Mountain 
Lion Component of the Urban Wildlife Management Plan which was adopted by council in 2011 
and identifies an adaptive management approach to reducing the accessibility of trash to bears in 
Boulder. The approach included returning to council in 2014 with feedback on the approaches 
that have been implemented over the years and additional options on how to secure trash from 
bears. 
 
She noted that this became a council priority due to four bears being killed over the past year. V. 
Matheson proposed three options to the EAB to secure trash and curbside compost and asked for 
the board’s feedback on location options, storage requirements and enforcement options. Based 
on results from public meetings, a public survey, and EAB feedback, staff will formulate 
recommendations on these options to present to council in January 2014.  
 
First, she discussed location options of where it is important to include in an ordinance to effect 
change in the way trash is being secured and managed. These options included the following 
locations: (a) a broad bear activity west of Broadway that includes 12,436 homes and 1,001 
businesses (b) a high bear activity area where the majority of bear activity has occurred over the 
past 5 years that includes 6,906 homes and 433 businesses or (c) alleys, where the method of 
trash storage experiences the most disturbances by bears and includes 6,496 homes and 594 
businesses.  

Attachment B 
Draft EAB Feedback from Dec. 4, 2013

Agenda Item 6A     Page 19Packet Page     255



 

 
Next, she discussed the two storage requirement options for securing trash which included: (a) a 
requirement for securing trash in enclosures or bear-resistant containers until 5 a.m. on collection 
day, or (b) requiring trash and compost stored in or near alleys to be secured in bear-resistant 
containers. The upfront cost of enclosures is high, but in the long run is very cost-effective. Bear-
resistant containers cost residents more than regular trash containers as does pick-up service for 
bear-resistant containers.  
 
Finally, the three enforcement options she proposed included: (a) adding an administrative 
service of summonses which allows a trash violation to be directed to a landlord even if direct 
contact cannot be made, (b) increasing fine amounts from $100 to $250 for first offense and (c) 
offering a summons fine alternative of obtaining a bear resistant container. 
 
V. Matheson asked for feedback from the board on the three option components to reduce the 
accessibility of trash and food waste to bears and whether the EAB would like to see staff 
explore any other options. 
 
 S. Morgan noted that trash in his neighborhood is always knocked over, but that he’s never seen 
a compost container knocked over. He felt that any storage requirement changes should cost less 
than $10/month more than current storage and service costs. He warned against only addressing 
this problem in one location and that this would simply shift the problem to other locations. He 
mentioned that enforcement by the city is somewhat lacking and suggested using Western for 
enforcement purposes by having them charge extra for strewn trash. 
 
L. Read felt that the problem locations where trash has been strewn by bears (not areas where 
bears have just been sighted) are the ones that should be focused on. She mentioned the need to 
take into consideration the different needs of the various populations affected by changes in 
requirements made and potentially using different approaches/requirements for different 
populations and areas. She suggested looking into the possibility of building trash enclosures for 
interested residents and she liked the idea of offering a summons fine alternative of obtaining a 
bear resistant container.  
 
T. Hillman agreed that building communal trash enclosures for interested residents should be 
pursued where allowed by code. He also liked the idea of allowing residents to 
purchase/subscribe for bear resistant containers instead of paying the fine associated with a trash 
ordinance summons.  
 
M. Lommele supported all of the options and noted that action is necessary. She felt that this is a 
problem that needs to be addressed immediately.  
 
S. Morgan suggested that in high density areas on the hill, redevelopment projects should be 
required to include communal trash enclosures.  
 
M. Abbott agreed that actions taken should be considered and appropriate to the various 
populations that are being served. She’d like for the expectations between landlords and tenants 
to be clear. She suggested that the city receive more clarity from Western about costs as soon as 
possible and prior to taking options out to the public. She also liked the idea of bear resistant 
containers instead of a fine or fee. 
 

Attachment B 
Draft EAB Feedback from Dec. 4, 2013

Agenda Item 6A     Page 20Packet Page     256



 
 

Public Comments and Feedback Received July 2013 – January 14, 2014 

Concerning Securing Trash and Bear Protection 

 

I. Public Comments  

o Summary of Public Comments    Page     2 

o Community Comments & Feedback (57 individuals)  

 Nov. 2013 – January 2014    Pages   4- 22 

 July- October 2013      Pages  23-51 

 PowerPoint Presentations & Draft Ordinance Pages  52-61 

 

II. Online Survey Results  

o Summary       Page    62 

o Survey was available at www.boulderwildlife plan.net  

from Nov. 22- Dec.23, 2013 

o 302 respondents      Pages  63-87 
 

III.  December 9, Public Meeting Feedback (29 attendees) 

o Electronic Poling Results     Pages  88-91 
o Notes From Meeting Discussion    Pages  92-94 
o Comment Forms from Dec. 9th Public Meeting   Pages  95-108 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 21Packet Page     257



 
 

I. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

Summary 

The following is a summary of the feedback provided in the survey, in emails, and at the meeting on Dec. 

9, by the majority of people provided the following comments: 

- A lot of sadness and anger expressed over the killed bears and desire to prevent further killings. 

- Need to take quick action to protect bears for the 2014 season, including requiring bear-

resistant containers and stepped-up enforcement. 

- Spilled trash is a long-standing problem in some parts of the city – it’s not just a problem for 

urban wildlife, it is also an aesthetic and sanitary issue. 

- One-size-fits-all approach to trash containers will not be beneficial or fair (e.g., be cognizant of 

people who have already taken measures to secure trash; allow different options for purchasing 

or leasing containers, retrofit containers, etc.) 

- Boulder people should share in responsibility and cost of coexisting with bears. 

- Concerns about solutions that might “shifting the problem” and the opportunistic nature of 

bears – they are likely to follow the path of least resistance to the trash (whether it be finding 

new locations for easy access or containers that are easy to get into).  

- College students and rental homes seem to be repeat offenders with spilled trash.  

- Concerns over the $10/month cost for trash container through Western and the fact that they 

do not offer a 32 gallon option. (Note:  Western has since offered a lower cost and 32 gallon 

alternative.) 

- Concerns expressed about putting unsecured containers out after 5:00 a.m..  Can there be 

flexibility to require latching during bear season, or different kinds of containers with automated 

latching/unlatching, etc.? 

- Some interest in changing Colorado State Park and Wildlife’s policies about euthanizing bears --

change to a “no kill” policy.  

- Suggestions for a higher fine for a second offense – use the first offense as a warning or learning 

opportunity.  

A few people expressed concern about the “heavy hand” of city government and preference for letting 

people address this problem through voluntary measures, sponsorships, or other creative means.  Some 

concerns expressed over enforcement – that enforcing existing policies is part of the solution.  And 

several people commented  about the  appearance of a monopoly trash hauler, especially after the city’s 

requirement for compost.  

Other ideas suggested: 

- Require future ADUs and residential units to provide adequate and secure places to store trash. 

- Require haulers to fine people for spilled trash.  

- Provide bear feeding areas west of town in the spring and fall. 

- Provide subsidies for low income or elderly – possible partnerships with non-profit organization.  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 22Packet Page     258



 

 
 

- Stop alley pickups.  Other people noted that the alley is the only viable option for some people. 

- Use a “Bear Whisperer.”  (e.g., Mammoth Lakes uses better enforcement and hired a year-round 

person to harass bears with noise and consult with the community.) 

- Increase neighborhood patrols and partnerships with city for notification and enforcement. 

- Involve kids and college students in educational campaigns and getting the word out. 

- Pilot a bear resistant enclosure somewhere west of Broadway.  (Note:  A local person is 

developing a shed product that could be tested.) 

  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 23Packet Page     259



 

 
 

I. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Community Comments and Feedback about Bears and Trash  
Part I:  (November 2013 – January 2014) 
 
 
Sent: Friday, November 01, 2013 11:25 AM 
To: Council;  
Subject: bears/trash 

Dear City council, 

 There has been  a bear wondering martin acres for the past several weeks, eating trash, bee 
hives etc and I expect before the weekend is out it will be another dead bear in Boulder.  We 
keep calling these creatures into our neighborhoods by our irresponsible behavior, then freak 
out and kill them.  When is City council going to require- since citizens won't be responsible on 
there own - bear locks on trash cans throughout Boulder.  It saddens me to no end to think this 
bear will be dead soon, or thinking about the cubs whose mother was killed that will slowly 
starve to death because of our neglect.  Please act before next fall, get this situation  taken care 
of.  WE say we are so responsible and love our open space- we need to love the animals of 
open space as well.   

Rosemary Hegarty                                     
 

***************************************************************** 
 
Sent: Friday, November 01, 2013 12:02 PM 
To: Council 
Subject: bear in Martin Acres 

I was heartbroken to hear that a bear returned to my street Martin Acres this morning, on trash 
day, no less... we're literally luring these guys into our yards. What are we going to do to stop 
this? How will City Council empower us to make changes? Upgrading our trash and compost 
bins to include bear locks seems like a great start.  

I've been horrified at the dumps I see around town, too, especially the big open ones next to 
dorms like the high-rise on 27th Way-- it's constantly overflowing, and bears aside, all it takes is 
a windy day to send much of it into the streams.  

It's time to make some changes. Time to walk the talk. 

Amy Marquis 

***************************************************************** 
 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 24Packet Page     260



 

 
 

From: Ellen Seagraves 
Date: November 3, 2013, 10:02:00 AM MST 
To:  
Cc: Ellen Seagraves  
Subject: Bears - trash issue 

Bears are opportunistic hunters.   
 
They use their nose to decide which way to go in search of food. 
 
Ammonia and pine smells deter bear. 
 
Solutions:  (utilize smells to deter animals) 
 
1.  Trash Crew Sprays trash cans with ammonia or pine scented spray after trash is dumped 
into truck.  Each trash truck would be equipped with a commercial type sprayer. 
 
2.   Geographic areas littered with trash (i.e. hill area) - trash pick up company employees a 
ground crew.  Area residences where crews work are accessed a fee and billed at an 
appropriate rate.  So, if ground crews spend an hour on your "block" on average per week billed 
at rate determined to pay for services rendered.  Other way to access billing would be by weight 
of garbage picked up in block area per week by crews.  This should encourage locals to pick up 
their area.  Have some pride - or pay. 
 
Kind Regards, 
Ellen Seagraves 
 
 

***************************************************************** 
 

 
From: Lynn Segal 
Sent: Monday, November 25, 2013 6:53 PM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject:   RE: [wildlifeplan] Securing trash to protect bears: community input  
needed on options 
 
Valerie,  could you explain how the following statement from your comments is a problem. 
 
 --" bears in Boulder that are a concern for public safety or show repeated nuisance behavior  
are killed".  
  
The problem asI see is it, is THAT they are being killed and I want to know why.  If the problem  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 25Packet Page     261



 
 

from your perception is the nuisance and the safety,  could you be VERY specific in describing  
exactly how so? 
 
I might inform you that as of the date my new neighbors moved in,  their FOUR barking dogs  
accost me every time I exit my house and THAT is a nuisance.  The fox family that holes up in 
the shed in that same residence,  the deer families,  the skunks,  the raccoons (which have 
been in the closet in my bedroom as well as the healthy live bird I found in there that my cats 
brought in, the mouse that has moved in since the cats were gone (it IS a nuisance)--  ALL 
those wild animals were no problem and generally beloved by me.  The Elk I never got to meet 
was not even a  safety problem when a neighbor with a dog rounded a blind corner right into it.  
As to the 4 barking domesticated dogs-- I am MENTALLY destabilized from even having a 
conversation with a plumber scoping my sewer system at a time I need to very carefully analyze 
all the complex dynamics of the sewer back up .  
 
 I was not physically hurt by the dogs and I would love to be able to get rid of them or insist that  
my neighbors bring them in their house to sequester the noise to their confines.  But since they  
aren't "wild"life , I can't do that and without repercussion from neighbors that are protected by  
being allowed to have barking dogs.  I can see why the bear was annoyed by a dog at the home 
of people where the last bear,  the mother,  was murdered.  I don't want to get explicit,  but  
suffice to say I think she showed a lot of reserve.  I  cannot be sympathetic to Roger Koenig,  
the  
owner of the house where the elk was killed when I heard there was some fear regarding the elk 
and his dog.  Roger needed to be talking to the neighbor that rounded the corner.  How can you 
effect better education and community unity so that some extremist reactionary approaches can 
be de-escalated?  I can't imagine that if Sam Carter came up to my house and warned me of a 
shot that he was going to "take down" an elk -- that I would not insist on seeing the specific 
injury he was taking down the animal for.  I don't think that Sam would have had the audacity to 
come up against me.  But maybe I would have been intimidated.  I seriously doubt it.  Probably 
Sam would have been running away screaming trying to get away from me,  because I don't 
accept intolerance or disrespect for sentient wild animals.  I am fierce when it comes to that.  
 
 I can appreciate my landscape architect neighbor who offered the elk, in an agreement 
between the two parties,  to take SOME but not ALL of the tulips in her project. 
 
I see the real enemy in Boulder is the fear, and not the actuality.  And I can tell you that the  
only thing I am afraid of is what I feel like doing when those dogs next door are interrupting my  
conversation and sensor scoping of my pipes in my yard with my plumber at $90/hr. 
 
Oh,  and I don't see the wildlife officers taking down deer because of the potential damage from 
cars running into them.  And I don't think there was a lawsuit from the driver when the bear that 
returned after being tranquilized was killed by his car.   Also my family didn't generate a lawsuit 
about  a bighorn sheep that we ran into on the hiway on the way up skiing 25 yrs ago.  And I felt 
pretty bad for the sheep.  I don't know what became of him.   I recommended we don't leave for 
skiing so early to my overly enthusiastic skier brother. 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 26Packet Page     262



 
 

 
Lately I heard from Alycia, a naturalist on the McClintock trail flood tour that the flood very much 
compounded problems for hyperphagia demands on berries from bear populations in Boulder. 
This kill policy needs to be changed.  It is adding insult to injury.  And if you are going to say it is 
not your responsibility but a policy you are complying with,   maybe you need to do something 
about that and set up these meetings with the authority that has those policies in place.  It would 
be unethical to do otherwise. 
 
I expect a thorough answer to my concerns and ALL specific questions answered. 
Thanks,   
Lynn 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
From: Thomas Fraser  
Sent: Sunday, December 01, 2013 7:49 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Bears in alley and garbage concerns 
 
I got your email from the hill neighbor list serve and wanted to give you my input on the bear  
situation so that you might provide it at the appropriate meetings.  I live at 907 11th Street and  
we see bears occasionally and garbage knocked over in  the alley frequently.  I would like a 
bear proof container but the cost from Western Disposal is prohibitive.  They want to charge 10$  
monthly which, when you consider the number of residents that they would collect this from in  
 perpetuity is a ridiculous sum of money and well beyond the cost of providing and servicing the 
containers.  I would be in favor of purchasing a bear proof container at a one time cost if the city 
would offset the cost to make the purchase affordable. 
 
With regard to storing cans in yards, sheds and garages,I unfortunately do not have the 
available space and with regard to keeping it in my yard my neighbor had his wood fence 
knocked down twice when he tried this. This option is not viable as I'd rather have spilled 
garbage than damaged fences and the result is the bears got the food anyways. 
  
I have created a system that has been successful; in preventing the bears from getting in my  
garbage.  My first attempt at bungy cord fastening the can to the fence was ineffectual but my  
next idea has not been foiled.  I drilled two small holes in the can and lid and twist a plastic  
coated wire through the holes and though it has been knocked over the bears have not 
accessed the garbage.  My neighbors, mostly college kids and disinterested adults don't seem 
to make any attempt to prevent the bears from getting into the garbage.  I think increased 
enforcement of current laws would be useful and allowing enforcement officers to fine owners, 
not just tenants after an initial warning even if they cannot make personal contact.  This goes for 
snow removal and yard garbage, untended yards and bushes as well!  
  
In summary, I would be open to purchasing a bear proof container at a reasonable and probably  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 27Packet Page     263



 
 

subsidized ONE-TIME fee, I think enforcement and fine of reasonable codes would improve  
conditions and storing garbage off alley is not a reasonable option for me. 
 
Thanks, Tom Fraser   
 

***************************************************************** 
 
From:  Bill Quinlan  
Sent:  Monday, December 02, 2013 9:03 PM 
To:  Matheson, Valerie 
Subject:  Securing trash to protect bears 
 
I disagree that ALL residents must be FORCED to pay for bear resistant containers or 
enclosures when those residents do not have a problem.  This is a lazy 'simple' one size fits all 
solution by unimaginative bureaucrats. 
 
The current level of enforcement is WAY too lax.  The City is not doing it's job well.  Now they  
want to just force every one to pay for containers that honest diligent responsible people DO  
NOT NEED.  The lazy wasteful people are causing the problem. MAKE THEM PAY !!!   If the  
city wants to pay for the containers then that's fine with me.  I don't need one.  I don't have a  
problem.  I don't waste food. 
 
I live across the alley from a multiple time offender.  Trash is strewn all over. I've reported the  
situation.  Nothing changes.  Now you want to make me pay for their laziness and stupidity.  
 This is unfair. 
--   
William Quinlan 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
From: Edward Arnold  
Sent: Tuesday, December 03, 2013 4:37 PM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: bears and trash 
 
Ms. Matheson, 
 
I've been watching the info published on the issue of bears in trash.  Just to let you know what I 
think: 
 
I wouldn't want to pay for bear-proof trash cans for ALL my trash (although I wouldn't have to 
because I live just outside city limits).  It just is NOT that hard for residents to keep food waste 
out of their trash!  That is what I do, and it works: 
 
Food waste goes into a compost bin kept in the garage. 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 28Packet Page     264



 
 

Recyclable/washable food containers are washed of residue and go to recycle bins in the 
garage. 
We don't use recyclable/non-washable food containers (e.g. pizza boxes) so that isn't an issue. 
Plastic food bags are washed of residue and goto a CHARM bin in the garage. 
Any non-recyclable food container which has residue on it, is washed before going in regular 
trash. 
 
When the portion of the waste stream I can't recycle goes out for the trashman, there is no odor.  
I have never had a bear go for my trash since I began separating food waste from trash, which 
is over 5 years. 
 
I would really like to see you lower the boom on foothills residents.   If Ecocycle is going to try to 
get businesses to recycle more, why can't we have trash/recycling requirements for 
foothills/near-foothills residents that require them to keep food out of their trash?  Laziness 
should not be an excuse! 
 
Edward R. Arnold 
 

***************************************************************** 
 

From: Ivo Sesnic   
Sent: Saturday, December 07, 2013 10:32 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Securing Trash to Protect Bears 

Dear Sir, 

I agree with your government in securing trash to protect bears! Do you have a brochure about 
securing trash to protect bears? 

Sincerely yours, 
Ivo Sesnic 
 

***************************************************************** 
 

From: Mary Rozaklis  
Sent: Saturday, December 07, 2013 10:50 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Securing Trash to Protect Bears 
 
Glad to participate in this program. Would prefer bear proof containers instead of inside storage 
because of odors in the summer.  We compost a lot so could get pretty smelly on warm days.  
 
A couple of further thoughts; our alley is a highway to the Mt Sanitas trail. It has taken years to 
get people to pick up dog poop and bag it. Unlike some of my neighbors I don't mind bagged 
poop in my trash can. If we eliminate accessible trash cans, I fear people will either stop picking 
up or leave poop bags in the ally. Realistically no one wants to hike or walk to coffee with a bag 
of poop in their hand.  I don't want the bags to end up in the recycling bin. Could there be one 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 29Packet Page     265



 

 

poop drop off bin every few blocks? I realize people are individually responsible for their dog but 
we need to be realistic.  
 
Another issue is the fruit trees in our ally. While people can pick up dropped fruit; we have seen 
bears sitting in a near by apple tree eating fruit that has not fallen. I have to admit we have 
enjoyed these late night sightings which seem harmless. We view the bears from indoors and 
don't interfere with them. I would urge the city to try to work with DOW to relax the standards on 
putting bears down. When you live in the mountain interface area of the city you should know 
that coyetes, bears, mountain lions, foxes, deer and raccoons will be in your "backyard" and 
take responsibility for your pets, bird feeders and trash.  
 
I feel we should not in any way encourage wild life to visit our alleys but I also feel strongly that 
when animals are eating their natural food like fruit and berries we should let them go their way 
with no penalty.  
 
Thank you for your efforts on this complex but important issue.  
Sincerely, Mary Rozaklis  
 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
 

From: Helen El Mallakh  
Sent: Sunday, December 08, 2013 8:49 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Response requested on Bear-resistant trash cans 

Dear Ms. Matheson 

I have been in contact with you before regarding the issue of mandatory bear-resistant trash 
cans and sent you a powerpoint presentation about our neighborhood's efforts.  

I was quiet dismayed to read your quotes in the Daily Camera article on "Can Prices Could 
Drop," on December 7, 2013.  I find it interesting that neither you nor Erica Meltzer (the author) 
is capable of figuring out the true cost of the bear-resistant trash cans is not merely the monthly 
pickup charge, but it is the outlay of $250+ per trash can.  Here is the reality, for my family to go 
over to the bear-resistant trash cans it would cost a little under $1,000 for the first year and $500 
each year after that. Please, get real when Western Disposal says it "could" reduce prices, it 
does not mean that it WILL reduce them. 

Furthermore, unlatching the trash can to reduce the costs of the $10 pick up fee DEFEATS THE 
ENTIRE PURPOSE.  Do you not understand that this would allow bears to get into the trash 
when it is put out on the street?  

If you and Erica Meltzer want more appropriate analogies than why don't you tell the Daily 
Camera who, in the case of Aspen and ever other mountain community requiring bear-proof 
trash can in Colorado, pays for them?  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 30Packet Page     266



 

 

Here is the reality, you have a lot of angry people in my neighborhood who pay extremely high 
taxes.  OUR NEIGHBORHOOD WAS NOT WELL SERVED BY THE CITY IN THE FLOOD.  
WE HAVE LARGE DEBRIS LEFTOVER FROM THE CITY THAT HAS STOOD FOR NEARLY 3 
MONTHS SINCE THE FLOOD, INCLUDING METAL GRATES ON PRIVATE PROPERTY.  
Now you want us to pay for this? 

Please stop your injurious policies to the people of this city.  IF THE CITY WANTS THIS - LET 
THE CITY PAY FOR IT. 

Helen El Mallakh 

 
***************************************************************** 

 
From: Robin Richmond  
Sent: Friday, December 06, 2013 5:07 PM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Cc: Brenda; Marilyn Johnson 
 

Hi Val, 

 We were glad to have had the opportunity to be involved in the Environmental Advisory Board 
meeting Wednesday (12/4/13). It was good to hear your answers to the board's questions and 
equally interesting to hear their comments and recommendations.  

 Given the member’s comments, we’d appreciate the answer to a few questions: 

 1. Do you intend to change the current options in the proposal you submit to the city council in 
January to reflect the board’s suggestions? 

 2. In addition to updating the community on the City’s progress regarding this issue, do you 
intend to you use the additional community feedback to make changes to your proposal?  

 3. Is the intent of your report to recommend specific actions to the council based on the 
feedback you have compiled? 

 4. If your report is not intended to recommend specific actions to the council, can you please 
clarify what is the specific purpose for this report? 

The following is a list of the EAB member’s recommendations:  

Necessary in order for the community to make decisions on the best options:  

 costs for customers leasing or purchasing bear-resistant cans 

 costs for increased enforcement 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 31Packet Page     267



 
 

 specific information on enforcement (# of violations written, # of summons and #of 
convictions to date)  

 reallocation of funds by the City Manager for enforcement is considered a major issue 
that must be understood and addressed in order to make a final decision 

 

Other comments and suggestions: 

 Member asked why Western Disposal does not offer 32g bear-resistant cans, as many 
people want the smaller size, and suggested the city require this an necessary option for 
Western Disposal customers. This would make environmental as well as financial sense 
for many of the residents of Boulder. 

 Due the lack of clarity on what has been done already, member suggested that the city 
needs to work harder on negotiating a reduced fee with the bear-resistant can 
manufacturer for the purchase of a large number of cans.  

 Require communal enclosures be built as part of any future property renovation on the 
Hill.  
  

 If the city cannot enforce the trash adequately, then the haulers should address it.   
 Western Disposal fee is too high, one member asked if they were "double-dipping" by 

charging an additional fee for the bear-proof container.  

 Low income and elderly should not be paying the same price as others for either leasing 
or purchasing a bear-resistant can and that this will need to be subsidized by the city or 
community.  

 The fact that some communities may want to share a communal enclosure (perhaps 
sharing the cost for construction) should be included as an option.  

 Solutions will likely be different for different populations (i.e. college students versus 
long-time home owners). This needs to be addressed in the menu of options.  

 Member statement: There has been too much talk about this and not enough action. 
Highly support the city addressing this issue with action. 
     

Thank you for doing this important work and we look forward to your response. 

 Sincerely, 

Robin Richmond  

Brenda Lee 

Marilyn Johnson  

 
***************************************************************** 

 
 
 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 32Packet Page     268



 

 
 

From: linda 
Sent: Monday, December 09, 2013 10:26 AM 
To: Council 
Subject: Bears and Trash 

Hello, 

I have been reading the Daily Camera about the Bear and Trash situation. 

I agree that something should be done to help curb the number of hazard bears in Boulder. 

I live at 2750 Vassar Drive in South Boulder, my home is near the East end of the street near 
Yale, a good distance from open space but still west of Broadway. 

My opinion is that first the city should start to enforce the 5 am placement of trash on the street 
prior to forcing citizens to purchase bear proof containers. I notice most of my neighbors put 
their trash out the night before. It is not that difficult to move the trash from the garage to the 
street in the morning.  

I am opposed to forcing all residents west of Broadway to purchase bear proof containers. Many 
live quite a distance from open space. Personally, there are only 2 persons living in my home 
and we usually only fill 1/3 of the smallest container. (we would sign up for even less trash 
volume if we could) Why should I be forced to purchase a larger size trash service when I don't 
even fully use what I purchase now just because people are too lazy to follow the existing city 
ordinance?   

One round of ticketing should do the trick. 

Thank you  for listening to my opinion. 

Linda Behlen 

  
***************************************************************** 

 
From: linda 
Sent: Monday, December 09, 2013 10:32 AM 
To: Council 
Subject: RE: Bears and Trash 

Here is a way that I could just retrofit my existing container. Why can't I just do this? I care about 
bears, not interested in paying more for trash service. 

http://www.dgif.virginia.gov/wildlife/bear/bear-resistant-retrofit-polycart.pdf 

  
***************************************************************** 

 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 33Packet Page     269

http://www.dgif.virginia.gov/wildlife/bear/bear-resistant-retrofit-polycart.pdf


 
 

From: Tom Dickson  
Sent: Monday, December 09, 2013 11:45 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Securing Trash to Protect Bears 

Valerie, 

I want to make you aware of a local solution to the "wildlife in residential trash bins" problem that 
is the subject of the public meeting tonight.  Unfortunately, I am out of town and won't be able to 
attend the meeting.  I hope to have one of my engineers attend in my place. 

Nature-Proof, LLC is a Boulder company that is currently developing and testing LidLock, which 
is a device that secures the lid on outdoor trash containers.  Lidlock will keep the trash secure 
from wildlife even when the container is pushed over.  And the beauty of LidLock is that it 
releases automatically when the container is picked up by the garbage truck on collection day. 
 So the homeowner can leave LidLock latched all the time and does not have to remember to 
release the latch the morning of collection day.  The truck driver also doesn’t have to get out to 
release the latch.  The container can be picked up and dumped in the same fashion as an 
unlatched container.  Although LidLock won’t let critters get in the trash, it is easy for a 
homeowner to release to put trash in. 

Also, when considering a requirement for wildlife-safe trash containers on a large-scale, LidLock 
is the most cost-effective solution because it does not require wholesale replacement of the 
containers.  LidLock is designed to be used with existing trash containers.   

You can see a short video of LidLock in action at www.nature-proof.com.  The version you will 
see is designed for coyotes and raccoons.  It also keeps the trash secure on windy days (like 
we had recently!), so we don’t have trash blowing all over town.   

Perhaps most important for what you are addressing tonight, Nature-Proof will be producing a 
bear-proof version in the near future. 

I hope you will check out the website and let me know what you think.  We can solve the wildlife 
in the trash problem and support a local Boulder start-up at the same time!  Also, could you 
please forward this email to people who are considering this issue or let me know who I should 
be contacting? 

Thanks so much and take care, 

Tom Dickson 

 
***************************************************************** 

 
 

 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 34Packet Page     270

http://www.nature-proof.com/


 
 

From: Nancy Wigington 
Sent: Monday, December 09, 2013 12:05 PM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Securing Trash to Protect Bears 

Hi Ms. Matheson, 
 
   I wanted to send you the same letter, with attachment, which I sent to City Council members 
just a few moments ago. I will not make the meeting tonight, but hope that my views are 
included in citizen feedback. I have been very concerned about our "bear problems" for a few 
years now, and am excited to see that it looks like some real progress is finally going to be 
made in making our local bears safer. Thanks for the work you're doing to help this process 
along. 

 
        Nancy Wigington 
 
 
                                                                                                                         December 8, 2013 
Dear City Council members, 
 
   I am writing to strongly encourage the City of Boulder to adopt stricter guidelines for trash 
cans and enforcement policies in relation to bear problems in town. It was very encouraging to 
read the article in the Daily Camera on 12/7, discussing options and showing that the city is 
finally ready to address this important issue, after four bear killings this year. Saving our local 
bears should be given a much higher priority than it has in the past. 
 
   I strongly support the idea of having bear-resistant trash cans mandatory for houses west of 
Broadway (either the larger version of 12,000 homes if that’s feasible; or at the very least, the 
6,900 homes in the “high bear activity” areas). The large majority of those households could 
easily handle the $3.75 extra price per month for bear-resistant cans that Western Disposal is 
quoted as saying would now be possible. If there are some households for which this extra cost 
would be a hardship, then one suggestion would be helping these families out through some of 
the enforcement fines -- a portion could be put aside for just this purpose. 
 
   It is also important that city rules about trash storage, and when it’s time to put out trash in 
these bear areas, be strictly enforced, with a special emphasis on alleys where much of the 
bear activity has taken place. I know from talking to friends who live on an alley near 
Chautauqua that trying to educate neighbors has not been effective in the past; fines will make 
a difference with residents who don’t feel much concern for how their behavior impacts, and 
sometimes kills, bears. 
 
   I wrote the letter below several months ago right after unknowingly witnessing the shooting of 
a yearling bear from a distance (the onlookers, including me, thought we were watching a 
relocation of a bear on the creek path, and were upset later to be told that the bear was in fact 
killed due to a prior home invasion). I decided not to send the letter, which I wrote at an 
emotional time, for awhile -- then the floods came, and city council elections. I was going to 
send it in early December anyway when I read the bear article. 
 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 35Packet Page     271



 

 

   I hope that my views (which also represent my family’s feelings) are taken into account, even 
though I don’t live in the impacted area. I would still strongly support the bear-resistant can 
requirements and enforcement fines if I lived west of Broadway.  
 
   Please taken action in the near future to ensure the safety of our bears next spring through 
fall, and in the years to come.  Thank you for your consideration. 
 
        Sincerely, 
 
        Nancy Wigington 
 
Letter by Nancy Wigington referenced in email: 

 
 Today I was part of a group hanging out in the Canyon Blvd. median (beyond the taped off 
section) watching what we thought was a rescue operation for a treed bear on the creek path 
just east of Eben Fine Park. All of us, including some small children, were excited to see the 
bear. After the bear fell out of the tree, we heard a couple of loud pops, which we assumed were 
additional tranquilizers. All the officials had done a good job of blocking visual access to the 
bear once it was on the ground, and kept us at a good distance. A Colorado Division of Wildlife 
officer took the time to come over and explain what had actually happened  -- instead of a 
rescue operation, we were unfortunately watching a yearling bear which was shot and killed 
after it fell out of the tree. She explained that it had walked into a couple houses earlier today, 
and because it was so used to humans, they felt there was a strong risk of it harming a human 
down the line, as it got older and bigger. I’m sure I wasn’t the only one in the assembled group 
who left feeling very sad, where we had earlier felt uplifted. 
 
The situation also makes me very angry, not at the officers who felt they had no choice, but at 
the city and citizens of Boulder who have not been diligent enough in preventing these sorts of 
senseless killings. Boulder spends money on all sorts of things, some of which I’ve found 
frivolous in the past, and we have certainly approved many taxes over the years to keep our 
open space open. We are a community that cares about its wildlife too, but we haven’t done 
enough to protect all of it, especially the bears. 
 
It has come before City Council before to buy bear-resistant trash containers for those 
neighborhoods frequented by bears (such as around Chautauqua, and towards the canyon, 
including Eben Fine Park, which bears seem to frequent the past few years). I realize that they 
are expensive, but this issue needs to be revisited and money found to implement this program 
in at least one or two of these neighborhoods to test out their effectiveness. We are way past 
the point of handing out flyers to neighbors asking them to not put out their trash until the 
morning that it is picked up. I have close friends who live near Chautauqua, and we have talked 
about how some of their neighbors totally ignore these requests. One neighbor even said that  
s/he didn’t care if their trash led to the death of a scavenging bear. 
 
Many residents care, and try to minimize the human impact on bears. Other residents in this 
town either don’t care, or are too lazy, to take any extra precautions to keep bears from 
becoming dependent on human food. 
 
Since these types of containers are expensive, what about the idea of establishing a special 
fund earmarked to help with this expense, that residents could contribute to? I bet a lot of 
money could be raised in this town to help minimize the number of bear deaths due to their 
increased familiarity with, and decreased fear of, humans. 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 36Packet Page     272



 
 

 
On a personal level, I don’t want myself or others (especially children) to have to watch the 
killing of bears in our town, which could be prevented (or at least decreased) by a more vigilant 
approach by the City itself and its residents. These beautiful animals deserve the added 
protections which we could most certainly provide if we care enough to make them a funding 
priority. Please give strong consideration to reviving these discussions. 
 
Thank you. 
 Nancy Wigington 
 

***************************************************************** 

 

From: Sharon Schilling  
Sent: Monday, December 09, 2013 11:59 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Securing Trash to Protect Bears 

Good Morning Val, 

Lets look at the facts and think outside the box for just a minute. 

Do the bears come into the city to enjoy the nightlife, culture and shopping?  Or do they come to 
marvel at the multimillion dollar homes and Boulder Elitism ?  Maybe just to annoy us? 

No, of course not, they come for food; for survival.  So let’s feed them.  What a novel idea. So 
let’s keep the bears in the hills.   

Let’s look at the obvious.  We punish the bears with death or faulty thinking relocation.  Try 
thinking like a bear for a while.  Let’s face it they’ll go home again despite the odds because that 
is what they know. Even if you drugged me, and relocated me, I’ll guarantee you, I too, would 
get back to boulder, because that’s home for me too. Why the effort, the energy for relocation 
and the animal suffering?  Why? Like humans, they’ll always go home again. 

I propose setting up bear feeding stations scattered throughout our foothills where bears are 
know to habit.  Nothing fancy, you understand, just the food please.  Wildlife officers can 

pick sites and rotate them or just random dumps, no dump trucks you understand, just waste 
from restaurants scattered here and there to prevent people from waiting with cameras or 
worst.  Sites of course not to be known to the public to protect the bears and human stupidity. 

Bears have acute sense of smell;  they like us are also opportunists.  Why would I drive 5 miles 
to get to a grocery store when I can walk to one around the corner? 

When food is limited, the animals must eat and they will go where they smell food.  They are 
trying to survive, instead We are killing them because they are hungry. Can you reconcile that? 
The bears come to survive, instead they come and we kill them. 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 37Packet Page     273



 
 

If you were a momma bear with hungry cubs, would you continue futile forging when you 
suddenly caught the scent of food?  No, you wouldn’t.  Can they think like a human 

and say to themselves, gosh if we go into boulder, we risk death, so we’d better keep scouring 
the hills in search of food? No, of course not.  They are going to go wherever they can including 
looking at the barrel of a gun in order to feed themselves and their young. 

Well let’s suppose you put up these expensive bear trash cans.  Be honest.  That just means 
the animals will have to go deeper into the city and you know we are loaded with restaurants, 
forget the neighborhoods.  Soon, it will be a requirement of everyone in the city to have a bear 
proof can simply because the bears must continue to search for food or die.  ARE the People 
who sell these cans, counting their profits yet?  As for me, a little smarter than bears, if one 
grocery store is closed, well I’ll simply keeping driving until I get to the next one which is open.  
Do you see my point?  Trash cans are futile.  Keep the bears out of the city, period.   

There can be little argument, that when food is plentiful, we don’t see the bears.  The facts show 
that. They don’t want human contact and don’t need it.  When, food is scarce, however, they 
must, unknowingly put their lives in danger by getting food wherever they can.   

Boulder prides itself on being innovative.  Lets try it.  Forget trash cans, though tidy 
homeowners, renters, would be encouraged; forget fines and all the associated red tape and 
court hearings.  Set up feeding areas and you’ll see bears no more. 

Ah, you argue, that will encourage more bears into the area and more births.  Maybe, but the 
population tends to stabilize itself, nature does that for them.  And maybe like the homeless, 
having more facilities available, invites more homeless to come to Boulder.  Maybe so, but 
Boulder people have the money, the intelligence and the savvy to make it work. 

Ah, you argue, it puts the public at risk when wandering college kids and the like try to harass 
the bears or worse.  Maybe, but rotating the sites would cut those chances down 

and periodically advancing new sites would leave more to chance encounters than by intent.  
Good distances from trails and areas least likely to invite human hikers exploration.   

You know the foothills, think about it.    

Try it for a couple of years.  Put it on a pilot program, get through the red tape.  Heck, if it is 
successful, and I guarantee it will be, a carefully thought out plan, could turn to a money maker 
of sorts, opening a few areas with appropriate viewing areas for feeding, camera clicking and 
educational classes for our young, native and visitors alike.  Something like 

the Wildlife Sanctuary out east, you know.  Let’s all live in peace and enjoy ALL that God has so 
abundantly given us.  

Please, present the ideas and give me feedback.  I’m sure others can even expand on the idea 
if they think about it or to the contrary, offer arguments of their own.  Think about it 

what do we really want to accomplish?  Keeping bears in the foothills or policing the citizens? 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 38Packet Page     274



 

 
 

Really,  respectfully submitted.   

Sharon A. Schilling 

  
***************************************************************** 

 
From: Dorothy Riddle  
Date: December 9, 2013, 2:20:27 PM MST 
To:   
Subject: Bears and Trash 

With regard to the problem of keeping bears from trash bins, please consider a plan that allows 
residents to choose from a variety of haulers.  Specifically, please do not force all of us to deal 
with Western.  I prefer to own my trash bins and I would appreciate it if the City could assist 
residents in the purchase of bear resistant bins at an affordable cost.   

Dorothy Riddle 

 
***************************************************************** 

 
 
From: William Howard  
Sent: Tuesday, December 10, 2013 8:16 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Cc: 7/18/2009 WIFE 
Subject: Securing Trash to Protect Bears 
 
After spending over 500,000.00$ a number of years back (as you recall it was the lead above 
the fold front page) to help prairie dogs,it would be unconscionable not to have a major 
investment to save our bears 
 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
From: Robert Dullien  
Sent: Tuesday, December 10, 2013 9:32 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Securing Trash to Protect Bears 

Shocked to read about bear-proof mandate proposal. We live in South Boulder and put trash out 
just in time for pickup. Please do not burden us with yet another nanny-state intrusion into our 
lives. We have never had any problem with bears. Raccoons just once - and we learned fast 
how to avoid their getting into our trash. Do not underestimate the intelligence of Boulderites. 
Government is not supposed to control everything.  

Best regards, Rob Dullien 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 39Packet Page     275



 
 

 
***************************************************************** 

 
From: Philips - DNR, Jim  
Sent: Tuesday, December 10, 2013 9:43 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: bear trash deal 

Morning Val - talk about blurred, couldn't think of anything more original to title the subject than 
"a deal" - have to deal with Boulder people and their "dealing" with bears.   

Very good job last nite - as the lady said you handled it quite well and have reason to feel you 
"did good"! 

 As I digest some of this I'll try to write some comments on the options.  I do feel that I may write 
a piece to Open Forum with my opinions even though I'm not a Boulder resident and have no 
real say in what City Council should or shouldn't approve.  

Again job well done under the circumstances.  
--  
Jim Philips 

Administrative Assistant 

Hunter Outreach 

Colorado Parks and Wildlife 

 
***************************************************************** 

 
From: Stan Brown 
Date: December 10, 2013, 12:50:10 PM MST 
To:   
Subject: Bear Issue 

We have filled out the survey but we wish to make clear to the council our strongly held opinion 
on this matter. 

 1) Enforcement at least in our south Boulder area west of Broadway has been terrible.  We see 
no reason police or other city employees are not enforcing the rule about homeowners putting 
out trash/compost containers until 5 AM.  We frequently see containers out early the night 
before pickup. 

 2) Enforcement officers need not hand a summons to the homeowner - can't imagine why such 
a rule was put in place and we suggest you change it BEFORE doing more on this matter. 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 40Packet Page     276



 

 

3) It is totally unfair to those of us who keep our containers in a locked garage until 7 or 8 AM on 
the day of collection to have to pay more for either rental of bear resistant containers or to buy 
such containers ourselves.  Only those who do not store their containers inside or in an 
enclosure should pay for the containers.  An additional fee of close to $90/year may not seem 
like much to some of you but it is to us as senior citizens of Boulder. 

 Stanley and Pamela Brown 

 
***************************************************************** 

 
From: Bev  
Sent: Friday, December 13, 2013 8:48 AM 
To: Council; plandevelop 
Subject: Overbuilding and Bears 

I'm writing in support of requiring to rent or purchase bear proof containers.  

Also allowing more ADUs ...ie: garages turned into bedrooms or alley houses adds more trash 
per household.  

My suggestion is to require landlords to provide adequate and secure places to store trash.   
Or certainly require any new ADU requests to have secured and adequate trash storage for 4 
adult renters, etc.  

  Thank you, Bev Pogreba 
 

 
***************************************************************** 

 
 
From: Sharon Schilling  
Sent: Monday, January 06, 2014 10:29 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: RE: Securing Trash to Protect Bears 

Happy New Year Val! 
  
Thanks for the article.  I had just been thinking, I hadn't heard from you and there you were.  
Wow, I thought, pretty impressive. 
  
Still one thing I noticed missing in comments about feeding the bears is the fact that 
the feeding implies feeding year round. There is no mention as to pre and  post hibernation, just 
that feeding the bears is not recommended and for some of the reasons you and I already 
discussed.  I sense too, that you have your own opinion on the subject and perhaps I wasn't 
very clear on what I was proposing.   
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 41Packet Page     277



 

 
 

I am proposing pre and post hibernation feeding periods; a few weeks before hibernation to 
"give them something to sleep on," and post hibernation a week or so when they wake from 
hibernation to give them a start.  Seems simple enough because as I understand it, those are 
the periods of time that we see the most frequency of bears in town.   
  
I'd like my suggestions with input from my previous email included, forwarded on to council...... 
or would you suggest in order to be heard, that I contact each council member directly? 
  
That we would outright kill a mother bear and her two cubs because she is hungry and doing the 
best job she can to care for her cubs is a blatant reflection of the depth of our incompetence and 
intolerance of all that is nature. We violate Mother Earth.  We are not doing our job to protect 
what we are given.  While there is guardianship ad nauseam for dogs, where is our stewardship 
for wildlife?  
  
Thanks  Val, 
  
Sharon 
 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 42Packet Page     278



 

 

I. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Part II July – October 2013 
From: Julianne McCabe 
Sent: Monday, July 29, 2013 9:07 AM 
To: Council  
Subject: bears in alley 

 Hello.  Today there 3 cans over in our alley, 500 block of Arapahoe (9 AM Monday).  I spoke to 
Western and they said to call code enforcement (3 - 441 3333).  I did and understand an officer 
will be out when available. I was confused when I spoke w/ Western, thinking today Tues (not 
Monday) because there are always cans down on Tues AM, trash pickup day.  Since it is 
Monday, if code enforcement comes soon, it will find these cans/trash and can issue tickets. 

 We have had bears in our alley all summer.  I don't think Western should clean up after these 
people and if they do they should charge them a hefty fee for this "cleanup".  Now that I know 
the code enforcement no., I will use it.  Everyone in the alley knows the situation, some people 
comply, others don't.  There have been bears in our alley since I lived here (1976) but lately it 
seems they come earlier (June this year.) and stay later (Oct./Nov/). 

 I am not sure what the neighborhood bear liaison person does.  It seems to me I should have 
known to call the 3-441-3333 code enforcement agency, but didn't.  It also seems to me in 
areas of the city where the issue is hot, the city should post signs warning of code violations and 
fines.  (Not expensive signs, temporary plastic ones.) Last, I don't understand why people don't 
get the difference between recycling and garbage.  I understand the bear proof cans are in back 
ordered and expensive.  Nonetheless, given the risk to bears, the burden should be on the 
owner, with the help of the bear liaison person, to not be a repeat offense.  There are many 
things reasonable people do to avoid the situation, photo below.   

 Thanks, Julie McCabe 

***************************************************************** 
 
From: Johannah Franke 
Sent: Wednesday, September 04, 2013 5:30 PM 
To: Matheson, Valerie; Kristin Cannon 
Subject:  Bears 
 
Although we, on Norwood Ave. in North Boulder have never yet had our garbage  
bothered by animals,  it seems time for all of Boulder to move to bear proof  
cans in spite of cost.   
Thanks, 
Johannah and Lehn Franke 
 

***************************************************************** 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 43Packet Page     279



 

 

 
-----Original Message-----  
From: Elizabeth Garfield  
To: council  
Sent: Tue, Sep 10, 2013 11:28 am  
Subject: Bears 
 
I am writing to urge our city council to mandate bear-proof cans, step up enforcement of 
trash/littering in  
alleys, and increase fines for non-compliance.  It is outrageous that bears are being shot and 
killed within  
our city because they are just being bears.  Below is a draft of a letter I submitted to the Daily 
Camera.   
Although it was not printed, it was echoed by another letter that appeared in the paper today. 
  
Another bear is killed in Boulder. His crime? Choosing a tree near a school for a nap and  
not leaving soon enough. Look, people aren't going to willingly secure their trash. Bears  
aren't going to stop eating. So is the plan to just kill all the bears?  
I'm not so sure how bears differ from the "beloved" Mapleton elk, except that we've been  
taught to fear the bear. Consider the fact that bear attacks are extremely rare. Do you know  
anyone who was ever hurt by a bear? Probably not. How about bitten by a dog? Probably  
so. In fact, you're more likely to be killed by dogs, bees, or lightning than a bear. (Source:  
www.bear.org <http://www.bear.org/> )   
Bear behavior is all too often misinterpreted. Sometimes they charge. It's just called bluster.  
It's a warning that they are frightened and want you to go away. But we don't. We kill them  
instead. We misinterpret their behavior and they suffer as a result. 
  
Around Ely, MN , where the Wildlife Research Institute researchers do their work, people have  
been  coexisting peacefully with bears for decades. No one has been attacked. 
Bears who lose their fear of people aren't more likely to attack those people, they  
are just more likely to ignore them and go about their bear business.  
Check out the website above. Learn about how we can coexist with our bear  
neighbors. 
  
Can't we, as Boulderites, try a different response to bears, and co-exist with them rather than  
killing them? We flock to Estes Park to listen to elk bugle. The rare moose is seen as a novelty  
and we take pictures. Both are dangerous, but we aren't afraid. But we've been taught to fear  
bears. On the one hand they are cute little cuddly teddy bears, but on the other they are often  
pictured standing, snarling with teeth bared ready to attack. Neither image is true. They are  
magnificent creatures we should learn to avoid -- just like they naturally avoid us. Please, let's 
be  
a little more forward thinking on this. I look to the City Council to take leadership on this issue 
and  
let the bears live! 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 44Packet Page     280



 
 

  
Sincerely, 
 Elizabeth Garfield 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
From: john cooper 
Sent: Tuesday, September 10, 2013 1:23 PM 
To: Brautigam, Jane 
Subject: Trash and Bears 

Hello, 

would it be possible to get Western Disposal trash collectors to report homeowners who fail to 
secure their trash containers against bear attacks? 

John Cooper 
Professor Emeritus, University of Colorado 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Alex Barber 
Sent: Tuesday, September 10, 2013 9:35 AM 
To: Council 
Subject: Bears 
 
To the members of Boulder City Council: 
 
It is time for immediate action to be taken by your members to do something about the on-going 
bear tragedies caused by inappropriate and irresponsible trash disposal by residents in Boulder. 
It is shameful and cruel and why are you waiting for study results when the evidence is in front 
of you? Mandatory trash disposal regulations must be implemented immediately. 
No one should be allowed to leave trash out except on trash day. Mandatory bear proof 
containers should be required in the most difficult areas. I live in the county foothills. We will be 
paying extra money to insurance companies as a result of living in the "fire prone area" these 
people can surely pay to protect wildlife for the areas that they have chosen to live in. 
I do not see much difference between fire mitigation and bear mitigation. I would gladly pay for a 
bear proof garbage can if they were available to us in the foothills if it meant saving the life of a 
magnificent bear. 
Please give this issue your immediate attention. It seems like the solution is very simple. 
 
Thank you 
Sincerely 
Marcia Barber 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 45Packet Page     281



 
 

 
On 9/19/13 1:03 PM, Scott Gibbons wrote: 
David,  

I am glad your dog survived. There was a small dog killed by a bear in it's yard near us  this 
summer as it went after a bear.  

I have given this a lot of thought the last couple of weeks, and have been cleaning up neighbor's 
dumped cans (again). I have visited the neighbors myself, and reported them to Code 
Enforcement (among others) more than once. 

I toured alleys last night. Many cans dumped, none emptied that are bear-proof.  

This problem will not be solved voluntarily. Trash must either be kept in a secure enclosure (I 
keep mine behind a seven foot enclosed area and have never had a problem), in a garage, or in 
a bear-proof container. And this is what the law needs to state. Then neighbors won't have 
to continually call Code Enforcement. Either the can is bear-proof or it is not out in the alley until 
the morning of collection. This gives an alternative for those without an enclosure or 
garage...they get a bear-proof container. Yes it costs them more but that is each residences 
problem. There is no basic right to keep your trash in a public right-of-way. 

I will be speaking with council members personally about this. Time to do something. 

Scott  

p.s. As my neighbor and I looked at a can across the alley, dumped for the nth time 

he spoke the oft-repeated quote: "Insanity is repeating the same mistakes and expecting 
different results" 

Scott Gibbons 
University Hill Executive Committee Chair 
"A Voice for Respectful Living" 
 

***************************************************************** 
 

From: On Behalf Of Philip Higgs 
Sent: Thursday, September 19, 2013 12:43 PM 
To:  
Cc: UHNA EC; Hill Neighbors 
Subject: Re: [hillneighbors] Bear encounter 9/18 - trash container regulation urgently 
needed 

  Seconded by Philip Higgs, 750 17th st , who just called Code Enforcement for perhaps the fifth 
time in as many weeks due to almost every garbage can in our alley being knocked over by 
bears.  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 46Packet Page     282



 
 

 Incidentally, our student neighbors have a hard time closing the lids on their cans -- or even 
getting the garbage *into* the can -- and rarely clean up the damage. And I doubt they're 
suffering any ill effects from 

City or landlords, since it keeps happening every week.  
 

***************************************************************** 
 

On 9/19/13 1:49 PM, Sarabeth Mitton wrote: 

 As we look at bear proof options, please note: 
Those of us with only 32 gallon service cannot get bear proof cans. They don't make them. We 
neither have the need, the space or the funds to upgrade service to that level. Many of us also 
have no inside storage. I will say this though. If your cans are well secured and not directly on 
the alley (ours are tucked behind our tiny lawnmower shed, out of sight from the alley with a 
multiple criss cross tight bungee system) they will not be taken by the bears. At least our never 
have since we moved them off the alley 8 years ago. 
 
And the bears are rampant nightly on our alley. Raccoons and skunks too! Some of the places I 
find the neighbors trash remnants in my yard are not accessible by a large animal. Perhaps we 
should only consider making this mandatory for rental properties since they all have large can 
service and are 99.99% of the problem on my alley. It could be a simple addition to rental 
licensing requirements. 
 
SARA MITTON 

***************************************************************** 
 

From: "City Properties Group, LLC" 
Date: September 9, 2013, 4:50:56 PM MDT 
To: Val Matheson 
Subject: Bears 

Hi Val. Listen I have emailed KC Becker about this before. KC emailed us today to inform us 
about the pilot program for bear trash containers. It is ironic that a few weeks ago she sent 
everyone on this listserve an email that was highly threatening, saying if people didn’t just stop 
leaving their trash in the standard bins, Boulder would fine us or regulate that we get new 
containers. I can’t stand this kind of governmental heavy hand! Boulder is so good at it too! I 
immediately wrote to her and asked her to stop sending these threatening emails and to 
consider that we just happen to be a city nestled into the foothills of a great mountain range, and 
bears like lions, squirrels, fox, elk, deer, raccoons and snakes live with us too! It’s our choice to 
live where we do! 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 47Packet Page     283



 
 

 In today’s email she acknowledged that the trash containers might not solve the problem 
because guess what? It’s complex! It didn’t solve Aspen’s problem. 

 Please don’t use this as another way to impose more rules and regulations on us and a means 
to create a new revenue stream by extracting fines from us if we don’t comply. If you do this, 
you will also have to fine people for having dogs and cats and even small children in their yards 
in the neighborhoods at the foothill because guess what? LIONS EAT THEM DAILY! Lions are 
much more of a threat to humans than bears are, yet we’re not talking about that.  

 Let this City be a live-where-you-want-at-your-own-risk. But PLEASE don’t tell people what kind 
of trash containers we must have, make us buy them and fine us if we don’t. Optional 
participation is fine but the facts prevail- it doesn’t solve the problem. The problem is we live 
where we do and other sentient beings live here too.  

 What I would like to see is a humane NO KILL policy adopted by the City. Relocate these 
animals as many times as necessary, but stop killing them! Good grief. 

 Janine Kotre 

CITY PROPERTIES GROUP, LLC 
 

***************************************************************** 
 

On Sep 19, 2013, at 12:32 PM, David Raduziner wrote: 

Boulder City Council members: 
 
Yesterday was very difficult for me and my family at 765 14th St 
(between Baseline and Cascade). Our 28 lb wheaton terrier charged the 
well known bear sow with two cubs in our yard at about noon. The sow 
ripped off her collar and put a claw into her torso. She's ok but still  
quite agitated, and perhaps the emotional damage will be lasting. But this 
issue is not about our dog. The issue is that our residents are feeding 
the bears with their trash and this is endangering the bears. Those of us 
in bear prone areas of the city MUST use bear proof containers for trash 
cans maintained outdoors. And the only way to make this happen is to 
enact strict bear proof container laws. 
 
The presence of bears in our University Hill neighborhood has increased 
dramatically over the last ten years. For many years there were 
occasional incidences of trash cans overturned in the alleys. Then more 
regular occurrences began about 5 years ago. Then three years ago bears 
began visiting our front yard, evidenced by several large piles of scat 
over the course of the summer. Last summer they began entering our 6' to 7' 
high fenced back yard again leaving evidence of scat several times. 
This summer they were regularly present and sleeping in our yard during 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 48Packet Page     284



 
 

the daytime. The trash cans in our alley have been overturned almost 
every single night since the beginning of July this year. 
 
Two years ago we finally signed up for a bear proof container from 
Western Disposal. We have not had a single incident of trash rummaging 
by bears since. They've tried to get in - claw and teeth marks prove it 
- but they have never been successful. The containers work. The $10 
per month fee is well worth it, even just to eliminate constant clean up. 
 
But only two of the residents along our alley have these containers. 
All other containers are overturned virtually every night. While we 
don't have to clean up our own spilled trash anymore, the issue is much 
more serious than that. Because trash is so readily available as a food 
source, the bears cannot help themselves but to eat it. And now they 
don't even bother going home back to the mountains - they live in the 
neighborhood full time. This presents a serious safety threat to our 
pets - and to our children. My middle school kids could have easily 
come home from school, walked in our front gate and surprised the 
slumbering sow, activated her protective instincts leading her to maul 
them. Is that what it is going to take for the city to take action on 
this matter? 
 
The bears stayed in our yard for the day, eventually napping about 40 
feet up in a very large ponderosa pine tree right next to 14th St. 
These bears have spent many days on our property and we have not called 
the Department of Wildlife previously as we knew they would likely 
euthanize the sow and the cubs future would be uncertain. I thought long 
and hard about it and then ultimately came to the conclusion that the bear 
had to go - a very difficult decision, killing a bear. The bear must be 
euthanized because she has adapted to her new trash rich alley lifestyle 
and she is training her cubs to perpetuate it. It is not her fault, it 
is our community's fault because we have failed to protect her from 
being attracted to our neighborhood. 
 
I called Wildlife and they came out about 6:00 PM. But for the fact 
that it was getting dark rapidly, the bears had climbed so high in the 
tree and officer John was not able to secure enough additional officers 
due to the heavy load from flood issues, they would have taken out the 
bear and then relocated the cubs. Office John and I agreed to leave them 
be but it is absolutely clear that the clock is ticking, with officials  
waiting 
for the optimal time to dart the bears. Officer John is very disappointed 
that it has come to this - euthanizing wild animals is the final option 
wildlife officers wish to take but they understand that it has come to this. 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 49Packet Page     285



 

 

 
When it began to get dark, the bears made their way down the tree 
and ambled across our yard. They climbed over the alley wall and fence 
in the usual way and started their regular evening routine. This 
morning our alley was strewn with trash and several piles of bear scat 
as a signature. 
 
It is time for city council to take action - map out bear prone areas 
and require all residents to use bear proof containers or secure trash 
cans indoors until morning pick-ups. Please put this on the agenda for 
2014. Let's not place another resident in the position of having to decide 
whether or not a bear should live or die. 
 
Best, 
David Raduziner 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
On 9/19/13 12:51 PM, Mark Gelband wrote: 
All - 
 More punitive code, requirements and expense have rarely, if ever, solved a problem in this 
community. Seems we could start with the same rules for alley trash cans that apply to those of 
us without alleys – that cans be not placed in the alley prior to 5 a.m. on the day of collection.  

 As with so many issues in the city, we already have rules being largely ignored and code 
enforcement that is neither objective nor consistent. Why don’t we first try consistently and 
steadfastly enforcing the rules we already have? 

 Mark Gelband 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
On 9/19/13 12:50 PM, Matejka, Tamah wrote: 

Hi, 

I live at 626 14th Street.  We have seen lots of bear scat in our yard, particularly over the past 
year.  However, we never have garbage in the alley because we keep it in our garage.  We drag 
it out on Friday mornings, when it gets picked up by Western Disposal.  This solution might not 
work for everyone, but it does for us.  When our neighbor’s house was first bought by college 
kids, there was initially trash in the alley.  I went over and told them about the bears and they 
started doing the same thing as us and I haven’t seen trash in the alley this year, either.  
Perhaps we should walk the neighborhood and talk about either keeping trash in the garage 
until trash collection day, or else renting the bear proof containers.   

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 50Packet Page     286



 

 
 

 I suppose there is still a risk that bears would eat the morning we put out the trash, but it hasn’t 
happened to us yet. 

 I also think the fires in the mountains have brought more wildlife to our neighborhood.  We have 
lived at this address since 1987 and never saw bear until a few years ago. 

Tamah Matejka  
 

***************************************************************** 
9/19/2013 

Dear David, 

I am fully with you on this.  I live in a neighborhood that has had several bears -- co-existing 
quietly with us for several years. Mine is also the neighborhood where two bears have been 
killed in the past month. 

Most folks along our alley are responsible with their trash. Two apartments with students who 
come and go and have a collection of usually filled-to-overflowing trash cans are not.  Night 
after night, their trash cans are upended and trash is carried all over the place. 

The property owners have left figuring out what to do to the tenants.  The tenants just drive over 
their trash as though it is invisible. The problem is less now that a couple of our bears are dead, 
but what a shame and what an unfair price was paid for human obliviousness. 

We have simply got to stop feeding these guys.  Requiring bear proof cans or trash can 
containment in garages is needed now.  I don't think there is any other solution to reducing the 
in-town bear population that has become habituated to easy pickin's in our trash. 

Sincerely, 

Susan Osborne 
 

***************************************************************** 
 

9/11/2013 

Warren Hern: 

Bear being destroyed is a tragedy. No putting food in trash cans. Must only put food in trash can 
right before trash pick-up. There is trash scattered all the time in alleyway between Valley view 
drive and Dewey, and 4th and 5th streets.  

***************************************************************** 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 51Packet Page     287



 

From: Thomas Fraser 
Sent: Friday, September 20, 2013 7:42 AM 
To:  
Cc: Matejka, Tamah; UHNA EC; Hill Neighbors 
Subject: Re: [hillneighbors] Bear encounter 9/18 - trash container regulation urgently 
needed 

 Closing them is worthless as is bungees and I have even tried drilling a hole through can and 
top and wiring it closed.  The latter works best.  They have removed my can from the best 
bungee system and I've seen them then pounce on it until some garbage(although not the full 
scale dumpage) can be reached though the wired top.  My issue is the cost of the bear proof 
container.  I'd be happy to buy one if the city offset the cost, but 10$/month in perpetuity is 
ridiculous.  Does it really cost Western 2.50$ in manpower each time they open them.  Multiply 
that by the number of cans (about 75$/week in my alley alone) and this will be a cash cow for 
Western. I do not have a garage/shed with room for garbage or space for one and my neighbor 
kept his in the back yard rather than the alley and after a bear went over the fence for it he tore 
down a section of fence to get out.  The only option I support is a one time reasonable fee for a 
bear proof can. Tom Fraser- PS- my favorite option provided by the city literature is to freeze all 
of your garbage until collection day:) 

***************************************************************** 
 

9/20/2013 

I agree with Dr Frasier, Mr Gelband, and Sara. The city has created a virtual garbage monopoly 
with their mandatory compost rules. My former garbage provider (One Way) canceled their 
service after these rules were enforced. Meanwhile I hear that the owner of Western Disposal 
jets in occasionally to check in on his garbage monopoly. We don't need more mandatory 
monthly fees to line his pockets and we probably don't need more laws. Enforcement of existing 
laws would be helpful though. 

 As others have pointed out, we're dealing with a bit of an anomaly here because garbage 
service was canceled last week. In addition, this is an exceptional year because there's not fruit 
on the trees due to our early May deep freeze. The bears have almost no natural food this year. 

 Should we be creating new and costly laws in response to anomalous events as Mr Raduziner 
suggests? I say maybe we should step back and see if we have a pattern where this occurs 
again next year. If so, then maybe new laws are in order, but, for now, I say no.  

For the record, I also advocate that the two strike rule regarding bear encounters should be 
waived this year to reflect the fact that the conditions have forced the bears to wander into town. 
I witnessed the tagged bear and her cubs on our street prior to the flood and it appeared that 
the cubs were still nursing. If the mother gets killed the cubs will likely die. I'd avoid calling DOW 
for this reason. 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 52Packet Page     288



 
 

 On the subject of laws, regulation, etc., I found this column in the Boulder Weekly to be very 
compelling. It's about the guy on the horse to Utah. Seems so long ago as it was before the 
flood but worth a read: http://www.boulderweekly.com/article-11627-vaya-con-dios.html 

 Enjoy your weekend. 

 Brian Barrett 

***************************************************************** 
 

9/20/2013 

Thanks so much Brian, my heart is breaking over the thought of killing this mother bear. The last 
killing was bad enough. There has to be some kind of waiver for the situation they are in this 
year.  Maybe they can be relocated as a family?  We are good about doing that with criminals, 
why not poor defenceless bears?  I am hopeful kinder hearts will prevail and they will spare this 
mothers life.  The cubs are babies and I agree they wouldn't survive and shouldn't be placed in 
captivity. 

Just my 2 cents. 

Diana Trettin 

***************************************************************** 
 

From: David Raduziner 
Date: September 22, 2013, 8:35:41 PM MDT 
Cc: UHNA EC, Hill Neighbors"' 
Subject: Re: [hillneighbors] Bear encounter 9/18 - trash container regulation urgently... 
Reply-To:  

Neighbors: 
 
I've been away this weekend but have had a chance to review the various posts - thanks to all 
for your interest in this matter. 
 
It was suggested that perhaps this year was an anomaly.  The activity was somewhat greater.  
However as I stated initially, the bear activity has been intensifying every year with bears living 
in our garden the last two years.  And we are on 14th between Baseline and Cascade, not up 
against open space.  Also these bears live for a long time.  Once habituated into feeding on 
trash, they will return year after year.  We don't need to wait to see if they will come back next 
year.  They absolutely will, perhaps a bit later in the summer depending on the availability of 
easy pickings in the wild, but they will come for sure. 
 
Based on at least one response, it appears that some bears will tip compost bins, though my 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 53Packet Page     289

http://www.boulderweekly.com/article-11627-vaya-con-dios.html


 
 

neighbors and I have never seen it.  After communicating with a number of folks on this, my 
guess is that it depends on what is in them.  If it is yard and vegetable waste, no problem.  If it 
includes animal protein, then they'll go for it - but we should not be composing animal protein, it 
is not allowed. 
 
On the matter of cost, I agree the $10/mo additional fee is high - this is why we avoided taking 
the plunge for so long.  If they are required, then there will be a massive increase in volume of 
production and I have no doubt the cost would go way down and perhaps a deal can be worked 
for a one time sign up fee to cover the extra hardware cost.  However it may be that it actually 
costs somewhat more to service the bear proof containers, takes a bit more time for the 
workers.  Of course this whole issue would be part of a discussion with Western Disposal.  By 
the way, our Western Disposal workers are amazing people in my book.  Super hard workers 
and always friendly and helpful. 
 
On the issue of whether or not bear proof containers will "solve the problem".  Well it depends 
how you define the problem.  If the problem is defined as "eliminating all bears from ever 
entering the neighborhood" than it absolutely won't.  But the bears are very smart.  If they can't 
find food, then they will give up.  Even if they smell it.  They will learn over time that it is fruitless 
to try to get it.  The containers are incredibly effective as the claw and teeth marks on ours verify 
- they just can't get them unlatched.  I'd rather take the chance that they will visit less frequently 
over time than worry to much about them getting more and more angry that they can't get into 
containers. 
 
The notion of eliminating food from trash and compost strikes me as pretty much impossible.  
Yes, eliminate animal waste from compost.  But there will be some element of food in our trash 
and our best bet is to keep it in containers indoors or if in containers outdoors, make sure 
they're bear proof. 
 
For those of you who haven't seen one of these containers, here is a photo of one.  It is just like 
the normal container but has a latch system.  To open you put your finger in the hole on the 
right and push a small lever to the left.  To close, just push down.  There are two metal latches 
on either side of the front that are hidden from view that completely lock it down. 
 
Thanks to all for your comments.  If we can all get behind the simple notion that eliminating 
access to our trash containers will significantly improve, if not completely solve, the bear 
problem, we can make something happen here.  With thoughtful city regulation, robust 
enforcement, caring neighbors and peer pressure, we can save many bears in the future. 
 
Best, 
David 
 

***************************************************************** 
 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 54Packet Page     290



 
 

From: Dave Amberger  
Date: September 23, 2013, 10:31:58 PM MDT 
To:  
Subject: Bear-Proof Trash Mandate 
Reply-To:  

Hello Boulder city council.  

 It's time to stop your due diligence. Mandate bear-proof trash cans for all rentals and residence 
living in areas where bears frequent. (Perhaps to start anyone west of 9th St, or West of 
Broadway.) 

 Week after week the alleys are strewn with trash and bear scat.  

 Boulder has always been ahead of the curve on issues (open space, recycling, bike paths, and 
flood zone management......) However, on protecting wildlife you seem to be behind the curve.  

 It is time to setup and decided to reduce the killing of native wildlife.   

Make this mandate effective August 2014 and save a few bears.  

Sincerely, 
Dave Amberger 
 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
From: On Behalf Of Sarabeth Mitton 
Sent: Monday, September 23, 2013 8:58 AM 
To:  
Cc: UHNA EC; Hill Neighbors;   
Subject: Re: [hillneighbors] Bear encounter 9/18 - trash container regulation urgently... 

 

  An FYI about garbage costs. People with 32 gallon service currently pay $26.90/month. As 
Western does not have bear proof 32's in their system, it would be required to move up to 64 
gallon service at a cost of $49.10/month for bear proof, nearly doubling my monthly cost, or 
costing me, and others like me,  $266.40 additional annually. And a lot of us do not have room 
to store the 64 and currently do not even fill our 32 each week. It would be wasteful and 
inconvenient. 

So before mandating this service to those of us who will pay a penalty for the carelessness of 
others, please resolve this inequity with Western. Require them to get 32's made bear proof, 
before going further with this proposal. 

SARA MITTON 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 55Packet Page     291



 

 

***************************************************************** 
 

9/23/2013 

All, I contacted Frank Bruno, president of Western Disposal about this and he is discussing it 
with the City. 

Note that several years ago (10?, 15?), before the brown cans, the city was going to move trash 
collection to the street for a number of reasons, two of which I recall was that OSHA regs were 
changing for garbage collection (automated container lifting), and because alleys were 
becoming impassable.  We (UHNA) objected because recycling was already in the street and it 
was a mess, plus then we would have seen garbage cans in front of many houses all week 
long.  It was a bad idea that further marginalized the need for alleys. 

Alleys are the lifeblood of healthy urban neighborhoods, but that is another subject. 

Anyway, Ken Wilson and I undertook a research project to generate data to counter the city's 
arguments and then scheduled a meeting attended by about 20 people from Western and the 
City (Bruno was city manager at the time).  Long story short the outcome was that recycling was 
moved to the alley, compost was added, garbage trucks modified and the brown cans were 
provided to all customers citywide all in one price. 

That was a pretty cool, high leverage effort that ken and I are very proud of. 

I am confident that Western is going to come up with an equitable and effective solution to the 
trash collection. They need our thoughts on the subject so thank you to everyone that have 
weighed in. 

A couple of side benefits to the effort was that the city started improving alley clearances and 
drainage ( our paved alley with centerline drainage saved us from recent floods), and also 
eliminated many encroachments that would prevent firefighters to safely battle blazes from the 
rear of our homes.  Lastly, the overhead power / cable lines are far more reliable in our 
maintained alley. 

In the mean time we need to stop killing bears, after all, we moved into their habitat 100 years 
ago.  I don't know what to do about them, but I bet the naturalists and scientists in the 
neighborhood have some innovative ideas. 

Thank you, 
Steven Walsh 
 

***************************************************************** 
 

 

 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 56Packet Page     292



 
 

9/23/2013 

Neighbors: 

These emails from Mr Raduziner and Mr. Walsh (and others) seem to refer to Western Disposal 
as the incumbent garbage provider. I was never aware that we had an official incumbent 
provider although my former provider (One Way) canceled their service when the spring 
pickup was nixed and composting was mandated. I also wasn't aware that our former city 
manager got the gig heading up our garbage monopoly, a monopoly that may have 
been created by rules that our former city manager helped craft. 

 Being a NJ guy I don't want to dig too deeply into this garbage mess, but if we actually have a 
de facto monopoly running the show shouldn't there have been an RFP process so the 
ratepayers could get a competitive bidding process going on their behalf. I believe that Lafayette 
has an incumbent provider determined by a RFP process and their rates are considerably lower 
than ours. Certainly, economies of scale would suggest that our rates could be bid even lower 
than Lafayette's. 

 If we're going to have a garbage monopoly let's do it properly and put it out for bid. That way 
maybe the $10/month for a bear proof can and other excessive charges might come down and 
we can all afford to use these cans. Why doesn't city council address this? 

 Thanks, 

 Brian  

ps - Is there a witness protection program for garbage whistleblowers? 

 

***************************************************************** 
 

From: Tom Wilson  
Sent: Tuesday, September 24, 2013 11:22 AM 
To: Council; Brautigam, Jane 
Subject: Bears and trash... please stop doing nothing 

I wrote you all around a year ago (maybe a year... time flies) about bears and trash on the hill.  I 
suggested requiring so-called "bear proof" containers.  Of course the issue is not only bears, but 
also raccoons, and the related trash nuisance from dumped cans. 
 
The replies I got basically stated, more or less, that: 

 we'd follow the lead of other communities, but 
 data's not in yet, and so far it seems the cans are not 100% effective 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 57Packet Page     293



 

 
 

Of course the situation's not getting better.  As a long time Hill resident, I can offer a view from 
the trenches: 

1. There are a bunch of places on The Hill where houses don't have a place to put the cans 
inside because there's literally no room for a garage.  So putting cans inside is 
basically impossible. 

2. Animals are opportunistic.  That's obvious, but what may not be obvious is that the same 
cans are raided again and again.  It matters a LOT what you put in the trash, and 
when. 

3. Students tend to throw out the worst (most attractive) garbage.  I know what they throw 
out because it ends up in the alley with great frequency.  Students don't follow the rules 
in place now, so it's inconceivable (yes, I know what that word means) to imagine the 
problem could be solved by education and voluntary cooperation at the point of 
what and when gets tossed out. 

The take-away here is that nothing positive will come of this without new requirements for 
handling trash.  This is not complicated.  The only reasonable solution at this time is to require 
"animal-proof" containers for houses that do not put the trash inside.  I know, there's already an 
ordinance about securing your trash, but you see how that's working. 

Every argument against this resistant-can solution would apply equally to the "6-day" rule, 
except perhaps that different people care about it.  No one seemed to blink at that, so why not 
this, which is *actually* related to public safety? 

Sure, it is not 100% effective.  But it's also not zero percent effective. 
Doing what we are doing now (nothing) is definitely zero percent effective. 
Unless you count shooting bears as part of the solution. 

Thanks for listening. 
Please consider making this a priority,    
    -Tom 
 

ps:  To set a good example, I called Western to change to an "animal-resistant" container.  I 
found out that all they stock are 64 gallon containers.  So to change my service from the 
currently-sufficient 32 gallon service, I'd have to also upgrade to 64 gallon service, and it would 
basically double my trash costs.  Western said it only stocks the 64 gallon containers because 
animal-proof service is not popular and it's too expensive to stock all the sizes.  Seems 
reasonable I guess, but it's incredible that there are no decent options for many homeowners in 
this part of town. 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 58Packet Page     294



 
 

pps: my neighbor's trash, 9/2 

 

 

***************************************************************** 
 

9/24/2013 

Robert Troup: 

Observes college students in area of 10th and Aurora, who do not clean up trash cans for days 
once knocked over and he is sick of it. He believes students don’t have a lot of disposable 
income and the probability that they will spend $10 extra per month on bear resistant containers 
is zero. He suggests that the city try to get sponsorship for bear resistant cans to address cost 
(i.e. whole foods gets name on cans they sponsor).  

 

***************************************************************** 
 

 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 59Packet Page     295



 

 
 

From: adaline jyurovat  
Sent: Friday, September 27, 2013 10:57 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Bear/trash/our discussion 9-24-13 

 

You said you are looking for input from people in the neighborhood as to how best to get out the 
word, esp. to the new tenants, regarding trash that attracts bears. You said door to door contact 
did not work for your most recent project. If you send me the note you want to go out, I will pass 
it on as best I can. 

I didn't ask if you used college students to help do the job. That might help in the personal -one 
to one area. Every year there are a lot of newcomers/students around here. Arriving the day 
before trash pickup might be instructive/educational. 

Another thought is concerned adults (maybe from the neighborhood) bringing along 
concerned/enthusiastic  elementary students which might be even better. Kids' concern over 
having to have bears killed because of trash issues might come through really strong. It might 
even induce some guilt or other emotional charge to encourage remembering and participation. 

Having concerned kids do the artwork on carefully designed/worded brochures might also be 
more attention getting than those of a pro. 

+++++Ask the targeted students themselves what would get there attention, and include the 
option of fines. Also ask if their parents recycled at home and got them involved. (environmental 
center should really do this kind of survey beginning each year or semester.)+++++ 

Addi Jyurovat 

***************************************************************** 
 

On Oct 1, 2013, at 8:59 AM, Dagmar Fehlau wrote: 

 
I have followed these bear conversation for a while and have never said anything, but now that 
yet another bear was killed (and her cubs will likely die, too) I am truly wondering what the 
agenda is for some of our neighbors? 

Bears live here. Trash or no trash. They do not know the difference between a tree in 
Chautauqua and a tree one or more blocks away from it. There isn't a giant fence, and they sure 
 are not able to read signs! In the seven years I have lived here there has always been bears in 
our neighborhood, in my front yard, in our tree, in our alley, near our school. They have come to 
feast on the many fruit trees that grow here. And then they leave. And yes, they have feasted on 
trash. How has that ever hurt me or my family? Once you will eliminate all the trash, they will 
STILL come into our neighborhood to eat fruit and berries and anything else our luscious trees 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 60Packet Page     296



 

 

and bushes have to offer. This year has been such a bad year for fruit crop, so of course more 
trash cans have been the main food source for some bears.  

I wish our neighbors could wait it out, realizing how tough it has been on our bears, instead of 
calling on them every time they see a bear snout, which will surely always result in their death, 
as we now know. 

If we chose to live so close to wilderness we should be able to handle seeing bears up 
close. This is bear country and it will always be. Killing them one by one will not change that!  

By all means let's be smart about our trash! And pick up our fruit. And hope that no other doggie 
will get hurt. But do not expect that there will never be another mama bear in our trees. They will 
still come. They live here. 

Thanks, 

Dagmar 

***************************************************************** 

10/1/2013 

Dear City Council, 

I am incredibly saddened and angry that yet another bear has been killed in Boulder.  The City 
of Boulder is not doing it's job in this respect.  The city ordinance that mandates ticketing 
repeatedly knocked-over trashcans is not being enforced AT ALL and the city's negligence on 
this matter is astonishing and disturbing.  The bulk of the people in this city care about bears, I 
can assure you.  PLEASE PLEASE cease this awful mismanagement and put the proper 
enforcement in place so that the public will have an incentive to handle their trash responsibly 
and stop the bear buffet that ultimately kills these majestic creatures. 

Thank you for your consideration and prompt attention to this matter, 

Tiffany O'Meara 

***************************************************************** 
 

10/5/2013 

Dear City Council Members (and candidates and important officials also copied)– 

Like so many, I was stunned to hear about the recent executions of four bears, including one 
whose now-orphaned  cubs will have to try to survive their first winter alone.    Sometimes 
insane policies get put into place and although we know they’re wrong, we get used to having to 
obey them.  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 61Packet Page     297



 
 

But I know that Boulder, and those of you on Council especially, work hard not to let inertia drive 
cruelty and inefficiency.  Fortunately, there are two remedies that could completely resolve the 
problem, and I hope that you will make their discussion and implementation a top priority of your 
upcoming retreat. 

One is an obvious and immediate answer that could make a huge positive difference for 
Boulder:  Legislate the use of bear-proof trash cans on the west side of Broadway (or any areas 
where it’s needed) and carefully enforce their use.  Since we all know the problems of unfunded 
mandates, a fund to support their use should be implemented too.  I personally would be happy 
to contribute to it or to any efforts needed to help to put that in place.  Such legislation, 
enforcement and funding are extremely well justified as well by the fact that they will keep 
significant amounts of trash from contaminating water sources and other areas.  We know how 
trash mars the quality of life and appeal of Boulder; anyone who has seen the ultimate outcome 
in the Pacific Garbage Vortex and the widespread destruction of plankton and marine life due to 
plastic trash will know that garbage that is allowed to go unsecured affects the chain of life in 
many devastating ways.   

The second is larger scale but even more important if we care about saving the lives and 
unnecessary suffering of sentient beings such as those killed in recent weeks:  This is the 
perfect time to urge Colorado Parks, with which the DOW has just been merged, to change this 
policy of capital punishment for bears for making the mistake of looking for food in the same 
area twice.  (Especially given how many have babies, which strikes me as similar to taking out a 
soccer mom for shopping two times at the same Safeway.)   

Surely this policy is tremendously time and energy consuming and bad-press-producing for 
them as well.  Very often one finds that government agencies hate to carry out policies such as 
this themselves.  But they need our support for change.  Many people and some significant 
organizations will be objecting to this policy, but your voice would have by far the most impact. 
Please do all that is needed.  I would be happy to help in any way, from contributions to letter 
writing and phone calls and visits to officials. 

While I would ordinarily hesitate to commit to all of that, this is a very important issue of 
humaneness, ecological good sense, and fairness.  I, after all, have a voice—and you have a 
much bigger, more influential voice—and wildlife have none at all, and no way of understanding 
that a desire for food means a death sentence.  Please do everything in your power to end the 
death and suffering that I think the great majority of Boulder voters would be deeply happy to 
see stopped.   

With much gratitude for all you do and have done – 

Cathy Comstock, Ph.D. 

***************************************************************** 

 

 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 62Packet Page     298



 
 

10/4/2013 

To Whom It May Concern- it has disturbed me that garbage continues to be picked up in the 
alleys in the western parts of Boulder- including our address at 1838 columbine. why can't it be 
mandatory that all garbage cans be picked up on the streets!! Too many people- our 
neighborhood included are too clueless or lazy to put cans out in the alley the day of pickup and 
leave cans in alleys all the time. We draw the bears to easy food because of our 
shortsightedness then kill them. The garbage trucks are often too heavy and tear up the alleys 
anyway. Can you please consider and let me know? Thank you.  Julie Smith 

***************************************************************** 
 

10/4/2013  

City Council members, 
  
The recent killing in Boulder of a female bear with dependent cubs, one of four bear killings in 
Boulder this summer and fall, stirs us to protest an indifference to a correctable problem.  The 
real problem is continued attraction of wild animals by unprotected garbage. The solution should 
be to both educate the public to the toll this takes on bears and to pass an effective ordinance 
mandating that trash cans in affected areas be adequately bear-proofed and that such an 
ordinance be adequately funded and enforced. 
  
In addition, we urge you to petition Colorado State Parks and Wildlife to discontinue their "two 
strikes and you're out" policy with regard to urban bear populations. This seems arbitrary and 
unnecessary. We have not experienced a human fatality from a bear attack in Colorado for 
many years, and we are convinced that the vast majority of Boulder residents would rather live 
with bears, if necessary, than kill them. Our organization, as always, would be glad to help with 
disseminating information and working with the public and other agencies to make sure that 
humane policies regarding bears are supported and followed. 
  
Sincerely, 
  
BCNA 
Peter Kleinman, President 
 

***************************************************************** 
10/4/2013 

City Council-  I was very happy to read about your discussion of requiring bear-resistant trash 
cans for Boulder residents near the foothills.  I can't say how strongly I encourage you to pursue 
this long overdue rule. 
 
I live in the Knollwood subdivision (technically in the Boulder County) and we are visited almost 
daily by bears especially in the fall.   
Although most of our neighbors are conscientious about only putting out their trash the morning 
of collection days, I think that having bear resistant cans would help with the daytime bear visits 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 63Packet Page     299



 

and the unenlightened neighbors who leave trash and recycling cans out year-round and won't 
be convinced to move them inside. 
 
I think that the City of Boulder could learn from other progressive towns like Squamish BC which 
require bear-proof cans.  How did they did it, what were the logistics, what level of bear 
resistance is needed  
etc.   Please do some research on bulk can discounts and address this  
problem in a comprehensive and thoughtful manner.  The current piecemeal approach of 
"education efforts," voluntary purchase of cans by a few residents and sporadically fining the 
rest is clearly not effective. 
 
Please utilize the momentum gained by the recent spate of bear killings to enact enforceable 
rules, and please be ambitious about the size of the area affected- at least everything west of 
Broadway is needed, or the problem will just creep east. 
 
Thank you for your consideration- 
Megan Wilder 
 

***************************************************************** 
 

From: Deborah Byrd 
Sent: Friday, October 04, 2013 4:58 PM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Slaughtering Bears 

Vicky, 

 Below is a copy of my comments to the ranger who sends out emails re: bears in the city 

 This continued slaughter of bears in Boulder is intolerable. The statistics show that bears do not 
attack people. Penalties must be imposed on people who leave edible trash out in the alleyways 
or anywhere trash is found lying about.  

 This is not about bears; it is about people living near wildlife and not taking proper precautions 
to prevent them from being killed. 
 
You are a killer. You slaughter animals. Your actions are reprehensible 

 Please change this two-strike policy of bear-killing in our city.  Please conduct meetings to find 
ways, as suggested above, to stop this senseless, tragic killing of these most beautiful 
creatures. 

 I have seen bears frequently in my 33 years in Boulder - in my neighborhood, in Chautauqua - 
and I have never, ever had the slightest sense of attack or danger.  I do not go close to them, I 
leave them alone.  I see them, they see me.  I let them be. 

 deborah byrd 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 64Packet Page     300



 
 

***************************************************************** 
 

From: Linda Weber 
Sent: Friday, October 04, 2013 11:50 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Bears 

Here’s what I just sent to the Boulder City Council: 

Dear Boulder City Council, 

Since humans are at fault with regard to making trash available to bears (after taking over their 
habitat), then humans should be held responsible, possibly relocated, or at least censored and 
fined. Bears are not at fault; they are simply being bears. Killing them is a horrendous “solution” 
to the problem. I urge you to find another way. 

Thank you, 

Linda 

Linda Weber, counselor and author 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
From: Barbara Brandt 
Sent: Wednesday, October 02, 2013 9:42 PM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject:  bear resistant trash cans 
 
Hello, 
 
Please require bear resistant trash cans in the city limits. We need to stop  
this senseless killing of bears.  
 
Thank you, 
 
Barbara Brandt 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
From: Ken DeBow and Linda Palmer  
Sent: Friday, October 04, 2013 11:32 AM 
To: Council 
Subject:saving Boulder bears 
 
Dear Members of the City Council, 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 65Packet Page     301



 

 
 

 
 Today we read with relief the news that the Council is planning to  
address with some urgency the issue of bears needing to be killed because of  
their frequent and repeating presence in the city.   
 
The most significant reason bears enter the community is that they have free  
access to trash.  In our Newlands neighborhood, a typical morning walk past 5  
or 6 alleys between 3rd Street and North Boulder Park reveals between 10 and  
30 knocked-over trash cans in a day.  Our record count is 43.  Just night  
before last, we heard a bear next door, and yesterday morning, we counted 11  
knocked over cans in a 4 block stretch. We have written to the Camera and to  
Western Disposal in the past regarding the problem, and we have taken part in  
efforts to educate people who leave their trash out all week---all to no  
avail.  We might like to think that education programs are enough to stop  
people from leaving out their trash all week, but the last two years have  
shown that  these programs are not enough. We might like to think that  
residents will buy bear-proof cans, but we see few of them in our neighborhood  
despite programs to make them available at North Boulder Park.  We might hope  
that people will stop leaving their trash out all week in alleys to protect  
the bears, but that has not happened, neither here in Newlands nor in many  
other neighborhoods, such as Chautauqua, even as three bears have been killed  
in the last weeks because of their attraction to free food.  In fact, the same  
cans are knocked over day after day; people clean up their dumped trash, put  
it back in the can, and then leave the can out for an exact repeat the next  
day. 
 
We all know that the Boulder bears are learning to be trash eaters, and they  
are teaching their young the same, and the tragic result is the death of too  
many bears. We support education efforts, but we know they have proven  
inadequate; we support requiring bear-proof bins, but we know many people will  
not (or can not) buy them.  That still leaves at least two very reasonable  
strategies to reduce the number of bears in our community. 
 
The most logical solution is to ask or require that Western Disposal and other  
companies cease alley garbage pick-ups, at least in bear-prone neighborhoods.   
People who have their garbage picked up on the street do not, ever, leave the  
full garbage cans outdoors all week; they put them out on the morning of pick- 
up, as the law requires.  People who keep their cans in the alley fill them  
all week and leave them full for bears to pick at day after day.  Solution?  
Stop the alley pick-ups.  The bears won't find easy-access food and will, on  
their own, return to where they can find food in the wild. 
The other possible solution would result in a nice form of revenue for the  
city: police every alley in affected neighborhoods and fine every person  
violating the rule that requires putting cans out after 5:00 a.m. on pickup  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 66Packet Page     302



 
 

day. We already have that city rule; put it into effect (we have never seen  
any patrol in our alleys).  Fine every person who puts cans out, fine them  
every day they persist. What a lot of money would flow in. And no doubt the  
cans would soon disappear. 
 
Either way, our alleys would be neater, and much more important, our bears  
would be saved.  Please act on this issue as soon and forcibly as possible. 
 
Linda Palmer and Ken DeBow 
 
***************************************************************** 
 
From: Pat Lehman  
Sent: Friday, October 04, 2013 11:20 AM 
To: Council 
Cc: Dom  Nozzi; Bev Jones; carolyn  
 crawford; Jan Vanderlinden 
Subject:Fwd: [MapletonHillNeighborhood] sow and 2 cubs 
 
Greetings Boulder Council Members: 
 
Brenda Lee, of the Boulder Bear Coalition, has suggested that I forward my letter to the  
Mapleton Hill list serve to you.  I am most concerned over the killing of bears eating from our  
trash cans. Why are we treating the symptom and not the cause of these needless bear killings? 
It  
appears that only punitive fines will change people's behavior, not over-the-top expensive bear- 
proof trash cans. I realize that such a system requires more hours of enforcement, but I believe  
that is better than needless destruction of wildlife. Aspen and other mountain communities have  
learned to peacefully co-exist with bears. No residents have been mauled or killed by bears that 
i  
know of. Why can't we adopt their model? 
 
Respectfully, 
 
Pat Lehman 
 
Begin forwarded message: 
From: Pat Lehman  
Date: October 1, 2013, 1:31:13 PM MDT  
To:  
Subject: Re: [MapletonHillNeighborhood] sow and 2 cubs  
Reply-To: MapletonHillNeighborhood@yahoogroups.com 
 
This breaks my heart.  I live at 429 Maxwell and virtually every house on my alley on the  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 67Packet Page     303



 
 

North side is a rental on the 400 block of Concord.  Most days there are overturned trash  
cans in my alley because people put trash out on non-trash pickup days. The amount of  
trash is creating a large problem. It is very unlikely these houses are on the Mapleton  
Hill list serve, so they are probably unaware of the consequences of their actions.  This  
never happened when the properties were owner-occupied. Do you think a visit to these  
homes from the wildlife office would be worthwhile to inform them about the problems  
their actions are causing related to the death of bears?????  Do we need to contact the  
owner of these rental homes? 
 
***************************************************************** 
 
From: Helen El Mallakh 
Sent: Wednesday, October 09, 2013 5:43 PM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Response to Bear Policies 
 

Dear Ms. Matheson 

Thank you for taking the time to speak with me today.  I am putting together a short report for 
you about what has worked well in our neighborhood and how we have stopped bears from 
getting into our trash.  While we believe that bears will continue to use our neighborhood as a 
transit corridor, we feel that our investments in neighborhood outreach, building our own animal-
resistant trash storage, and other strategies have been successful to date. However, we don't 
support the mandating of bear-resistant trash containers and suggest that a "one-size-fits-all" 
approach  by the City won't be beneficial or fair to the citizens who have made significant 
outlays - in terms of finances, energy, and effort- to make eliminate bears consuming trash 
contents. 

Regards 

Helen El Mallakh 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
From: Helen El Mallakh  

Sent: Thursday, October 10, 2013 11:34 PM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Re: Response to Bear Policies 

Dear Ms. Matheson, 

I will be putting together a powerpoint report this weekend. I do want to add a recent story that I 
think best captures the group think mentality for a solution to the bear issue.  One week before 
school restarted in August, I saw the 590-pound bear who was living at the cemetery near 
Flatirons Elementary, called 911, and was called about 2 hours afterwards by a bear biologist 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 68Packet Page     304



 

(who was with Colorado Parks and Wildlife). The bear biologist told me a repeated refrain: (1) "It 
is the people of Boulder's fault for not securing their trash and he could take no action," (2) 
"There is no solution to this issue until the City Council mandates bear-resistant trash cans for 
everyone," and that (3) "Bears are being senselessly killed because we don't mandate bear-
resistant trash cans."  When I asked that the bear biologist contact the elementary school, I was 
told that it "wasn't important" and that he attended that school and they were "used to dealing 
with wildlife issues."  

Fast-forward about 3 weeks: two bears are euthanized within a block-radius of the school.  The 
590-pound bear being shot and killed while the children were on the playground and the school 
officials never told about the incident (see video at 
http://www.thedenverchannel.com/news/local-news/second-bear-shot-killed-near-flatirons-
elementary-school-in-boulder). I spoke with the school's principal and was informed that they 
were never told about the large bear living in the cemetery prior to that day by Wildlife officials. 
Larry Rogstad, the district Area Wildlife Manager, was quoted the next day in the Daily Camera 
calls the killing of the bear "senseless." (see 
http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_24050751/wildlife-officers-forced-euthanize-
another-bear-boulder-near) 

Here is my take on the situation.  The wildlife officials are obsessed with the idea that bear-
resistant trash cans are the only solution to the problem.  Wildlife officials don't think to mention 
that the safety of small children makes the killing of the bears necessary - they were killed 
based on public safety.  

I don't believe that my voice or the voices of others in my neighborhood will ultimately change 
the council's decision, which I think will be to mandate bear-proof trash cans.  We won't 
outweigh the mantra and drumbeat created by the Colorado wildlife officials and repeatedly 
given in the Daily Camera.  Our hope is that we can get some type of exemption from the 
mandate for those of us who have made the investment in securing our trash and other lifestyle 
changes to make our areas less hospitable to bears. 

The problem with trying to get stakeholders to engage on certain issues is that there is a 
credibility gap here in Boulder.  On too many issues, the solution has already been selected by 
policy makers and stakeholder engagement becomes, in effect, a facade. What the city does 
not realize is that instead of placating stakeholders it alienates them because they realize that 
the end policy was a done deal from the start.     

My willingness to tell what worked for my neighborhood is based on the view that we can maybe 
get some type of exemption from the costly mandates that I see coming down the road. But I 
would be naive to believe that this process will result in anything other than a mandate given the 
power of the Wildlife officials to frame this issue entirely on trash. 
 
Here is what should be the greatest concern: a child will be mauled, badly injured, or killed in 
the near future in Boulder- with or without the trash can mandate.  We don't have an effective 
plan for dealing with bears-or other wildlife. The narrow focus that has been promoted by 
Wildlife officials, in conjunction with their lack of resources or lack of desire to use what 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 69Packet Page     305

http://www.thedenverchannel.com/news/local-news/second-bear-shot-killed-near-flatirons-elementary-school-in-boulder
http://www.thedenverchannel.com/news/local-news/second-bear-shot-killed-near-flatirons-elementary-school-in-boulder
http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_24050751/wildlife-officers-forced-euthanize-another-bear-boulder-near
http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_24050751/wildlife-officers-forced-euthanize-another-bear-boulder-near


 

 
 

resources are available to them, is a recipe for disaster.  The blame game against the citizens of 
this city can only go on so long before their are human victims in addition to the killed bears. 

Regards 

 Helen El Mallakh 

 
***************************************************************** 

 

From: Louise Padden  
Sent: Tuesday, October 15, 2013 12:22 PM 
To: Matheson, Valerie; Council 
Subject: Bears and City Council 
 
Dear Ms. Matheson, 
 
We live in your pilot program area and thank you for your work on protecting  
the bears and educating the community. We're glad to see the city council and  
other agencies focused together on solutions. Towards that goal we would like  
to see a no kill/relocate ordinance included as part of the solution. Proposed  
by Aimee Albe and supported by a group of volunteers, Boulder needs to protect  
bears as part of our wildlife family. Other areas, with much larger bear  
situations than we have, Juneau Alaska, Tahoe, etc., have management  
procedures and information that can help our city formulate a more humane and  
successful system. 
 
Some questions and comments we have: 
 
1. How many people received second or third convictions for not securing  
trash? We walk the alleys behind Grant and after the first $100 fine there did  
not seem to be increased compliance. We were told that there was not enough  
staff funding to follow up. Jane Brautigan brought up the issue of identifying  
who the can belongs to. These are important pieces of the problem that need  
solutions. 
 
2. Western disposal allows extra trash in bags alongside bins, and this is  
especially a problem on Uni Hill. 
 
3. The momma bear that was killed and two cubs relocated on 9/30 came from a  
request by one homeowner and agreed to by Jennifer Churchill, spokeswoman for  
Colorado Parks and Wildlife, despite many other homeowners asking for a  
relocation. How can one homeowner decide the bear's fate when many others  
asked for relocation? Hibernation is so close, and the flooding destroyed what  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 70Packet Page     306



 
 

little food supply was left in Chautauqua and Flagstaff. 
 
4. On 10/3/2013 Ms. Churchill stated: "I don't think we have evolved to the  
point where we can have predators living in our backyards". This is a  
surprising statement, since we already live with bobcats, coyotes, skunks,  
racoons, bats, bears, deer, and other wildlife. We cherish our open space, and  
most people understand that we already live with predators. We need to work  
together to find solutions to this complex issue, and give bears the same  
protections we give our other animal populations. A no kill ordinance needs to  
be in place and allowing relocation outside our region. Make the changes that  
will be effective, and please include community feedback. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Louise Padden 
 

***************************************************************** 
 
From: Maggie 
Sent: Tuesday, October 15, 2013 9:21 AM 
To: Matheson, Valerie 
Subject: Re: [wildlifeplan] Update on urban bears and trash to be discussed at city 
council meeting on October 15 
Importance: High 

I AM GLAD YOU ARE ADDRESSING BEARS!  WHY HAVE YOU NOT FINED HOMEOWNER 
WHO DO NOT PROTECT TRASH, FALLEN FRUIT ETC?  WHY SHOULD THE RES OF US 
WHO ARE CAUTIOUS HAVE TO ENDURE THE KILLING OF OUR BEARS?  HOMEOWNER 
MUST BE MADE RESPONSIBLE – FINE THEM! 

Maggie Schafer 
 

***************************************************************** 
From: Michael Higuera  
Sent: Wednesday, September 04, 2013 8:11 PM 
To: Matheson, Valerie; Kristin Cannon 
Subject: Re: [MapletonHillNeighborhood] ear tagged sow + 2 cubs near 11th and Aurora 
yesterday 9/3 
 
My preference is to require bear proof trash cans for residents in areas bears frequent.  
Preferably distributed by the city or garbage company so there is no way to opt out.  I think it's 
more equitable for the city to pay for these cans since wildlife is a public good and therefore the 
general public should pay to protect wildlife. 
 
Mike Higuera 

***************************************************************** 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 71Packet Page     307



 
 

I. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

PowerPoint Presentation & Draft Ordinance 

 

  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 72Packet Page     308



 
 

 

  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 73Packet Page     309



 

 
 

 

  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 74Packet Page     310



 

 

 

  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 75Packet Page     311



 
 

 

  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 76Packet Page     312



 

 

  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 77Packet Page     313



 
 

 

 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 78Packet Page     314



 
 

 

  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 79Packet Page     315



 
 

 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 80Packet Page     316



 

 

  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 81Packet Page     317



 

II. ONLINE SURVEY RESULTS 
 
Summary  
Survey was available at www.boulderwildlife plan.net from Nov. 22- Dec.23, 2013 
302 respondents 
 

Q1 - Where in Boulder should trash and compost be secured to protect bears? (rank the options)   

Most people favored focusing on Bear Zone Three, but only by a few percentage points as noted below:    

- Approximately 79% of respondent agree or somewhat agree with Bear Zone One. 

- Approximately 82% agree or somewhat agree with Bear Zone Two. 

- Approximately 83% agree or somewhat agree with Bear Zone Three. 

- 21% agree or somewhat agree with not requiring trash and compost to be secured to protect 

bears nowhere 

Q2 – How should trash and compost be secured to protect bears?   Of 297 responses, most people 

agreed with or somewhat agree with Storage Option 2 (trash and compost in alleys should be secured in 

bear resistant containers) but a few percentage points.  79% also favored Option1 (securing trash and 

compost in bear-resistant containers until 5:00 a.m. on collection day.  

Q3 – How should enforcement of trash and compost regulations be enhanced?  (rank the options)  

87% of the 297 respondents agree or somewhat agree with allowing offenders to purchase a bear-

resistant container instead of paying a fine (as in Durango).  76% of the respondents agree or somewhat 

agree with adding the option to ticket offenders even if officers cannot make direct contact.  53% of the 

respondents agree or somewhat agree with increasing the fine for first offenses.   

 
 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 82Packet Page     318



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 83Packet Page     319



 

 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 84Packet Page     320



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 85Packet Page     321



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 86Packet Page     322



 

 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 87Packet Page     323



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 88Packet Page     324



 

 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 89Packet Page     325



 

 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 90Packet Page     326



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 91Packet Page     327



 

 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 92Packet Page     328



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 93Packet Page     329



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 94Packet Page     330



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 95Packet Page     331



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 96Packet Page     332



 

 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 97Packet Page     333



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 98Packet Page     334



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 99Packet Page     335



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 100Packet Page     336



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 101Packet Page     337



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 102Packet Page     338



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 103Packet Page     339



 

 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 104Packet Page     340



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 105Packet Page     341



 

 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 106Packet Page     342



 

 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 107Packet Page     343



 

 
 

III. DECEMBER 9, PUBLIC MEETING FEEDBACK 
 
Electronic Survey Results 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 108Packet Page     344



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 109Packet Page     345



 

 

  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 110Packet Page     346



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 111Packet Page     347



 

 
 

 
 
III. DECEMBER 9, PUBLIC MEETING FEEDBACK 
 
Notes from Meeting Discussion 
 
Bear Meeting Comments, Questions and Discussion Notes  
West Senior Center 
5:30-7:30 p.m. 
12/9/13 
29 attendees 
 
Questions and Comments 

 Steve Jones (Audubon Society) 
o There is not too much community consensus and bears have right to survive. Don’t 

move in and shoot 
o Moving forward: don’t put all costs west of Broadway 

 Subsidies. Do as a community 
 Hope something happens quickly 

 Steve Ramy (Homeowner) 
o Mischaracterized mood – not sad, “outraged.” Started with wrong problem statement. 

Solution is not just trash 
 Crack down on trash problem 
 Manage parks and wildlife 
 Don’t pass calls 
 “One strike law” is unfair to bears (needs to change) 
 No track record of causing harm 
 More active role 
 Be harsh on citizens as bears have no lenience 

 Rosemary Hegerty (Martin acres) 
o Bears are starting to move there and worried about bears moving east. 
o Choke cherries gone, bears  will have a hard time, due to floods 
o People need to take responsibility 
o Trash strewn – trash cans poorly designed 

 Western could help more with trash cans 
o Safety factor for different times of day 

 Why is trash not being picked up until 3 but has to be out so early? 
 Val regarding securing trash: 

 Will they change behavior? Based on what we’re seeing and know now 

 Recognize they are coming from the west 
o Is 5 miles a small radius? 
o Don’t understand thinking about Broadway 

 Kathy Creenstein (on Hill) 
o Why not consider relocating bears? More proliferation of bears going to increase 
o Education doesn’t work (students) 
o Why aren’t people nervous about children? 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 112Packet Page     348



 
 

o Problem has increased dramatically 
o We alone are getting older, making it difficult to live in Boulder 
o Relocate – they come back. 
o Students, in this context to relocate, animals 

 Marge Leget 
o What about citizen enforcement? Same offenders all the time 
o Hotline – so it doesn’t put additional stress on the city. (in each area, agent or walk 

leader) 
o Doorhangers part of education process 

 Caroline (on Hill, resident with students) 
o Dumpsters are in back, do we have information on dumpsters? 

 For commercial or multiunit 

 No name stated 
o Did city look into more officers per week? 
o Make sure people have enough trash so not over-flowing 
o More frequent 
o Multifaceted problem – no one disagrees there. Changing human behavior won’t solve 

problem, bears will venture further – new neighborhoods 
o Mammoth Lakes solved this issues as a city 

 Better enforcement etc. for people 
 Hired a person year round to harass with noise (“bear whisperer”) 
 He consults with communities 

o Can’t look in cubby hole 
o Have entity to change bears behavior 
o Never work if we don’t address on parallel level 
o Presentation focuses on options 
o People should know they should scare them 

  

 Are we looking at survey options or comments? Any additional on website. 

 Is an option to enforce the law now? (do nothing) 

 Marilyn Johnson 
o What exactly would we go to City Council? 
o No recommendation yet 
o Problem with 5:00am unlatching cans 

 It doesn’t make sense. Why have unlatched cans? Keep them latched 
o Bear saver – said don’t latch during hibernation 
o Trash should be secured 
o Are we going to municipalize?  

 Brenda Lee 
o Some ideas should be incorporated in council feedback. Hope to see it expanded 
o Add an option. Surprised that feedback isn’t incorporated in current options 
o What about suggestion about enforcement? 

 Not very positive – trash hauler? Why not them? Why isn’t this an option for 
people to consider? 

 (to not penalize those who are doing a good job) 

 Not included because relationships with officers vs. trash hauler (this 
would change relationship) 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 113Packet Page     349



 

 

o Enforcement hasn’t been to community expectation 
o Conflict of current expectation  
o Thank you Val 

 Hank 
o Agree with statement about locking trash all over, not just at Broadway 

 Mark Rushton 
o Product can shed LD certified as bear resistant enclosure 
o Habitat has been changed 
o Look to plant food in nature (berries) 
o Support cleaning up landfills 
o Littering neighborhoods with  96 gallon carts demo/prototype 
o 20 units – no change 

  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 114Packet Page     350



 
 

III. DECEMBER 9, PUBLIC MEETING FEEDBACK 
 
Comment Forms

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 115Packet Page     351



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 116Packet Page     352



 

 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 117Packet Page     353



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 118Packet Page     354



 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 119Packet Page     355



 

 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 120Packet Page     356



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 121Packet Page     357



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 122Packet Page     358



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 123Packet Page     359



 

 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 124Packet Page     360



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 125Packet Page     361



 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 126Packet Page     362



 

 
 

 
  

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 127Packet Page     363



 

 

Attachment C 
Public Feedback and Survey Results

Agenda Item 6A     Page 128Packet Page     364



Attachment D 
Colorado Parks and Wildlife Letter of Support

Agenda Item 6A     Page 129Packet Page     365



Attachment D 
Colorado Parks and Wildlife Letter of Support

Agenda Item 6A     Page 130Packet Page     366



Attachment D 
Colorado Parks and Wildlife Letter of Support

Agenda Item 6A     Page 131Packet Page     367



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 132Packet Page     368



Valmont Rd

Baseline Rd

Pearl P
y

Pearl St

Colorado Av

Arapahoe Av

G
re

en
br

ia
r B

v
Balsam Av

Spruce St

Edgewood Dr

Table Mesa Dr

Iris Av

Yarmouth Av

Jay Rd

Canyon Bv

Walnut St

South Boulder Rd

US Hwy 36

Diag
on

al 

Hy

Le
hi

gh
 S

t

F lagst
aff 

Rd

17
th

 S
t

Fo
ls

om 
St

30
th

 S
t

B
ro

ad
w

ay

55
th

 S
t

S
 C

he
rr

yv
al

e 
R

d

28th S
t

Lee Hill Dr

9t
h 

S
t

47
th

 S
t

Fo
ot

hi
lls

 P
y

C
h e

r r
yv

al
e 

R
d

Reported Bear Sightings 2009 - 2013
Within City of Boulder Limits

Sightings by Year
2009
2010
2011

2012

2013

Major Lakes
City Limits

Open Space and Mountain Parks Property
Conservation Easement
Fee Property
Miscellaneous Easement

Alley
Highway
Local Street
Major Road
Minor Road

Creek
Creek, Intermittent
Ditch

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Bear Locations 2009-2013 - 11x17.mxd - 12/20/2013

Agenda Item 6A     Page 133Packet Page     369

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

meltm1
Typewritten Text

meltm1
Typewritten Text

meltm1
Typewritten Text
		

meltm1
Typewritten Text

meltm1
Typewritten Text

meltm1
Typewritten Text
Map of Reported Bear Sightings 2009-2013

meltm1
Typewritten Text

meltm1
Typewritten Text
Attachment E



Agenda Item 6A     Page 134Packet Page     370



Evaluation of the Effectiveness and Feasibility of Systems that Secure 
Trash from Bears 

 
The following is a description of systems designed to secure trash from bears. The systems 
are described from most effective to least effective.  It is important to note these systems are 
shown as a gradient of deterring bears from accessing waste.  Few municipalities have 
established a “bear-proof” waste storage system which involves metal communal receptacles, 
and none have been implemented in the US. (Canmore, Alberta population 12,000, and 
Whistler, British Colombia population 9,500 are examples of communities with “bear-proof 
waste storage systems).  Municipalities in the US have addressed bear-trash conflicts by 
trying to deter bears by making it harder to access trash.  Bear-deterrent systems do not 
ensure a bear will not break the securing system but aim to make it harder to access food in 
town than in natural areas so that bears don’t rely on human generated foods. Some systems 
are more effective than others.  This section describes systems used in the US from most 
effective to least effective.  It also includes an evaluation of how feasible the particular 
system would be in Boulder. 
 
Communal enclosures 
The most effective long-term solution to securing trash from bears is to establish communal 
trash enclosures that serve approximately 20 residences per enclosure. (For more information 
on evaluating the effectiveness of waste management collection systems visit: 
www.bearsmart.com.)  The town of Snowmass Village has instituted a system of communal 
enclosures and, based on reports from Area CPW officer Kevin Wright, and Snowmass 
Village Animal Services Officer Laurie Smith, the system is working for their community.  
Due to challenges in identifying space for communal dumpsters in areas where bears most 
commonly access trash in Boulder, communal dumpsters are not listed as an option at this 
time, but they will continued to be explored as a long term solution. 
 
Individual enclosures 
On the spectrum of effectiveness in securing trash form bears, individual enclosures for 
storing waste containers fall below communal enclosures but are more effective than bear-
resistant carts that are stored outside.  Bears are less likely to break into a shed or trash 
enclosure than a bear-resistant container. However, not all residences in are able to build 
storage structures due to building restrictions. 
 
“Bear-resistant” carts and dumpsters 
The term “bear-resistant” in this context refers to containers that have been through testing 
with captive bears, and were approved as “bear-resistant’ through the Interagency Grizzly 
Bear Committee's (IGBC) Bear-Resistant Products Testing Program, or the Living With 
Wildlife Foundation.  Certification through this process currently means the container, which 
contained an attractant, remained closed for 60 minutes with a bear and was still usable after 
that 60 minute period.  The polycarts are usually made of strong plastic and have metal 
latches.  Dumpsters are usually metal with metal lids.  It is important to note that these carts 

Attachment F 
Trash Storage Systems and Boulder's Current Practices

Agenda Item 6A     Page 135Packet Page     371



are not “bear-proof” but are designed to deter bears by making it harder for them to get to 
waste. This system involves container similar to most trash and compost carts, and dumpsters 
used in Boulder today, except the containers are heavier and dumpsters have heavier lids.   
The City of Durango is currently partnering with Colorado Parks and Wildlife (CWP) to 
conduct a multiyear study on effective methods for reducing bear-human conflicts. As part of 
the study, approximately 900 city residents received wildlife-resistant polycart garbage 
containers in 2013. The study, which commenced in 2011, will continue through November 
of 2015.  At this time, there are no preliminary results of the study. 
 
Retrofit for carts currently in use 
Retrofitting existing carts to address bear issues has been appealing to many municipalities, 
because making use of existing carts is much more cost effective than buying new carts.  
Until companies started designing and manufacturing bear-resistant carts, all of the available 
bear-resistant carts were regular “off-the-shelf” carts that were modified by adding 
hardware.  These retrofits had issues with metal banding rusting, bending, or being pulled off 
by bears or damaged after repeated hauling.  Rivets popped off after the plastic around the 
rivets begins to crack, etc.  So the lifespan has shown to be a lot shorter with retrofitted carts.  
Squamish, BC is currently using a retrofitted cart that has been bear tested, and seems to be 
working according to Squamish WildSafe BC Community Coordinator, though like all bear 
resistant containers bears are able to penetrate the securing mechanism. 
 

 

Attachment F 
Trash Storage Systems and Boulder's Current Practices

Agenda Item 6A     Page 136Packet Page     372



Analysis of  Trash Storage Approaches to Deter Bears

Approach                      Effectiveness                      Feasibility

1.Communal Enclosure

2. Pick up at individual residences
Stored “inside” (i.e. garage, shed, 
bear resistant trash enclosure)
Until morning of pick up

3. Pick up at individual residences
Stored outside in bear-resistant container
            

4. Pick up at individual residences
Stored outside in retro fitted 
bear-resistant container 

(Snowmass)

(Aspen)

(Virginia)

(Durango)

 Good                         High

 Better                         Medium

 Best                         Low

Less
than

Good
High

Attachment F 
Trash Storage Systems and Boulder's Current Practices

Agenda Item 6A     Page 137Packet Page     373



Agenda Item 6A     Page 138Packet Page     374



Boulder’s Current Practices in Comparison to Aspen. 

The current Boulder Revised Code, 1981 offers some proactive measures aimed at managing 
wildlife attractants: 
 
• Section 6-3-3 prohibits the accumulation of trash, recyclables, and compostables. 
• Section 6-3-5(a)(1) requires that trash, recyclables, and compostables be stored in 

containers so that it is not overflowing and is not scattered by animals. 
• Section 6-3-5(a)(9) prohibits placing trash, recyclables, and compostables out for 

collection before 5 a.m. on collection day and requires that containers be removed by 9 
p.m. the same day.  This section includes an exception for public alleys. 

• Section 6-3-9 requires rental properties in the University Hill and Goss-Grove areas to 
maintain daily trash service Monday through Saturday during spring and fall periods 
published by the city. 

 
However,  current trash storage requirements fall below the Bear Smart Society’s “Good” 
rating of waste storage systems because bear resistant containers are not required for outdoor 
trash storage, or when containers are put out to the curb for trash pickup (see table one 
below). 
 

 Table 1.  Bear Smart Community rating system for waste management collection systems 
(from Bear Smart Society: www.bearsmart.com). 

 
GOOD 

 

 
BETTER 

 
BEST 

Curbside Pickup: Garbage 
stored indoors until day of 
pick up, or in bear-resistant 
containers outdoors - place 
curbside only on morning of 
pick-up. 

Main bear-proof compactor 
sites for general use placed 
strategically at points in 
community by which 
residents regularly travel. 

100% bear-proof 
receptacles placed 
throughout community - 
one for every 30 homes + 
bear-proof receptacles for 
commercial use (incl. 
garbage, recycling & 
grease). 

 
 
Staff compared Boulder’s current waste management practices to those in other communities 
in North America and Canada that also identify bear activity as a potential problem in their 
cities. Of the communities researched, Town of Snowmass Village, Aspen, and Durango 
provided the most useful information because of recent updates to their regulations.   

 
Aspen is particularly notable, as the city has implemented a trash ordinance requiring bear 
resistant containers as of June 1, 2010.  This updated ordinance requires trash to be stored in 
a way that is considered “Good” in the Bear Smart Society rating system for waste 
management.  Prior to 2010, residents who were issued a summons for a black bear in trash 
were given the option to purchase a bear resistant container in lieu of paying a fine.  In 2009, 
Aspen experienced record high bear reports in town, which led to the more restrictive trash 
ordinance implemented in 2010.  The ordinance changes did not seem to reduce the numbers 

Attachment F 
Trash Storage Systems and Boulder's Current Practices

Agenda Item 6A     Page 139Packet Page     375

http://www.bearsmart.com/�


of bears that come into town, but the Aspen community Safety Officer believes the changes 
have resulted in fewer bear-trash conflicts and fewer bears being killed.  Aspen Police 
website states: Due to drought conditions and poor natural food sources during 2012, bears 
ventured into town in high volumes. This was the first true test of the revamped wildlife 
ordinances. The department received record 1,040 bear calls in 2012 yet fewer bears were 
relocated and euthanized in Aspen than in previous years (1 and 2, respectively). There were 
also significantly fewer trash violations, especially in residential areas of town. We believe 
the community prevented the unnecessary death of bears by embracing local trash 
ordinances and taking preventative measures to bear-proof their homes.  
 

Aspen Police Department Annual Summary of Total Black Bear Calls for Service 
2007  2008  2009  2010_____2012 
638  82  713  351          1,040

Attachment F 
Trash Storage Systems and Boulder's Current Practices

Agenda Item 6A     Page 140Packet Page     376



Attachment G 
Trash Hauler Costs for Bear-Resistant Containers

Agenda Item 6A     Page 141Packet Page     377



Attachment G 
Trash Hauler Costs for Bear-Resistant Containers

Agenda Item 6A     Page 142Packet Page     378



Attachment G 
Trash Hauler Costs for Bear-Resistant Containers

Agenda Item 6A     Page 143Packet Page     379



Attachment G 
Trash Hauler Costs for Bear-Resistant Containers

Agenda Item 6A     Page 144Packet Page     380



ONE WAY, INC. 
P.O. BOX 376 
HYGIENE CO 80533 

P.O. BOX 704 ∙ LYONS, COLORADO ∙ 80540 
PHONE: (303) 823 – 0556 ∙ FAX: (303) 823 – 2451 ∙ E-MAIL: ONEWAYTRASH@AOL.COM 

DBA ONE WAY TRASH 

DBA ONE WAY DISPOSAL 

Monday, January 13, 2014 
 
 
 
Valerie Matheson 
Urban Wildlife Conservation Coordinator 
1739 Broadway, 4th Floor 
Boulder CO 80306 
 

 
RE: Impacts of the City of Boulder Requiring Bear Resistant Containers for Trash & Compost Storage 
 
 
One Way, Inc. supports the implementation of a trash & compost storage ordinance in areas with high bear 
activity. We offer our full cooperation with such an ordinance.   
 
Collection of Bear Resistant Containers or Collection from Enclosures 

One Way, Inc. offers customers a unique service in Boulder. We accommodate customer’s individual 
needs through a traditional manner that does not use automated systems. We currently service several 
different models of bear resistant containers which we will collect at the curb, at your door or from an 
enclosure. Containers are returned to a designated location ensuring that the streets are clear and the 
container does not blow away. These services are provided at no additional cost to the customer. 

 
Service Capabilities 

One Way currently services approximately 240 residential accounts in the City of Boulder. We operate 
residential routes in Boulder two days per week. With our current operation we would be able to collect 
approximately 800 customers per week. With advance notice we would be able to acquire the 
appropriate equipment and labor to service a larger number of customers. 

 
Costs 

Our main concern is the cost to implement this ordinance. From our experience, a majority of 
customers subscribe to 32-gallons trash and 65-gallons compost. To accommodate 26,000 customers 
with a 32-gallon bear resistant trash can and a 65-gallon bear resistant compost can it would cost 
approximately 9.3 million dollars*. This is a costly investment to both residents and haulers; even if the 
haulers make the initial investment these costs will be passed onto the resident. Smaller haulers and 
low income households may not be able to overcome these economic barriers therefore we request 
that some sort of economic assistance to haulers or residents is considered to ease this burden.  

 
Alternate Options 

To provide our current 240 customers with the appropriate containers it would cost One Way 
approximately $38,640 (240 x $161*) for trash cans and $47,040 (240 x $196*) for compost containers. 
One Way would need to come up with an initial investment of approximately $85,680 to accommodate 
our 240 customers with bear resistant containers. We favor providing residents the option to install a 
bear resistance enclosure on their property. Residents could safely store trash & compost in the 
enclosure and not worry about placing receptacles “out” on trash day. This would keep neighborhood 

Attachment G 
Trash Hauler Costs for Bear-Resistant Containers

Agenda Item 6A     Page 145Packet Page     381



streets clean and clear while protecting residents from the loss of their container (high winds often 
cause containers to blow away – a costly occurrence with bear containers priced over $100 per 
container). We are currently looking into cost effective storage enclosures to offer residents. 

 
*Pricing for 32-gallon & 64-gallon bear resistant containers used from examples provided on the Urban 
Wildlife website (www.bearsavers.com). 
 
         Sincerely, 
 
         Landa Montoya 

Vice President of Administration 
         One Way, Inc. 
         (303) 823-0556 

Attachment G 
Trash Hauler Costs for Bear-Resistant Containers

Agenda Item 6A     Page 146Packet Page     382



Proposed trash and curbside compost storage options 
compared to other communities and the Bear Smart Society’s 

rating of waste management systems

                Better Bear Smart Community rating 
system for  waste management

Canmore
Alberta

Bear-proof 
communal
enclosure

Snowmass

Bear-resistant 
communal
enclosure

Proposed Options

Whistler
British Columbia

Bear-proof 
community 
compactor

Good 

Durango

Resistant carts 
required after 
trash is strewn

Carts unlatched 
morning of 

pick-up

Boulder
Option 2 

Resistant carts 
required for 
alley storage

Carts unlatched 
morning of 

pick-up

Boulder
Option 1

Curbside 
pick-up stored 

indoors or 
in resistant 
containers

Carts unlatched 
morning of 

pick-up

Aspen
New Option 3

Curbside 
pick-up stored 

‘indoors’ in 
bear resistant 

containers

Latched carts 
put out morning 

of pick-up

Best

Attachment H 
Proposed Options Compared to Other Communities

Agenda Item 6A     Page 147Packet Page     383

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text

Mathv1
Typewritten Text



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 148Packet Page     384



 

 
 
To: Mark Beckner, Chief 
 
Thru: Carey Weinheimer, Commander 
 
From: Jennifer Riley, Code Enforcement Supervisor 
 
Date: December 19, 2013 
 
Ref: Staffing Recommendation 
 
 
This memo is in response to an email request from the city manager to evaluate recommendations for staffing 
levels for nuisance enforcement that are anticipated to be discussed at the City Council and in reference to 
enforcement of trash regulations to secure waste from wildlife.  
 
For the past two years the CE unit has participated in the Bear Education and Enforcement (BEEP) pilot 
program with the city Wildlife Coordinator and the Colorado Parks and Wildlife. The BEEP involved a citizen 
feedback campaign intended to engage the residents’ for solutions to bears disrupting waste within the city. 
Through this feedback, the residents have identified increased enforcement as a solution to this issue. It was 
also documented through diligent records keeping of enforcement staff that education did not produce a 
behavior change, while enforcement made a significant change in the residents’ storage of waste. The BEEP 
program will be reporting results and findings of the two year pilot and making staff recommendations to 
improve securing waste from bears in January 2014.  
 
Currently, the Code Enforcement (CE) unit is staffed with two full-time CE Officers and a working Supervisor 
to provide nuisance code enforcement to the 101,808 residents within the 43,479 housing units in Boulder. This 
level of staff provides one CE officer per 40,723 residents or per 17,392 housing units that are distributed within 
the five police patrol districts. Due to the administrative duties, the working supervisor has been calculated as 
half an officer. The CE schedule is Monday-Friday from 0700-1700 except city observed holidays. CE utilizes 
the live dispatch system and mobile devices coupled with cloud based data management to help leverage current 
staff levels to be more efficient and responsive. The unit embraces a community policing approach to 
enforcement and a combination of both reactive (54% complaint based) and proactive (46% officer observed) 
responses. The unit enforces ordinances pertaining to quality of life issues such as: 

 
 Illegal Use of a Dumpster 5-4-12 
 Noxious Weeds 6-2 
 Outdoor Storage of Furniture 5-4-16 
 Overhanging/Obstructing ROW 8-6-3 
 Sidewalk Snow Removal 8-2-13 
 Signs in ROW 5-4-15 

 
 Smoking in Public Places 6-4-3 
 Special Trash Service Required 6-3-9 
 Trash Storage and Accumulation 6-3 
 Use of Pesticides 6-10 
 Weed and Brush Control 6-2 
 Wood Burning Restrictions 6-9-3 

 
 
 

 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 

Code Enforcement Unit 
Boulder Police Department 

Office 303-441-1875  
www.bouldercolorado.gov

Attachment I 
Code Enforcement Staffing Recommendation

Agenda Item 6A     Page 149Packet Page     385



The city manager also asked the PD to identify the staffing that would be needed to execute a trash enforcement 
plan and the costs that would need to be covered in terms of personnel and non personnel expenses. The city 
manager further inquired if these new employees would also be able to enforce other laws while checking for 
trash violations, and if so which ones. 
 
In evaluating the most effective use of staff time, skills, resources, and budget; I would recommend exploring 
the option to add a CE Officer ($18.81-$30.10) and an Administrative Specialist I ($15.72-$23.94).  
 
Even with the use of our mobile technologies, a CE officer will average 20% (8 hours) of a 40 hour work week 
on data entry in the office. The addition of an administrative specialist will allow the code officer to remain in 
the field as opposed to conducting data entry and records maintenance.  This will also increase report 
consistency, expedite time sensitive mailings, and increase phone service on the CE general number (currently 
unanswered while officers are in the field). This position would allow the unit to provide 18% more 
enforcement per officer (54% more with three officers). 
 
If a third CE Officer were to be added, this level of staff would be able to provide one CE officer per 29,088 
residents or per 12,423 housing units that are distributed within the five police patrol districts. With the addition 
of a third CE officer the district assignments would be redistributed to make a dedicated officer for district 3 
which is our high volume area. The officer would enforce all codes that are the responsibility of this unit, 
thereby not only working to address securing waste from bears but also other quality of life concerns throughout 
the whole city. This would be a more efficient use of staff budget as the bear concerns is a seasonal issue.  
 
To accommodate the recommended staff, the unit could be relocated to the second level of the Pearl St annex, 
mall officers could utilize the first floor desks and resources that were vacated by CE. The relocation would cost 
$0.00 by utilizing the current desk units. No new vehicles would need to be added as the unit currently has three 
vehicles. No new desktop computers would need to be added as the current desk units all have computers. One 
mobile device would need to be purchased for the new officer as well as uniform costs.  
 
This recommendation would improve the capabilities of the CE unit by increasing the time spent in the field for 
CE officers providing more enforcement of waste storage from bears and other quality of life concerns for the 
community and addressing the Council’s priority. This would also increase customer service, expedite time 
sensitive mailings and case entry, and help improve the consistency, and efficiencies of the unit while using 
budget resources in a responsible way. Through consistent and engaged enforcement, CE would strive to 
improve voluntary compliance of storing waste from bears and all quality of life violations by influencing the 
communities’ view and overall culture of these issues.   
 
Staffing Cost Options Outlined: 
 
Administrative and Officer: 

 Entry Lvl Staff Total Compensation- Administrative- $43,160.00/yr (30% for benefits) 
                                        Officer- $50,869.00/yr (30% for benefits) 
                             Total- $94,029.00/yr 

 Start-up Equipment Requirement-     Administrative- $0.00 (Utilize Current) 
                       Officer- $800.00/Mobile Device; $2,000.00/Uniforms 
                       Total- $2,800.00 
                       Total All- $96,829.00 
 

 

Attachment I 
Code Enforcement Staffing Recommendation

Agenda Item 6A     Page 150Packet Page     386



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

MEETING DATE: January 21, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Matter from the City Manager - Discussion regarding upcoming 
supplemental appropriations for the new .15% transportation tax and non-medical 
marijuana taxes.  
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  

Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Elena Lazarevska, Senior Financial Analyst                                                    
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

In anticipation of revenue collections associated with taxes approved by voters in 
November 2013, the following schedule is proposed for council consideration: 
 
Date Item 
January 21 Matter from City Manager – discuss supplemental appropriations 
February 4 First Reading – consent 
February 18 Second Reading – Public Hearing 
 
Transportation Tax 
The $4.5 million in the restricted transportation fund is proposed to be appropriated in the 
following manner (additional detail can be found in Attachment A): 
Pavement Maintenance    $1,400,000 
Routine Maintenance     $   700,000 
Transit/TDM/Planning   $   400,000 
Additional Capacity for Multi-Modal  $1,000,000 
Replenish Operating Reserve used in flood $1,000,000 
Total      $4,500,000 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 1Packet Page     387



 
Non-medical marijuana taxes 
Due to the staggered start of non-medical marijuana businesses, there is likely to be a 
slower start to revenue collections for this new category. In an effort to ensure that the 
November 2013 ballot language complied with Taxpayer Bill of Rights (TABOR) 
requirements, $3.3 million was identified as the amount that would be collected under the 
maximum tax rates that council could set in the first year. At the rate that was actually set 
(which was not at maximum), $2 million in new marijuana taxes is projected for 
collection in 2014. 
 
Due to considerable uncertainty about the expenditure impact of the new marijuana 
business on city operations, best estimates and projections have been made regarding 
staffing needs and workloads.  Based on internal discussions regarding educational 
efforts regarding non-medical usage of marijuana, it became apparent that additional 
input and data is needed before final recommendations can be made.  As a result, 
flexibility will be key with regard to staffing impacts, needs and revenue projections in 
2014.   
 
Toward that end, operating costs for known appropriations are proposed in Attachment 

B.  In an effort to address unknown costs (such as operating, educational programs, etc), 
a contingency appropriation is proposed with a remainder contingency that would be 
discussed and reviewed by council during the second quarter of 2014.  For illustrative 
purposes, a supplemental $2 million appropriation is presented in the analysis section of 
this memo for council consideration. 
 
Since initial council discussions regarding taxing marijuana, it has become evident that 
this is a unique business segment.  It is a new sector with no empirical evidence regarding 
revenues and expenditures the city will incur.  As a result, flexibility in the coming years 
will be key to deal with costs that will arise. 
 
Staff recommends that all marijuana revenues be deposited into the general fund and all 
approved expenses be paid by the general fund.  Under that recommendation, any 
restricted fund that incurs costs would request funding for these expenditures from the 
general fund through the budget process.  By doing so, the city can look across the 
organization to combine similar programs and costs relative to this new business 
segment.  As a result, revenue allocations would be made.   
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the following format: 
 

Provide input and guidance on the proposed process for bringing forward the 
supplemental appropriations for the taxes approved by the voters in November of 2014 
for transportation and non-medical marijuana.  
 
 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 2Packet Page     388



 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
  

 Economic  
Marijuana: The imposition of an additional tax on non-medical marijuana may 
cover the indirect costs to the city of marijuana use and allow the city to provide 
comprehensive substance abuse programs to mitigate the negative effects of abuse 
of marijuana.  
 
Transportation: The safe and efficient movement of goods and people is essential 
to Boulder’s economy.  The costs of maintaining roads and other facilities are 
increasing as sales tax revenue and purchasing power are decreasing.  Without 
additional funding for transportation, the condition of our transportation 
infrastructure will decline. 
 

 Environmental  
Marijuana: At this time none have been specifically identified.  As this new 
business segment matures more will become known about the environmental 
impacts of non-medical marijuana. 
 
Transportation: Safe, convenient and reliable transportation options are necessary 
to reduce single-occupant vehicle use and transportation-related emissions, and to 
otherwise meet the goals of the Transportation Master Plan (TMP) and Climate 
Commitment. Without additional transportation funding, there will be less money 
available to maintain and enhance the city’s transportation system.   
 

 Social  
Marijuana: The social impacts of legalized non-medical marijuana have yet to be 
identified. The ordinance that accompanied the ballot measure for these new taxes 
was written to mitigate those impacts by using tax funds collected from non-
medical marijuana businesses to fund education and treatment. 
 
Transportation:  A properly maintained multimodal transportation system benefits 
all members of the public. 

 
 
OTHER IMPACTS  

 Fiscal 
In the restricted Transportation Fund, $4.5 million would be appropriated from 
additional projected revenue due to the increased tax rate.  
  
An additional $2 million would be appropriated in the General Fund from 
projected revenue due to the new taxes.  

o With regard to the marijuana impacts, when compiling and analyzing  
direct and indirect costs by departments, it was determined  that all such costs 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 3Packet Page     389



are expected to be borne by those departments or programs that are supported 
and paid for by the general fund.  

 Staff time 
While some of the costs will be absorbed in the normal staff workload, the 
proposed supplemental appropriation ordinance will appropriate funding for the 
increased staff and other resources needed to implement the new programs and 
services. 
 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

The Transportation Advisory Board (TAB) reviewed and recommended the tax, the level 
of funding and uses of funds.  TAB hosted the Transportation Finance Task Force that 
helped deliberate on the level of funding and uses of funds; had multiple public meetings; 
and deliberated about the level of funding and the use of funds as a part of their 
recommendation(s) to council.    
 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK  

Significant public participation was received during the city council meetings when the 
new marijuana taxes were being vetted for the final ballot language and during the 
meetings when the time was set to start receiving marijuana licenses.  
 
BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

 

Expenditures and revenues for new taxes 

On November 5, 2013, voters approved the following tax measures:  
 
 (a) an increase in the tax restricted to Transportation; and 
 (b) specific taxes on the sale of non-medical marijuana.   
 
At the time the ballot passed, the 2014 budget had already been adopted and it was not 
certain if and when new revenues would flow to the city if any of the taxes passed.   
 
Transportation: 
The approval by the voters raised the restricted transportation tax from .60% to .75%.  
The appropriation and treatment of revenues received for the new transportation tax is 
very straight forward.  The revenues were approved to be used for transportation only so 
they will be deposited into the transportation fund and the proposed appropriation are all 
for transportation purposes that will be paid out of the transportation fund. The 
incremental revenue is projected to generate approximately $4.5 million in the first year 
(rounded up from $4.48 on the ballot). 
 
Non-Medical Marijuana: 
The new non-medical marijuana taxes are not as straight forward.  One tax is for an 
additional 3.5% on top of the 3.56% for retail sales (total of 7.06%). A second tax is a 
5.0% excise tax on all cultivation facilities.  In addition, the state will share back a 
portion of the statewide sales based on City of Boulder amount of marijuana sales to total 
marijuana sales in the state. 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 4Packet Page     390



 
With regard to expenditures, staff has made projections to determine the increased 
workload. To date, all of the costs are for programs that are in the general fund (police, 
fire, human services, licensing, planning) or will be paid by the general fund even though 
they are in another fund (building inspections). 
 
While staff has worked diligently to identify all associated costs, it is likely that there will 
be unknown costs that will be identified during the first few years that will have to be 
addressed outside of the regular budget cycle.  Additional work also needs to be done on 
educational programs regarding what the programs should be and what level of resources 
is needed to fund these programs.   
 
Since the ballot language did not set a certain percentage or dollar amount for educational 
programs, staff suggests the development of a process to allocate funds for such 
programs. For the first year, staff recommends that $250,000 (which represents 12.5% of 
revenues) be placed in an educational contingency for such programs and a process be 
developed to allocate the funds. While an amount had to be determined for 2014, staff 
does not recommend that a target amount or percentage be established for perpetuity 
based on the need for flexibility and agility to meet changing needs in the future. 
 
While the projected revenue for the first year is $2.0 million, the actual amount will be 
higher or lower.  Due to several factors, the degree of variation one way or the other 
creates a significant challenge.  As a result, flexibility and agility will be needed to 
respond if projections are significantly lower or higher than projected. 
 
Since the start of non-medical marijuana businesses was staggered, the full impact of 
monthly revenue collections will not be known until at least the third quarter of 2014. 
There is approximately a 45 day lag from the end of a month until revenues are collected 
by the vendor, remitted to the city, and compiled and reported on by the city. Therefore, it 
is most likely that it will not be known until late 2014 if the $2 million projection will be 
exceeded.  As the revenue impact of this new business segment on current medical 
marijuana sales is unknown, it will be monitored closely by city staff during 2014.  
 
As a result of these uncertainties and the need for flexibility, the supplemental 
appropriations ordinance as proposed would appropriate: 
 

 operating costs in the amount that is based on the information known at this time 
($513,470), 

  a city manager’s contingency for direct and indirect costs unknown at this time 
that may occur in 2014 ($400,000), 

 an educational contingency to be allocated after an appropriate process is 
developed to meet city goals ($250,000), and 

 a separate contingency for the remaining amount up to the $2 million projected 
revenue amount ($836,530 if the projections are met).  This final contingency 
would (1) act as a buffer if revenues fall short of projections, and (2) be used to 
fund other one-time costs during 2014 if revenue projections are being met.   

Agenda Item 6B     Page 5Packet Page     391



 
In past council discussions regarding non-medical marijuana revenues and expenditures, 
staff has proposed that they both be treated annually as one-time in nature. The rationale 
for treatment as one-time is a result of the manner in which the federal government 
currently treats marijuana businesses – the industry is not recognized as legal under 
federal law. Under the best practices concept of using one-time revenue for one-time 
expenditures, it would mean that if the revenues were greatly reduced or eliminated by 
federal action, the matching one-time expenditures could also be eliminated or reduced to 
meet the new revenue level. To do this, costs need to be known at all times and an 
administrative budget process has to be in place that is flexible and can adapt as needed. 
The proposed process will meet these needs.  
 
Key indicators of when these types of revenues will become ongoing revenues include: 
when a significant number of additional states (or several large states) legalize the use of 
marijuana for other than medical purposes, or the laws are changed at the federal level to 
legalize the sale of marijuana.        
 
Where revenues will be deposited 

Transportation: The transportation tax will be deposited in the restricted transportation 
fund.   
 
Non-medical marijuana: According to the ballot language approved by voters, non-
medical marijuana taxes were not restricted to a specific program or fund.  The ballot 
language stated 
 
TAX TO BE USED FOR PUBLIC SAFETY, ENFORCEMENT AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE PURPOSES AND FOR COMPREHENSIVE SUBSTANCE 
ABUSE PROGBRAMS INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION PREVENTION, 
TREATMENT, EDUCATION, RESPONSBILE USE, INTERVENTION, AND 
MONITORING, WITH AN EMPHASIS ON YOUTH, AND WITH THE REMAINDER 
USED BY THE GENERAL FUND. 
 
Due to the high interest from the public, the council and the media in revenues and 
expenditures associated with medical marijuana, a great amount of interest in non-
medical marijuana revenues and expenditures incurred is anticipated.  Calculating the 
revenue collected from medical marijuana is a simpler accounting effort for the city since 
the tax rate as any other retail item sold in the city. 
 
The new marijuana taxes are more complex since there are separate types of taxes (excise 
and sales and use) with separate tax rates of their own (5.00% excise and 3.50% in 
addition to the 3.56% sales and use).  Therefore, the city needs to have an efficient and 
effective method to budget and account for both the revenues and the expenditures for 
this new and separate tax component. 
 

ATTACHMENTS  
A. Transportation memo regarding proposed uses of the tax increase 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 6Packet Page     392



B. 2014 proposed costs and contingency appropriations for non-medical marijuana 
revenue 

C. 2014 Revenue projections for non-medical marijuana 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 7Packet Page     393



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 8Packet Page     394



Transportation 2014 Overview 
 
Staff is proposing a 2014 Transportation Budget Supplemental which aligns new Transportation Sales 
and Use tax revenues with adopted budget guiding principles and priority based budgeting.  In concert 
with prioritized increases in the original 2014 budget, the focus is on safety, taking care of the existing 
infrastructure first - such as pavement repair, maintenance of the multi use path system, signs, 
markings, signals maintenance - with some capacity to improve the multimodal system.   
 
There was significant process and community outreach that supported the package for voter approval 
and this subsequent budget supplemental.  The Round One Capital Bond process identified capital 
investment priorities for the community and for Transportation, with top priority investments 
supporting maintenance and safety of the multimodal system with some capacity to expand the multi-
modal system.  A separate Transportation Funding Task Force and the Transportation Advisory Board 
process supported similar investment priorities and included capital maintenance and enhancement as 
well as operating and maintenance funding.   Overall, council endorsed a level of funding with the first 
16 years supported by sales and use tax and subsequent years to be supported with replacement 
funding that would be more tied to use (such as a VMT fee), to be determined through additional 
analysis and public process. 
 
There were four categories identified for increased funding during the Transportation Funding process 
with a fifth category added since the September floods.  There will be a combination of non-personnel 
expense, personnel expense, ongoing and one-time expenditures, and increased capital investment 
capacity.  The following categories would be increased by the approximate levels noted below.  
Categories one through four would be considered ongoing investment and category five would be 
considered one-time. 
 
Those categories are: 

1) Pavement Maintenance       $1,400,000   
2) Routine Maintenance       $    700,000 
3) Transit/TDM/Planning       $    400,000 
4) Additional Capacity to Improve Multi-modal System   $ 1,000,000 
5) Replenish Operating Reserve due to 2013 flood expenditures  $1,000,000 

 
Total          $4,500,000 
 
Transportation is likely to expend the entire 2013 transportation operating reserve on emergency 
response, debris removal and infrastructure repair related to the flood.  Staff believes it is a priority to 
restore the operating reserve in 2014 in order to respond to unanticipated emergencies such as floods 
and blizzards.  Fortunately, the new tax provides greater ability to replenish the reserve quickly.  The 
ongoing plan is for the operating reserve to increase another 14% in 2015 and then incrementally 
increase over the next several years to build and maintain capacity to respond to emergencies.  
Prioritizing significant reserve restoration in 2014 allows time for the Transportation Master Plan (TMP) 
Update to inform other strategic investments for the 2015 budget process. 
 
Most of the FTE’s that are requested in this supplemental budget went through a process with the 
Capital Bond  to determine sufficient staffing to support projects and programs approved by the voters.  
The latest Transportation funding approved by the voters will allow the city to continue and expand 
beyond the capital bond supported level of transportation maintenance and capacity building, on an 

Attachment A: Transportation tax increase uses

Agenda Item 6B     Page 9Packet Page     395



ongoing basis.  The additional increment of staffing beyond the Capital Bond supports operations such 
as bikeway maintenance and street sweeping.     
 
For additional context, the Transportation Division is not personnel intensive and has a strong track 
record for ongoing efficiency analyses and reallocations.  The current supplemental budget represents 
an approximate 22% increase in ongoing funding for the division, yet the ongoing staffing increase is just 
12%.   
 
Brief explanation of each of the four remaining investment categories: 
Pavement Maintenance – The increase allows for pavement maintenance to continue at 2011 capital 
bond-level investments and would maintain pavement condition ratings within the goal of 75-80 on a 
100 scale, a preferred practice.  There would be a combination of investments that would preserve 
pavement life including pavement overlay, chip and seal, major patching and crack filling.  Prior to 
roadway resurfacing, repairs to concrete curb, gutter and sidewalk is typically required.  Based on 
experience to date with the capital maintenance program and pavement management program, and 
guidance from a consultant on organizational change, this includes converting 1 fixed term FTE to 
standard and adding 1 FTE. 
 
Routine Maintenance – A number of routine maintenance programs would be increased including signs, 
markings and signals; transportation system engineering and safety investments; bike path 
maintenance; extending funding for the existing snow pilot program to ongoing (currently has one-time 
funding); median maintenance; graffiti; and street sweeping.  Staff is still evaluating personnel needs 
particularly in the signal maintenance program; however, at this time the Division’s proposal includes 1 
FTE for reallocation.  The Division additionally proposes 1.5 new FTE to implement this higher level of 
service for bikeway maintenance (also keeping pace with additions to the system), street sweeping (on-
street bike lane safety), safety engineering and signal system maintenance. 
 
Transit/Travel Demand Management (TDM)/Planning – The TMP Update is currently evaluating the 
transit system and there are two transit services in need of funding in 2014 – the HOP and Via Mobility 
Services.  In addition, due to program demand, Eco Pass program increases are warranted as well as 
other TDM program enhancements.  Furthermore, this work group supports overall expansion and 
safety of the multi-modal system.   Given ongoing staffing demands for project development and 
outreach, cross departmental efforts, and added/restored responsibilities, an existing, long-term 
temporary position is proposed to be converted to standard, ongoing position.   
 
Additional Capacity to Improve the Multi-modal System  – The supplemental includes an increase to the 
Capital Improvement Program (CIP) for multimodal improvements, partially reinstating previously 
reduced bicycle and pedestrian enhancements and increasing the city’s capacity to leverage external 
funding.  The TMP Update and the 2014 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) process will help 
guide and refine high priority projects selection/submittal.  This work group includes 2 existing fixed-
term FTE proposed to be converted to ongoing.  Also, based on guidance from an organizational 
consultant and workload evaluation, staffing recommendations include adding a 0.5 FTE to support this 
program. 

Attachment A: Transportation tax increase uses

Agenda Item 6B     Page 10Packet Page     396



Dept Name 2014 Expenditure Category Total Brief Description

City Attorney Expenses to hire outside counsel $75,000 This funding will be used to contract with outside attorneys for any litigation related to appeals of 
license denials and/or challenges to the ordinance

Finance Forensic Accountant - contract $100,000 This funding will be used to contract with a CPA firm to provide forensic accounting of non-medical 
marijuana revenue

Finance Licensing Clerks $96,470 This funding will be used for additional licensing FTEs

Police Vehicle $45,000 This funding will be used for a truck to remove and haul confiscated plants

Police Underage Enforcement $20,000 This funding will be used for police officer overtime

Police Equipment $2,500 This funding will be used for air masks

Police Training $2,500 This funding will be used for training for code enforcement

Fire Overtime costs for inspections and for 
training of staff to do the inspections

$12,000 This funding will be used for training and overtime compensation for fire code inspections

Planning and 
Development Services

Building & Associate Zoning Plans 
Examiner FTE

$85,000 This funding will be used for two-year fixed term building plans examiner position to prepare for the 
expected increase in non-medical marijuana permits and further expedite the issuance of other 
marijuana building permits

Planning and 
Development Services

Building Inspector/Enforcement FTE $75,000 This funding will be used for two-year fixed term building inspection/enforcement position to prepare 
for the expected increase in inspection activity related to the three phases of non-medical marijuana 
licensing and for new licensing once the moratorium expires

Subtotal, Operating Costs $513,470 

City Manager Office Contingency $400,000 This is contingency funding for unexpected costs related to non-medical marijuana

Human Services Educational program development and 
implementation

$250,000 This funding will be used for to work with community partners such as Boulder County Public Health, 
BVSD and Mental Health Partners on scoping and developing educational programs aimed at 
children and youth. Implement educational program(s) based on community needs, strategic direction 
and partnerships. This funding could also support additional .5 FTE as well as NPE funding

TBD Contingency to be allocated later in 2014 $836,530 Additional contingency funding to be allocated at a later date in 2014

Subtotal, Contingency $1,486,530 

TOTAL $2,000,000 

Attachment B:  2014 proposed costs and contingency appropriations for non-medical marijuana revenue

Agenda Item 6B     Page 11Packet Page     397



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 12Packet Page     398



                                                                            Non-Medical Marijuana Sales- Tax Generation Projections 

Medical Marijuana Sales (used as base for non-medical)  Current Sales

50% Increase 

over Current 

Sales

100% increase over 

Current Sales 

200% increase 

over Current 

Sales

Current and Projected Sales 24,000,000$        $36,000,000 $48,000,000 $72,000,000

Sales and Use Tax at 3.5% $840,000 $1,260,000 $1,680,000 $2,520,000

Estimated City Excise tax collected 

Excise Tax at 5% $480,000 $720,000 $960,000 $1,440,000

Projected Recreational Marijuana Sales

Based on  

Current Sales

50% Increase 

over Current 

Sales

100% increase over 

Current Sales 

200% increase 

over Current 

Sales

Estimated non-medical sales $24,000,000 $36,000,000 $48,000,000 $72,000,000

New state sales tax rate on non-medical marijuana 10.00%

City shareback from state 15%

Total sales tax received by the city from state shareback $360,000.00 $540,000.00 $720,000.00 $1,080,000.00

Incremental non-medical amount if projections are met $1,680,000.00 $2,520,000.00 $3,360,000.00 $5,040,000.00

Attachment C: 2014 Revenue projections for non-medical marijuana

Agenda Item 6B     Page 13Packet Page     399



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 14Packet Page     400



 
 

 
 
 

TO: Members of Council 
FROM: Dianne Marshall, City Clerk’s Office 
DATE: January 21, 2014 

SUBJECT: Information Packet 
 

1. Call Ups 
 None 

 
2. Information Item 

 A. Update on the Railroad Quiet Zone Study 
 

3. Boards and Commissions 
 A. Landmarks Board – December 4, 2013 

 
4. Declarations   

 A. Letter of Appreciation to Haydar Mirakhmatov  
  

Packet Page     401



 

Packet Page     402



 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 

MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
 Tracy Winfree, Director of Public Works for Transportation 
 Michael Gardner-Sweeney, Transportation Planning and Operations Coordinator 
 Kathleen Bracke, GO Boulder Manager 
 Cris Jones, GO Boulder Transportation Planner II 
 Stephany Westhusin, Transportation Capital Projects Manager 
 Alex May, Transportation Project Manager 
 
Date:   January 21, 2014 
 
Subject: Information Item: Update on the Railroad Quiet Zone Study   

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

In response to concerns expressed by Boulder community members regarding the impacts of 
train horn noise, the City of Boulder (city) commissioned a Railroad Quiet Zone study. The 
purpose of the study is to provide information, including cost estimates, to evaluate potential 
infrastructure improvements and non-infrastructure programs to reduce and/or eliminate train 
horn noise at the nine Burlington Northern Santa Fe (BNSF) railroad crossings located within 
and adjacent to the city.   The city is also partnering with Boulder County and neighboring cities 
such as Broomfield, Louisville, and Westminster to develop local quiet zone studies and leverage 
resources with consultants.  
 
Based on the study results, the total cost to create “quiet” crossings at nine locations ranges from 
approximately $2.4 million to $4.4 million.  This cost range is based upon the wide variety of 
options possible to create quiet zones at each railroad crossing. 
 
The city, working in coordination with project partners, will need to determine the preferred 
quiet zone option(s) to pursue – if any – for each BNSF railroad crossing.  Factors to consider 
include type and proximity of adjacent land uses – existing and/or planned- as well as street 
characteristics, safety, and costs for installation plus any potential on-going maintenance 

Information Item Page 1Packet Page     403



 
responsibilities. Coordinating quiet zone implementation with neighboring communities 
maximizes effectiveness since train horn noise crosses jurisdictions due to horn engagement 
length and duration requirements.        
 
Staff will continue to work with project partners to seek options for refining the crossing 
treatments and implementation strategies. An option may include seeking federal/state/regional 
grant funding opportunities working in partnership with Boulder County and neighboring 
communities along the BNSF corridor. Locally, there may be opportunities to pursue potential 
public/private partnerships, including consideration of participation by adjacent property owners 
and/or developers, to create quiet zones within new mixed use, transit-oriented districts such as 
Boulder Junction or other areas along the BNSF corridor.  City Council may see funding 
proposals surface in the future through grant applications, the comprehensive financial strategy 
and annual capital improvement program. 
 
Efforts to coordinate with other Colorado municipalities will continue to monitor future 
statewide and federal legislative initiatives related to train horn noise and Quiet Zone regulations.  
 
In addition to this City Council memo,  the Railroad Quiet Zone study reports will be shared with 
the city’s Transportation Advisory Board, district boards, and with the Boulder community in 
January/February 2014. 
 
A copy of the Railroad Quiet Zone studies and accompanying materials are provided on the 
city’s website at  www.BoulderTransportation.net under “Transportation Projects and 
Programs”, click on “Train Noise and Quiet Zones”.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

The Railroad Quiet Zone study is supported by existing funding from the Transportation Fund in 
2012 and 2013. This funding supports the consultant teams hired to support staff with the study 
and coordination with other project partners.    

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic: The Railroad Quiet Zone study support the city’s economic vitality efforts by 
identifying opportunities to reduce/eliminate train horn noise that is impacting existing 
neighborhoods and businesses as well as future mixed use infill/redevelopment areas of 
the community located along the BNSF railroad corridor.  

• Environmental: Identifying options to create Quiet Zones for railroad crossings in the 
Boulder area supports the reduction/elimination of the noise related environmental 
impacts from the existing freight trains. Reducing/eliminating train horn noise also 
supports the city’s Sustainability Framework and Climate Commitment greenhouse gas 
reduction goals by fostering more livable conditions within existing and future “transit 
oriented development” areas of the community to support walking, biking, and access to 
local and regional transit. 

• Social: Understanding options and costs associated with potential Quiet Zone 
improvements can lead to improved safety and physical conditions for Boulder 
community members of all ages and income levels living and working in the vicinity of 
the BNSF railroad corridor. Enhancing the livability of this area of the community will 

Information Item Page 2Packet Page     404

http://www.bouldertransportation.net/


 
improve opportunities for additional housing and employment sites near access to 
existing and future transit, which is particularly important to older adults, people with 
low income, and people with disabilities. The increased focus on transit oriented 
development areas will also have multiple benefits throughout the community. 

BACKGROUND 

Boulder residents and people working within the vicinity of the BNSF railroad corridor have 
endured train horn noise for many years. Railroad tracks in Boulder are owned and operated by 
the BNSF Railway Company. The sounding of train horns at crossings is regulated by federal 
rules from the Federal Railroad Administration (FRA). While the number of trains passing 
through our community has remained fairly stable, the train horn noise levels have increased 
since federal rules went into effect in 2005. In the same 2005 rulemaking process, the FRA 
established a process by which local road authorities (cities and counties) can establish “Quiet 
Zones”. 

ANALYSIS 

The Railroad Quiet Zone study has been prepared for the City of Boulder by consultants from 
Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc. (SEH) and HDR with assistance from Felsburg Holt Ullevig 
(FHU). In addition to the city staff and consultant teams, the information provided has been 
developed in coordination with the Federal Railroad Administration (FRA), Colorado Public 
Utilities Commission (PUC), BNSF Railway Company, and Boulder County staff. 
 
The Railroad Quiet Zone study provides an overview of federal requirements, options, 
conceptual designs and cost estimates to reduce and/or eliminate train horn noise impacts for 
each of the railroad crossings in the Boulder area. Information regarding potential non-
infrastructure Quiet Zone measures allowed by the FRA, and potential implementation strategies, 
including opportunities to phase-in Quiet Zone crossing improvements over time to address 
immediate and future needs as well as to respond to resource constraints is also included.  
 
Railroad Quiet Zone – Infrastructure Safety Measures 
 
The FRA requires communities to install “Supplemental Safety Measures” and/or “Alternative 
Safety Measures” to create Quiet Zones. These safety measures include physical barriers to 
prevent vehicles from entering the railroad track area when a train is present. Examples include 
railroad crossing gates and raised medians/curbs.  
 
Other types of treatments to address train horn noise include “wayside horns,” which are horns 
located at the railroad crossing (not on the train) that sound when a train is present. While 
wayside horns do not eliminate train horn noisee for a true “quiet zone”, they are typically a less 
expensive option that provides a narrower noise pattern that is focused on the approaching street, 
rather than impacting the larger surrounding area.  
 
Project partners evaluated all types of potential safety measures for each of the identified railroad 
crossings as part of this study, including participation in a field diagnostic meeting with BNSF, 
FRA, and PUC representatives to determine which measures are applicable for each crossing. A 

Information Item Page 3Packet Page     405



 
map showing the locations of the railroad crossings included in the Quiet Zone analysis is 
provided in the study report.  
 
The total estimated cost to create “quiet” railroad crossings for all locations, ranges from 
approximately $2.4 to $4.4 million. This cost range is based upon the wide variety of options 
possible to create quiet zones at each of these railroad crossings.  
 
The study also notes that Quiet Zone improvements for all crossings could be pursued via a 
phased approach over time as funding is identified.  From a practical standpoint, the city may 
want to consider implementing Quiet Zones in segments - bundling a set of crossing 
improvements -  to create economies of scale for implementation  and a noise relief benefit for 
people living/working adjacent to closely spaced railroad crossings. 
 
Boulder Junction Area Crossings 
 
The report prepared by HDR provides more detailed, engineering-level information for Quiet 
Zone requirements at the Pearl Parkway and Valmont Road crossings as part of the planning for 
Boulder Junction. Street improvements currently being installed on Pearl Parkway are designed 
to accommodate the additional infrastructure/railroad equipment needed to create Quiet Zones at 
this crossing, and  signal circuitry, new bungalow, conduit for future exit gates and other railroad 
signal improvements are either complete or are soon to be completed in conjunction with the 
Pearl Parkway project. The total cost for Quiet Zone improvements at these two crossings is 
approximately $1.3 million. Quiet Zone installations could begin when funding is identified and 
could be installed separately or together in a phased approach relative to the other corridor-wide 
Quiet Zone improvements. Consideration of funding for any Quiet Zone improvements will need 
further work and consideration within a wider context of city-wide priorities. 
 
Railroad Quiet Zone - Non-Infrastructure Safety Measures  
 
The studies include information regarding non-infrastructure safety measures allowed by the 
FRA’s rules to create Quiet Zones. These measures include intensive, on-going education, 
enforcement, and video monitoring by the local community. To-date, these types of measures 
have been used by local communities in conjunction with infrastructure improvements to create 
Quiet Zones, but there are no examples nationally of communities employing only these non-
infrastructure measures to successfully achieve a Quiet Zone designation. 
 
Based on the consultant teams’ research as well as discussions with project partners, city staff  
suggests consideration of these types of measures in concert with physical infrastructure 
improvements to create Quiet Zones. This is due to potential safety risks and on-going, uncertain 
cost factors associated with developing, gaining approvals, implementing, monitoring, and 
maintaining these types of programs in accordance with FRA requirements if they were to be 
done as “stand alone” safety measures.  
 
Summary  
 
The full Railroad Quiet Zone study reports from SEH and HDR are available for review on the 
city’s website.  This information is intended to provide a clearer picture of the options and costs 

Information Item Page 4Packet Page     406



 
to create railroad Quiet Zones for the Boulder community. Work with project partners will 
continue to refine the preferred option(s) for each crossing and evaluate potential implementation 
strategies.   
 
Implementation options could include seeking federal/state/regional grant funding opportunities 
working in partnership with Boulder County and neighboring communities along the BNSF 
corridor; as well as exploring local opportunities for potential public/private partnerships 
including consideration of participation by adjacent property owners and/or developers to create 
Quiet Zones in new mixed use, transit-oriented districts such as Boulder Junction.  Coordinating 
quiet zone implementation with neighboring communities maximizes effectiveness since train 
horn noise crosses jurisdictions due to horn engagement length and duration requirements.        
 

NEXT STEPS 

The Railroad Quiet Zone study reports will be shared with the City’s Transportation Advisory 
Board, District Boards, and with the Boulder community in January/February 2014.  Community 
outreach will include using social media and the city’s website, a news release, and public events 
conducted in coordination with the Transportation Master Plan Update.  
 
This information will be incorporated into the upcoming review of the city’s transportation 
capital investment planning process as part of the 2013-14 Transportation Master Plan Update 
and other city-wide investment prioritization discussions. Currently, the city’s Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) does not include funding to implement Quiet Zones. City Council 
may see funding proposals surface in the future through grant applications, the comprehensive 
financial strategy and annual capital improvement program. 
 
Coordination  with other Colorado municipalities will continue to monitor future statewide and 
federal legislative initiatives related to train horn noise and Quiet Zone regulations.  
 
Additional information regarding railroad Quiet Zones, including copies of the detail reports 
provided by the consultant teams, are available on the city’s website at 
www.BoulderTransportation.net under “Transportation Projects and Programs,” click on ”Train 
Noise and Quiet Zones.”  
 
 
 
 

Information Item Page 5Packet Page     407

http://www.bouldertransportation.net/


 

Packet Page     408



Boards and Commissions Page 1Packet Page     409



Boards and Commissions Page 2Packet Page     410



Boards and Commissions Page 3Packet Page     411



 

Packet Page     412



Packet Page     413



Packet Page     414



Approved by Council 10/19/04  

Council Working Agreements 
 

Council Process: 
• The Council will work on general discipline in being prepared to ask questions and make 

comments. 
• The Council asks the Mayor to intervene if discussion on agenda items extends beyond a 

reasonable time frame. 
• The council will engage in the practice of colloquy to fully explore the different sides of a 

specific point. 
• The Mayor will ask the city clerk to set the timer lights for council members if 

discussions begin to exceed efficient debate.  Members should respect the lights as a time 
reminder, but will not be bound by them as absolute limits. 

• Rather than restating a point, council members should simply say “I agree.” 
• The council agenda committee may, with advance notice, adjust each public speaker's 

time to two rather than three minutes during public hearings for items on which many 
speakers want to address the council. 

• Council members will grant each other permission to mentor and support each other on 
how each person contributes to the goal of being accountable for demonstrating 
community leadership. 

• In order to hear each other respectfully and honor the public, council will avoid body 
language that could convey disrespect, side conversations, talking to staff, whispering to 
neighboring council members, passing notes, and leaving the council chambers. 

• Regarding not revisiting past discussions, the council should check-in with fellow 
members periodically to ensure that this is not an issue. 

 
Council Communication: 

• Council members agree to keep quasi-judicial roles scrupulously clean between members 
of boards and members of council, like expressing ideas to board members on things 
coming before the Board, and carefully disclose or recuse themselves when they're is 
involvement with board members on a topic.   

• Council agrees to e-mail the city manager about issues that they run into that staff or 
boards may be working on so that the manager can be actively involved in managing 
issues and keeping the full council informed well in advance of items coming before 
council for action.  

• Members will keep the full council informed on issues from committees, public groups or 
other agencies that they are following, the a hot line e-mails, brief verbal reports at the 
end of council meetings or other means. 

• The Council will find ways to support majority council decisions and adequately inform 
the public, through response letters that explain how divergent points of view were heard 
and honored in decisions, via standard e-mail responses for hot issues, by occasional 
council Letters to the Editor to clarify the facts, or by seeking out reporters after meetings 
to explain controversial decisions. 

 
Council Committees 

• Council goal committee meetings will be scheduled to accommodate the council 
members on the committee.   

• Notice of the times and places for each goal committee meeting will be noticed once per 
month in the Daily Camera.   

• The council agenda will include time for reports from committees under Matters from 
Members of Council, noting that written communications from the committees are 
appropriate as well. 

 
 

Packet Page     415



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     416



 
 
 
 

City Council Goals – 2013  
 
Top Priorities:  
 
1. Boulder’s Energy Future  
The top priority for the City in 2013 is the development of a framework for planning the 
energy future for the city of Boulder. This framework will focus on the idea of localization, 
the overarching goal of which is:  
To ensure that Boulder residents, businesses and institutions have access to energy that 
is increasingly clean, reliable and competitively priced.  
 
2. Climate Action Plan  
  
Outline the next generation of climate action efforts in Boulder  
 
Consider extension of CAP tax  
 
3. Affordable Housing  
  
Receive report of the Task force created in 2010 to evaluate goals and the approach to 
affordable housing and Based on Council review and discussion of these recommendations, 
develop an action plan to improve the availability of affordable housing in the city  
 
Consider policies regarding inclusionary housing for rental units  
 
4. Civic Center Master Plan  
  
Study and develop a master plan for the area between 15th and 9th Streets, with a focus on 
Farmer’s Market and area between Broadway and 15th Street.  
 

Packet Page     417



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     418



Next Tier Priorities:  
1. University Hill Revitalization  
  
Continue work of Ownership Group to develop comprehensive revitalization strategy  
 
Investigate formation of a general improvement district, including the commercial area and 
part of the residential area to control trash and other problems  
 
Change boundaries of BMS land use to coincide with UHGID through BVCP process  
 
Support private development and investment in Hill area  
 
Partner with CU to consider opportunities for properties in the Hill area  
 
Provide an opportunity to explore big ideas  
 
2. Homelessness  
  
Participate in Ten Year Plan to Address Homelessness  
 
Balance long term and short term approaches to address needs  
 
Invest new resources in Housing First model  
 
Work with partners, such as BOHO, to address approaches to immediate needs  
 
3. Boulder Junction Implementation  
 
Work with RTD and selected developer of site to maximize mixed use urban center  
  
Invest in planned infrastructure  
 
Achieve goals of plan while ensuring flexibility in working with developers  
 
Prioritize city actions to facilitate private investment  
 
Focus additional planning work on reconsidering use for Pollard site  
 

Packet Page     419



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     420



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 1

 
City Council 

2013 Work Plan by Council Goal 
 

TOP PRIORITIES 
 

GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBooouuullldddeeerrr’’’sss   EEEnnneeerrrgggyyy   FFFuuutttuuurrreee   
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – ongoing 
analysis of municipalization and 
work on Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at roundtables  

 Recommended strategies to achieve 
community’s energy goals - Study 
Session and Public Hearing 

 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – 
based on the strategies 
approved by Council in 1st 
Quarter, ongoing analysis of 
municipalization and work on 
Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at 
roundtables  

 Municipalization Exploration 
Project Work Plan Phase 2 – 
Study Session 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – 
ongoing analysis of 
municipalization and work on 
Energy Action Plan with updates 
to council at roundtables  

 Study Session 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – ongoing 
analysis of municipalization and 
work on Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at roundtables 

 Study Session  

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCllliiimmmaaattteee   AAAccctttiiiooonnn   PPPlllaaannn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric 

Project 
 Climate Commitment – RFQ for 

consulting assistance for targets and 
goal setting, development of new 
GHG inventory, and tracking and 
reporting tools 

 Energy Efficiency: 
o Launch of 2013 program priorities 
o Upgrades in City Buildings – 

employee education and outreach 
project (IP) 

 Disposable Bag Fee – 
implementation plan and revised 
budget (IP) 

 Transportation Master Plan (TMP) – 

 Commercial Energy Efficiency 
Strategy (CEES) - feedback on 
options (Study Session) 

 Climate Commitment – Study 
Session to review program 
annual targets, short/ long term 
goals, tracking and reporting 
systems 

 Electric/ Hybrid vehicles – 
project closeout 

 Energy Efficiency – finalize 
Market Innovations approach  
(Study Session) 

 Solar/ Wind Generation Facility 
Code Changes 

 SmartRegs – code changes 

 CEES – adopt Energy Rating and 
Reporting Ordinance 

 Climate Commitment – policy 
integration with TMP and ZWMP 

 Energy Efficiency – launch 
Market Innovations competition 

 Zero Waste Master Plan (ZWMP) 
– draft 

 Climate Commitment – policy 
integration with TMP and ZWMP 

 Energy Efficiency  
o Upgrades in City Buildings – 

results of employee education 
and outreach (IP) 

 SmartRegs – options for quality 
control of rental housing 
inspections 

 

Packet Page     421



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 2

initial results of Transportation 
Funding Task Force (Study Session) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAffffffooorrrdddaaabbbllleee   HHHooouuusssiiinnnggg   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 ADU/ OAU – study results (IP) 
 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 

issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 Density and Distribution of 
affordable and special needs 
housing - report 

 Inclusionary Housing Rental Policy 
– consideration of ordinance 
changes following stakeholder 
engagement process 

 Mobile Homes Parks – legislative 
agenda 

 Comprehensive Housing 
Strategy 
o Stakeholder engagement 

process 
o Study Session 

 

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 
issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 
issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 

 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCiiivvviiiccc   AAArrreeeaaa   PPPlllaaannn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Board and community input 
 Council participation in Ideas 

Competition 
 

 Council direction on preferred 
option(s) and strategies  

 Draft plan  
o Development 
o Community input 
o Study Session 

 Municipal Space Study Final 
Report 

 Boulder Civic Area vision and 
plan  
o Study session 
o Public hearings on adoption 

 

 

Packet Page     422



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 3

 
NEXT TIER PRIORITIES 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      UUUnnniiivvveeerrrsssiiitttyyy   HHHiiillllll    RRReeevvviiitttaaallliiizzzaaatttiiiooonnn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 2013 action priorities confirmed by 

Council at January retreat 
 Hill Residential Service District – 

update 
 Innovation District - update 

 Action on other priorities 
 Hill Residential Service District 

– 1st reading of petition 
 

 Capital infrastructure 
improvements for the residential 
and commercial areas – consider 
during CIP process 

 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAddddddrrreeessssssiiinnnggg   HHHooommmeeellleeessssssnnneeessssss      

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 City and Community Efforts – 

Denver sleeping ordinance (IP) 
 Housing First (1175 Lee Hill Road) 

– Statement of Operations (IP)  
 Work plan check in and priority – 

Council retreat 
 

 Analysis of funding for 
homeless services and 
alignment with the Ten Year 
Plan and unmet needs 

 Ten Year Plan to Address 
Homelessness – progress 
update (IP) 

 Analysis and recommendations 
regarding banning panhandling on 
street corners 

 Ten Year Plan to Address 
Homelessness – progress update 
(IP) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBooouuullldddeeerrr   JJJuuunnnccctttiiiooonnn   IIImmmpppllleeemmmeeennntttaaatttiiiooonnn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Depot Square implementation – 

update 
 MU-4 zone change - consideration 
 TDM District Implementation 

Update (IP) 
 Update on potential policy issues 

related to key public improvements 
and city owned site (as needed) 

 Update on potential policy 
issues related to key public 
improvements and city owned 
site (as needed) 

 Boulder Junction Access District 
Parking – update  

 TDM Access District 
implementation - IP  

 

 

 
 
 

Packet Page     423



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 4

 
OTHER 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      OOOttthhheeerrr   CCCiiitttyyy   GGGoooaaalllsss   aaannnddd   WWWooorrrkkk   PPPlllaaannn   IIIttteeemmmsss   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 13th Street Plaza - IP 
 28th Street Multi-use Path and 

Bikeable Shoulders Iris to Yarmouth 
CEAP – potential call up 

 Acquisition Plan Update - OSMP 
 Alcohol/ Land Use Code Changes – 

options and recommendations 
 Boating on Barker Reservoir 
 Burke Park/ Thunderbird Lake – 

recommendations on lake water 
levels and enhancing park facilities 

 BVCP Area III Planning Reserve 
Amendments (if approved by 
County) 

 Chautauqua Guiding Principles, 
Next Steps –update on progress 

 Civic Use Task Force – update from 
Council members 

 Cultural Master Plan 
 Design and Construction Standards 

Update – consideration of minor 
updates 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Hogan Pancost – annexation and 

site review 
o Wonderland Creek Townhouses – 

potential call up 
o 28th and Canyon (Eads/ Golden 

Buff) – potential call up 
o Landmark Lofts II (970 28th 

Street) – potential call up 
 East Arapahoe Study – potential 

action on limited zoning changes 
 Economic Sustainable Strategies – 

 Access and Parking 
Management Strategies – study 
session 

 Alcohol Land Use Code 
Changes - action 

 Baseline Underpass East of 
Broadway CEAP – Call up 

 Bike Parking Ordinance 
Updates 

 Capital Improvement Bond 
Projects status update - IP 

 Capital Projects – carry over 
and first supplemental 

 Critical Facilities Ordinance – 
public hearing and motion 

 Education Excise Tax – 
consideration of City Manager 
funding recommendations 

 Floodplain Management 
including Boulder Creek 
Mapping, South Boulder Creek 
Mitigation, and Critical 
Facilities 

 Human Rights Ordinance – 
proposed changes regarding age 
discrimination 

 Integrated Pest Management 
Program Changes - IP 

 International Building and 
Energy Codes – public hearing 

 North Boulder Subcommunity 
Plan - IP 

 Old Hire Fire and Police 
Pension Plans – Study Session 

 2014 Budget Process 
 Access and Parking Management 

strategies (update) 
 Boulder Reservoir Site 

Management Plan – status of 
planning efforts and outcomes of 
community engagement (IP) 

 Capital Improvement Program – 
study session 

 Carter Lake Pipeline – thru CIP 
process 

 Contractor Licensing – proposed 
changes (IP) 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Blue Spruce Auto (4403 

Broadway) – potential call up 
o Boulder Outlook Hotel 

Redevelopment (800 28th 
Street) –  potential call up 

o Colorado Building Parking Lot 
(1301 Walnut) - ordinances 

o 1000 Alpine – potential call up 
o 3085 Bluff – potential call up 
o 3390 Valmont (Former 

Sutherlands Site) – potential 
call up 

 Eco Pass- report on results of 
Joint Study with Boulder County 
on community-wide Eco Pass 
Feasibility 

 FAM Master Plan – study session 
 Harbeck-Bergheim House – 

Future Use Options (IP) 
 North Trail Study Area – study 

 Access and Parking Management 
Strategies – update 

 Agriculture Plan (OSMP) – public 
hearing 

 Capital Improvement Program – 
adoption of CIP; 2nd budget 
supplemental 

 Contractor Licensing – 
consideration of proposed changes 

 Design and Construction Standards 
Update – consideration of 
additional changes 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Village Shopping Center Hotel 

(26th and Canyon) – potential call 
up 

 East Arapahoe Study – check in on 
project scope and work plan (3/4Q) 

 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City 
Buildings – results of employee 
education and outreach project (IP) 

 FAM Master Plan – consideration 
of acceptance 

 Fourmile Canyon Creek Violet 
Avenue to Broadway CEAP – 
potential call up 

 Human Relations Commission 
Work Plan update - IP 

 Human Services Fund allocations - 
IP 

 Light Response Vehicle Pilot 
Program - IP 

 OSMP Natural Resources 
Overarching Issues – Study session 

Packet Page     424



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 5

study session 
 Education Excise Tax Allocation of 

Funds – refine RFP criteria 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City 

Buildings – employee education and 
outreach project (IP) 

 Floodplain Management including 
Boulder Creek Mapping, South 
Boulder Creek Mitigation, and 
Critical Facilities 

 Hazardous Materials Management 
IGA 

 Hydroelectric operations and 
opportunities - IP 

 Keep It Clean IGA 
 Mobile Food Vending – options for 

ordinance changes 
 Multi-hazard mitigation plan – 

possible consent item 
 Nuisance Mosquito Control Pilot 

Project Evaluation - IP 
 OSMP Overarching Issues – 

discussion and possible action on 
Voice and Sight Tag Program, 
Commercial Use Program, Pilot 
Parking Permit Program; IP on 
timeline and process for evaluation 
of remaining topics 

 Police Department Master Plan – 
Study Session 

 State of the Court Presentation 
 Sustainable Streets & Centers – 

update on proposed scope options, 
next steps and integration with 
TMP, East Arapahoe Area Plan and 
proposed Economic Sustainability 
Strategy 

 Transportation Funding (SS) 
 TMP Update – additional direction 

 OSMP natural resources – 
overarching policy issues 
o Temporal Regulations 
o Penalties for violations 
o Multi-modal access and 

parking opportunities 
o Analysis of trail network and 

distribution of activities 
 Parks and Recreation Master 

Plan 
 Pearl Street Mall Code Changes 
 Police Department Master Plan 
 Randolph Center Condominium 

Declaration 
 Recirculation of wastewater – 

CU Williams Village North (IP 
if necessary) 

 Skunk Creek, Bluebell Creek 
and King’s Gulch Flood 
Mapping Update – public 
hearing and motion 

 Smoking Ban on Pearl Street 
Mall - IP 

 Snow and Ice Control 
Evaluation – study session 

 Transportation Funding – study 
session 

 TMP Update – additional 
direction 

 Twomile and Upper Goose 
Creek Flood Mapping Update – 
public hearing and motion 

 Water budgets – commercial, 
industrial and institutional – 
Council direction 

 Water supply status – IP 

session or dinner discussion 
 Old Hire Fire and Police Pension 

Plans – possible discussion during 
budget process 

 Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
 Regional Trail Connections 

(OSMP) – IP 
 South Boulder Creek Flood 

Mitigation Study – public hearing 
and motion 

 Transportation Demand 
Management Toolkit - IP 

 Valmont Butte Future Use 
Discussions – study session 

 Water Conservation Futures Study 
 Youth Opportunities Funding 

allocations - IP 

on remaining topics 
 Urban Wildlife – Consideration of 

Wildlife Protection Ordinance  
 Water budgets – commercial, 

industrial and institutional – 
consideration of changes 

Packet Page     425



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 6

 US36 Bikeway Maintenance – 
Enhancements IGA (tentative based 
on if extra community investments 
are desired) 

 Urban Wildlife – Black Bear 
Education and Enforcement pilot 
program update 

 Woodland Creek Diagonal to 
Winding Trail CEAP – potential call 
up 

 Zero Waste Master Plan Update 
 

KEY 
ADU Accessory Dwelling Units 
BVCP Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
CEAP Community and Environmental Assessment Process 
CIP Capital Improvement Program 
CU University of Colorado 
DUHMD/PS Downtown and University Hill Management District/ Parking Services (City 

Division) 
FAM Facility and Asset Management 
ICC International Code Council 
IGA Intergovernmental Agreement 
IP Information Packet 
OAU Owner Accessory Units 
OSMP Open Space/Mountain Parks Department 
RFQ Request for Qualifications 
RFP Request for Proposals 
TDM Transportation Demand Management 
TMP Transportation Master Plan 
ZWMP Zero Waste Master Plan 

 

Packet Page     426



 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
ACCOMPLISHMENTS – 1ST AND 2ND QUARTER 2012  

 
TOP PRIORITIES: 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBOOOUUULLLDDDEEERRR’’’SSS   EEENNNEEERRRGGGYYY   FFFUUUTTTUUURRREEE   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Hiring of Executive Director for Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development 
 Retention of FERC and acquisition legal counsel 
 Initial work in developing appraisal of distribution system and preparing legal strategy 
 Initial work on Phase 1 of a new Energy Action Plan, including demand side programs and renewables modeling 
 Active participation at the PUC to advance Boulder’s energy goals and protect community interests 
 Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric Facility Agreement: City Council authorized the dedication of easements to Public Service 

Company of Colorado to facilitate upgrades to the city’s Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric Facility. 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCLLLIIIMMMAAATTTEEE   AAACCCTTTIIIOOONNN   PPPLLLAAANNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Third party review and evaluation of CAP tax funded programs to date 
 Preparation of November 2012 CAP tax ballot options for Council consideration 
 Initial steps to develop and refine a new Climate Action Framework consisting a renewed climate action commitment, five-year 

goals, annual targets, integration with appropriate master plans and city operations, and new reporting tools 
 Initial work to identify priorities for the next generation of energy efficiency programs (as part of Phase 1 of the Energy Action 

Plan) 
 Development of Commercial Energy Efficiency Strategy approach and stakeholder process (to be integrated as part of Phase 1 of 

the Energy Action Plan) 
 Continued delivery of CAP programs and services to achieve annual targets (EnergySmart, Ten for Change, SmartRegs 

compliance, etc.) 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City Facilities - (a) Energy Performance Contract (EPC) – Phase III; (b) Lease purchase financing 

for energy conservation measures; and (c) Energy improvements, lease amendments, and payments. - Implemented the third phase 
of Energy Performance Contracts (EPC) for city facilities, including the installation of another 347 kilowatts of solar photovoltaic 

Packet Page     427



 
at the Municipal Service Center buildings, Fleet Services, OSMP Annex and The Dairy Center for the Arts. 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City Facilities – Employee Education and Outreach Project (Information Packet) - A staff team 

participated in three workshops with McKinstry, the city’s Energy Performance Contractor, to help develop a new PowerED energy 
education and outreach program for employees. Program development will continue with other city staff focus groups through the 
end of December 2012. 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAFFFFFFOOORRRDDDAAABBBLLLEEE   HHHOOOUUUSSSIIINNNGGG   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Added 12 new permanently affordable homes to inventory  
 Affordable housing agreement for Gunbarrel Town Center 
 Affordable Housing Program Work plan - Council Consideration and Direction; new initiatives identified 
 Analysis completed of affordable housing distribution 
 Completed funding of major renovations to improve housing quality and economic sustainability of three BHP properties 
 Development of voluntary affordable housing agreement for Depot Square project 
 Inclusionary Housing Rental Policies – Council Consideration and Direction 
 Thistle Community Housing completing fire sprinklers in all of its properties 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCIIIVVVIIICCC   CCCEEENNNTTTEEERRR   MMMAAASSSTTTEEERRR   PPPLLLAAANNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Development of interdepartmental project team and approach; project goals and objectives; and public engagement strategy 
(reviewed at joint Planning Board / City Council study session in April) 
 Detailed design of community visioning process and articulation of key project assumptions (reviewed with Council at June 12 

study session) 
 Preparation of baseline materials and launch of public engagement in July. 
 The Municipal Space Study contract was awarded to StudioTerra on March 23.  FAM and the consultants are interviewing city 

departments and conducting research on industry trends and standards for office space.  Preliminary results of the space study, as it 
relates to the Civic Center Master Plan, will be presented at the July 31 study session. 

 

Packet Page     428

http://www.peoplepowerplanet.com/


 
 
 

NEXT TIER PRIORITIES: 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      UUUNNNIIIVVVEEERRRSSSIIITTTYYY   HHHIIILLLLLL   RRREEEVVVIIITTTAAALLLIIIZZZAAATTTIIIOOONNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Zoning change: Business Main Street (BMS) boundary to coincide with the University Hill General Improvement District 
boundary; rezoning of UHGID lots to BMS zoning (approved by Planning Board; scheduled for Council consideration in August) 
 Continued work of the Hill Ownership Group to develop a comprehensive revitalization strategy. 
 In coordination with a volunteer, stakeholder committee completed a proposal for a Residential Service District which includes: 

boundaries, scope of services, proposed budget, proposed governance structure, agreements for financial participation by tax-
exempt sororities and fraternities, and a timeline for a 2013 Petition and Election process.   
 Landmarking of Flatirons Theater building (and associated building renovation) 
 955 Broadway (Acacia Fraternity site redevelopment) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAADDDDDDRRREEESSSSSSIIINNNGGG   HHHOOOMMMEEELLLEEESSSSSSNNNEEESSSSSS   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Council Consideration and Direction on:  1175 Lee Hill Project; added 31 permanent housing units for chronically homeless, 
disabled adults 
 Continued Homeless Service Provider Coordination Project to develop action plans for case management, outreach and service 

coordination 
 Continued implementation of Ten year Plan to Address Homelessness 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBOOOUUULLLDDDEEERRR   JJJUUUNNNCCCTTTIIIOOONNN   IIIMMMPPPLLLEEEMMMEEENNNTTTAAATTTIIIOOONNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Developed and implemented a funding strategy to finance the acquisition of 100 parking spaces by the Boulder Junction Access 
District – Parking (BJAD-P) in the Depot Square parking garage including a Lease/Purchase Agreement between BJAD-P and the 
developer, and a City of Boulder/BJAD-P Cooperation Agreement 
 Developed a strategy to manage parking in the parking structure through technology and a management agreement among the 

Packet Page     429



 
users.  The arrangement provides for parking spaces to be paid, unbundled, and shared in a manner to meet the needs of the various 
users of Depot Square (hotel, residential, RTD) and general parking in BJAD-P spaces.  Agreement was reached with RTD 
regarding short term and long term parking management strategies given their current legislative mandate. 
 Finalized the ownership structure for five different owners to coordinate management of their units and common areas through a 

Condominium Declaration for the Depot Square project 
 Finalized a renovation agreement and lease consistent with guiding principles with Pedersen Development Corporation for the 

Depot 
 Finalized legal agreements for joint public/private development of Depot Square (RTD facility, shared parking, affordable housing, 

hotel, public space and rehabilitation of historic depot  
 Approved changes to the Transportation Network Plan in support of the Transit Village Area Plan (TVAP) 
 Revised Street Design for Pearl Parkway and Connections Plan Revisions (adopted by Council January 17) 
 Consistent with the TVAP connections plan and along with private redevelopment, a number of capital improvements are 

underway, including the installation of underground power lines, preparations for installing a traffic signal at Junction Place and 
Pearl Parkway, and portions of the Pearl Parkway multi-way boulevard 
 Consistent with the TVAP connections plan, design work continues for the bridge over Goose Creek and the multi-use path on the 

north side of Pearl Parkway between 30th Street and Foothills Parkway 
 Received a Federal Hazard Elimination Program grant award through the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) that will 

allow installation of a traffic signal at 29th Street and Valmont Road, improving safety and implementing improvements identified 
in the Transit Village Area Plan (TVAP) (project will begin in 2014)  
 Completion of engineering and building construction plan review for a 319 unit residential development at 3100 Pearl and the RTD 

Depot Square transit-oriented development  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page     430



 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      OOOTTTHHHEEERRR   CCCIIITTTYYY   GGGOOOAAALLLSSS   AAANNNDDD   WWWOOORRRKKK   PPPLLLAAANNN   IIITTTEEEMMMSSS   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

CCCAAAPPPIIITTTAAALLL   IIITTTEEEMMMSSS   
 Anemone Trails (new) – design work completed 
 Arapahoe Avenue (Folsom to 30th) - Multimodal Improvements Project Completed construction on the Arapahoe Avenue multi-

use path project. The remaining street resurfacing and landscaping work will be completed in 2012. 
 Boulder Creek and South Boulder Creek – restoration of grassland and riparian areas continued 
 Broadway (Euclid to 18th) - Transportation Improvements Project - Made progress on the Broadway (Euclid to 18th) 

Transportation Improvements Project. 16th Street opened the first week of May and the Broadway underpass and the four lanes on 
Broadway (two in each direction) are scheduled for completion by early July. 

 Broke ground in January for a new multi-use path on the south side of Baseline, connecting U.S. 36 and the Bear Creek 
Underpass, including a pedestrian crossing for Baseline Road at Canyon Creek.  Completion of the multi-use path on the west end 
is underway through a redevelopment project. 

 Completed a new sidewalk along Gillaspie Drive, connecting Greenbriar Boulevard and Juilliard Street connecting to Fairview 
High School 

 Completed the course bunker renovation/playability project at Flatirons Golf Course by installing 19 new sand bunkers  
 Continued work at Valmont City Park, including additional construction at Valmont Bike Park; outreach and design for Valmont 

Dog Park; and design and construction of the interim disc golf course 
 Facility ADA Compliance - An Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) consultant completed comprehensive ADA assessments 

for the Park Central and Municipal buildings. Costs for the recommendations are being identified and prioritized, with other 
buildings planned for assessment. 

 Green Bear Trail Re-route – work in progress with one section completed and opened to public 
 Gregory Canyon Trailhead Site Plan – initial site plan design work began 
 Homestead Trail Re-route – work in progress with one section completed and opened to public 
 Library Facility Upgrades and Enhancements (New Children’s Library and New Teen Space): The selection of a design firm is 

underway 
 Linden Avenue Sidewalk Project (Safe Routes to School) - Completed a Safe Routes to School Project, providing a sidewalk on 

the north side of Linden Avenue between Fourth Street and Broadway. 
 New Wildland Fire Facilities - Responses to the request for qualifications (RFQ) for facility designs were received on May 11. 

Requests for proposals (RFP) to be sent in early June 
 Organic farming – agricultural contract written for 47 acres 

Packet Page     431



 
 Replaced traffic signal incandescent lamps with sustainable, energy-saving light-emitting diode (LED) lamps 
 Sanitas Stone Hut Repair – hut was reinforced and stonework repaired 
 South Boulder Creek West Trailhead – Parking areas for cars and horse trailers completed and open to public; working through 

permit process for outhouse and kiosk installations; interpretive signs in production 
 South Boulder Recreation Center - The contaminated sub floors from the gymnasium, racquetball court, and Pilates room have 

been removed and are expected to be replaced with new wood floors by early June 2012.  
 Street repair expanded efforts – began the first of three years 

 
OOOTTTHHHEEERRR   SSSIIIGGGNNNIIIFFFIIICCCAAANNNTTT   AAACCCTTTIIIOOONNNSSS 111    
 Boulder B-cycle station at the North Boulder Recreation Center sponsored 
 Boulder Community Hospital Expansion Rezoning 
 BVCP: Area II study results and potential next steps (IP to City Council in July) 
 BVCP Comprehensive Rezoning (scheduled for council consideration in August) 
 BVCP 2010 Major Update: planning reserve policy changes (study session discussion with Council on May 29; Council and 

County Commissioner dinner discussion on June 14) 
 Boulder Reservoir Master Plan completed 
 Boulder Valley School District Faculty and Staff Eco Pass Program Expansion - Continued partnership with the Boulder Valley 

School District (BVSD) to expand the BVSD faculty and staff Eco Pass program. 
 Chautauqua Stewardship Framework: Draft and Next Steps 
 City Website Redesign Kickoff - Kicked off redesign with Vision Internet and the City of Arvada. Gathered a list of key 

stakeholders and surveyed them regarding elements the new website should contain. 
 Code enforcement - reallocation of resources to the Boulder Police Department was fully implemented to ensure efficient and 

effective service delivery 
 Community and Environmental Assessment Process (CEAP) for flood mitigation and transportation improvements along Fourmile 

Canyon Creek, near Crest View Elementary School completed, including a City Council call-up opportunity. 
 Compatible Development implementation - annual report to Council 
 Congregate Care code changes (pending further consideration based on Council direction) 
 Constituent Relationship Management (CRM) procurement effort - Designed and implemented a staff engagement and 

procurement initiative to implement a new CRM application resulting in the unanimous selection of Government Outreach.  
Vendor contract negotiations are currently underway.  This initiative is designed to significantly improve our customers’ ability to 
request, track and ultimately receive more timely and effective services while providing staff with automated tools to better 

                                                 
 

Packet Page     432



 
manage these requests. 

 Disposable Bag Reduction Ordinance: research and options presented to Council on May 15; work on nexus study underway 
 Draft Fire-Rescue Master Plan completed and approved by Planning Board.   
 Economic Sustainability Strategy: phase one study of primary employer space needs underway; presentation of results to Council 

scheduled for August  
 Elks neighborhood park planning, outreach and design continued with construction and completion in 2013 
 Family Resource Center opened at Manhattan Middle School in partnership with Boulder County Housing and Human Services 
 FasTracks’ Northwest Rail Plan - Approved guiding principles for developing and designing a hybrid approach to FasTracks’ 

Northwest Rail Plan. 
 Fire Master Plan – Council feedback on strategies (April 3, 2012); Planning Board recommendation for acceptance (May 17, 

2012); Scheduled for Council consideration (June 19, 2012) 
 Heather wood Trail Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) - City Council authorized the signing of an intergovernmental agreement 

(IGA) with Boulder County related to the maintenance of a trail that crosses the Wastewater Treatment Facility property. 
 Integrated Pest Management Policy Revision and Program Direction (Council provided direction on May 1) 
 Landmarking of First Christian Church building (950 28th Street) 
 Locomotive #30 narrow gauge historic cosmetic restoration completed  
 Mesa Memorial Park design and development initiated 
 Mosquito control annual report (Completed report on the IPM web site – link will be provided to council with first weekly 

mosquito report in June) 
 Named number 3 on list of best cities for bicycling by Bicycling Magazine, in part due to the Valmont Bike Park and new path 

connections made possible by the capital improvement bond 
 New Transportation Safety Ordinances - Approved ordinance changes to improve transportation safety in the city and initiated 

education and enforcement efforts to support the ordinance changes 
 Organic turf and landscape bed program at six park locations launched 
 Received a Safe Routes to School Grant to install a traffic signal at South Boulder Road and Manhattan Drive to create a safe 

crossing for middle school students taking transit, riding, or walking to and from school. 
 RH-2 Zone District Changes (scheduled for council consideration in August) 
 Safe Streets Boulder report published in February. 
 SmartRegs - Continued the successful implementation of SmartRegs and the pilot program for rental housing licensing 

enforcement. The backlog of rental license compliance cases is almost entirely eliminated. 
 Transportation Report on Progress, Transportation to Sustain a Community published in February. 
 Valmont Butte – VCUP implementation commenced; excavation work began on April 4 with both the tribe-designated native 

cultural monitor and the city’s archaeologist consultant present.   

Packet Page     433



 
 Veterans and active duty military personnel recreation pass program developed 

 
 
 
 
Key: 
 
ADA = Americans with Disabilities Act 
BHP = Boulder Housing Partners 
BVSD = Boulder Valley School District 
BMS = Business Main Street   
CAP = Climate Action Plan 
CDOT = Colorado Department of Transportation  
EPC = Energy Performance Contract 
EET = Education Excise Tax 
FAM = Facilities and Asset Management (City Division) 
FERC = Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
IGA = Inter-governmental Agreement 
IP = Information Packet 
OSMP = Open Space/ Mountain Parks Department 
PUC = Colorado Public Utilities Commission 
RFP = Request for Proposals 
RFQ = Request for Qualifications 
RTD = Regional Transportation District 
TVAP = Transit Village Area Plan 
UHGID = University Hill General Improvement District 
VCUP = Colorado Voluntary Cleanup Program 
 
 

Packet Page     434



1/23/2013 
 

                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Matthew 
Appelbaum 

 Mayor 

George Karakehian  Mayor Pro Tem 
Macon Cowles  Council Member 
Suzanne Jones  Council Member 

Lisa Morzel  Council Member 
Tim Plass  Council Member 

Andrew Shoemaker  Council Member 
Sam Weaver  Council Member 
Mary Young  Council Member 

                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Bob Eichem  Chief Financial Officer 
Alisa D. Lewis  City Clerk 

Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 
David Driskell  Community Planning + Sustainability -  Executive Director 

Paul J. Fetherston  Deputy City Manager 
Molly Winter  Downtown, University Hill Management & Parking Services 

Director 
Heather Bailey  Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Executive Director 

Larry Donner  Fire Chief 
  Housing, Assistant City Manager for 

Mary Ann Weideman  Human Resources (Acting) Director 
Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 

Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 
Eileen Gomez  Labor Relations Director 

Valerie Maginnis  Library and Arts Director 
Lynne C. Reynolds  Municipal Court Administrator 

Michael Patton  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 
Kirk Kincannon  Parks and Recreation Director 

Mark Beckner  Police Chief 
Maureen Rait  Public Works - Executive Director  

Tracy Winfree  Transportation Director 
Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 

 

Packet Page     435



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     436


	00_Agenda
	3A_Ordinance Code of Conduct
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Background, Impacts and Analysis 
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - November 15 Memo

	3B_Ordinance 1815 Mapleton Ave Landmark
	Executive Summary and Background
	Property Description
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Board Action and Analysis
	Historical Significance
	Architectural and Environmental Significance
	Landmark Name and Boundary Analysis
	Options
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, “Purposes and Intent,” B.R.C., 1981
	Attachment C - Significance Criteria for individual landmarks

	3C_Ordinance 905 Marine Street
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Public Comment, Background, Proposal and Analysis
	Attachment A - Ordinance No. 7956
	Attachment B - Solar Access Drawings

	3D_Council Working Agreements
	Executive Summary and Motion Language
	Attachment A - Proposed Council Working Agreements

	3E_Council Committee Appointments
	5A_Jewish Commons Annexation
	Executive Summary
	Key Issue Identification
	Staff Recommendation
	Impacts and Feedback
	Background
	Land Use Designations per Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP)
	Project Description
	Analysis
	Conditions of Approval
	Attachment A- Location Map
	Attachment B - Correspondence Received
	Attachment C - Ordinance No. 7955
	Attachment D - Annexation Agreement
	Attachment E - Guidelines for Annexations
	Attachment F - Consistency Analysis of Proposed Project with BVCP Policies and Review Criteria
	Attachment G - Applicant Written Statement
	Attachment H - Applicant Written Statement

	6A_Options to Secure Trash from Bears
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation
	Impacts
	Feedback
	Background
	Analysis of Options
	Location Options: Where do we want to change how trash and compost are stored?
	Storage Options: How do we want to effect change in the way trash and curbsidecompost are stored?
	Enforcement Options: How should enforcement of trash and compost storageregulations be enhanced?
	Recommendations
	Attachment A - Maps for Location Options
	Attachment B - Draft EAB Feedback from Dec. 4, 2013
	Attachment C - Public Feedback and Survey Results
	Attachment D - Colorado Parks and Wildlife Letter of Support
	Attachment E - Map of Reported Sightings 2009-2013
	Attachment F - Trash Storage Systems and Boulder's Current Practices
	Attachment G - Trash Hauler Costs for Bear-Resistant Containers
	Attachment H - Proposed Options Compared to Other Communities
	Attachment I - Code Enforcement Staffing Recommendation

	6B_Supplemental Appropriation for Transportation and Marijuana
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback, Background and Analysis
	Attachment A: Transportation tax increase uses
	Attachment B: 2014 proposed costs and contingency appropriations for non-medical marijuana revenue
	Attachment C: 2014 Revenue projections for non-medical marijuana

	88_Information Packet
	00  Cover Sheet
	2A  Railroad Quiet Zone IP 1-21-14 - final
	3A  Landmarks Board 12042104
	4A  Letter of Appreciation to Haydar
	Blank Page

	99_Reference Materials
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. City Council Goals 2013
	3. Council Work Plan - 2013
	4. Workplan Update - 2012 Accomplishments
	5. Council and Key Staff




